Clinical Oncology Radiotherapy dose fractionation Fourth edition





JANUARY 2024

Contents

Introduction	3
01 Anal cancer	7
02 Bladder cancer	10
03 Breast cancer	15
04 Central nervous system (CNS) tumours	27
05 Gastro-oesophageal cancer	40
06 Gynaecological cancers	48
07 Head and neck cancer	56
08 Hepato-pancreato-biliary cancer (HPB)	66
09 Lung cancer	79
10 Lymphoma	90
11 Paediatric cancer	100
12 Penile cancer	116
13 Prostate cancer	120
14 Rectal cancer	128
15 Renal cancer	135
16 Sarcoma	139
17 Seminoma	148
18 Skin cancer	151
19 Bone metastases	162
20 Brain metastases	166
21 Extracranial oligometastases	172
22 Metastatic spinal cord compression (MSCC)	179

Introduction

The original guidance on *Radiotherapy dose fractionation* was introduced against a background of considerable variation in clinical practice across the UK.

Since that 2006 first edition there has been greater standardisation of treatment reflecting many influences, including more widespread appreciation of evidence-based practice, nationwide involvement in clinical trials addressing fractionation questions within the National Cancer Research Network and National Institute for Health Research, and organisation of cancer care within networks charged with adherence to local and national guidelines.

The legal record of the radiotherapy treatment to be delivered is the radiotherapy treatment prescription. Since the radiotherapy prescription is frequently used by clinical providers as evidence that the justification of treatment – and sometimes the verification of exposures – has been completed, all radiotherapy prescriptions should be as complete as possible. These should include: unique patient identification; diagnosis; anatomical region to be treated including laterality; identity of the prescribing practitioner; treatment intent; date the prescription was completed (written); modality; definition of volumes; specification of absorbed dose and/or dose-volume requirements for the planning target volume (PTV); fractionation scheme; normal tissue constraints; overall treatment time; physical technique, energy and, where relevant, absorbed dose-distribution(s) planned and details of any other associated treatment requirements, for example chemotherapy, cardiac implantable electronic devices (CIED), prostheses. The record of the prescription may be represented as a single document or a collection of data items across the oncology management system and treatment planning system.

It has been important to recognise that, despite adoption of intensity-modulated radiotherapy (IMRT), image-guided radiotherapy (IGRT), volumetric modulated arc radiotherapy (VMAT) and stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) with changes to redefine fractionation during the past decade, many clinical scenarios, particularly for palliative treatments, will still require conventional therapy techniques, and this is reflected in these guidelines to ensure a comprehensive cover of clinical radiotherapy.

Brachytherapy may form part of the patient's treatment but was not considered further as part of this project.

This document has graded evidence according to guidelines defined by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine as shown below.

Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine

Grades of recommendation

- A Consistent Level 1 studies
- B Consistent Level 2 or 3 studies or extrapolations from Level 1 studies
- C Level 4 studies or extrapolations from Level 2 or 3 studies
- D Level 5 evidence or troublingly inconsistent or inconclusive studies of any level

Extrapolations are where data are used in a situation that has potentially clinically important differences from the original study situation.

Levels of evidence

- 1a SR (with homogeneity*) of RCTs
- 1b Individual RCT (with narrow confidence interval)
- 1c All or none[§]
- 2a SR (with homogeneity*) of cohort studies
- 2b Individual cohort study (including low-quality RCT; for example, <80% follow-up)
- 2c 'Outcomes' research; ecological studies
- 3a SR (with homogeneity*) of case-control studies
- 3b Individual case-control study
- 4 Case series (and poor-quality cohort and case-control studies^{§§})
- 5 Expert opinion without explicit critical appraisal, or based on physiology, bench research or 'first principles'

SR = systematic review

RCT = randomised controlled trial

- * By homogeneity we mean a systematic review that is free of worrisome variations (heterogeneity) in the directions and degrees of results between individual studies. Not all systematic reviews with statistically significant heterogeneity need be worrisome, and not all worrisome heterogeneity need be statistically significant. As noted above, studies displaying worrisome heterogeneity should be tagged with a '-' at the end of their designated level.
- § Met when all patients died before the Rx became available, but some now survive on it; or when some patients died before the Rx became available, but none now die on it.
- §§ By poor-quality cohort study we mean one that failed to clearly define comparison groups and/or failed to measure exposures and outcomes in the same (preferably blinded) objective way in both exposed and non-exposed individuals, and/or failed to identify or appropriately control known confounders, and/or failed to carry out a sufficiently long and complete follow-up of patients. By poor-quality case-control study we mean one that failed to clearly define comparison groups and/or failed to measure exposures and outcomes in the same (preferably blinded) objective way in both cases and controls, and/ or failed to identify or appropriately control known confounders.

Reference

www.cebm.ox.ac.uk/resources/levels-of-evidence/oxford-centre-for-evidence-based-medicine-levels-of-evidence-march-2009 (last accessed 28/11/2023).

Preparation of this document

For this fourth edition, chapters were reviewed by site-specialty experts in consultation with various stakeholder groups and the wider RCR membership. This edition was edited by Professor Peter Hoskin and oversight was provided by Dr Nicky Thorp and the RCR's Clinical Oncology Professional Support and Standards Board.

Finally, it is important to emphasise that this is an evidence-based guide to fractionation, not a comprehensive text on radiotherapy. Limited background has been included to give each section context, and where appropriate some detail of the evidence base from which the recommendations are derived has been given. We have deliberately avoided giving specific recommendations on treatment fields, volume or technique, which are considered to be outside the scope of this document.

Acknowledgements

This review of *Radiotherapy dose fractionation* was led by Professor Peter Hoskin (Mount Vernon Cancer Centre) with oversight provided by Dr Nicky Thorp (Medical Director, Professional Practice, Clinical Oncology) and the RCR's Clinical Oncology Professional Support and Standards Board.

Lead authors

The RCR is very grateful to those who have helped to review and update this edition and would especially like to thank the following lead authors for their significant contributions to this document. Further acknowledgements can be found at the end of each chapter.

- Dr Craig Barrington, South West Wales Cancer Centre
- Dr Indrani Bhattacharya, Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
- Dr Douglas Brand, University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
- Prof Murray Brunt, School of Medicine, Keele University
- Dr Amy Case, South West Wales Cancer Centre
- Dr Edward Chandy, Sussex Cancer Centre
- Prof Ananya Choudhury, The Christie NHS Foundation Trust
- Prof Charlotte Coles, University of Cambridge
- Dr Sara Erridge, Edinburgh Cancer Centre
- Dr Kate Fife, Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
- Dr Samantha Forner, Kent Oncology Centre
- Dr Duncan Gilbert, University Hospitals Sussex NHS Foundation Trust
- Dr Jessica Gough, The Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust
- Dr Harshani Green, The Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust
- Dr Sarah Gwynne, South West Wales Cancer Centre, Swansea Bay University Health Board
- Dr Matthew Hatton, Weston Park Hospital, Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
- Prof Peter Hoskin, Mount Vernon Cancer Centre
- Prof Robert Huddart, The Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust
- Dr Emma Hudson, Velindre University NHS Trust
- Dr Will Ince, Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

- Dr Michael Kosmin, University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
- Dr Pei Lim, University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
- Dr Jun Hao Lim, Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust
- Dr Henry Mandeville, The Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust
- Dr Brendan McCann, Beatson West of Scotland Cancer Centre
- Dr Aisha Miah, The Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust
- Prof George Mikhaeel, Guy's Cancer Centre, Guy's & St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust
- Dr Romaana Mir, Mount Vernon Cancer Centre
- Dr Vivek Misra, The Christie NHS Foundation Trust
- Dr Robin Prestwich, Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust
- Dr Ganesh Radhakrishna, The Christie NHS Foundation Trust
- Dr Agata Rembielak, The Christie NHS Foundation Trust
- Dr Michael Rowe, University Hospitals Plymouth NHS Trust
- Dr Hamoun Rozati, Barts Cancer Centre, Barts Health NHS Trust
- Dr Jenny Sherriff, University Hospitals Birmingham NHS Foundation Trust
- Dr Isabel Syndikus, The Clatterbridge Cancer Centre NHS Foundation Trust
- Dr Melissa Tan, The Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust
- Dr Kamalram Thippu Jayaprakash, Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
- Dr Betsan Thomas, Velindre Cancer Centre
- Dr Anna Tran, The Christie NHS Foundation Trust
- Dr Rosalyne Westley, The Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust

Stakeholders

In addition, the RCR would like to thank the following stakeholder groups who were consulted in the development of this edition.

- Action Kidney Cancer
- British Association of Head & Neck Oncologists
- British Gynaecological Cancer Society
- British Uro-Oncology Group
- Children's Cancer and Leukaemia Group
- National Cancer Research Institute (NCRI) Clinical Studies Groups (CSG)*
- SABR UK Consortium
- UK Breast Cancer Group

The RCR would also like to acknowledge those who contributed to earlier versions of the radiotherapy dose fractionation document – for full details please see first, second and third editions, which are available upon request from guidance@rcr.ac.uk).

*prior to their closure in July 2023

01

Anal cancer

Background

There are approximately 1,000–1,200 registrations of squamous carcinoma of the anus per year in the UK. Despite its rarity, a succession of phase III trials have been conducted, which have established the standard treatment of this disease: radical treatment with chemoradiotherapy allowing sphincter preservation.

Radical treatment

Both the United Kingdom Co-ordinating Committee on Cancer Research (UKCCCR) anal cancer trial (45 Gray [Gy] in 20 or 25 fractions with a boost) and a European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) trial demonstrated improved outcome for concomitant chemoradiotherapy using mitomycin C and 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) when compared with radiotherapy alone.^{1,2} A statistically significant reduction in locoregional failure was demonstrated in both trials. A further phase III trial performed by the Radiotherapy Oncology Group (RTOG) demonstrated improved colostomy-free survival when mitomycin C was added to 5-FU chemoradiation.³ Chemoradiotherapy improves outcome in anal cancer compared with radiotherapy alone (Level 1b).⁴

The UKCCCR ACT2 trial compared concomitant mitomycin C and 5-FU with cisplatin and 5-FU when combined with a two-phase radiotherapy technique delivering a total dose of 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions.⁵ A second randomisation tested the role of two subsequent cycles of cisplatin 5-FU chemotherapy against no further treatment. There was no significant difference between concurrent chemotherapy regimens, and no progression-free survival benefit to the addition of adjuvant chemotherapy (Level 1b).⁴

The EXTRA trial was a phase II study substituting capecitabine for 5-FU chemotherapy that reported minimal toxicity and acceptable compliance.⁶ Substitution of 5-FU with capecitabine has been thoroughly investigated in other tumour sites and the two drugs have been proven to be equally effective (Level 2b).⁴

Treatment technique

The phase 2 RTOG 0529 trial treated patients with inverse planned intensity-modulated radiotherapy (IMRT) and reported reduced toxicity to that seen in the RTOG 9811 trial where standard conformal radiotherapy techniques were used (Level 2b).^{47,8}

It is recommended that a standard atlas for delineating volumes is used for IMRT or arc radiotherapy. Expert opinion was sought from a number of UK clinicians to create a consensus guideline, which is based on ACT II volumes but adapted for inverse planning.^{9,10}

Analyses of both the UKCCR ACT II and RTOG 9811 trials have highlighted that locally advanced and node-positive tumours have a significantly reduced disease-free survival and overall survival.^{5,8} As a result, current guidance and recent trials have used a higher dose (to the primary tumour and involved nodes) for these patients when using IMRT or arc radiotherapy.



However, due to the excellent outcomes in ACT II in node-negative cancers, the recommended prophylactic nodal dose remains the same and has been calculated to deliver the same biologically effective dose over 28 fractions with IMRT or arc radiotherapy, which was previously delivered over 17 fractions during standard 2-phase radiotherapy (Level 5).^{4,11}

Recommendations

For radical inverse planned IMRT or arc radiotherapy (chemoradiotherapy) of anal cancers:

Dose to primary (early stage – T1/2 NO):

• 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions over 5.5 weeks (Grade A)

Dose to primary and involved nodes (advanced stage - T3/4 or N+):

• 53.2 Gy in 28 fractions over 5.5 weeks (Grade A)

Dose to uninvolved nodes (prophylactic):

• 40 Gy in 28 fractions over 5.5 weeks (Grade A)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴

The UK Personalising Anal Cancer Radiotherapy Dose (PLATO) trial investigated dose escalation in locally advanced anal cancers, and dose de-escalation in early small-node-negative tumours is currently in follow-up and will inform dose fractionation for anal cancers in the future.¹²

Palliative treatment

There are no good-quality trials evaluating different dose fractionation schedules for palliative treatment. An appropriate regime should be chosen after considering the patient's likely prognosis, disease burden, symptoms and performance status.

Recommendation

For palliative treatment of anal cancer:

- 30 Gy in 10 fractions over 2 weeks (Grade D)
- 20 Gy in 5 fractions over 2 weeks (Grade D)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴

01 Anal cancer

References

- The UKCCCR Anal Cancer Trial Working Party. Epidermoid anal cancer: results from the UKCCCR randomised trial of radiotherapy alone versus radiotherapy, 5-fluorouracil and mitomycin. *Lancet* 1996; **348**(9034): 1049–1054.
- Bartelink H, Roelofsen F, Eschwege F et al. Concomitant radiotherapy and chemotherapy is superior to radiotherapy alone in the treatment of locally advanced anal cancer: results of a phase III randomized trial of the European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Radiotherapy and Gastrointestinal Cooperative Groups. J Clin Oncol 1997; 15(5): 2040–2049.
- 3. Flam M, John M, Pajak TF *et al.* Role of mitomycin in combination with fluorouracil and radiation, and of salvage chemoradiation in the definitive nonsurgical treatment of epidermoid carcinoma of the anal canal: results of a phase III randomised intergroup study. *J Clin Oncol* 1996; **14**(9): 2527–2539.
- 4. www.cebm.ox.ac.uk/resources/levels-of-evidence/oxford-centre-for-evidence-based-medicine-levels-ofevidence-march-2009 (last accessed 28/11/2023).
- 5. James RD, Glynne-Jones R, Meadows HM *et al.* Mitomycin or cisplatin chemoradiation with or without maintenance chemotherapy for treatment of squamous cell carcinoma of the anus (ACT II): a randomised phase 3 open-label, 2x2 factorial trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2013; **14**(6): 516–524.
- Glynne-Jones R, Meadows H, Wan S et al. EXTRA a multicenter phase II study of chemoradiation using a 5 day per week oral regimen of capecitabine and intravenous mitomycin C in anal cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2008; 72(1): 119–126.
- 7. Kachnic LA, Winter K, Myerson RJ et al. RTOG 0529: a phase 2 evaluation of dose-painted intensity modulated radiation therapy in combination with 5-fluorouracil and mitomycin-C for the reduction of acute morbidity in carcinoma of the anal canal. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2013; **86**(1): 27–33.
- 8. Gunderson LL, Winter KA, Ajani JA *et al.* Long-term update of US GI intergroup RTOG 98–11 phase III trial for anal carcinoma: survival, relapse, and colostomy failure with concurrent chemoradiation involving fluorouracil/mitomycin versus fluorouracil/cisplatin. *J Clin Oncol* 2012; **30**(35): 4344–4351.
- 9. Muirhead R, Adams RA, Gilbert DC *et al*. Anal cancer: developing an intensity-modulated radiotherapy solution for ACT2 fractionation. *Clin Oncol* 2014; **26**(11): 720–721.
- 10. www.analimrtguidance.co.uk (last accessed 22/9/16).
- 11. Pettit L, Meade S, Sanghera P *et al*. Can radiobiological parameters derived from squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck be used to predict local control in anal cancer treated with chemoradiation? *Br J Radiol* 2013; **86**(1021): 20120372.
- Sebag-Montefiore D, Adams R, Bell S et al. The development of an umbrella trial (PLATO) to address radiation therapy dose questions in the locoregional management of squamous cell carcinoma of the anus. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2016; 96(2): E164–E165.

Acknowledgements

With thanks to lead author Dr Duncan Gilbert (University Hospitals Sussex NHS Foundation Trust) for reviewing and updating this chapter of the guidance.

57

Bladder cancer

Radical treatment

Conventional fractionation (dose per fraction 1.8–2.0 Gray [Gy])

The regimens used in studies comparing radiotherapy and surgery for bladder cancer have been either a conventional regimen of 60-64 Gy in 30-32 fractions over 6-6.5 weeks or hypofractionated radiotherapy of 52.5-55 Gy in 20 fractions (Level 2b).¹⁻⁵

Hyperfractionation

Two published trials compare hyperfractionation with doses of 1–1.2 Gy per fraction with conventionally fractionated treatment.^{6,7} Pooled analysis suggests a significant benefit from hyperfractionation with a 17% (95% confidence interval, 6–27%) improvement in the rate of local control.⁸ However, the regimens in both arms of these studies used split courses with overall treatment times of 8 weeks. This approach would no longer be considered acceptable in a control arm (Level 1b).⁵

Accelerated fractionation

There was no evidence of clinical benefit from 60.8 Gy in 32 fractions given using 2 fractions per day of 1.9 Gy over a treatment time of 26 days when compared with a standard regime of 64 Gy in 32 fractions over 45 days.⁹ The shorter regimen was associated with a higher rate of intestinal toxicity (Level 1b).⁵

Hypofractionation

Two UK-based randomised controlled trials allowed the use of both conventional (60– 64 Gy in 30–32 fractions) and hypofractionated radiotherapy (55 Gy in 20 fractions).^{10,11} Although neither study was powered to detect a difference in outcome based on dose and fractionation, there was no difference seen between conventional and hypofractionated radiotherapy. A subsequent individual patient data meta-analysis of these trials demonstrated non-inferiority of hypofractionated radiotherapy in terms of invasive locoregional diseasefree survival and toxicity. Superiority for locoregional disease-free survival was confirmed for 55 Gy in 20 fractions (Level 1a).^{5,12}

Partial bladder irradiation

Partial bladder radiotherapy has been studied in two UK-based trials. A trial from Manchester compared whole-bladder radiotherapy 52.5 Gy in 20 fractions with partial bladder irradiation of 57.5 Gy in 20 fractions and 55 Gy in 16 fractions.¹³ There was no significant difference in local control at 5 years between the three groups, and late toxicity was similar in all three arms. The BC2001 sub-study compared whole-bladder high-dose irradiation with reduced high-dose volume radiation therapy.¹⁴ There was no difference in locoregional recurrence, late toxicity or overall survival between the two groups (Level 1b).⁵



Radical radiotherapy with radiosensitisation

Two UK-based randomised control trials have demonstrated that radical radiotherapy with a radiosensitiser improves outcomes compared with radiotherapy alone.^{10,11} BC2001 compared radical radiotherapy alone with radical radiotherapy given concurrently with mitomycin C and 5-fluorouracil (5-FU), with the chemoradiotherapy arm showing significantly better 2-year locoregional recurrence rates of 67% versus 54% (Level 1b).^{5,10} The Bladder Carbogen Nicotinamide (BCON) investigators compared radical radiotherapy alone with radical radiotherapy given concurrently with carbogen and nicotinamide, with a significant improvement in 3-year overall survival of 13% in the experimental arm (Level 1b).^{5,11} Some centres within the UK use a weekly gemcitabine chemoradiation protocol based on a multicentre phase II study, which has shown acceptable toxicity and comparable outcomes with those in the literature, with a 3-year overall survival of 75% and 88% achieving a complete endoscopic response at first check cystoscopy (Level 2b).^{5,15}

Adjuvant radiotherapy

There is currently insufficient evidence to recommend adjuvant radiotherapy following radical cystectomy. A randomised phase II study reported superior outcomes in patients with high-risk disease (T3b+, Grade 3 or positive lymph nodes) who received adjuvant radiotherapy sandwiched between cycles of adjuvant chemotherapy, compared with adjuvant chemotherapy alone.¹⁶ However a systematic review of 28 studies investigating adjuvant radiotherapy for bladder cancer and upper tract urothelial cancer found no clear benefit of adjuvant radiotherapy and noted the quality of the data was limited.¹⁷

Treatment technique

The size of the planning target volume (PTV) is critical to any discussion of dose and fractionation.^{18,19} Some centres use a two-phase (large pelvic volume/small bladder volume) approach, although there is no robust evidence for this approach improving survival outcomes for patients (Level 5).⁵ There is no published evidence using fraction sizes other than 1.8–2 Gy for this approach. All of the dose fractionation regimens discussed below are based on the assumption that the PTV is <1,000 millilitres (ml) and that three-dimensional (3-D) image-based planning techniques are used. A phase II trial looking at the use of intensity-modulated radiotherapy (IMRT) to the bladder and pelvic nodes demonstrated low levels of pelvic nodal recurrence rates and toxicity.²⁰ IMRT or volumetric modulated arc therapy (VMAT) techniques can therefore also be used to deliver bladder radiotherapy (Level 2b).⁵

There is increasing use of adaptive radiotherapy techniques for bladder treatment using a 'plan of the day' based on imaging prior to delivery of each fraction, allowing smaller anisotropic margins to be applied. The practical implementation of this technique was shown in the phase II HYBRID trial, looking at plan of the day in weekly ultra-fractionated radiotherapy, which demonstrated improved acute Grade 3 non-genitourinary toxicity rates compared with standard planning.²¹ The RAIDER trial, currently recruiting, has developed plan of the day PTV margins and implementation guidance.²² Whether the adaptive approach leads to improved outcomes is yet to be established. The fractionation evidence has not been tested in this setting, but there is no reason to believe that the recommendations do not apply to the adaptive setting also.

02 Bladder cancer

Recommendations

For radical radiotherapy to the bladder:

- 55 Gy in 20 fractions over 4 weeks is the regimen of choice (Grade A)
- 64 Gy in 32 fractions over 6.5 weeks (Grade B)

There is robust evidence that radiotherapy with a radiosensitiser using carbogen and nicotinamide or chemotherapy improves outcomes for patients with organ-confined muscle-invasive bladder cancer (Grade A).^{10,11}

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁵

Palliative radiotherapy

The Medical Research Council (MRC) randomised trial BA09 clearly established that 21 Gy in 3 fractions on alternate weekdays in 1 week (4–6 elapsed days) is as effective as 35 Gy in 10 fractions in 2 weeks in palliating symptoms in patients with bladder cancer.²³ There was no statistically significant difference in the rate of symptom relief (64% versus 71%; p=0.192; 95% confidence interval for the 7% rate difference, –2% to +13%), nor was there any significant difference in the duration of symptomatic relief (Level 1b).⁵

Other palliative regimes that are in use in the UK are 20 Gy in 5 fractions and 30–36 Gy in 5–6 fractions over 5–6 weeks (Level 2).⁵ These regimes are also used for frail patients not fit for radical radiotherapy treatment.

In the hypofractionated bladder radiotherapy with or without image-guided adaptive planning (HYBRID) trial, a dose of 30–36 Gy in 5–6 fractions given weekly has been used with a 1-year invasive, local recurrence-free rate of 86% in patients with localised muscle-invasive bladder cancer unsuitable for radical treatment (Level 2b).^{5,21}

Recommendations

For patients unsuitable for radical treatment of bladder cancer:

- 21 Gy in 3 fractions on alternate days in 1 week (Grade A)
- 36 Gy in 6 fractions weekly with or without adaptive planning (Grade B)

For the palliation of local symptoms from bladder cancer:

- 21 Gy in 3 fractions on alternate days in 1 week is the regimen of choice (Grade A)
- 36 Gy in 6 fractions weekly with or without adaptive planning (Grade B)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁵

02 Bladder cancer

References

- 1. Shelley MD, Barber J, Mason MD. Surgery versus radiotherapy for muscle invasive bladder cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2001; **2001**(3): CD002079.
- 2. Booth CM, Siemens DR, Li G et al. Curative therapy for bladder cancer in routine clinical practice: a population-based outcomes study. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* 2014; **26**(8): 506–514.
- 3. Gray PJ, Fedewa SA, Shipley WU *et al*. Use of potentially curative therapies for muscle-invasive bladder cancer in the United States: results from the National Cancer Data Base. *Eur Urol* 2013; **63**(5): 823–829.
- Kotwal S, Choudhury A, Johnston C, Paul AB, Whelan P, Kiltie AE. Similar treatment outcomes for radical cystectomy and radical radiotherapy in invasive bladder cancer treated at a United Kingdom specialist treatment center. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2008; **70**(2): 456–463.
- www.cebm.ox.ac.uk/resources/levels-of-evidence/oxford-centre-for-evidence-based-medicine-levels-ofevidence-march-2009 (last accessed 28/11/2023).
- 6. Edsmyr F, Andersson L, Esposti PL, Littlebrand B, Nilsson B. Irradiation therapy with multiple small fractions per day in urinary bladder cancer. *Radiother Oncol* 1985; **4**(3): 197–203.
- 7. Näslund I, Nilsson B, Littbrand B. Hyperfractionated radiotherapy of bladder cancer. A ten-year follow-up of a randomized clinical trial. *Acta Oncol* 1994; **33**(4): 397–402.
- Goldobenko GV, Matveev BP, Shipilov VI, Kilmakov BD, Tkachev S. Radiation treatment of bladder cancer using different fractionation regimens. *Med Radiol (Mosk)* 1991; 36(5): 14–16.
- 9. Horwich A, Dearnaley D, Huddart R et al. A randomised trial of accelerated radiotherapy for localised invasive bladder cancer. *Radiother Oncol* 2005; **75**(1): 34–43.
- 10. James ND, Hussain SA, Hall E *et al*. Radiotherapy with or without chemotherapy in muscle-invasive bladder cancer. *N Engl J Med* 2012; **366**(16): 1477–1488.
- Hoskin PJ, Rojas AM, Bentzen SM, Saunders MI. Radiotherapy with concurrent carbogen and nicotinamide in bladder carcinoma J Clin Oncol 2010; 28(33): 4912–4918.
- Choudhury A, Porta N, Hall E et al. Hypofractionated radiotherapy in locally advanced bladder cancer: an individual patient data meta-analysis of the BC2001 and BCON trials. Lancet Oncol 2021 Feb; 22(2): 246–255.
- Cowan RA, McBain CA, Ryder WD et al. Radiotherapy for muscle-invasive carcinoma of the bladder: results of a randomized trial comparing conventional whole bladder with dose-escalated partial bladder radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2004; 59(1): 197–207.
- Huddart RA, Hall E, Hussain SA et al. Randomized noninferiority trial of reduced high-dose volume versus standard volume radiation therapy for muscle-invasive bladder cancer: results of the BC2001 trial (CRUK/01/004). Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2013; 87(2): 261–269.
- 15. Choudhury A, Swindell R, Logue JP *et al*. Phase II study of conformal hypofractionated radiotherapy with concurrent gemcitabine in muscle-invasive bladder cancer. *J Clin Oncol* 2011; **29**(6): 733–738.
- Zaghloul MS, Christodouleas JP, Smith A *et al.* Adjuvant sandwich chemotherapy plus radiotherapy vs adjuvant chemotherapy alone for locally advanced bladder cancer after radical cystectomy: a randomized phase 2 trial. *JAMA Surg* 2018; **153**(1): e174591. doi:10.1001/jamasurg.2017.4591.
- Iwata T, Kimura S, Abufaraj M *et al.* The role of adjuvant radiotherapy after surgery for upper and lower urinary tract urothelial carcinoma: a systematic review. *Urol Oncol* 2019 Oct; **37**(10): 659–671. doi:10.1016/j. urolonc.2019.05.021. Epub 2019 Jun 27. PMID: 31255542.
- 18. Muren LP, Ekerold R, Kvinnsland Y, Dahl O. On the use of margins for geometrical uncertainties around the rectum in radiotherapy planning. *Radiother Oncol* 2004; **70**(1): 11–19.
- Muren LP, Smaaland R, Dahl O. Conformal radiotherapy of urinary bladder cancer. *Radiother Oncol* 2004; 73(3): 387–398.
- 20. Tan MP, Harris V, Warren-Oseni K *et al*. The Intensity-Modulated Pelvic Node and Bladder Radiotherapy (IMPART) Trial: a phase II single-centre prospective study. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* 2020 Feb; **32**(2): 93–100.



- 21. Huddart R, Hafeez S, HYBRID Investigators *et al.* Clinical outcomes of a randomized trial of adaptive plan-ofthe-day treatment in patients receiving ultra-hypofractionated weekly radiation therapy for bladder cancer. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2021 Jun 1; **110**(2): 412–424.
- 22. Hafeez S, Webster A, Hansen VN *et al.* Protocol for tumour-focused dose-escalated adaptive radiotherapy for the radical treatment of bladder cancer in a multicentre phase II randomised controlled trial (RAIDER): radiotherapy planning and delivery guidance. *BMJ Open* 2020; **10:** e041005.
- 23. Duchesne GM, Bolger JJ, Griffiths GO *et al.* A randomized trial of hypofractionated schedules of palliative radiotherapy in the management of bladder carcinoma: results of Medical Research Council trial BA09. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2000; **47**(2): 379–388.

Acknowledgements

With thanks to lead authors Prof Ananya Choudhury (The Christie NHS Foundation Trust) and Dr Michael Rowe (University Hospitals Plymouth NHS Trust) for reviewing and updating this chapter of the guidance.

Prof Choudhury and Dr Rowe would also like to thank Dr Mohini Varughese (Royal Devon University Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust) for her contributions.

03

Breast cancer

Background

Breast cancer is the most common cancer worldwide, and most patients in the UK are diagnosed at an early stage. Radiotherapy has long been established as an important treatment modality in the adjuvant and palliative setting in breast cancer. The delivery of breast radiotherapy must be adapted based on the individual patients' risk of recurrence, and the risk–benefit ratio of treatment must be discussed with patients, enabling a shared care decision. Technological advances and results of pivotal trials have led to significant changes in practice in the UK in the past few years.

Adjuvant radiotherapy to the breast or chest wall

Radiotherapy can increase both local control and overall survival in the conservative management of invasive primary breast cancer and in selected patients after mastectomy (Level 1a).¹⁻⁴ It can also reduce ipsilateral breast tumour recurrence following breast conservation in patients with a diagnosis of ductal carcinoma *in situ* (DCIS).^{5,6}

Evolution of hypofractionation from 50 Gray (Gy) in 25 fractions over 5 weeks to 26 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week

Historically the 2 Gy per fraction regimen of 50 Gy in 25 fractions over 5 weeks was the standard of care as reported in the National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project (NSABP) breast cancer trials.⁷ There was a practice change following publication of the START trials, and the most widely used UK regimen was the hypofractionated regimen of 40 Gy in 15 fractions over 3 weeks as used in the UK START-B trial.^{8–9} Mature data from the START-A, B and P trials and the Canadian OCOG study demonstrate the equivalence of hypofractionated regimens for efficacy with evidence of some reduced normal tissue effects compared with the previous standard of 2 Gy daily fractionation (Level 1b).^{3,8–13}

Following the publication of the UK FAST-Forward trial in 2020,¹⁴ there has been a rapid change in practice to delivering 26 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week as the standard of care. The FAST-Forward trial was carried out in patients with early invasive breast carcinoma (pT1–3, pN0–1, M0) after breast-conserving surgery (BCS) or mastectomy.¹⁴ Patients were randomised on a 1:1:1 ratio to 40 Gy in 15 fractions over 3 weeks (UK standard of care), 26 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week or 27 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week.

4,096 patients were recruited from November 2011 to June 2014 with a median follow-up of 71.5 months. The primary endpoint of 5-year ipsilateral breast tumour relapse was estimated as 2.1% (95% confidence interval [CI] 1.4–3.1), 1.7% (1.2–2.6) and 1.4% (0.9–2.2) after 40 Gy, 27 Gy and 26 Gy respectively.



At 5 years, moderate or marked clinician-assessed normal tissue effects were observed in 98/986 (9.9%), 155/1,005 (15.4%) and 122/1,020 (11.9%) of the 40 Gy, 27 Gy and 26 Gy groups respectively, all less than observed in the START trials. The odds ratio versus 40 Gy across all clinician assessments in the 5-year period were 1.55 (Cl 1.32–1.83, p<0.0001) and 1.12 (0.94–1.34, p=0.20) for 27 Gy and 26 Gy respectively. Assessments by patients and via photographs showed the risk of normal tissue effects was higher for 27 Gy, but not for 26 Gy, compared with the control group. Statistically the only significant difference between 26 Gy and 40 Gy was for moderate/marked breast induration outside the tumour bed, but this is highly unlikely to be clinically significant with small absolute numbers (2.1% for 26 Gy; 20 cases).

Following the publication of FAST-Forward¹⁴ NICE guidance is to offer 26 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week to the whole breast as the standard of care (Level 1b).^{3,4}

Ductal carcinoma in situ

The FAST-Forward trial was not offered to patients with DCIS only;¹⁴ however, this patient group can still be offered 26 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week for whole-breast radiotherapy. This follows the similar pragmatic implementation of 40 Gy in 15 fractions over 3 weeks for DCIS following the UK START-B trial,⁸⁻⁹ given breast radiotherapy for DCIS does not appear to have a survival advantage.¹⁵ It would be challenging to carry out a trial of 26 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week as the low anticipated local recurrence rate would require a very large number of participants and it is questionable whether there would be equipoise for randomisation in the UK. Furthermore, the BIG-TROG DCIS trial¹⁶ demonstrated there was no difference in efficacy or side-effects with moderate hypofractionation versus 50 Gy in 25 fractions over 5 weeks. NICE guidance is to offer 26 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week to the whole breast in patients with DCIS.⁴

Chest wall ± reconstruction

The RCR consensus (2020)¹⁷ states that 26 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week should be offered for chest wall radiotherapy. Within FAST-Forward, participants who had mastectomies at baseline included 91 patients (6.7%) in the 40 Gy group, 89 patients (6.5%) in the 27 Gy group and 84 patients (6.1%) in 26 Gy group, with a solitary reported recurrence in a 40 Gy-treated patient.¹⁴ Regarding reconstruction, the RCR consensus (2020)¹⁷ is that 26 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week should be considered for chest wall radiotherapy with reconstruction. Of note, the trial had immediate reconstruction rates of <1% across all groups; however, there is no biological reason why patients with immediate reconstruction should have a higher risk of normal tissue toxicity or capsular contracture with 26 Gy in 5 fractions (versus 40 Gy in 15 fractions). The consensus statement for chest wall irradiation with reconstruction is to consider the 5-fraction schedule and, if used, centres may wish to audit their practice. This is also reflected in the NICE guidance for early and locally advanced breast cancer: diagnosis and management (updated June 2023).⁴

Co-morbidity and frailty

For patients with co-morbidity and/or frailty, making daily radiotherapy difficult, the RCR consensus $(2020)^{17}$ is to consider 28.5 Gy in 5 fractions over 5 weeks as well as 26 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week following on from the FAST results.¹⁸ In the FAST study, 915 women aged \geq 50 years with node-negative early breast cancer were randomly assigned after microscopic complete tumour resection to 50 Gy in 25 fractions versus 28.5 or 30 Gy in 5, once-weekly fractions of 5.7 Gy or 6.0 Gy respectively to the whole breast. The primary endpoint was a 2-year change in photographic breast appearance. The 10-year FAST trial results found no statistically significant difference in normal tissue event rates in the 28.5 Gy group versus the 50 Gy group.¹⁸ although normal tissue event rates were higher in the 30 Gy group.

03 Breast cancer

Recommendation

For adjuvant radiotherapy of non-nodal breast or chest wall without immediate reconstruction:

• 26 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week (Grade A)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.³

Partial breast irradiation (PBI)

PBI may be an option for patients with a low risk of local relapse. Risk of local relapse is highest in the region of the tumour bed,¹⁹ therefore radiotherapy can be delivered to this region only, sparing the whole breast and potentially reducing side-effects.²⁰ A meta-analysis showed that PBI is associated with a higher local recurrence rate, albeit still low, compared with WBI (Level 1a).^{3,21} However, this meta-analysis included studies covering a broad range of PBI techniques and selection criteria. Some of the trials have included older surgical and radiation techniques. Techniques used to deliver PBI include external beam radiotherapy (EBRT), brachytherapy and intraoperative radiotherapy (IORT).

PBI can be considered for patients \geq 50 years, with low-risk tumour features as follows: Grades 1–2, \leq 3 cm, oestrogen receptor positive (ER+), progesterone receptor positive (PR+) or human epidermal growth factor receptor negative (HER2-ve) node-negative tumours, as per the RCR consensus (2016).²² The consensus is to deliver PBI using EBRT, as per the IMPORT LOW trial,²³ or multicatheter brachytherapy using fractionation, as per the GEC-ESTRO trial.²⁴ NICE guidance recommends using EBRT when delivering PBI.⁴

There are a number of international PBI trials using EBRT that have reported, but this discussion is focused on the UK-led IMPORT LOW trial, as this is the PBI technique most commonly used in the UK.²³ Within IMPORT LOW, 2,018 women were randomised to receive 40 Gy to the whole breast (control), 36 Gy to the whole breast and 40 Gy to the partial breast (reduced-dose group), or 40 Gy to the partial breast only (partial breast group) in 15 daily treatment fractions using simple field-in-field technique. Local relapse rates were 1.1% (95% CI 0.5–2.3), 0.2% (0.02–1.2) and 0.5% (0.2–1.4) in the WBI, reduced-dose and PBI groups respectively at 72 months (median follow-up). The dose/fractionation in all groups were identical meaning the irradiated volume was the only variable within the trial and significantly less toxicity was found in the two test groups versus the control group.

PBI can be delivered in 1 week using the techniques in IMPORT LOW.²³ Both the FAST-Forward ¹⁴ and IMPORT LOW ²³ trials were designed in parallel with the same dose/fractionation used in the control groups and with a pre-plan to consider the data together for 5 fractions of PBI. FAST-Forward showed non-inferiority with 40 Gy in 15 fractions for efficacy and similar toxicity. In addition, IMPORT LOW showed non-inferiority with 40 Gy in 15 fractions for efficacy and reduced toxicity. These results have enabled the FAST-Forward fractionation to be seamlessly adopted for PBI, and NICE guidance is to offer 26 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week for partial breast radiotherapy.⁴

Regarding multicatheter interstitial brachytherapy, GEC-ESTRO randomly assigned women to PBI with interstitial brachytherapy, either high dose rate or pulsed dose rate versus WBI 50 Gy with a 10 Gy tumour bed boost.²⁴ At 10 years (median follow-up), the local recurrence rates were 1.58% (95% CI 0.37–2.8) in the WBI group and 3.51% (1.99–5.03) in the PBI group.²⁵

03 Breast cancer

Difference in 10-year rates between the groups was 1.93% (95% CI –0.018–3.87; p=0.074). There was a significantly lower incidence of treatment-related Grade 3 late side-effects in patients in the PBI group compared with those in the WBI group. Fibrosis was the commonest Grade 3 adverse event in both treatment groups although overall numbers were very low.

With respect to IORT, the ELIOT²⁶ and TARGIT trials²⁷⁻²⁸ used this technique with ELIOT delivering electrons (IOeRT) and TARGIT using photons. ELIOT randomised women to 50 Gy in 25 fractions over 5 weeks plus boost versus IOeRT 21 Gy to tumour bed.²⁶ The 5-year local relapse was 4.5% (95% CI 2.7–6.1) and 0.4% (95% CI 0.0–1.0) for the IOeRT and WBI groups respectively (hazard ratio [HR] 9.3; 95% CI 3.3–26.3). Local relapse rates in the IOeRT group were significantly greater than in patients receiving WBI but no difference in overall survival was seen. Of note, several patients in the trial had high-risk features and ELIOT (and other trials) began recruitment prior to the establishment of GEC-ESTRO/ASTRO guidelines.^{29–30} Toxicity was not systematically recorded but a difference in skin toxicity favouring IOeRT was reported, although IOeRT patients were found to have increased fat necrosis.²⁶

Participants within the TARGIT trial were randomised to IORT using 50 kV photons or WBI. The two strata within the trial consisted of pre-pathology where IORT was delivered at time of BCS, and post-pathology where IORT was delivered after BCS where the wound was reopened.^{27–28} Patients receiving IORT in the pre-pathology strata required additional WBI (20% of patients) due to unfavourable histology results after final surgery.²⁷ There was no systematic collection of toxicity data. TARGIT-IORT is not recommended for routine commissioning for adjuvant treatment of early invasive breast cancer during breast-conserving surgical removal of the tumour. NICE guidance recommends that if TARGIT-IORT is delivered it should only be done on machines that are already available and in conjunction with NHS England specified clinical governance, data collection and submission arrangements. Patients should be offered the NICE patient information and decision aid if being offered TARGIT-IORT.³¹

Recommendation

For partial breast radiotherapy using external beam radiotherapy:

• 26 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week (Grade A)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.³

Safe omission of radiotherapy following BCS

Given the substantial reduction in local recurrences over the previous 3 decades in mostly high-income countries,³² the risks of breast radiotherapy may outweigh the benefits for some patients at very low risk of local recurrence. These risks include normal tissue toxicities,⁹ cardiac morbidity³³ and second malignancies.³⁴ In omission of radiotherapy RCTs conducted so far, an increase in local recurrence without radiotherapy has been demonstrated but without any increase in breast cancer death.^{35–37} In addition, it has not been possible to identify which patients are at very low risk of recurrence, but an unplanned subgroup analysis from PRIME II suggested that such a group may be identified.³⁷ The 10-year update of PRIME II has now been reported.³⁸ At a median follow-up of 9.1 years, the cumulative incidence of local breast cancer recurrence was 9.5% (95% CI 6.8–12.3) in the no-radiotherapy group and 0.9% (0.1–1.7) in the radiotherapy group (HR 10.4; 95% CI 4.1–26.1; p<0.001). There was no statistical difference in overall or breast cancer-specific survival between groups.

03 Breast cancer

The biomarker-directed PRIMETIME study (using IHC4+C incorporating Ki-67) investigating whether radiotherapy can be safely avoided in women with very low-risk breast cancer has now completed recruitment and we await the results.³⁹ The British Association of Surgical Oncology (BASO) II trial found avoidance of both radiotherapy and endocrine therapy to be detrimental; therefore; compliance with endocrine therapy should be encouraged, especially if radiotherapy is omitted.³⁶

The RCR consensus (2016) is that avoidance of radiotherapy should be considered in patients >70 years out of a research study and >60 years in study with T1NO oestrogen receptor positive (ER+), progesterone receptor positive (PR+), human epidermal growth factor receptor negative (HER2-ve) or Grades 1–2 tumours **and** who are willing to take adjuvant endocrine therapy for a minimum of 5 years **and** have regular mammograms for 10 years.²² NICE guidance is similarly to consider omitting radiotherapy in women who have a very low absolute risk of local recurrence (defined as women aged 65 and over with tumours T1NO, ER-positive, HER2-negative and Grades 1–2) willing to take adjuvant endocrine therapy for a minimum of 5 years.⁴ The predicted absolute risks and benefits of radiotherapy should be discussed with individual patients in order to reach a shared decision.

Breast boost

Delivery of a boost to the tumour bed following whole-breast radiotherapy reduces the risk of ipsilateral breast cancer recurrence (Level 1b).^{3,40} However, there is no impact on overall survival, and it approximately doubles the risk of moderate or severe fibrosis.

The proportional benefit is similar across all age groups, but the absolute benefit falls with increasing age and hence the biggest absolute benefit is in women under 50 years of age. There is also a greater absolute benefit of boost in high-grade (G3) cancer.

Positive resection margins, where further surgery is not possible, are an indication for breast boost regardless of age.

The breast boost volume should be defined by localising the tumour bed. Surgical clips should be routinely placed during a wide local excision to aid localisation of the tumour bed.²²

Breast boost may be delivered as a sequential normofractionated or hypofractionated boost, or a 15-fraction simultaneous integrated boost (SIB); for example, 48 Gy to the boost volume and 40 Gy to the rest of the breast all over 3 weeks (as per IMPORT HIGH discussed below).⁴¹

Regarding dose and fractionation for the sequential boost, 13.35 Gy in 5 fractions of 2.67 Gy or 12 Gy in 4 fractions of 3 Gy assuming an α/β value for breast carcinoma of 3 Gy is similar to a dose of 16 Gy in 8 fractions.²²

The UK IMPORT HIGH trial of simultaneous integrated boost (SIB) was carried out in women with early high-risk invasive breast carcinoma (pT1–3pN0–pN3aM0) after BCS.⁴¹ Patients were randomised on a 1:1:1 basis between 40 Gy/15 fractions to whole breast (WB) + 16 Gy/8 fractions sequential photon boost to tumour bed (40+16 Gy; control), 36 Gy/15 fractions to WB, 40 Gy to partial breast + 48 Gy (48 Gy) or 53 Gy (53 Gy) in 15 fractions SIB to tumour bed. The primary endpoint was ipsilateral breast tumour relapse (IBTR) and 2,617 women consented to the trial. Smaller, more targeted boost volumes were used for all treatment groups with a median boost clinical target volume (CTV) of 13 cc. After a median follow-up of 74.0 months, the 5-year IBTR incidence was 1.9% (95% CI 1.2–3.1) for 40+16 Gy, 2.0% (1.2–3.2) for 48 Gy, 3.2% (2.2–4.7) for 53 Gy with 76 IBTR events (40+16 Gy: n=20, 48 Gy: n=21, 53 Gy: n=35). The estimated absolute differences versus 40+16 Gy were 0.1% (-0.8–1.7) for 48 Gy, 1.4% (0.03–3.8) for 53 Gy and the upper confidence limit for 48 Gy versus 40+16 Gy indicated non-inferiority for 48 Gy.



For clinician-reported assessments, 5-year prevalence of moderate/marked breast induration was 6% (36/600) for 40+16 Gy, 5.2% (34/653) for 48 Gy and 8.9% (56/627) for 53 Gy. Comparisons were similar between groups for 5-year cross-sectional, time to event and longitudinal analyses, with similar levels of moderate/marked adverse events for 48 Gy versus 40+16 Gy and increased risk of adverse events for 53 Gy versus 48 Gy. Patient-reported moderate/marked breast hardness/firmness at 5 years was significantly lower for 48 Gy versus 40+16 Gy (RR 0.54, 95% CI 0.38–0.78, p=0.001) and higher after 53 Gy versus 48 Gy (RR 1.61, 95% CI 1.10–2.35, p=0.008).

The trial found that the local relapse event incidence is low in this higher-risk breast cancer group treated with small boost volumes and image-guided radiotherapy, whether the boost is delivered sequentially or simultaneously. Rates of 5-year moderate/marked adverse events were low.⁴¹ SIB is a safe treatment with reduced patient visits, and further escalation of boost dose does not appear advantageous.

Radiotherapy technique

Two-dimensional (2-D) computed tomography-based planning is no longer recommended for adjuvant radiotherapy to the breast or chest wall. The ESTRO guidelines for volume-based breast radiotherapy planning are recommended for contouring breast, chest wall, nodal groups and organs at risk.⁴²

Simple, forward-planned, field-in-field intensity-modulated radiation therapy (IMRT) reduces late toxicity and improves cosmetic outcome compared with a non-IMRT technique, following adjuvant whole-breast radiotherapy (Level 1b).^{3,43}

Breast radiotherapy may slightly increase the lifetime risk of heart disease for some people.^{33,44–45} For most women irradiated in the UK, the absolute risk of developing radiation-induced heart disease is less than 1% risk to age 80 years, but the risk varies according to pre-existing risk of heart disease and mean heart radiation dose. Techniques to limit heart dose without reducing target dose coverage should be considered for patients with left-sided breast cancer and those requiring internal mammary nodal irradiation. These include multileaf collimation (MLC) cardiac shielding and voluntary deep inspiration breath hold (DIBH) techniques (Level 2b).^{3,45} Wide tangents technique or intensity-modulated arc techniques (IMAT), both using DIBH, are recommended.

Recommendations

For patients requiring a boost:

- 15 fractions SIB, 48 Gy to boost volume and 40 Gy to rest of breast (Grade A)
- 26 Gy in 5 fractions whole-breast radiotherapy plus either a sequential normofractionated boost or a hypofractionated boost (delivered in no more than 5 fractions); for example, 13.35 Gy in 5 fractions of 2.67 Gy or 12 Gy in 4 fractions of 3 Gy (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.³



Regional nodal irradiation

Axilla and supraclavicular fossa

Axillary sentinel lymph node biopsy (SLNB) is the recommended standard procedure for axillary staging in early breast cancer with clinically negative lymph nodes.⁴⁶ Most patients with clinically positive nodes will require axillary treatment.

Nodal irradiation is not recommended following a negative SLNB.⁴

Following a positive SLNB, the AMAROS trial demonstrated an axillary recurrence rate of 0.93% for ALND versus 1.82% for axillary radiotherapy after a median follow-up of 10 years.⁴⁷ The trial was underpowered for the planned non-inferiority test due to the low number of events. Axillary radiotherapy produced lower long-term toxicity compared with ALND (Level 2b).³

The American College of Surgeons Oncology Group (ACOS-OG) Z0011 trial demonstrated low axillary recurrence rates with no significant differences for SLNB plus standard breast radiotherapy compared with SLNB followed by ALND plus standard breast radiotherapy in an RCT comparing ALND versus no axillary treatment in women with T1/T2 clinically N0 but with 1–2 positive sentinel lymph nodes involved undergoing breast-conserving treatment at 10 years.⁴⁸ Most patients were over 50 years of age and had Grade 1 or 2, T1, oestrogen receptor positive, ductal cancer with no lymphovascular invasion (LVI) (Level 2b).^{3,48} However, there are significant methodological concerns about the Z0011 trial.⁴⁹

The UK randomised, multicentre, non-inferiority POSNOC trial has completed recruitment in patients with 1–2 positive sentinel lymph nodes, randomised to standard adjuvant therapy and axillary treatment (ALND or axillary radiotherapy) versus standard adjuvant therapy alone.⁵⁰ The primary endpoint is axillary recurrence at 5 years. When available, it is anticipated that the results may provide a definitive answer to the question of managing a positive SLNB axilla.

Radiotherapy to the ipsilateral supraclavicular fossa (SCF), now referred to as nodal levels 3 and 4, is recommended for N2 or N3 disease following ALND. Axillary radiotherapy following ALND produces significant toxicity if it specifically targets the operated nodal levels and should only be considered in patients with very high risk of recurrence (high proportion of involved nodes, extensive extranodal disease or biologically aggressive cancer) and high suspicion of residual cancer within the surgically operated nodal region. There is no evidence that radiotherapy to the operated axilla following ALND improves overall survival from breast cancer, but it increases the risk of lymphoedema.

The UK FAST-Forward nodal substudy is testing whether a 1-week schedule of adjuvant radiotherapy to Levels 1–3 axilla ± Level 4 (SCF) is non-inferior to a standard 3-week schedule in terms of patient-reported arm swelling and function in patients with early breast cancer.⁵¹ The 1-week schedules were as per the main FAST-Forward trial, but the 27 Gy treatment schedule was closed early due to an increase in normal tissue effects from the main trial, which were statistically but not necessarily clinically significant. The definitive assessment of normal tissue non-inferiority will be at 5 years; however, preliminary descriptive 3-year data have shown that moderate/marked changes are low overall as assessed by patients and clinicians.⁵² It should also be noted that this study did not include internal mammary chain (IMC) irradiation as this had not been widely adopted in the UK at the time of recruitment.

The North American MA20 trial randomised node-positive or high-risk node-negative patients to WBI versus WBI plus regional nodal irradiation (RNI) including the ipsilateral axilla, SCF and IMC, dose 50 Gy in 25 fractions.⁵³ It demonstrated improved disease-free survival (DFS) in the RNI group (82% versus 77%, HR 0.76, p=0.01) after a median follow-up of 9.5 years.

D Breast cancer

The primary endpoint of improved overall survival was not met. There was a small absolute increase in the risk of acute pneumonitis and late lymphoedema in the RNI group (Level 1b).^{3,53}

The EORTC 22922/10925 trial randomised patients with medial or centrally located breast cancers irrespective of nodal status or node-positive lateral tumours to WBI/chest wall irradiation versus WBI/chest wall irradiation plus RNI, defined as ipsilateral medial SCF and internal mammary nodes, dose 50 Gy in 25 fractions.⁵⁴ After a median follow-up of 10 years, it demonstrated an improvement in DFS in the RNI group (72.1% versus 69.1%, HR 0.89, p=0.04). The primary endpoint of improved overall survival was not met (Level 1b).^{3,54}

Both the MA20⁵³ and EORTC 22922/10925⁵⁴ trials demonstrated improved distant DFS, but this did not translate to improved overall survival and the long-term effects of RNI on cardiovascular morbidity and mortality and second cancer rates in these trials are not known. A Danish population-based non-randomised cohort study has shown improved survival with internal mammary nodal (IMN) irradiation, especially in women with larger (>50 millimetres [mm]) tumours or with more than 4 involved nodes (Level 2b).^{3,55}

The EBCTCG carried out a regional nodal individual patient data meta-analysis consisting of 14,324 women participating in 16 trials.⁵⁶ Trials initiated between 1961 and 1978 were categorised as 'older' trials where participants were treated with historical radiation techniques using direct anterior radiation beams. Of note, radiation within this group did not usually involve radiotherapy to the chest wall in node-positive disease and was only given to the regional nodes in the interventional groups. In contrast, trials started between 1989 and 2008 were categorised as 'newer' trials and patients treated with more advanced radiotherapy techniques. It was found that in the 2,157 patients who participated in the 8 'older' trials, radiotherapy did not reduce breast cancer mortality (RR 1.04, 95% CI 0.91–1·20; p=0.55) but significantly increased non-breast cancer mortality. However, in the 12,167 patients who participated in the 8 'newer' trials, regional node radiotherapy significantly reduced recurrence (RR 0.88, 95% CI 0.81–0.95; p=0.0008). The main effect was on distant recurrence as few regional node recurrences were reported. In addition, radiotherapy significantly reduced breast cancer mortality (RR 0.87, 95% CI 0.80–0.94; p=0.0010) but there was no significant increase in non-breast cancer mortality. It is likely that the differences in findings between the 'older' and 'newer' trials are related to advancements in radiotherapy techniques over the decades, in addition to the inclusion of breast and chest wall radiotherapy, as well as regional nodal radiotherapy in the newer trials. Although rate ratio (proportional benefit) of regional radiotherapy is similar across all subgroups, the absolute benefit varies according to the individual patient's risk of recurrence. For example, for those patients with node-negative disease, 1–3 lymph nodes positive or 4 or more lymph nodes positive, the reduction in 15-year breast cancer mortality was 1–2%, 2–3% and 4–5% respectively.

Regarding data for hypofractionated nodal irradiation, the DBCG Skagen-1 trial is a phase 3 randomised trial of 40 Gy in 15 fractions over 3 weeks versus 50 Gy in 25 fractions over 5 weeks in 2,946 node-positive patients.⁵⁷ Tumour bed boosts were delivered as SIB using similar techniques to IMPORT HIGH. RNI included the IMC. The primary endpoint was the risk of ipsilateral arm lymphoedema \geq 10% at 3 years after radiotherapy compared with the contralateral arm. The results presented in abstract form demonstrated low event rates and no differences between the patients receiving 40 Gy and 50 Gy. There was also no difference in locoregional recurrence, distant recurrence or overall mortality.⁵⁷ The Skagen-1 trial was the first RCT to report 40 Gy/15 fractions versus 50 Gy/25 fractions for RNI including IMC irradiation, and no increase in toxicity with 40 Gy in 15 fractions was observed.



In addition, the HypoG-01 trial reported results in abstract form.⁵⁸ The HypoG-01 trial is a phase 3 randomised trial of 40 Gy in 15 fractions over 3 weeks versus 50 Gy in 25 fractions over 5 weeks in 1,265 patients. All patients received nodal and chest wall or breast radiotherapy. The primary endpoint was time to occurrence of arm lymphoedema after radiotherapy defined as \geq 10% increase in arm circumference compared with the contralateral arm. At 3 years, ipsilateral arm lymphoedema rates were similar in both groups and it was found that 40 Gy/15 fractions is non-inferior to 50 Gy/25 fractions in terms of lymphoedema risk. Both HypoG-01 and DBCG Skagen-1 provide evidence supporting the use of 40 Gy in 15 fractions over 3 weeks with regard to lymphoedema risk.

Recommendation

For regional nodal irradiation:

• 40 Gy in 15 fractions over 3 weeks (Grade B)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.³

Palliative treatment

There is limited trial evidence evaluating the optimum schedules for palliative radiotherapy to the breast, chest wall or regional nodes. The most common doses range from 20 Gy to 40 Gy over 5–15 fractions. Weekly treatments over 5–6 weeks to a total of 30–36 Gy are also commonly used (Grade D).³

References

- 1. Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group (EBCTCG), Darby S, McGale P *et al.* Effect of radiotherapy after breast-conserving surgery on 10-year recurrence and 15-year breast cancer death: meta-analysis of individual patient data for 10,801 women in 17 randomised trials. *Lancet* 2011; **378**(9804): 1707–1716.
- Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group (EBCTCG), McGale P, Taylor C et al. Effect of radiotherapy after mastectomy and axillary surgery on 10-year recurrence and 20-year breast cancer mortality: metaanalysis of individual patient data for 8135 women in 22 randomised trials. *Lancet* 2014; 383(9935): 2127– 2135.
- www.cebm.ox.ac.uk/resources/levels-of-evidence/oxford-centre-for-evidence-based-medicine-levels-ofevidence-march-2009 (last accessed 28/11/2023).
- NICE. Early and locally advanced breast cancer: diagnosis and management. NICE guideline [NG101]. 18 July 2018. Last updated: 14 June 2023. www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng101.
- Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group (EBCTCG), Correa C, McGale P et al. Overview of the randomized trials of radiotherapy in ductal carcinoma-in-situ of the breast. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr 2010; 2010(41): 162–177.
- 6. Nilsson C, Valachis A. The role of boost and hypofractionation as adjuvant radiotherapy in patients with DCIS: a meta-analysis of observational studies. *Radiother Oncol* 2015; **114**(1): 50–55.
- Fisher B, Anderson S, Bryant J *et al.* Twenty-year follow-up of a randomized trial comparing total mastectomy, lumpectomy, and lumpectomy plus irradiation for the treatment of invasive breast cancer. *N Engl J Med* 2002; 347(16): 1233–1241.

Breas	t can	cer	

- Bentzen SM, Agarwal RK, Aird EGA *et al*. The UK standardisation of breast radiotherapy (START) trial B of radiotherapy hypofractionation for treatment of early breast cancer: a randomised trial. *Lancet* 2008; **371**: 1098–1107.
- 9. Haviland JS, Owen JR, Dewar JA *et al.* The UK standardisation of breast radiotherapy (START) trials of radiotherapy hypofractionation for treatment of early breast cancer: 10-year follow-up results of two randomised controlled trials. *Lancet Oncol* 2013; **14**(11): 1086–1094.
- Owen JR, Ashton A, Bliss JM et al. Effect of radiotherapy fraction size on tumour control in patients with earlystage breast cancer after local tumour excision: long-term results of a randomised trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2006; 7: 467–71. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(06)70699-4.
- Bentzen SM, Agrawal RK, Aird EG et al. The UK standardisation of breast radiotherapy (START) Trial A of radiotherapy hypofractionation for treatment of early breast cancer: a randomised trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2008; 9: 331–41. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(08)70077-9.
- 12. Whelan TJ, Pignol JP, Levine MN et al. Long-term results of hypofractionated radiation therapy for breast cancer. N Engl J Med 2010; **362**(6): 513–520.
- Brunt AM, Haviland JS. Hypofractionation: the standard for external beam breast irradiation. *Breast* 2023 Jun;
 69: 410–416. doi: 10.1016/j.breast.2023.04.006. Epub 2023 Apr 24. PMID: 37120889; PMCID: PMC10172745.
- Brunt AM, Haviland JS, Wheatley DA et al. Hypofractionated breast radiotherapy for 1 week versus 3 weeks (FAST-Forward): 5-year efficacy and late normal tissue effects results from a multicentre, non-inferiority, randomised, phase 3 trial. Lancet 2020; 395(10237): 1613–1626.
- Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group (EBCTCG), Correa C, McGale P et al. Overview of the randomized trials of radiotherapy in ductal carcinoma in situ of the breast. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr 2010; 2010(41): 162–177.
- Chua BH, Link EK, Kunkler IH et al. Radiation doses and fractionation schedules in non-low-risk ductal carcinoma in situ in the breast (BIG 3-07/TROG 07.01): a randomised, factorial, multicentre, open-label, phase 3 study. Lancet 2022; 400(10350): 431–440. doi:10.1016/S0140–6736(22)01246-6.
- The Royal College of Radiologists. Postoperative radiotherapy for breast cancer: hypofractionation. RCR consensus statements. London: The Royal College of Radiologists, 2020.
 www.rcr.ac.uk/publication/postoperative-radiotherapy-breast-cancer-hypofractionation-rcr-consensusstatements (accessed Nov 2022).
- 18. Brunt AM, Haviland JS, Sydenham M *et al*. Ten-year results of FAST: a randomized controlled of 5-fraction whole-breast radiotherapy for early breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol* 2020; **38**: 3261–3272.
- 19. Salvadori B, Marubini E, Miceli R *et al*. Reoperation for locally recurrent breast cancer in patients previously treated with conservative surgery. *Br J Surg* 1999; **86**: 84–87.
- 20. Borger JH, Kemperman H, Smitt HS *et al*. Dose and volume effects on fibrosis after breast conservation therapy. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 1994; **30**: 1073–81.
- Marta GN, Macedo CR, Carvalho H de A, Hanna SA, da Silva JLF, Riera R. Accelerated partial irradiation for breast cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis of 8653 women in eight randomized trials. *Radiother* Oncol 2015; 114(1): 42–29.
- 22. The Royal College of Radiologists. *Postoperative radiotherapy for breast cancer: UK consensus statements*. London: The Royal College of Radiologists, 2016. www.rcr.ac.uk/clinical-oncology/service-delivery/ postoperative-radiotherapy-breast-cancer-uk-consensus-statements (accessed Nov 2022).
- 23. Coles CE, Griffin CL, Kirby AM *et al.* Partial-breast radiotherapy after breast conservation surgery for patients with early breast cancer (UK IMPORT LOW trial): 5-year results from a multicentre, randomised, controlled, phase 3, non-inferiority trial. *Lancet* 2017; **390**(10099): 1048–1060. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31145-5.
- 24. Strnad V, Ott OJ, Hildebrandt G et al. 5-year results of accelerated partial breast irradiation using sole interstitial multicatheter brachytherapy versus whole-breast irradiation with boost after breast-conserving surgery for low-risk invasive and in-situ carcinoma of the female breast: a randomised, phase 3, noninferiority trial. Lancet 2016; 387(10015): 229–238. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00471-7.



- 25. Strnad V, Polgár C, Ott OJ et al for Groupe Européen de Curiethérapie and European Society for Radiotherapy and Oncology. Accelerated partial breast irradiation using sole interstitial multicatheter brachytherapy compared with whole-breast irradiation with boost for early breast cancer: 10-year results of a GEC-ESTRO randomised, phase 3, non-inferiority trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2023 Mar; **24**(3): 262–272. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(23)00018-9. Epub 2023 Feb 1. PMID: 36738756.
- 26. Veronesi U, Orecchia R, Maisonneuve P *et al.* Intraoperative radiotherapy versus external radiotherapy for early breast cancer (ELIOT): a randomised controlled equivalence trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2013; **14**: 1269–77.
- Vaidya JS, Bulsara M, Baum M et al. Long term survival and local control outcomes from single dose targeted intraoperative radiotherapy during lumpectomy (TARGIT-IORT) for early breast cancer: TARGIT-A randomised clinical trial. *BMJ* 2020; **370**: m2836.
- 28. Vaidya JS, Bulsara M, Saunders C *et al.* Effect of delayed targeted intraoperative radiotherapy vs whole-breast radiotherapy on local recurrence and survival: long-term results from the TARGIT-A randomized clinical trial in early breast cancer. *JAMA Oncol* 2020; **6**: e200249–e200249.
- Polgár C, Van Limbergen E, Pötter R et al. Patient selection for accelerated partial-breast irradiation (APBI) after breast-conserving surgery: recommendations of the Groupe Européen de Curiethérapie-European Society for Therapeutic Radiology and Oncology (GEC-ESTRO) breast cancer working group based on clinical evidence (2009). Radiother Oncol 2010; 94: 264–73.
- 30. Correa C, Harris EE, Leonardi MC *et al*. Accelerated partial breast irradiation: executive summary for the update of an ASTRO evidence-based consensus statement. *Pract Radiat Oncol* 2017; **7**: 73–79.
- 31. www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta501/chapter/1-Recommendations
- 32. Mannino M, Yarnold JR. Local relapse rates are falling after breast conserving surgery and systemic therapy for early breast cancer: can radiotherapy ever be safely withheld? *Radiother Oncol* 2009; **90**: 14–22.
- Darby SC, Ewertz M, McGale P et al. Risk of ischemic heart disease in women after radiotherapy for breast cancer. N Engl J Med 2013; 368: 987–98.
- 34. Grantzau T, Overgaard J. Risk of second non-breast cancer after radiotherapy for breast cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of 762,468 patients. *Radiother Oncol* 2015; **114**: 56–65.
- 35. Hughes KS, Schnaper LA, Berry D *et al*. Lumpectomy plus tamoxifen with or without irradiation in women 70 years of age or older with early breast cancer. *New Engl J Med* 2004; **351**(10): 971–977.
- Blamey RW, Bates T, Chetty U et al. Radiotherapy or tamoxifen after conserving surgery for breast cancers of excellent prognosis: British Association of Surgical Oncology (BASO) II trial. Eur J Cancer 2013; 49(10): 2294–2302.
- 37. Kunkler IH, Williams LJ, Jack WJ *et al.* Breast-conserving surgery with or without irradiation in women aged 65 years or older with early breast cancer (PRIME II): a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2015; **16**(3): 266–273.
- Kunkler IH, Williams LJ, Jack WJL, Cameron DA, Dixon JM. Breast-conserving surgery with or without irradiation in early breast cancer. *N Engl J Med* 2023 Feb 16; 388(7): 585–594. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa2207586. PMID: 36791159.
- Kirwan CC, Coles CE, Bliss J, PRIMETIME Protocol Working Group. It's PRIMETIME. Postoperative avoidance of radiotherapy: biomarker selection of women at very low risk of local recurrence. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* 2016; 28(9): 594–596. doi:10.1016/j.clon.2016.06.007.
- 40. Bartelink H, Maingon P, Poortmans P et al. Whole-breast irradiation with or without a boost for patients treated with breast-conserving surgery for early breast cancer: 20-year follow-up of a randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2015; 16(1): 47–56.
- Coles C, Haviland JS, Kirby A et al. Dose-escalated simultaneous integrated boost radiotherapy in early breast cancer (IMPORT HIGH): a multicentre, phase 3, non-inferiority, open-label, randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 2023; 401(10394): 2124–2137. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(23)00619-0.
- 42. Offersen BV, Boersma LJ, Kirkove C et al. ESTRO consensus guideline on target volume delineation for elective radiation therapy of early stage breast cancer. *Radiother Oncol* 2015; **114**(1): 3–10.

- Mukesh MB, Barnett GC, Wilkinson JS et al. Randomized controlled trial of intensity-modulated radiotherapy for early breast cancer: 5-year results confirm superior overall cosmesis. J Clin Oncol 2013; 31(36): 4488– 4495.
- 44. Chan EK, Woods R, Virani S *et al.* Long-term mortality from cardiac causes after adjuvant hypofractionated vs. conventional radiotherapy for localized left-sided breast cancer. *Radiother Oncol* 2015; **114**(1): 73–78.
- 45. Donovan E, Coles C, Westbury C, Yarnold J. Breast. In: PJ Hoskin (ed). *External beam therapy*, 2nd edn. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2012: 49–100.
- 46. Association of Breast Surgery at Baso 2009. Surgical guidelines for the management of breast cancer. *Eur J Surg Oncol* 2009; **35** Suppl 1: 1–22. doi: 10.1016/j.ejso.2009.01.008. Epub 2009 Mar 18. PMID: 19299100.
- EJ Rutgers, M Donker, C Poncet *et al.* Abstract GS4-01: radiotherapy or surgery of the axilla after a positive sentinel node in breast cancer patients: 10 year follow up results of the EORTC AMAROS trial (EORTC 10981/22023). *Cancer Res* 15 February 2019; **79** (4_Supplement): GS4–01. https://aacrjournals.org/cancerres/article/79/4_Supplement/GS4-01/638606/Abstract-GS4-01-Radiotherapy-or-surgery-of-the
- Giuliano AE, Ballman KV, McCall L et al. Effect of axillary dissection vs no axillary dissection on 10-year overall survival among women with invasive breast cancer and sentinel node metastasis: the ACOSOG Z0011 (Alliance) randomized clinical trial. JAMA 2017; **318**(10): 918–926. doi:10.1001/jama.2017.1147.
- 49. Goyal A, Dodwell D. POSNOC: a randomised trial looking at axillary treatment in women with one or two sentinel nodes with macrometastases. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* 2015 Dec; **27**(12): 692–5. doi: 10.1016/j. clon.2015.07.005. Epub 2015 Aug 5. PMID: 26254841.
- 50. POSNOC trial. www.posnoc.co.uk (accessed Nov 2022).
- 51. Wheatley D, Haviland J, Patel J *et al*. OC-0101 first results of FAST-Forward phase 3 RCT nodal substudy: 3-year normal tissue effects. *Radiother Oncol* 2022; **170**. S75–S76. doi:10.1016/S0167-8140(22)02477-X.
- Brunt AM, Haviland JS, Wheatley DA et al. One versus three weeks hypofractionated whole breast radiotherapy for early breast cancer treatment: the FAST-Forward phase III RCT. *Health Technol Assess* 2023; 27(25). doi:10.3310/WWBF1044.
- 53. Whelan TJ, Olivotto IA, Parulekar WR *et al*. Regional nodal irradiation in early-stage breast cancer: results of the MA20 prospective randomised controlled trial. *N Eng J Med* 2015; **373**(4): 307–316.
- 54. Poortmans P, Collette S, Kirkove C et al. Internal mammary and medial supraclavicular irradiation in breast cancer. N Eng J Med 2015; **373**(4): 317–327.
- 55. Thorsen LB, Offersen BV, Danø H et al. DBCG-IMN: a population-based cohort study on the effect of internal mammary node irradiation in early node-positive breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 2016; **34**(4): 314–320.
- 56. Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group (EBCTCG). Radiotherapy to regional nodes in early breast cancer: an individual patient data meta-analysis of 14,324 women in 16 trials. *Lancet* 2023 Nov 3: S0140–6736(23)01082-6. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(23)01082-6. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 37931633.
- 57. Offerson BV, Alsner J, Nielsen HM et al (2022). OC-0102 DBCG phase III randomized trial of hypo- vs standard fractionated RT in 2879 pN+ breast cancer pts. *Radiother Oncol* **170**: S76–77. doi:10.1016/S0167-8140(22)02478-1.
- Rivera S, Karamouza E, Kirova Y et al (2023). OC-0758. HypoG01:UNICANCER phase 3 trial of locoregional hypo vs normo fractionated RT in early breast cancer. *Radiother Oncol* 182: S625–S626. doi:10.1016/S0167-8140(23)08699-1.

Acknowledgements

With thanks to lead authors Dr Indrani Bhattacharya (Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust), Prof Charlotte Coles (University of Cambridge) and Prof Murray Brunt (School of Medicine, Keele University) for reviewing and updating this chapter of the guidance.

04 Central nervous system (CNS) tumours

Treatment of brain and spinal cord tumours presents specific challenges as radiation toxicity can have deleterious effects on a patient's function and cognition. The choice of dose, fractionation and technique needs to take into account the risk of neurological sequelae as well as tumour control.¹ The acute and late toxicities relate to the maximum or mean doses to structures such as optic chiasm, optic nerves, brainstem, cochlea, eyes, and the volume and location of brain parenchyma irradiated. Studies have shown that one of the principal factors determining late cognitive impairment is fraction size,² so for patients with longer life expectancy (over 12–18 months), fraction sizes of 1.8–2.0 Gy are usually recommended. In order to minimise dose to adjacent organs at risk, patients are standardly treated using advanced radiotherapy techniques.

Intracranial glioma

In 2021, WHO published a new classification of brain tumours that incorporates molecular and genetic features.³ One of the main changes is to separate glial series tumours into IDH wildtype and IDH mutated. While many tumours can be classified as wildtype on immunohistochemistry, for younger patients or if there are any unusual features, sequencing is required as some mutations are otherwise missed.

IDH wildtype glioma

The majority of these are Grade 4 lesions and termed glioblastoma, IDH wildtype (GBM IDH WT).

If a tumour has the morphology of a Grade 2 or 3 glioma but is IDH wildtype on sequencing then additional analysis is required. If there is evidence of one or more of telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT) promotor mutation, epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) gene amplification or gain of entire chromosome 7 and low entire chromosome 10 (7+/10–) then the tumour is managed as a GBM IDH WT. If these features are not present, particularly in a younger person, then this may be a rare lower-grade glioma subtype and needs to be managed accordingly.

GBM IDH WT is further subclassified into those with O6-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase (MGMT) promotor methylation and those without. MGMT methylation is both predictive of likelihood of response to temozolomide chemotherapy, but also prognostic, independent of use of temozolomide. However, it is important to note which testing technique has been utilised (pyrosequencing or PCR are recommended), and that the underlying biological mechanisms are complex, so recommendation based on MGMT methylation alone on the use or not of temozolomide is not clear cut.⁴

Factors that also need to be considered when assessing the optimum dose and fractionation for patients with GBM IDH WT include performance status, age, cognitive impairments, volume of residual disease (and surrogate of steroid dose), location of tumour, and co-morbidities.⁵

Several trials have been conducted examining dose escalation and none have identified an improvement in overall survival with doses more than 60 Gy using 2 Gy per fraction.



Several studies have compared this schedule with hypofractionated schedules; a Canadian trial looked at 40 Gy in 15 fractions in older patients or less fit younger patients and showed equivalence.⁶ A Swedish study looked at a shorter schedule of 34 Gy in 10 fractions compared with 60 Gy in 30 fractions, and those patients over the age of 70 years had a detrimental survival with the prolonged course.⁷ Consequently, shorter-course schedules are recommended for those over the age of 70 years. Some trials have used 65 years of age as the cut-off for 'elderly', whereas others have used 70 years of age. Consequently, the optimal management of people between 65 and 70 years of age needs to be assessed on a case-by-case basis.

Concurrent and adjuvant temozolomide has been shown to improve overall survival in patients with methylated GBM IDH WT when added to 60 Gy in 30 fractions,⁸ and for older patients with 40 Gy in 15 fractions.⁹ The addition of temozolomide may be considered in patients with unmethylated tumours, but the survival gain is more marginal.

For less fit patients, short-course treatments such as the Swedish 34 Gy in 10 fractions⁷ or the UK schedule of 30 Gy in 6 fractions on alternative days over 2 weeks^{10,11} may be considered, but in this group the survival gain may be minimal.

Recommendations

Glioblastoma, IDH wildtype:

Good performance status (KPS 80–100) and aged <70 with minimal residual tumour:

• 60 Gy in 30 daily fractions over 6 weeks ± temozolomide (Grade A)

Moderate performance status (KPS 60–70), or aged over 70:

• 40 Gy in 15 fractions over 3 weeks ± temozolomide (Grade A)

Poor performance (KPS 50–60) may be considered for shorter-course treatments such as:

• 34 Gy in 10 fractions (Grade B) or 30 Gy in 6 fractions on alternate days (Grade C))

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹²

IDH mutated glioma

The IDH mutated tumours are further subdivided into those with 1p19q codeletion (previously called oligodendroglioma) or without 1p19q codeletion (astrocytoma).

Non-codeleted IDH mutated glioma

These tumours are Grade 2, 3 or 4 depending on morphology.



Grade 2

Grade 2 non-codeleted IDH mutated gliomas (diffuse astrocytoma) have a good survival. Previous studies (conducted prior to recognition of IDH) comparing immediate with deferred radiotherapy showed that, for many patients, initial active surveillance is a reasonable option.¹³ However, certain features (age >40 years, tumour >4 cm, crossing midline and neurological deficit) are associated with a poorer prognosis, so those patients may be considered for earlier treatment.¹⁴

The European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) looked at initial radiotherapy (using 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions) compared with chemotherapy (temozolomide) and showed superior progression-free survival for patients with non-codeleted tumours managed with radiotherapy.¹⁵

There have been two studies examining dose escalation in patients with Grade 2 glioma (EORTC 45 Gy in 25 fractions¹⁶ versus 60 Gy 30 in fractions, and Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions versus 64.8 Gy in 36 fractions).¹⁷ Both studies failed to demonstrate an improvement in survival, and the toxicity was increased in the dose escalation arms. Consequently, the lower doses are recommended, though recent trials have used 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions.^{15,18}

If there are some concerning features on the pathology (eg higher proliferation) or imaging (increased perfusion) dose escalation (eg to 54 Gy in 30 fractions¹⁹ or using an integrated boost) may be considered.

Analysis of the long-term results of a trial of patients with Grade 2 glioma either >40 years or with >2 cc residual disease comparing radiotherapy alone (54 Gy in 30 fractions) with or without adjuvant PCV (procarbazine, CCNU and vincristine) demonstrated marked increase in overall survival with the addition of adjuvant PCV (for IDH mutated tumours with or without 1p19q).¹⁹ Consequently, there is a trend for patients who meet these criteria to consider radiotherapy and adjuvant chemotherapy earlier.

Whether or not PCV is the optimal chemotherapy for non-codeleted tumours remains debated as there has not been a trial of adjuvant temozolomide in this group.

Grade 3

The management of Grade 3 IDH mutated non-codeleted gliomas (anaplastic astrocytoma) has been assessed in the CATNON trial. This study gave 59.4 Gy in 33 fractions and then assessed use of concurrent and/or adjuvant temozolomide. Though the final analysis is awaited, initial analysis of the data demonstrates significant improvement in overall survival with the use of adjuvant temozolomide, but to date there is no survival gain from the use of concurrent temozolomide.²⁰

For some patients, particularly if there are logistical issues or the radiotherapy volume is small, 60 Gy in 30 fractions may be considered.²¹

Grade 4

Grade 4 IDH mutated gliomas were previously classified as glioblastoma but were given a new classification in WHO 21 in recognition that they have a better prognosis (median survival around 36 months compared with 14 months for GBM IDH wildtype).^{22,23}

The optimal management of this new subgroup has not been tested in clinical trials, but as they were included in prior glioblastoma trials they are managed according to these protocols.



Most Grade 4 IDH mutated gliomas have MGMT methylation and, as they occur mainly in younger age groups, the majority are treated with 60 Gy in 30 fractions with concurrent and adjuvant temozolomide.⁸ If the patient is older, has poor performance status or very large tumour volume then the schedules used for IDH wildtype tumours may be considered.

Recommendations

IDH mutated non-codeleted:

Grade 2:

• 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions (or 45 Gy in 25 fractions or 54 Gy in 30 fractions) with adjuvant PCV (Grade A) or adjuvant temozolomide (Grade D)

Grade 3:

• 59.4 Gy in 33 daily fractions over 6.5 weeks with adjuvant temozolomide (Grade A)

Grade 4:

• 60 Gy in 30 daily fractions over 6 weeks with or without concurrent and adjuvant temozolomide (Grade A)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹²

Codeleted IDH mutated glioma

Though these are graded into Grade 2 (oligodendroglioma) and Grade 3 (anaplastic oligodendroglioma), this distinction appears to have minimal impact on overall survival, with a median survival of 13 to 15 years), so it is important to consider late effects when managing these patients.²⁴

Grade 2

These patients were included in the RTOG 9802 Grade 2 trial mentioned above, which used 54 Gy in 30 fractions with and without adjuvant PCV.¹⁹ This group of IDH mutated and codeleted gliomas had the greatest gain from the addition of PCV.²⁵

However, many of these tumours are slow growing and occur in younger patients, so for many with minimal residual postoperative tumour, active surveillance is often the initial management approach, with radiotherapy and PCV utilised when there is evidence of radiological or symptomatic (eg increasing seizure frequency) progression.⁵

Grade 3

Two trials examined radiotherapy giving 59.4 Gy in 33 fractions with or without adjuvant/ neoadjuvant PCV,^{26,27} and both demonstrated an improvement in overall survival with the addition of chemotherapy.



For most patients with Grade 3 codeleted gliomas, immediate postoperative radiotherapy and chemotherapy is recommended, though for some with minimal residual disease and only foci of anaplasia, active surveillance may be an appropriate management strategy.

As with non-codeleted Grade 3 gliomas, if there are logistical issues or the radiotherapy volume is small then 60 Gy in 30 fractions may be considered.

Recommendations

IDH mutated codeleted:

Grade 2:

• 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions (or 45 Gy in 25 fractions or 54 Gy in 30 fractions) with adjuvant PCV (Grade A)

Grade 3:

• 59.4 Gy in 33 daily fractions over 6.5 weeks with adjuvant PCV (Grade A)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹²

Protons

Protons are not routinely recommended for patients with Grade 3 or 4 gliomas, or for people over the age of 25 with a Grade 2 glioma. However, they may be considered in those under the age of 25 with an IDH-mutant, 1p19q codeleted Grade 2 glioma to try to minimise the volume of normal tissue receiving medium or low doses.²⁸

Studies comparing the impact on quality of life and cognition between photons and protons in good-prognosis patients are due to start recruitment soon.

Reirradiation

There is increased interest in the use of reirradiation, particularly in patients who have relapsed after a reasonable interval of local control (usually >12 months). Schedules utilised vary depending on tumour biology, interval from initial presentation and tumour volume.²⁹

There is one randomised phase II trial in glioblastoma (RTOG 1205³⁰), which randomised patients to bevacizumab with or without reirradiation giving 35 Gy in 10 fractions. Although there was no improvement in overall survival, the proportion of patients with progression-free survival at 6 months was significantly higher in the reirradiation arm. In the UK a schedule of 35 Gy in 10 fractions is being increasingly used, particularly for glioblastoma. A UK trial is under way comparing reirradiation with palliative chemotherapy (BRIOCHE), which will hopefully provide more evidence on the impact of reirradiation on survival.

For patients with a lower-grade glioma without possible transformation, schedules using 1.8 Gy per fraction should be considered (eg 45–50.4 Gy in 25 to 28 fractions).

04 Central nervous system

Spinal cord glioma

Gliomas of the spinal cord are rare lesions with a wide range of clinical behaviour.^{31,32} Though pathological confirmation is recommended in most cases, due to the risks of increasing neurological deficits, some are treated empirically with radiotherapy. The dose of radiotherapy must balance maximising odds of tumour control with risk of spinal cord injury.

Recommendation

• 54 Gy in 30 fractions over 6 weeks (Grade D)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹²

Meningioma

Meningiomas are graded 1, 2 (atypical) and 3 (anaplastic). Grading historically has been based on morphological features, but it has been long recognised that there are lesions where the behaviour was not accurately reflected by this approach alone. Consequently, the new WHO 2021 grading incorporates some molecular markers. For example, lesions with TERT promotor mutation and/or CDKN2A/B homozygous deletion are now classified as Grade 3 due to their much higher rate of local recurrence.

Many meningiomas are picked up as incidental findings on magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) for another symptom and often require surveillance alone. For lesions that are causing symptoms and/or are enlarging, surgery remains the mainstay of treatment, but for some locations, particularly around the base of the skull, surgery can have a high risk of complications. Therefore, following multidisciplinary discussion,³³ radiotherapy is sometimes recommended without pathological confirmation.

Grade 1 or no pathological conformation

Radiotherapy may be used as radical treatment if inoperable or postoperatively after incomplete resection or on recurrence.^{34,35} There are three types of radiotherapy utilised for meningiomas: conventionally fractionated (1.8–2.0 Gy per day) using VMAT or fractionated stereotactic radiotherapy (fSRT), single-fraction stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS) or hypofractionated SRS (fraction size >5 Gy). The choice of modality depends on lesion location and volume.

Lesions in close proximity to critical structures, particularly the optic nerves and chiasm, are more commonly treated with conventionally fractionated radiotherapy due to the dose limitations when giving single fractions (eg chiasm tolerance is <10 Gy in 1 fraction or <25 Gy in 5 fractions).^{36,37} Respective case series suggest that single-fraction SRS is less effective in larger tumours than 7.5–10 cc.^{38–40} The risk of toxicity (particularly oedema) increases with volume of lesion so conventional fractionation is usually used for lesions >3 cm.⁴¹



Conventionally fractionated radiotherapy

Randomised clinical trial evidence is lacking, but generally excellent rates of local control (80–100%) are reported with radiotherapy doses of 50–54 Gy in 25–30 fractions.³³ A combined photon/proton trial showed no benefit from escalating the dose to 63 Gy relative biological effectiveness (RBE).⁴²

Radiosurgery

Small-volume (<7.5–10 cc) meningiomas away from critical structures (eg >5 mm from optic apparatus such as optic nerves, chiasm and tracts) may also be treated with single-fraction SRS. Doses utilised range from 12 to 16 Gy. One large retrospective series suggests that local control appears to be inferior for doses less than 13.5 Gy⁴³ and another showed no gain from doses over 15 Gy,³⁸ so it appears 14–15 Gy is the optimal dose range.

Hypofractionated SRS can also be used for smaller meningiomas (<3 cm max diameter) that are close (<5 mm) to critical structures such as the brainstem. There are a wide range of schedules and prescription isodoses used in the retrospective series. However, the most commonly used schedule is 25 Gy in 5 daily fractions.^{44–46}

Grade 2 (atypical)

Patients with Grade 2 meningiomas are at higher risk of relapse, even after complete (Simpson I–III) resection, but the use of adjuvant radiotherapy must be balanced against potential long-term side-effects such as neuro-cognitive toxicity.⁴⁷

Practice has varied internationally; the ROAM trial (EORTC 1308) has been conducted in which patients with completely resected Grade 2 meningiomas were randomised between 60 Gy in 30 fractions and surveillance alone.⁴⁸ Recruitment is complete, but the results have not yet been reported.

RTOG 0539 was a non-randomised phase II study delivering 54 Gy in 30 fractions for patients with Grade 2 meningioma with gross total resection (Simpson I–III),⁴⁹ and 54 Gy with integrated boost to 60 Gy if there was a subtotal resection (Simpson IV–V).⁵⁰ The 3-year progression-free survival was 93.8% and 57.1%, respectively.

The EORTC conducted a non-randomised phase II trial (22042) delivering 60 Gy in 30 fractions in those with Simpson I–III, with a 10 Gy boost if Simpson IV–V. The vast majority (82%) had gross total resection, and 3-year progression-free survival was 88.7%, which exceeded the predicted 70%.⁵¹

The use of radiosurgery for Grade 2 meningioma remains controversial due to the margins required (most standard radiotherapy trials use 1 cm margin from gross tumour volume [GTV] to clinical target volume [CTV]) to reduce local recurrence. The dose margins and fraction have not yet been established.⁴⁷

Grade 3 (anaplastic)

Anaplastic meningiomas are rare (<3% of meningiomas, though this will increase with new molecular classification) so data on optimal management are limited. They were included in the RTOG 0539 high-risk arm and EORTC 22042, but the numbers in each study are small: 17 and 9, respectively.^{50,51}



Retrospective studies show that, though reduced after adjuvant radiotherapy, the risk of recurrence both locally and in other areas of the meninges remains high, and though dose escalation has been considered, whether this approach is beneficial is yet to be established.⁴⁷

Recommendations

Grade 1:

- VMAT 50–54 Gy in 25–30 fractions over 5–6 weeks (Grade C)
- SRS 13–15 Gy in a single fraction (Grade C)
- SRS 25 Gy in 5 fractions (Grade D)

Grade 2:

• VMAT 54–60 Gy in 30 fractions over 6 weeks (Grade B)

Grade 3:

• VMAT 60 Gy in 30 fractions over 6 weeks (Grade B)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹²

Pituitary adenoma

Pituitary lesions account for 15% of intracranial tumours and the majority are benign adenomas, but around a third invade local structures.⁵²

They are categorised into functioning (hormone-secreting – ACTH, growth hormone, prolactin, TSH or gonadotrophins) or non-functioning lesions.

They may require treatment due to their hormone secretion or due to pressure on surrounding structures such as the optic chiasm.

The primary treatment is usually surgery (or dopamine agonists for prolactinomas) with radiotherapy reserved for:

- Recurrent or progressive non-secreting tumours following surgical excision, residual disease close to optic apparatus with the concern of threat to vision
- Lesions with adverse pathological features such as Ki 67 >3%⁵²
- Secretory tumours with persistent hormone elevation despite maximal hormone blockade
- Patients not medically fit for surgery.

Prevention of further enlargement following radiotherapy is achieved in over 90%^{53,54} at 10 years with the majority of patients treated using 45 Gy in 25 fractions.^{55,56} However, if there are adverse features, such as large size or marked local invasion then dose escalation to 50.4–54 Gy using 1.8 Gy per fraction may be considered.^{52,56} Advanced planning and set-up techniques should be utilised to minimise doses to adjacent organs at risk, particularly the chiasm.



The rate of biochemical cure for functioning lesions is, however, much lower, with most conventionally fractionated series quoting 35–50%. To try to increase biochemical cure, there has been interest in utilising SRS for lesions >3 mm from optic apparatus and <3 cm in size. However, there are no randomised studies, just single-centre series with minimal data on lesion size and varying length of follow-up.⁵⁷

The NHS England commissioning guidelines also state that hypofractionated SRT (2–5 fractions) can be considered in patients with non-functional adenomas where the optic apparatus is involved (eg 25 Gy in 5 fractions). This was restricted to non-functional lesions due to lack of evidence in functional lesions.⁵⁸

The use of proton treatment for pituitary tumours is still under investigation. Currently in the UK, patients <25 years with pituitary adenomas are eligible based on theoretical reduction in late effects in surrounding structures.

Recommendation

• 45–54 Gy in 25–30 fractions over 5–6 weeks (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹²

References

- Niyazi M, Andratschke N, Bendszus M et al. ESTRO-EANO guideline on target delineation and radiotherapy details for glioblastoma. *Radiother Oncol* 2023 Jul; **184**: 109663. doi:10.1016/j.radonc.2023.109663. Epub 2023 Apr 13. PMID: 37059335. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/37059335
- Klein M. Neurocognitive functioning in adult WHO grade II gliomas: impact of old and new treatment modalities. *Neuro Oncol* 2012; 14(Suppl 4): iv17–iv24. doi:10.1093/neuonc/nos161. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3480241
- Louis DN, Perry A, Wesseling P et al. The 2021 WHO classification of tumors of the central nervous system: a summary. Neuro Oncol 2021; 23(8): 1231–1251. doi:10.1093/neuonc/noab106. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34185076
- Butler M, Pongor L, Su YT et al. MGMT status as a clinical biomarker in glioblastoma. Trends Cancer 2020; 6(5): 380–391. doi:10.1016/j.trecan.2020.02.010. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7315323
- Weller M, van den Bent M, Preusser M et al. EANO guidelines on the diagnosis and treatment of diffuse gliomas of adulthood [published correction appears in Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2022 May; 19(5): 357–358]. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2021; 18(3): 170–186. doi:10.1038/s41571-020-00447-z. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7904519
- Roa W, Brasher PM, Bauman G et al. Abbreviated course of radiation therapy in older patients with glioblastoma multiforme: a prospective randomized clinical trial. J Clin Oncol 2004; 22(9): 1583–1588. doi:10.1200/JCO.2004.06.082. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15051755
- Malmström A, Poulsen HS, Grønberg BH et al. Postoperative neoadjuvant temozolomide before radiotherapy versus standard radiotherapy in patients 60 years or younger with anaplastic astrocytoma or glioblastoma: a randomized trial. Acta Oncol 2017; 56(12): 1776–1785. doi:10.1080/0284186X.2017.1332780. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28675067



- Stupp R, Hegi ME, Mason WP et al. Effects of radiotherapy with concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide versus radiotherapy alone on survival in glioblastoma in a randomised phase III study: 5-year analysis of the EORTC-NCIC trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2009; **10**(5): 459–466. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(09)70025-7. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19269895
- Perry JR, Laperriere N, O'Callaghan CJ et al. Short-course radiation plus temozolomide in elderly patients with glioblastoma. N Engl J Med 2017; 376(11): 1027–1037. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1611977. www.nejm.org/doi/10.1056/NEJMoa1611977
- Thomas R, James N, Guerrero D, Ashley S, Gregor A, Brada M. Hypofractionated radiotherapy as palliative treatment in poor prognosis patients with high grade glioma. *Radiother Oncol* 1994; **33**(2): 113–116. doi:10.1016/0167-8140(94)90064-7. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/7535939
- Erridge SC, Hart MG, Kerr GR et al. Trends in classification, referral and treatment and the effect on outcome of patients with glioma: a 20 year cohort. J Neurooncol 2011; 104(3): 789–800. doi:10.1007/ s11060-011-0546-0. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21384218
- 12. www.cebm.ox.ac.uk/resources/levels-of-evidence/oxford-centre-for-evidence-based-medicine-levels-ofevidence-march-2009 (last accessed 28/11/2023).
- van den Bent MJ, Afra D, de Witte O et al. Long-term efficacy of early versus delayed radiotherapy for low-grade astrocytoma and oligodendroglioma in adults: the EORTC 22845 randomised trial [published correction appears in Lancet 2006 Jun 3; 367(9525): 1818]. Lancet 2005; 366(9490): 985–990. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(05)67070-5. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16168780
- Pignatti F, van den Bent M, Curran D et al. Prognostic factors for survival in adult patients with cerebral lowgrade glioma. J Clin Oncol 2002; 20(8): 2076–2084. doi:10.1200/JCO.2002.08.121. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11956268
- Baumert BG, Hegi ME, van den Bent MJ *et al.* Temozolomide chemotherapy versus radiotherapy in high-risk low-grade glioma (EORTC 22033-26033): a randomised, open-label, phase 3 intergroup study. *Lancet Oncol* 2016; **17**(11): 1521–1532. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(16)30313-8. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27686946
- Karim AB, Maat B, Hatlevoll R et al. A randomized trial on dose-response in radiation therapy of low-grade cerebral glioma: European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) Study 22844. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1996; 36(3): 549–556. doi:10.1016/s0360-3016(96)00352-5. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/8948338
- Breen WG, Anderson SK, Carrero XW et al. Final report from Intergroup NCCTG 86-72-51 (Alliance): a phase III randomized clinical trial of high-dose versus low-dose radiation for adult low-grade glioma. *Neuro Oncol* 2020; 22(6): 830–837. doi:10.1093/neuonc/noaa021. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32002556
- IDH mutated 1p/19q intact lower grade glioma following resection: wait or treat? IWOT: a phase III study. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03763422
- Buckner JC, Shaw EG, Pugh SL *et al.* Radiation plus procarbazine, CCNU, and vincristine in low-grade glioma. *N Engl J Med* 2016; **374**(14): 1344–1355. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1500925. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27050206
- 20. van den Bent MJ, Tesileanu CMS, Wick W et al. Adjuvant and concurrent temozolomide for 1p/19q non-codeleted anaplastic glioma (CATNON; EORTC study 26053-22054): second interim analysis of a randomised, open-label, phase 3 study. Lancet Oncol 2021; 22(6): 813–823. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(21)00090-5. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34000245
- Bleehen NM, Stenning SP. A Medical Research Council trial of two radiotherapy doses in the treatment of grades 3 and 4 astrocytoma. The Medical Research Council Brain Tumour Working Party. *Br J Cancer* 1991;
 64(4): 769–774. doi:10.1038/bjc.1991.396. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1977696
- 22. Molinaro AM, Taylor JW, Wiencke JK, Wrensch MR. Genetic and molecular epidemiology of adult diffuse glioma. *Nat Rev Neurol* 2019; **15**(7): 405–417. doi:10.1038/s41582-019-0220-2. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31227792
- Mair MJ, Geurts M, van den Bent MJ, Berghoff AS. A basic review on systemic treatment options in WHO grade II-III gliomas. *Cancer Treat Rev* 2021; **92**: 102124. doi:10.1016/j.ctrv.2020.102124. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33227622


- 24. Frances SM, Velikova G, Klein M *et al.* Long-term impact of adult WHO grade II or III gliomas on health-related quality of life: a systematic review. *Neurooncol Pract* 2021; **9**(1): 3–17. doi:10.1093/nop/npab062. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35087674
- 25. Bell EH, Zhang P, Shaw EG et al. Comprehensive genomic analysis in NRG oncology/RTOG 9802: a phase III trial of radiation versus radiation plus procarbazine, lomustine (CCNU), and vincristine in high-risk low-grade glioma. J Clin Oncol 2020; **38**(29): 3407–3417. doi:10.1200/JCO.19.02983. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32706640
- 26. Cairncross G, Wang M, Shaw E et al. Phase III trial of chemoradiotherapy for anaplastic oligodendroglioma: long-term results of RTOG 9402. J Clin Oncol 2013; **31**(3): 337–343. doi:10.1200/JCO.2012.43.2674. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23071247
- van den Bent MJ, Brandes AA, Taphoorn MJ et al. Adjuvant procarbazine, lomustine, and vincristine chemotherapy in newly diagnosed anaplastic oligodendroglioma: long-term follow-up of EORTC brain tumor group study 26951. J Clin Oncol 2013; 31(3): 344–350. doi:10.1200/JCO.2012.43.2229. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23071237
- 28. www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/proton-beam-therapy-clinical-commissioning-policy.pdf
- Minniti G, Niyazi M, Alongi F, Navarria P, Belka C. Current status and recent advances in reirradiation of glioblastoma. *Radiat Oncol* 2021; **16**(1): 36. doi:10.1186/s13014-021-01767-9.
 www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7890828
- 30. Tsien CI, Pugh SL, Dicker AP et al. NRG Oncology/RTOG1205: a randomized phase II trial of concurrent bevacizumab and reirradiation versus bevacizumab alone as treatment for recurrent glioblastoma. J Clin Oncol 2023 Feb 20; 41(6): 1285–1295. doi: 10.1200/JCO.22.00164. Epub 2022 Oct 19. PMID: 36260832; PMCID: PMC9940937. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/37059335
- Anghileri E, Broggi M, Mazzapicchi E et al. Therapeutic approaches in adult primary spinal cord astrocytoma: a systematic review. *Cancers (Basel)* 2022; **14**(5): 1292. doi:10.3390/cancers14051292. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8909513
- Abd-El-Barr MM, Huang KT, Moses ZB, lorgulescu JB, Chi JH. Recent advances in intradural spinal tumors. Neuro Oncol 2018; 20(6): 729–742. doi:10.1093/neuonc/nox230. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5961256
- Brastianos PK, Galanis E, Butowski N et al. Advances in multidisciplinary therapy for meningiomas. Neuro Oncol 2019; 21(Suppl 1): i18–i31. doi:10.1093/neuonc/noy136.
 www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6347080
- 34. Goldbrunner R, Stavrinou P, Jenkinson MD et al. EANO guideline on the diagnosis and management of meningiomas. Neuro Oncol 2021; 23(11): 1821–1834. doi:10.1093/neuonc/noab150. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34181733
- Rogers CL, Pugh SL, Vogelbaum MA et al. Low-risk meningioma: initial outcomes from NRG Oncology/RTOG 0539. Neuro Oncol 2023; 25(1): 137–145. doi:10.1093/neuonc/noac137. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35657335
- 36. Milano MT, Grimm J, Soltys SG et al. Single- and multi-fraction stereotactic radiosurgery dose tolerances of the optic pathways. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2021; 110(1): 87–99. doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2018.01.053. www.redjournal.org/article/S0360-3016(18)30125-1/fulltext
- Combs SE, Baumert BG, Bendszus M et al. ESTRO ACROP guideline for target volume delineation of skull base tumors. Radiother Oncol 2021; 156: 80–94. doi:10.1016/j.radonc.2020.11.014. www.thegreenjournal.com/action/showPdf?pii=S0167-8140%2820%2931179-8
- 38. Kondziolka D, Flickinger JC, Perez B. Judicious resection and/or radiosurgery for parasagittal meningiomas: outcomes from a multicenter review. Gamma Knife Meningioma Study Group. *Neurosurgery* 1998; 43(3): 405–414. doi:10.1097/00006123-199809000-00001. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/9733295
- Pollock BE, Stafford SL, Utter A, Giannini C, Schreiner SA. Stereotactic radiosurgery provides equivalent tumor control to Simpson Grade 1 resection for patients with small- to medium-size meningiomas. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2003; **55**(4): 1000–1005. doi:10.1016/s0360-3016(02)04356-0. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12605979



- 40. Rogers L, Barani I, Chamberlain M et al. Meningiomas: knowledge base, treatment outcomes, and uncertainties. A RANO review. J Neurosurg 2015; 122(1): 4–23. doi:10.3171/2014.7.JNS131644. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25343186
- Minniti G, Clarke E, Cavallo L *et al.* Fractionated stereotactic conformal radiotherapy for large benign skull base meningiomas. *Radiat Oncol* 2011; 6: 36. doi:10.1186/1748-717X-6-36. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3094366
- 42. Sanford NN, Yeap BY, Larvie M et al. Prospective, randomized study of radiation dose escalation with combined proton-photon therapy for benign meningiomas. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2017; 99(4): 787–796. doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2017.07.008. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5654667
- 43. Lippitz BE, Bartek J Jr, Mathiesen T, Förander P. Ten-year follow-up after Gamma Knife radiosurgery of meningioma and review of the literature. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 2020; 162(9): 2183–2196. doi:10.1007/ s00701-020-04350-5. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7415024
- 44. Alfredo C, Carolin S, Güliz A *et al.* Normofractionated stereotactic radiotherapy versus CyberKnife-based hypofractionation in skull base meningioma: a German and Italian pooled cohort analysis [published correction appears in *Radiat Oncol* 2020 Dec 14; **15**(1): 279]. *Radiat Oncol* 2019; **14**(1): 201. doi:10.1186/s13014-019-1397-7. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31718650
- Nguyen EK, Nguyen TK, Boldt G, Louie AV, Bauman GS. Hypofractionated stereotactic radiotherapy for intracranial meningioma: a systematic review. *Neurooncol Pract* 2019; 6(5): 346–353. doi:10.1093/nop/ npy053. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31555449
- 46. Pinzi V, Marchetti M, De Martin E et al. Multisession radiosurgery for intracranial meningioma treatment: study protocol of a single arm, monocenter, prospective trial. Radiat Oncol 2020; 15(1): 26. doi:10.1186/s13014-020-1478-7. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32000819
- Vagnoni L, Aburas S, Giraffa M *et al.* Radiation therapy for atypical and anaplastic meningiomas: an overview of current results and controversial issues. *Neurosurg Rev* 2022; **45**(5): 3019–3033. doi:10.1007/s10143-022-01806-3. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35665867
- Jenkinson MD, Javadpour M, Haylock BJ et al. The ROAM/EORTC-1308 trial: radiation versus observation following surgical resection of atypical meningioma: study protocol for a randomised controlled trial. *Trials* 2015; 16: 519. doi:10.1186/s13063-015-1040-3. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26576533
- Rogers L, Zhang P, Vogelbaum MA et al. Intermediate-risk meningioma: initial outcomes from NRG Oncology RTOG 0539 [published correction appears in J Neurosurg 2018 Dec 1; 129(6): 1650]. J Neurosurg 2018; 129(1): 35–47. doi:10.3171/2016.11.JNS161170. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5889346
- Rogers CL, Won M, Vogelbaum MA et al. High-risk meningioma: initial outcomes from NRG Oncology/RTOG 0539. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2020; 106(4): 790–799. doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2019.11.028. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31786276
- Weber DC, Ares C, Villa S et al. Adjuvant postoperative high-dose radiotherapy for atypical and malignant meningioma: a phase-II parallel non-randomized and observation study (EORTC 22042-26042). Radiother Oncol 2018; 128(2): 260–265. doi:10.1016/j.radonc.2018.06.018. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29960684
- 52. Raverot G, Burman P, McCormack A et al. European Society of Endocrinology clinical practice guidelines for the management of aggressive pituitary tumours and carcinomas. Eur J Endocrinol 2018; **178**(1): G1–G24. doi:10.1530/EJE-17-0796. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29046323
- 53. Lu L, Wan X, Xu Y, Chen J, Shu K, Lei T. Prognostic factors for recurrence in pituitary adenomas: recent progress and future directions. *Diagnostics (Basel)* 2022; **12**(4): 977. doi:10.3390/diagnostics12040977. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC9024548
- 54. Chang EF, Zada G, Kim S *et al.* Long-term recurrence and mortality after surgery and adjuvant radiotherapy for nonfunctional pituitary adenomas. *J Neurosurg* 2008; **108**(4): 736–745. doi:10.3171/JNS/2008/108/4/0736. https://thejns.org/view/journals/j-neurosurg/108/4/article-p736.xml
- 55. van den Bergh AC, van den Berg G, Schoorl MA *et al.* Immediate postoperative radiotherapy in residual nonfunctioning pituitary adenoma: beneficial effect on local control without additional negative impact on pituitary function and life expectancy. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2007; **67**(3): 863–869. doi:10.1016/j. ijrobp.2006.09.049. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17197121



- 56. Erridge SC, Conkey DS, Stockton D et al. Radiotherapy for pituitary adenomas: long-term efficacy and toxicity. Radiother Oncol 2009; 93(3): 597–601. doi:10.1016/j.radonc.2009.09.011. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19900729
- Minniti G, Clarke E, Scaringi C, Enrici RM. Stereotactic radiotherapy and radiosurgery for non-functioning and secreting pituitary adenomas. *Rep Pract Oncol Radiother* 2016; **21**(4): 370–378. doi:10.1016/j. rpor.2014.09.004. www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4899479
- 58. NHS England Special Commissioning Team. Clinical commissioning policy: stereotactic radiosurgery/ radiotherapy for the treatment of pituitary adenomas (all ages). NHS England, 2018. www.england.nhs.uk/ wp-content/uploads/2018/04/stereotactic-radiosurgery-and-radiotherapy-for-pituitary-adenomas.pdf

Acknowledgements

With thanks to lead authors Dr Sara Erridge (Edinburgh Cancer Centre), Dr Edward Chandy (Sussex Cancer Centre) and Dr Samantha Forner (Kent Oncology Centre) for reviewing and updating this chapter of the guidance.

Gastro-oesophageal cancer

Oesophagus

Radical treatment

For patients with localised disease, the standard curative approach to treatment is either surgery + perioperative chemotherapy, surgery \pm neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy or definitive radiotherapy \pm concomitant chemotherapy. For those who have not achieved a complete pathological response following neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy and surgery, adjuvant nivolumab has been shown to improve progression-free survival.¹

Due to the differing chemosensitivity and radiosensitivity of squamous cell cancer (SCC) and adenocarcinoma (ACA), treatment paradigms for oesophageal SCC and ACA have taken divergent paths.²

Definitive radiation with concomitant chemotherapy

Radiation with concomitant chemotherapy is superior to radiotherapy alone.³ Cisplatin and fluorouracil (5-FU) became the standard of care in definitive chemoradiotherapy following the publication of the landmark Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) 85-01 trial. This trial showed a survival advantage for concomitant chemoradiation (50 Gray [Gy] in 25 fractions) with two concurrent and two adjuvant cycles of cisplatin and 5-FU) compared with radiotherapy alone (64 Gy in 32 fractions), with 5-year survival rates of 27% versus 0%.³

Outcomes have improved in modern trials using more conformal radiotherapy techniques with improved patient selection and radiotherapy quality assurance; in the UK SCOPE1 study, radiotherapy combined with cisplatin and capecitabine reported 2-year survival rates of 56% with a median overall survival of 34.5 months in long-term follow-up.⁴

Cisplatin is associated with significant toxicity. Weekly carboplatin and paclitaxel combined with radiotherapy is increasingly being used in the definitive setting due to its favourable toxicity profile. Several phase II studies have shown that carboplatin and paclitaxel given concurrently with definitive radiotherapy in oesophageal cancer is both tolerable and active.^{5,6} Retrospective UK data also suggest that overall survival is comparable with those undergoing cisplatin and 5-FU chemotherapy.⁷

A systematic review of neoadjuvant concomitant chemoradiation confirmed a radiotherapy dose response relationship with pathological complete response.⁸ Although an increasing body of evidence is suggestive of the safety and feasibility of doses \geq 60 Gy,^{9,10} currently there are no randomised control trials to support the use of radiotherapy doses >50.4 Gy in the definitive treatment of oesophageal cancer. The INTO123 trial failed to show a benefit of dose escalation to 64.8 Gy compared with 50.4 Gy with the same cisplatin/5-FU chemotherapy in both arms.¹¹ Treatment-related deaths were increased in the dose-escalated arm, although the majority of these occurred prior to the delivery of >50 Gy and cannot be attributed to dose escalation.⁹ Subsequent studies of dose escalation have focused on attempting to reduce toxicity by taking advantage of the progress in radiotherapy techniques and escalating dose to smaller volumes but have again failed to show an improvement in local control or survival.^{12,13}

The Royal College of Radiologists Clinical Oncology



Chemoradiotherapy is recommended for tumours of the upper third oesophagus where extensive surgery would also involve a laryngectomy. Unlike SCC of the head and neck region, there is limited evidence for dose escalation beyond 50 Gy for upper third oesophageal SCC. A single-institution retrospective study of 23 patients with SCC of the upper third oesophagus treated with 60–66 Gy in 30 fractions using IMRT demonstrated dose escalation was well tolerated with good local control rates.¹⁴ In addition a single-institution phase II prospective study in India of post-cricoid and upper oesophageal SCC treated with IMRT to a dose of either 66 Gy in 30 fractions or 63 Gy in 35 fractions showed 2-year locoregional control rates and cause-specific survival of 59.6% and 44.8% respectively.¹⁵ However, prospective evidence to support this approach is lacking and future research is required.

Recommendations

Definitive radiation with concomitant chemotherapy:

- 50 Gy in 25 fractions over 5 weeks (Grade A)
- 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions over 5.5 weeks (Grade A)
- For upper third oesophageal carcinoma, moderate dose escalation with intensitymodulated radiotherapy (IMRT) can be considered, wherever possible within the context of a clinical trial (Grade C) 60–66 Gy in 30 fractions over 6 weeks

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹⁶

Definitive radiotherapy alone

Single-modality radiotherapy is an option for patients not suitable for concurrent chemotherapy. Hypofractionation has been shown to be safe and tolerable with outcomes superior to those seen with conventionally fractionated radiotherapy. In a series of 101 patients in whom the majority of tumours were <5 cm in length, radiotherapy alone to a dose of 45–52.5 Gy in 15–16 fractions achieved a 5-year survival of 21%.¹⁷ More recently a retrospective UK single-centre analysis of 61 consecutive patients managed with hypofractionated radiotherapy with radical intent (50 Gy in 16 fractions or 50–52.5 Gy in 20 fractions) revealed 3-year survival of 56.9% and median overall survival of 29 months.¹⁸

Recommendations

Radiotherapy alone:

- 45–52.5 Gy in 15–16 fractions over 3 weeks (Grade C)
- 50–55 Gy in 20 fractions over 4 weeks (Grade C)
- 60 Gy in 30 fractions over 6 weeks (Grade D)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹⁶



Preoperative (neoadjuvant) radiation with concomitant chemotherapy

Despite adequate preoperative staging, 25–30% of patients treated with primary surgery have microscopically positive resection margins (R1) and the 5-year survival rate rarely exceeds 40%. Multimodal therapy including perioperative chemotherapy and neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy aim to improve outcomes by downstaging the tumour and eradicating micrometastatic disease.

The landmark trial of neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy is the Dutch CROSS trial. Radiotherapy with concomitant carboplatin and paclitaxel and 41.4 Gy in 23 fractions versus surgery alone demonstrated an increase in median survival from 24 to 49 months and no increase in perioperative mortality.¹⁹ Complete pathologic response rates of 23% in patients with ACA and 49% in patients with SCC were observed in the chemoradiation arm. NEOSCOPE, a multicentre study of preoperative chemoradiotherapy, showed that neoadjuvant carboplatin and paclitaxel with radiotherapy to a dose of 45 Gy could be safely delivered to patients with locally advanced resectable oesophageal adenocarcinoma with acceptable toxicity and low incidence of postoperative mortality.²⁰ Walsh *et al* investigated a dose of 40 Gy in 15 fractions following 2 cycles of neoadjuvant chemotherapy, demonstrating improved median survival of 17 months versus 12 months with surgery alone.²¹ However, due to limited evidence supporting this dose fractionation, this approach should currently be considered only as part of a clinical trial.

Following the results of the Checkmate 577 trial, adjuvant nivolumab for 12 months is recommended for patients with completely resected oesophageal or gastro-oesophageal junction cancer who have residual disease after previous neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy.¹

Based on the results of two large randomised controlled studies, perioperative chemotherapy represents another standard of care for resectable adenocarcinoma.^{22,23} The use of epirubicin, cisplatin and fluorouracil (ECF) chemotherapy has now largely been superseded by fluorouracil, leucovorin, oxaliplatin, docetaxel (FLOT) due to the expectation of higher efficacy.

Recommendations

Neoadjuvant radiation with concomitant chemotherapy:

Squamous cell carcinoma:

• 41.4 Gy in 23 fractions over 4.5 weeks (Grade A)

Adenocarcinoma:

- 41.4 Gy in 23 fractions over 4.5 weeks (Grade A)
- 45 Gy in 25 fractions over 5 weeks (Grade B)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹⁶

Postoperative radiotherapy

There is limited and heterogeneous evidence exploring postoperative radiotherapy, which has hindered attempts at meta-analyses. It may have a role in patients who have positive margins and prognosis estimated to be mainly influenced by local relapse.^{24,25} Based on available data,



if radiotherapy is given, concomitant chemoradiotherapy is preferred to radiotherapy alone with conventionally fractionated doses of 40–50 Gy.²⁶

Recommendations

Postoperative radiation with concomitant chemotherapy:

- At the current time no clear recommendations around the indications for radiotherapy can be made because of lack of available evidence
- Consider in patients who have positive margins and prognosis estimated to be mainly influenced by local relapse (Grade D)
- If radiotherapy is given, concomitant chemotherapy is preferred to radiotherapy alone with conventionally fractionated doses of 40–50 Gy (Grade A)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹⁶

Palliative treatment

Advanced disease can cause local symptoms such as dysphagia, bleeding and pain, but there is a lack of robust controlled trial evidence for the role of palliative radiotherapy in oesophageal cancer and the optimal schedule for symptom control is unknown.

Brachytherapy

There is evidence that intraluminal brachytherapy with palliative intent is a valid alternative to stenting in patients with dysphagia and longer life expectancy.²⁷⁻²⁹ An updated Cochrane review on interventions for dysphagia in oesophageal cancer has concluded that, when compared with self-expanding metal stents, brachytherapy provided an improvement in long-term relief from dysphagia and possibly a better quality of life.³⁰

Recommendations

Palliative brachytherapy:

- 12 Gy in 1 fraction (Grade B)
- 12–16 Gy in 2 fractions (Grade B)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹⁶

External beam radiotherapy

Palliative radiotherapy alone should be considered for symptom improvement in oesophageal cancer. Concurrent chemoradiotherapy has not been shown to be advantageous in a phase III trial in which radiotherapy doses were 35 Gy in 15 fractions or 30 Gy in 10 fractions.³¹

The UK ROCS study has shown that palliative radiotherapy in addition to oesophageal stenting does not improve outcomes over stent insertion alone and should not be routinely offered.³²



Extrapolating evidence from gastric cancer, short-course radiotherapy is an effective treatment that can palliate bleeding from oesophageal and junctional tumours.^{33–35}

Recommendations

Palliative external beam radiotherapy:

- 30 Gy in 10 fractions over 2 weeks (Grade C)
- 35 Gy in 15 fractions over 3 weeks (Grade C)
- 20 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week (Grade C)
- 40 Gy in 15 fractions over 3 weeks (Grade D)
- 8 Gy in 1 fraction (Grade D)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹⁶

Gastric cancer

Perioperative therapy

Surgery (to achieve RO resection with appropriate lymphadenectomy) remains the only radical treatment for gastric cancer, with combined modality treatment indicated for all but very early, stage IA disease. Potentially operable >stage IB disease should be managed with perioperative chemotherapy^{22,23} (Grade A).

The role of neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy is being investigated by the TOPGEAR³⁶ and CRITICS II³⁷ studies, but there is currently no phase III evidence to support this approach.

Adjuvant radiotherapy with concomitant chemotherapy

In 2001, the US Intergroup 0116 trial³⁸ reported a survival benefit with postoperative chemoradiotherapy compared with surgery alone. However, as only 10% of the trial population had undergone the recommended D2 lymphadenectomy, and patients did not undergo any perioperative chemotherapy, the true benefit of postoperative chemoradiotherapy in the context of optimal surgical technique and perioperative treatment remain unclear.

Subsequent trials (ARTIST I,³⁹ CRITICS,⁴⁰ ARTIST II⁴¹) have failed to further define the optimal role of adjuvant radiotherapy. As such, adjuvant chemoradiotherapy is reserved only for selected high-risk patients who have not undergone preoperative chemotherapy or have not achieved an RO resection, following multidisciplinary team discussion (Grade B).

Recommendation

Adjuvant radiotherapy with concomitant chemotherapy:

• 45 Gy in 25 fractions over 5 weeks with concomitant 5-FU or capecitabine (Grade B)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹⁶

05 Gastro-oesophageal cance

Palliative radiotherapy

Palliative radiotherapy can be an effective treatment for haemostasis of bleeding gastric tumours.³³ Though there is no clear evidence to suggest any dose/fractionation is superior in terms of symptom palliation, single-fraction treatments may be preferred due to reduced toxicity, shorter treatment time and potential for future retreatment if required.^{34,35}

Recommendations

- 6–8 Gy in 1 fraction (Grade D)
- 20 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week (Grade D)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹⁶

References

- 1. Kelly RJ, Ajani JA, Kuzdzal J *et al*. Adjuvant nivolumab in resected esophageal or gastroesophageal junction cancer. *N Engl J Med* 2021; **384**(13): 1191–1203. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa2032125.
- Obermannová R, Alsina M, Cervantes A et al. Oesophageal cancer: ESMO clinical practice guideline for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 2022; 33(10): 992–1004. doi:10.1016/j.annonc.2022.07.003.
- 3. Herskovic A, Martz K, al-Sarraf M *et al.* Combined chemotherapy and radiotherapy compared with radiotherapy alone in patients with cancer of the esophagus. *N Engl J Med* 1992; **326**(24): 1593–8. doi:10.1056/nejm199206113262403.
- Crosby T, Hurt CN, Falk S et al. Long-term results and recurrence patterns from SCOPE-1: a phase II/III randomised trial of definitive chemoradiotherapy ± cetuximab in oesophageal cancer. Br J Cancer 2017; 116(6): 709–716. doi:10.1038/bjc.2017.21.
- 5. Wang H, Ryu J, Gandara D *et al*. A phase II study of paclitaxel, carboplatin, and radiation with or without surgery for esophageal cancer. *J Thorac Oncol* 2007; **2**(2): 153–7. doi:10.1097/JTO.0b013e31802bff75.
- Ruppert BN, Watkins JM, Shirai K et al. Cisplatin/Irinotecan versus carboplatin/paclitaxel as definitive chemoradiotherapy for locoregionally advanced esophageal cancer. Am J Clin Oncol 2010; 33(4): 346–52. doi:10.1097/COC.0b013e3181aaca26.
- Owens R, Cox C, Gomberg S *et al.* Outcome of weekly carboplatin-paclitaxel-based definitive chemoradiation in oesophageal cancer in patients not considered to be suitable for platinum-fluoropyrimidine-based treatment: a multicentre, retrospective review. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* 2020; **32**(2): 121–130. doi:10.1016/j. clon.2019.09.058.
- Geh JI, Bond SJ, Bentzen SM, Glynne-Jones R. Systematic overview of preoperative (neoadjuvant) chemoradiotherapy trials in oesophageal cancer: evidence of a radiation and chemotherapy dose response. *Radiother Oncol* 2006; **78**(3): 236–44. doi:10.1016/j.radonc.2006.01.009.
- 9. Rackley T, Leong T, Foo M, Crosby T. Definitive chemoradiotherapy for oesophageal cancer: a promising start on an exciting journey. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* 2014; **26**(9): 533–40. doi:10.1016/j.clon.2014.06.001.
- Bridges S, Thomas B, Radhakrishna G et al. SCOPE 2: still answering the unanswered questions in oesophageal radiotherapy? SCOPE 2: a randomised phase II/III trial to study radiotherapy dose escalation in patients with oesophageal cancer treated with definitive chemoradiation with an embedded phase II trial for patients with a poor early response using positron emission tomography/computed tomography. *Clin Oncol* (*R Coll Radiol*) 2022; **34**(7):e269-e280. doi:10.1016/j.clon.2022.03.019.
- Minsky BD, Pajak TF, Ginsberg RJ et al. INT 0123 (Radiation Therapy Oncology Group 94–05) phase III trial of combined-modality therapy for esophageal cancer: high-dose versus standard-dose radiation therapy. J Clin Oncol 2002; 20(5): 1167–74. doi:10.1200/jco.2002.20.5.1167.



- Hulshof M, Geijsen ED, Rozema T *et al.* Randomized study on dose escalation in definitive chemoradiation for patients with locally advanced esophageal cancer (ARTDECO Study). *J Clin Oncol* 2021; **39**(25): 2816–2824. doi:10.1200/jco.20.03697.
- Crehange G, M'Vondo C, Bertaut A et al. Exclusive chemoradiotherapy with or without radiation dose escalation in esophageal cancer: multicenter phase 2/3 randomized trial CONCORDE (PRODIGE-26). Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2021; 111(3, Supplement): S5. doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2021.07.045.
- 14. Barker C, Bhatt L, Shiekh H, Radhakhrishna G. Toxicity and treatment outcomes in dose escalated radiotherapy for upper third oesophageal carcinoma. *Clin Oncol* 2019; **31**: e9. doi:10.1016/j.clon.2019.09.006.
- 15. Laskar SG, Sinha S, Singh M *et al.* Post-cricoid and upper oesophagus cancers treated with organ preservation using intensity-modulated image-guided radiotherapy: a phase II prospective study of outcomes, toxicity and quality of life. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* 2022; **34**(4): 220–229. doi:10.1016/j. clon.2021.11.012.
- www.cebm.ox.ac.uk/resources/levels-of-evidence/oxford-centre-for-evidence-based-medicine-levels-ofevidence-march-2009 (last accessed 28/11/2023).
- 17. Sykes AJ, Burt PA, Slevin NJ, Stout R, Marrs JE. Radical radiotherapy for carcinoma of the oesophagus: an effective alternative to surgery. *Radiother Oncol* 1998; **48**(1): 15–21. doi:10.1016/s0167-8140(98)00037-1.
- Jones CM, Spencer K, Hitchen C et al. Hypofractionated radiotherapy in oesophageal cancer for patients unfit for systemic therapy: a retrospective single-centre analysis. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* 2019; **31**(6): 356–364. doi:10.1016/j.clon.2019.01.010.
- Shapiro J, van Lanschot JJB, Hulshof M et al. Neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy plus surgery versus surgery alone for oesophageal or junctional cancer (CROSS): long-term results of a randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol 2015; 16(9): 1090–1098. doi:10.1016/s1470-2045(15)00040-6.
- 20. Mukherjee S, Hurt C, Radhakrishna G *et al.* Oxaliplatin/capecitabine or carboplatin/paclitaxel-based preoperative chemoradiation for resectable oesophageal adenocarcinoma (NeoSCOPE): long-term results of a randomised controlled trial. *Eur J Cancer* 2021; **153**: 153–161. doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2021.05.020.
- 21. Walsh TN, Grennell M, Mansoor S, Kelly A. Neoadjuvant treatment of advanced stage esophageal adenocarcinoma increases survival. *Dis Esophagus* 2002; **15**(2): 121–4. doi:10.1046/j.1442-2050.2002.00214.x.
- Cunningham D, Allum WH, Stenning SP et al. Perioperative chemotherapy versus surgery alone for resectable gastroesophageal cancer. New Engl J Med 2006; 355(1): 11–20. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa055531.
- 23. Al-Batran SE, Homann N, Pauligk C et al. Perioperative chemotherapy with fluorouracil plus leucovorin, oxaliplatin, and docetaxel versus fluorouracil or capecitabine plus cisplatin and epirubicin for locally advanced, resectable gastric or gastro-oesophageal junction adenocarcinoma (FLOT4): a randomised, phase 2/3 trial. *Lancet* 2019; **393**(10184): 1948–1957. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(18)32557-1.
- 24. Berger B, Belka C. Evidence-based radiation oncology: oesophagus. *Radiother Oncol* 2009; **92**(2): 276–90. doi:10.1016/j.radonc.2009.02.019
- 25. Gwynne S, Wijnhoven BP, Hulshof M, Bateman A. Role of chemoradiotherapy in oesophageal cancer: adjuvant and neoadjuvant therapy. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* 2014; **26**(9): 522–32. doi:10.1016/j.clon.2014.05.015.
- 26. Zheng B, Zheng W, Zhu Y, Lin XY, Xu BH, Chen C. Role of adjuvant chemoradiotherapy in treatment of resectable esophageal carcinoma: a meta-analysis. *Chin Med J (Engl)* 2013; **126**(6): 1178–82.
- Homs MY, Steyerberg EW, Eijkenboom WM *et al*. Single-dose brachytherapy versus metal stent placement for the palliation of dysphagia from oesophageal cancer: multicentre randomised trial. *Lancet* 2004; **364**(9444): 1497–504. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(04)17272-3.
- Sur RK, Levin CV, Donde B, Sharma V, Miszczyk L, Nag S. Prospective randomized trial of HDR brachytherapy as a sole modality in palliation of advanced esophageal carcinoma: an International Atomic Energy Agency study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2002; 53(1): 127–33. doi:10.1016/s0360-3016(02)02702-5.
- 29. Sharma V, Mahantshetty U, Dinshaw KA, Deshpande R, Sharma S. Palliation of advanced/recurrent esophageal carcinoma with high-dose-rate brachytherapy. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2002; **52**(2): 310–5. doi:10.1016/s0360-3016(01)01822-3.



- 30. Dai Y, Li C, Xie Y *et al.* Interventions for dysphagia in oesophageal cancer. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2014; **2014**(10): Cd005048. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD005048.pub4.
- Penniment MG. Full report of the TROG 03.01, NCIC CTG ES2 multinational phase III study in advanced esophageal cancer comparing palliation of dysphagia and quality of life in patients treated with radiotherapy or chemoradiotherapy. J Clin Oncol 2015; 33(3_suppl): 6–6. doi:10.1200/jco.2015.33.3_suppl.6.
- Adamson D, Byrne A, Porter C et al. Palliative radiotherapy after oesophageal cancer stenting (ROCS): a multicentre, open-label, phase 3 randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2021; 6(4): 292– 303. doi:10.1016/s2468-1253(21)00004-2.
- Chaw CL, Niblock PG, Chaw CS, Adamson DJ. The role of palliative radiotherapy for haemostasis in unresectable gastric cancer: a single-institution experience. *Ecancermedicalscience* 2014; 8: 384. doi:10.3332/ecancer.2014.384.
- Tey J, Soon YY, Koh WY et al. Palliative radiotherapy for gastric cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Oncotarget 2017; 8(15): 25797–25805. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.15554.
- 35. Hughes C, Radhakrishna G. Haemostatic radiotherapy for bleeding cancers of the upper gastrointestinal tract. *Br J Hosp Med (Lond)* 2019; **80**(10): 579–583. doi:10.12968/hmed.2019.80.10.579.
- 36. Leong T, Smithers BM, Haustermans K *et al.* TOPGEAR: a randomized, phase III trial of perioperative ECF chemotherapy with or without preoperative chemoradiation for resectable gastric cancer: interim results from an international, intergroup trial of the AGITG, TROG, EORTC and CCTG. *Ann Surg Oncol* 2017; **24**(8): 2252–2258. doi:10.1245/s10434-017-5830-6.
- 37. Slagter AE, Jansen EPM, van Laarhoven HWM et al. CRITICS-II: a multicentre randomised phase II trial of neo-adjuvant chemotherapy followed by surgery versus neo-adjuvant chemotherapy and subsequent chemoradiotherapy followed by surgery versus neo-adjuvant chemoradiotherapy followed by surgery in resectable gastric cancer. BMC Cancer 2018; 18(1): 877. doi:10.1186/s12885-018-4770-2.
- Macdonald JS, Smalley SR, Benedetti J *et al.* Chemoradiotherapy after surgery compared with surgery alone for adenocarcinoma of the stomach or gastroesophageal junction. *New Engl J Med* 2001; **345**(10): 725–730. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa010187.
- Park SH, Sohn TS, Lee J et al. Phase III trial to compare adjuvant chemotherapy with capecitabine and cisplatin versus concurrent chemoradiotherapy in gastric cancer: final report of the adjuvant chemoradiotherapy in stomach tumors trial, including survival and subset analyses. J Clin Oncol 2015; 33(28): 3130–6. doi:10.1200/jco.2014.58.3930.
- 40. Cats A, Jansen EPM, van Grieken NCT *et al.* Chemotherapy versus chemoradiotherapy after surgery and preoperative chemotherapy for resectable gastric cancer (CRITICS): an international, open-label, randomised phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2018; **19**(5): 616–628. doi:10.1016/s1470-2045(18)30132-3.
- 41. Park SH, Lim DH, Sohn TS *et al*. A randomized phase III trial comparing adjuvant single-agent S1, S-1 with oxaliplatin, and postoperative chemoradiation with S-1 and oxaliplatin in patients with node-positive gastric cancer after D2 resection: the ARTIST 2 trial. *Ann Oncol* 2021; **32**(3): 368–374. doi:10.1016/j. annonc.2020.11.017.

Acknowledgements

With thanks to lead authors Dr Sarah Gwynne (South West Wales Cancer Centre, Swansea Bay University Health Board), Dr Amy Case (South West Wales Cancer Centre) and Dr Betsan Thomas (Velindre Cancer Centre) for reviewing and updating this chapter of the guidance.

06 Gynaecological cancers

Cervix cancer

Background

Patients presenting with small-volume International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics (FIGO) Stages IB1 and IIA disease can be treated either by radical hysterectomy and lymphadenectomy or radical radiotherapy as primary procedures. The two approaches have equivalent survival rates (Level 1b).^{1,2}

The combination of surgery and radiotherapy increases morbidity and should be avoided if possible.^{1,3} Postoperative chemoradiotherapy is indicated for patients with poor prognostic features discovered at surgery (positive nodes, positive margins or extensive lymphovascular space involvement) (Level 1b).^{2–4}

Local control and survival are increased by the addition of concomitant chemotherapy in all stages, although the benefit may be smaller when only one node is positive or when the tumour size is <2 centimetres (cm) (Level 1b).^{2–11}

Randomised studies of radiotherapy have used fractionation regimens of 40–50.4 Gray (Gy) in daily 1.8–2 Gy fractions over 4–5.5 weeks (Level 1b).^{1–3,12,13} Both early and late toxicity are increased when chemotherapy is added (Level 1b).^{2,12,14}

Overall treatment time, including intracavitary brachytherapy (ICBT), should not exceed 56 days for squamous carcinoma (Level 1b).^{2,15-19} Haemoglobin levels during treatment are prognostic, with the best outcomes in those whose haemoglobin remains greater than 12 grams per decilitre (g/dl; 120 g/l) throughout treatment (Level 2b).^{2,20}

Parametrial disease can be encompassed within the brachytherapy dose envelope using a combination of interstitial brachytherapy (ISBT) and ICBT (Level 2b).² Boosting parametrial disease conventionally with three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy (3D-CRT) or parallel opposed fields with midline blocking does not usually allow organs at risk (OAR) constraints to be met and is not recommended (Level 1b).^{2,21,22}

Evidence from cohort series supports the use of image-guided brachytherapy (IGBT) to reduce late toxicities and facilitate delivery of >85 Gy (combined external beam and brachytherapy equivalent dose in 2 Gy per fraction [EQD2]).^{23,24} Dose constraints to OAR have been published based on organ volume rather than point doses (Level 2b).^{2,25} These doses can only be achieved within normal tissue constraints when doses of <50 Gy are delivered by external beam radiotherapy (EBRT).

There is no evidence to support the routine use of adjuvant chemotherapy following primary chemoradiotherapy. The OUTBACK trial (cisplatin and radiation therapy with or without carboplatin and paclitaxel in patients with locally advanced cervical cancer)²⁶ failed to demonstrate an improvement in either overall survival or progression-free survival in keeping with earlier studies. In contrast, however, the INTERLACE study recently presented in abstract form suggests there may be an advantage for selected patients, which may change this view once the full results are published.²⁷



Treatment technique

The clinical target volume (CTV) for treating pelvic malignancy normally encompasses the lymphatic drainage of the cervix pelvis including the internal, external and common iliac nodes and presacral nodes. This may be extended further, depending on the extent and type of malignancy, to include the para-aortic nodes, the inguinal nodes or the vagina.²⁸

Nodal atlases have been developed to assist in the outlining of the female pelvis.^{29,30} Significantly less toxicity is seen if EBRT is delivered using intensity-modulated radiation therapy (IMRT) or volumetric-modulated arc therapy (VMAT) rather than 3D-CRT (Level 2b).^{2,31}

Recommendations

Definitive primary treatment

External beam radiotherapy:

- 45 Gy in 25 fractions over 5 weeks (Grade A)
- 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions over 5.5 weeks (Grade A)
- Delivered with weekly concurrent cisplatin 40 mg/m² (Grade A)

Involved pelvic and para-aortic lymph nodes should receive:

• 55–60 Gy in 25–28 fractions over 5.5 weeks using a simultaneous integrated boost (Grade C)

Brachytherapy³²

The high total doses required of 85–90 Gy to the high-risk CTV (HR-CTV) D90 are achieved by adding to the external beam schedules above:

- High-dose rate (HDR) brachytherapy 28 Gy in 4 fractions (Grade B)
- \bullet For small-volume tumours (<30 ml) a 3-fraction schedule may be considered (7.7 Gy \times 3)

Overall treatment time, including brachytherapy, should be no more than 56 days for squamous cancers (Level 1b)

Postoperative external beam:

- 45 Gy in 25 fractions over 5 weeks (Grade A)
- 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions over 5.5 weeks (Grade A)
- Delivered with weekly concurrent cisplatin 40 milligrams per metre squared (mg/m²) (Grade A)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.²

O6 Gynaecological cancers

Endometrial cancer

Adjuvant therapy in operable disease

The majority of patients present with organ-confined disease and surgery is the primary treatment.

Trials of pelvic radiotherapy consistently show a reduction in local recurrences but no overall survival benefit.^{33–36} The vaginal brachytherapy versus pelvic external beam radiotherapy for patients with endometrial cancer of high–intermediate risk (PORTEC 2) trial showed equivalent outcome for patients with some intermediate risk features who received either adjuvant vaginal brachytherapy (VBT) or EBRT.³⁵ The long-term pelvic side-effects in the brachytherapy group were less than with external beam.

The PORTEC 3 trial has investigated the benefit of concurrent chemoradiotherapy and adjuvant chemotherapy compared with adjuvant radiotherapy alone, which has been the current standard of care. This shows an advantage for the combined approach in Stage III and serous histology after hysterectomy.³⁶

A more sophisticated approach using molecular classification of the tumour has been proposed and is under evaluation in clinical trials but as yet the evidence is not sufficiently robust to be considered a standard of care.

Recommendations

High-risk patients

Postoperative adjuvant EBRT:

- 46 Gy in 23 fractions over 4.5 weeks (Grade A)
- 45 Gy in 25 fractions over 5 weeks (Grade A)
- 48.6 Gy in 27 fractions over 5.5 weeks (Grade A)
- Stage III patients should receive chemoradiation with cisplatin followed by adjuvant carboplatin and paclitaxel (Grade A)

Vault brachytherapy may follow the above schedules in patients with cervical involvement although there is no strong evidence base for this practice:

• HDR: 8 Gy at 5 mm in 2 fractions (Level 1b)

Intermediate-risk patients

Vaginal vault brachytherapy:

• HDR: 21 Gy at 5 mm in 3 fractions over 2–3 weeks (Grade A)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.²

O6 Gynaecological cancers

Definitive radiotherapy for inoperable disease

Endometrial carcinoma may be inoperable because of medical co-morbidity or advanced disease stage. Accurate staging can be achieved using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Radiotherapy can control Stages I and II disease and may have a role in more advanced cases (Level 2a).^{37,38}

Recommendations

Brachytherapy alone

HDR:

- 36 Gy in 5 fractions (Grade C) prescribed to the uterine serosa
- 37.5 Gy in 6 fractions (Grade C) prescribed to the uterine serosa

Combination therapy

External beam:

- 45 Gy in 25 fractions over 5 weeks (Grade C)
- 50 Gy in 25 fractions over 5 weeks (Grade C)

Brachytherapy:

HDR:

- 28 Gy in 4 fractions (Grade C) prescribed to the uterine serosa
- 25 Gy in 5 fractions (Grade C) prescribed to the uterine serosa

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.²

Endometrial carcinoma: salvage

Recurrent uterine corpus carcinoma in a previously unirradiated pelvis can be treated, and sometimes salvaged, with radiotherapy (external beam alone, external beam combined with brachytherapy or brachytherapy alone). Data of any sort are sparse, with no randomised trials. Doses of greater than 60 Gy EQD2 including brachytherapy should be delivered, provided rectal and bladder constraints are respected (Level 2c).^{39,40}

Vulva

Adjuvant therapy in operable disease

For those with operable vulval cancer, surgical resection of the primary with inguinal lymphadenectomy remains the treatment of choice.⁴¹

Adjuvant radiotherapy may be considered for those with positive resection margins, two or more positive lymph nodes or any extracapsular spread. Concurrent chemotherapy with



cisplatin is used, but without a strong evidence base to support it (Grade C). The Gronigen International Study on Sentinel Nodes in Vulvar Cancer (GROINSS-II) compared surgery with either definitive radical radiotherapy or radical chemoradiotherapy where sentinel lymph node metastases <2 mm were detected.⁴² Inguinofemoral radiotherapy to a dose of 50 Gy is a safe alternative to inguinofemoral lymphadenectomy for micrometastases <2 mm but inguinofemoral lymphadenectomy is recommended for macrometastases (Grade C).

Recommendations

Postoperative radiotherapy to vulva, pelvic and inguinal nodes:

- 45 Gy in 25 fractions over 5 weeks (Grade C)
- 50 Gy in 25 fractions over 5 weeks (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.²

Inoperable vulval carcinoma

Data in this area are sparse with no randomised studies. Potential therapeutic options include definitive chemoradiotherapy, treating the primary and regional nodes. Consideration should then be given to surgical removal of residual disease or a second phase of radiotherapy with electrons or brachytherapy.⁴³

Recommendations

Inoperable vulval cancer:

- 45 Gy in 25 fractions over 5 weeks (Grade C)
- 50 Gy in 25 fractions over 5 weeks (Grade C)
- 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions over 5.5 weeks (Grade C)
- EBRT may be given with weekly cisplatin 40 mg/m² (Grade C)
- The primary and involved nodes should be boosted using a simultaneous integrated boost (SIB) with VMAT or brachytherapy to deliver a total dose of 60–68 Gy EQD2⁴⁴ (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.²

Vaginal carcinoma

The rarity of vaginal carcinoma has led to therapy recommendations being derived from single-institution series accrued over many years and extrapolation from cervical carcinoma data with no randomised trials. Therapy with EBRT in combination with either ISBT or ICBT is accepted practice, with doses of 70–80 Gy EQD2 appearing to confer survival advantage (Level 4).⁴⁵ The addition of concurrent chemotherapy appears to deliver a survival advantage (Level 4).^{46,47}

O6 Gynaecological cancers

Recommendations

Definitive therapy of vaginal carcinoma:

• 45–50 Gy in 25 fractions over 5 weeks (Grade C)

Followed by HDR brachytherapy: note the lower vagina is less tolerant of very high doses. A total EQD2 dose of 70–80 Gy should be the aim:

- Upper vagina: 24–28 Gy in 4 fractions (Grade C)
- Lower vagina: 18.75–20 Gy in 5 fractions (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.²

References

- Landoni F, Maneo A, Colombo A et al. Randomised study of radical surgery versus radiotherapy for stage lb– Ila cervical cancer. Lancet 1997; 350(9077): 535–540.
- www.cebm.ox.ac.uk/resources/levels-of-evidence/oxford-centre-for-evidence-based-medicine-levels-ofevidence-march-2009 (last accessed 28/11/2023).
- Sedlis A, Bundy BN, Rotman MZ, et al. A randomized trial of pelvic radiation therapy versus no further therapy in selected patients with stage IB carcinoma of the cervix after radical hysterectomy and pelvic lymphadenectomy: a Gynecologic Oncology Group Study. Gynaecol Oncol 1999; 73(2): 177–183.
- Chemoradiotherapy for Cervical Cancer Meta-analysis Collaboration (CCCMAC). Reducing uncertainties about the effects of chemoradiotherapy for cervical cancer: individual patient data meta-analysis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2010; 1: CD009285.
- Whitney CW, Sause W, Bundy BN *et al.* Randomized comparison of fluorouracil plus cisplatin versus hydroxyurea as an adjunct to radiation therapy in stage IIB–IVA carcinoma of the cervix with negative paraaortic lymph nodes: a Gynecologic Oncology Group and Southwest Oncology Group study. *J Clin Oncol* 1999; 17(5): 1339–1348.
- Rose PG, Bundy BN, Watkins EB et al. Concurrent cisplatin-based radiotherapy and chemotherapy for locally advanced cervical cancer. N Engl J Med 1999; 340(15): 1144–1153. [erratum in N Engl J Med 1999; 341(9): 708]
- 7. Morris M, Eifel PJ, Lu J *et al*. Pelvic radiation with concurrent chemotherapy compared with pelvic and paraaortic radiation for high-risk cervical cancer. *N Engl J Med* 1999; **340**(15): 1137–1143.
- Keys HM, Bundy BN, Stehman FB *et al.* Cisplatin, radiation, and adjuvant hysterectomy compared with radiation and adjuvant hysterectomy for bulky stage IB cervical carcinoma. *N Engl J Med* 1999; **340**(15):1154– 1161. [erratum in *N Engl J Med* 1999; **341**(9): 708].
- Thomas GM. Improved treatment for cervical cancer: concurrent chemotherapy and radiotherapy. N Engl J Med 1999; 340(15): 1198–1200.
- Rose PG, Bundy BN. Chemoradiation for locally advanced cervical cancer: does it help? J Clin Oncol 2002; 20(4): 891–893.
- Eifel PJ, Winter K, Morris M et al. Pelvic irradiation with concurrent chemotherapy versus pelvic and paraaortic irradiation for high-risk cervical cancer: an update of radiation therapy oncology group trial (RTOG) 90-01. J Clin Oncol 2004; 22(5): 872–880.
- Peters WA 3rd, Liu PY, Barrett RJ 2nd et al. Concurrent chemotherapy and pelvic radiation therapy compared with pelvic radiation therapy alone as adjuvant therapy after radical surgery in high-risk early-stage cancer of the cervix. J Clin Oncol 2000; 18(8): 1606–1613.



- Monk BJ, Wang J, Im S *et al.* Rethinking the use of radiation and chemotherapy after radical hysterectomy: a clinical-pathologic analysis of a Gynecologic Oncology Group/Southwest Oncology Group/Radiation Therapy Oncology Group trial. *Gynecol Oncol* 2005; **96**(3): 721–728.
- Vale CL, Tierney JF, Davidson SE, Drinkwater KJ, Symonds P. Substantial improvement in UK cervical cancer survival with chemoradiotherapy: results of a Royal College of Radiologists' audit. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* 2010; 22(7): 590–601.
- 15. The Royal College of Radiologists. *The timely delivery of radical radiotherapy: standards and guidelines for the management of unscheduled treatment interruptions*, third edition. London: The Royal College of Radiologists, 2008.
- 16. Chatani M, Makayoshi Y, Masaki N, Inoue T. High-dose rate intracavitary irradiation for carcinoma of the uterine cervix. The adverse effect of treatment prolongation. *Strahlenther Onkol* 1997; **73**(7): 379–384.
- Perez CA, Grigsby PW, Castro-Vita H, Lockett MA. Carcinoma of the uterine cervix part I: impact of prolongation of overall treatment time and timing of brachytherapy on outcome of radiation therapy. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 1999; **32**(5): 1275–1288.
- Fyles A, Keane TJ, Barton M, Simm J. The effect of treatment duration in the local control of cervix cancer. Radiother Oncol 1992; 25(4): 273–279.
- 19. Delaloye JF, Coucke PA, Pampallona S, De Grandi P. Effect of total treatment time on event-free survival in carcinoma of the cervix. *Gynecol Oncol* 1996; **60**(1): 42–48.
- Winter WE 3rd, Maxwell GL, Tian C et al. Association of hemoglobin level with survival in cervical carcinoma patients treated with concurrent cisplatin and radiotherapy: a Gynecologic Oncology Group study. *Gynecologic Oncol* 2004; 94(2): 495–501.
- Mohamed S, Kallehauge J, Fokdal L, Lindegaard JC, Tanderup K. Parametrial boosting in locally advanced cervical cancer: combined intracavitary/interstitial brachytherapy versus intracavitary brachytherapy plus external beam radiotherapy. *Brachytherapy* 2015; **14**(1): 23–28.
- 22. Huang E-Y, Lin H, Hsu HC *et al*. High external parametrial dose can increase the probability of radiation proctitis in patients with uterine cervix cancer. *Gynecol Oncol* 2000; **79**(3): 406–410.
- Mazeron R, Castelnau-Marchand P, Dumas I et al. Impact of treatment time and dose escalation on local control in locally advanced cervical cancer treated by chemoradiation and image-guided pulsed-dose rate adaptive brachytherapy. *Radiother Oncol* 2015; **114**(2): 257–263.
- 24. Rijkmans EC, Nout RA, Rutten IH et al. Improved survival of patients with cervical cancer treated with imageguided brachytherapy compared with conventional brachytherapy. *Gynecol Oncol* 2014; **135**(2): 231–238.
- 25. Potter R, Georg P, Dimopoulos JC *et al.* Clinical outcome of protocol based image (MRI) guided adaptive brachytherapy combined with 3D conformal radiotherapy with or without chemotherapy in patients with locally advanced cervical cancer. *Radiother Oncol* 2001; **100**(1): 116–123.
- 26. Mileshkin LR, Moore KN, Barnes EH *et al.* Adjuvant chemotherapy following chemoradiotherapy as primary treatment for locally advanced cervical cancer versus chemoradiotherapy alone (OUTBACK): an international, open-label, randomised, phase 3 trial. *Lancet* 2023; **24**: 468–482.
- McCormack M, Gallardo Rincón D, Eminowicz G et al. A randomised phase III trial of induction chemotherapy followed by chemoradiation compared with chemoradiation alone in locally advanced cervical cancer: The GCIG INTERLACE trial. Ann Oncol 2023; 34: supplement 2, s1276.
- Yap ML, Cuartero J, Yan J et al. The role of elective para-aortic lymph node irradiation in patients with locally advanced cervical cancer. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 2014; 26(12): 797–803.
- 29. Taylor A, Rockall AG, Powell ME. An atlas of the pelvic lymph node regions to aid radiotherapy target volume definitions. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* 2007; **19**(7): 542–550.
- 30. Small W Jr, Mell LK, Anderson P et al. Consensus guidelines for delineation of the clinical target volume for intensity-modulated pelvic radiotherapy in the postoperative treatment of endometrial and cervical cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2008; 71(2): 428–434.
- Hasselle MD, Rose BS, Kochanski JD et al. Clinical outcomes of intensity-modulated pelvic radiation therapy for carcinoma of the cervix. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2011; 80(5): 1436–1445.

06 Gvnaecological cancers

- 32. www.icru.org/report/icru-report-89-prescribing-recording-and-reporting-brachytherapy-for-cancer-of-thecervix
- 33. ASTEC study group, Kitchener H, Swart AM *et al*. Efficacy of systematic pelvic lymphadenectomy in endometrial cancer (MRC ASTEC trial): a randomised study. *Lancet* 2009; **373**(9658): 125–136.
- Creutzberg CL, Nout RA, Lybeert ML et al. Fifteen-year radiotherapy outcomes of the randomised PORTEC-1 trial for endometrial carcinoma. Int J Rad Oncol Biol Phys 2011; 81(4): e631–e638.
- 35. Keys HM, Roberts JA, Brunetto VL et al. A phase III trial of surgery with or without adjunctive external pelvic radiation therapy in intermediate risk endometrial adenocarcinoma: a Gynecologic Oncology Group study. Gynecol Oncol 2004; 92(3): 744–751.
- Nout RA, Smit VT, Putter H et al. Vaginal brachytherapy versus pelvic external beam radiotherapy for patients with endometrial cancer of high-intermediate risk (PORTEC-2): an open-label, non-inferiority, randomised trial. Lancet 2010; 375(9717): 816–823.
- 37. de Boer SM, Powell ME, Mileshkin L et al. PORTEC study group: adjuvant chemoradiotherapy versus radiotherapy alone for women with high-risk endometrial cancer (PORTEC-3): final results of an international, open-label, multicentre, randomised, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2018; 19(3): 295–309.
- 38. Churn M, Jones B. Primary radiotherapy for carcinoma of the endometrium using external beam radiotherapy and single line source brachytherapy. *Clin Oncol* 1999; **11**(4): 255–262.
- 39. Gill BS, Kim H, Houser C et al. Image-based three-dimensional conformal brachytherapy for medically inoperable endometrial carcinoma. *Brachytherapy* 2014; **13**(6): 542–547.
- 40. Vargo JA, Kim H, Houser CJ *et al*. Definitive salvage for vaginal recurrence of endometrial cancer: the impact of modern intensity-modulated-radiotherapy with image-based HDR brachytherapy and the interplay of the PORTEC 1 risk stratification. *Radiother Oncol* 2014; **113**(1): 126–131.
- Jereczek-Fossa B, Badzio A, Jassem J. Recurrent endometrial cancer after surgery alone: results of salvage radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2000; 48(2); 405–413.
- 42. Van der Velden J, Fons G, Lawrie TA. Primary groin irradiation versus primary groin surgery for early vulval cancer. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2011; **5**: CD002224.
- 43. Oonk MHM, Slomovitz B, Baldwin PJW *et al.* Radiotherapy versus inguinofemoral lymphadenectomy as treatment for vulvar cancer patients with micrometastases in the sentinel node: results of GROINSS-V II. *J Clin Oncol* 2021: **39**; 3623–3632.
- 44. Moore DH, Ali S, Koh WJ et al. A phase II trial of radiation therapy and weekly cisplatin chemotherapy for the treatment of locally-advanced squamous cell carcinoma of the vulva: a gynaecological oncology group study. Gynecol Oncol 2012; 124(3): 529–533.
- 45. Richman AH, Vargo JA, Ling DC *et al*. Dose-escalated intensity modulated radiation therapy in patients with locally-advanced vulvar cancer: does it increase response rate? *Gynecol Oncol* 2020; **159**: 657–662.
- 46. Schmid MA, Fokdal L, Westerveld H et al. Recommendations from gynaecological (GYN) GEC-ESTRO working group – ACROP: target concept for image guided adaptive brachytherapy in primary vaginal cancer. Radiother Oncol 2020; 145: 36–44.
- Rajagopalan MS, Xu KM, Lin JF, Sukumvanich P, Krivak TC, Beriwal S. Adoption and impact of concurrent chemoradiation therapy for vaginal cancer: a National Cancer Data Base (NCDB) Study. *Gynecol Oncol* 2014; 135(3): 495–502.

Acknowledgements

With thanks to lead authors Dr Emma Hudson (Velindre University NHS Trust) and Prof Peter Hoskin (Mount Vernon Cancer Centre) for reviewing and updating this chapter of the guidance.

Head and neck cancer

Background

Intensity-modulated radiotherapy (IMRT) is the accepted standard radiotherapy for patients undergoing primary and adjuvant radiotherapy for head and neck squamous cell carcinomas (HNSCC); exceptions are T1/T2NO glottic cancer. The international standard for definitive treatment remains 70 Gy in 35 daily fractions of 2 Gy over 7 weeks, although altered fractionation regimens have been widely used. In the UK, many centres have adopted 65–66 Gy in 30 fractions over 6 weeks as a standard regimen. A simultaneous integrated boost technique with IMRT is routinely used to treat all target volumes and elective lymph node regions to varying dose levels in each fraction.

Role of modified fractionation in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (non-nasopharyngeal)

An updated meta-analysis¹ compared conventional with altered fractionation across 34 trials including 11,969 patients in both radical and adjuvant settings. Altered fractionation was associated with a 3.1% survival benefit at 5 years, with the benefit being restricted to hyperfractionation (8.1% survival benefit at 5 years) (Level 1a). Moderately accelerated radiotherapy was only associated with a reduction in local failures, while hyperfractionated radiotherapy was associated with improved local and regional control. There was a reduced impact with increasing age. Altered fractionation schedules had higher rates of acute toxicity with no difference in late toxicity. Hyperfractionation is difficult to implement and not widely used. Based upon the absence of benefit for regional control, it was suggested that pure acceleration is only considered for patients with low nodal burden.¹ Most of the data pre-dates the human papilloma virus (HPV) era and the applicability of altered fractionation to HPV-related oropharyngeal disease is uncertain. A second comparison was performed between altered fractionation and the use of conventionally fractionated concurrent chemoradiotherapy in five trials with 986 patients; overall survival was inferior with altered fractionation (-5.8% survival difference at 5 years) (Level 1b). Several randomised trials have failed to show any benefit of combining moderate acceleration with concurrent chemotherapy.²⁻⁵

T1/2NO glottic carcinoma

There is a dose response relationship in the treatment of early glottic cancer.⁶ A meta-analysis of 1,762 patients with early-stage glottic carcinoma reported that altered fractionation was associated with a lower rate of local failure in a pooled analysis of randomised trials (hazard ratio 0.62) and retrospective studies (hazard ratio 0.40).⁷ Both hypofractionation (HR 0.55; 95% CI 0.33–0.91) and hyperfractionation (HR 0.65; 95% CI 0.43–0.97) were superior to conventional fractionation (Level 1a). The benefit of altered fractionation is likely to at least in part be related to reduced overall treatment time, consistent with prior analyses.⁸ The benefit was pronounced for T1 glottic disease and included anterior commissure involvement.⁷ Several UK series have reported high rates of local control with short hypofractionated



schedules including 50–52.5 Gy in 16 fractions over 3 weeks for T1 disease and 55 Gy in 20 fractions for T1 and T2 disease.^{9–11} Patients with T2 glottic cancers are underrepresented and the impact of altered fractionation for this group remains an open question.⁷ Treatment approaches in line with those for advanced disease may be appropriate for higher-risk T2 glottic disease (eg bulky, transglottic).

Recommendations

For irradiation of primary site only (when elective lymph node irradiation is not required):

- 63 Gy in 28 fractions over 5.5 weeks (Grade B)
- 50 Gy in 16 fractions over 3 weeks (T1 disease only) (Grade C)
- 55 Gy in 20 fractions over 4 weeks (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹²

Radiotherapy alone for oropharynx/hypopharynx/ larynx cancer (excluding T1/2 glottic carcinoma)

Single-modality treatment with surgery or radiotherapy is the standard of care for early-stage disease. For locoregionally advanced disease, the use of concurrent chemotherapy may not be appropriate for some patients due to co-morbidity or limited performance status.

Conventional fractionation remains standard. A retrospective multicentre comparison of patients treated with radiotherapy alone with schedules of 70 Gy in 35 fractions or 65–66 Gy in 30 fractions showed no difference in disease outcomes or late toxicity.¹³ In the metaanalysis of altered fractionation, there was no interaction between tumour stage and the impact of altered fractionation; based upon the local control benefit modest acceleration can be considered when treating patients with low nodal burden with radiotherapy alone.¹

Recommendations

- 70 Gy in 35 fractions over 7 weeks (Grade A)
- 65–66 Gy in 30 fractions over 6 weeks (Grade C)
- 70 Gy in 35 fractions, 6 fractions per week over 6 weeks (Grade B)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹²

Radiotherapy with concomitant chemotherapy for oropharynx/hypopharynx/larynx cancer

Radiotherapy with concurrent chemotherapy is the current standard of care for the definitive management of patients with more advanced disease. The international standard schedule



is 70 Gy in 35 fractions. The ongoing Torpedo trial¹⁴ in oropharynx cancer patients has adopted a similar dose fractionation of 70 Gy in 33 fractions over 6.5 weeks. Although not directly compared, a modestly hypofractionated schedule of 65–66 Gy in 30 fractions has been adopted as standard practice in a number of UK trials and centres.^{4,15} HPV status in oropharyngeal carcinoma is a strong independent prognostic factor for survival.¹⁶ However, in the anticipation of robust phase III evidence from ongoing de-escalation studies, radiotherapy dose and fractionation for HPV-positive oropharyngeal carcinomas should be no different to that for HPV-negative oropharyngeal tumours (Grade D).

Recommendations

- 70 Gy in 35 fractions over 7 weeks (Grade B)
- 70 Gy in 33 fractions over 6.5 weeks (for oropharyngeal carcinomas) (Grade C)
- 65–66 Gy in 30 fractions over 6 weeks (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹²

Elective lymph node irradiation

The dose to elective lymph node regions is based upon historical consensus and is generally delivered as a radiobiological equivalent dose of approximately 50 Gy (EQD2). This is usually achieved as part of a single radiotherapy plan with a reduced fraction size (eg 1.5–1.6 Gy) to elective lymph node volumes compared with conventional fractionation to high-dose target volumes. Data suggest that elective lymph node irradiation may be safely delivered with a reduced fraction size.¹⁷ Although an elective lymph node EQD2 of 50 Gy remains standard there is ongoing interest in dose de-escalation. A randomised trial of 200 patients compared an elective nodal EQD2 dose of 50 Gy versus 40 Gy and reported long-term results showing no difference in elective nodal failure between these doses.¹⁸ In a retrospective cohort of 233 HNSCC patients (90% HPV negative) who received an elective nodal dose of 40 Gy, the 2-year actuarial rate of elective volume recurrence was low (3.9%).¹⁹

Recommendations

- Standard dose for elective lymph node target volumes is to deliver an EQD2 50 Gy (using α/β =10).

Within a single-phase IMRT plan the following dose levels are appropriate:

- 54 Gy in 30 fractions over 6 weeks (Grade C)
- 56–57 Gy in 35 fractions over 7 weeks (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹²



Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma of unknown primary

Dose fractionation to the neck for gross disease, in the adjuvant setting and to elective nodal volumes will parallel that for HNSCC of known primary sites. Rates of primary emergence are low, with a meta-analysis of retrospective series showing lower rates of primary site emergence for patients treated with neck and mucosal radiotherapy versus neck only (12% versus 16%).²⁰ These data are largely from an era before positron emission tomography (PET) so relevance to modern practice with the increasing use of base of tongue mucosectomies is uncertain. Putative mucosal sites of origin may be treated, with selection of mucosal sites dependent upon the clinical scenario/HPV status.²¹ An EQD2 dose of 50 Gy (using α/β =10) is recommended if mucosal irradiation is being utilised, with multiple series reporting very low rates of subsequent emergence of a mucosal primary.^{22,23} Treating involved neck only is also a valid strategy, with evidence supporting this approach when patients are thoroughly investigated with modern diagnostic techniques.²⁴

Recommendations

Dose and fractionation to neck target volumes are the same as those used for HNSCC of known primary sites. When mucosal irradiation is to be delivered to potential mucosal primary sites, the number of fractions is dependent upon neck management. Appropriate doses to the mucosal target are:

- 54 Gy in 30 fractions over 6 weeks (Grade C)
- 56 Gy in 33 fractions over 6 weeks (Grade C)
- 56–57 Gy in 35 fractions over 7 weeks (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹²

Postoperative radiotherapy: primary site and neck

Adjuvant doses to both the primary site and dissected neck have been developed on a background of very limited randomised data to guide a dose response relationship.²⁵ Historical studies showed no clear dose response for radiation doses \geq 57.6 Gy (1.7 Gy/ fraction), although patients with extranodal extension (ENE) had higher recurrence rates at 57.6 Gy than \geq 63 Gy (1.8 Gy/fraction).²⁶ Postoperative doses of 60–66 Gy in 30–33 fractions were used in the Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) and European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) trials investigating the role of concurrent chemotherapy.^{27,28} Modern adjuvant studies give a dose of 60 Gy in 30 fractions with an optional boost of 6 Gy in the presence of ENE.^{29,30} A recent database analysis of adjuvant radiotherapy for HNSCC in 15,836 patients did not demonstrate a survival benefit from dose escalation beyond EQD2 60 Gy even in the presence of high-risk factors.²⁸ A meta-analysis of accelerated versus conventionally fractionated radiotherapy in high-risk adjuvant patients did not show a benefit of altered fractionation³¹ (Level 1a). De-escalation of dose in the context of HPV-related oropharyngeal disease is currently being investigated.³²



There is uncertainty regarding the optimal dose to surgically dissected and pathologically negative neck nodal levels. A dose of 60 Gy in 30 fractions has been commonly used.³³ In ongoing adjuvant studies of HPV-related oropharyngeal disease³² an EQD2 dose of 50 Gy (using α/β =10) is used.

Recommendations

- 60 Gy in 30 fractions over 6 weeks to surgically treated areas (Grade B)
- A dose of up to 66 Gy in 33 fractions over 6.5 weeks may be delivered to high-risk subvolumes (areas surrounding extracapsular spread and/or positive/close margins) (Grade B)
- 54–60 Gy in 30 fractions to surgically dissected and pathologically node-negative neck nodal levels (Grade C)
- 54–56 Gy in 30–33 fractions over 6 to 6.5 weeks to undissected elective lymph node regions (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹²

Sinonasal carcinoma

Sinonasal malignancy is rare and heterogenous with multiple pathological types and patterns of invasion. For most pathological types, the standard of care is surgery followed by consideration of adjuvant (chemo)radiotherapy for resectable disease. Radiotherapy doses used are broadly similar for squamous and non-squamous histological subtypes. In a retrospective analysis, adjuvant doses of ≥ 60 Gy were associated with improved survival outcomes on univariate analysis.³⁴ Centres have reported favourable outcomes with a dose of 60 Gy in 30 fractions with a 6 Gy boost if positive surgical margins were present.³⁵ A UK survey of clinical practice and workshop³⁶ found consensus for a dose of 60 Gy in 30 fractions following an R0 resection, while for an R1 resection there was a lack of consensus between 60 Gy in 30 fractions and 66 Gy in 33 fractions.

Esthesioneuroblastoma (olfactory neuroblastoma) is a rare malignancy, often treated with a combined modality approach. A wide range of radiotherapy doses have been reported in the literature and it is not possible to define a clear dose response. It has been recommended that similar doses to those used for other sinonasal tumours are appropriate.³⁷

Recommendations

- 60 Gy in 30 fractions over 6 weeks (Grade C)
- Increased dose of 66 Gy in 33 fractions over 6.5 weeks can be considered following an R1 resection (Grade C)
- 70 Gy in 35 fractions over 7 weeks for unresectable disease or R2 resection (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹²



Nasopharyngeal carcinoma (NPC)

There is a clear radiotherapy dose response relationship; underdose of the tumour target (\geq 65 Gy when treating 2 Gy per fraction) is associated with inferior local control and survival.³⁸ A commonly agreed standard total dose is in the order of 70 Gy in 33–35 fractions or equivalent (2–2.12 Gy per fraction), with 54–60 Gy for at-risk areas.^{39,40} Use of a dose of 65 Gy in 30 fractions has also been reported within the UK.⁴¹ Lower radiotherapy doses are routinely used for the treatment of children and adolescents with NPC.⁴²

Recommendations

- 70 Gy in 35 fractions over 7 weeks (Grade A)
- 70 Gy in 33 fractions over 6.5 weeks (Grade A)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹²

Salivary gland malignancies

Surgery is the primary treatment modality and adjuvant radiotherapy is routinely recommended for T3/4 disease, adenoid cystic carcinoma or other adverse pathological features. Dose response data are lacking and postoperative radiotherapy is given at a dose of at least EQD2 of 60 Gy (using α/β =10) to the high-dose target volume.^{43,44} A dose of EQD2 66 Gy can be considered in the event of positive margins. Perineural infiltration is a risk factor for recurrence; adenoid cystic carcinomas are particularly prone to nerve invasion. Nerves at risk may be treated electively to the skull base;⁴⁴ a dose in the order of EQD2 50–60 Gy is appropriate (Grade D).

Recommendations

For adjuvant radiotherapy:

- 60 Gy in 30 fractions over 6 weeks (Grade C)
- Increased dose of 66 Gy in 33 fractions over 6.5 weeks can be considered following an R1 resection (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹²

Reirradiation

Reirradiation for recurrent or second primary head and neck cancers with curative intent is highly challenging and individualised in a heterogenous group of patients. Appropriate patient selection is addressed in the RCR *Head and neck consensus statements 2022.*⁴⁵

The Royal College of Radiologists Clinical Oncology

O7 Head and neck cancer

An analysis of volume, dose and fractionation by the Multi-Institution Reirradiation (MIRI) Collaborative⁴⁶ has suggested that elective nodal irradiation does not improve locoregional control rates. Altered fractionation, including hyperfractionation, was not advantageous compared with conventional fractionation in terms of disease control or late toxicity (Grade C). There was a dose response relationship for definitive reirradiation, with reirradiation IMRT to doses of \geq 66 Gy (conventionally fractionated) appearing safe and associated with improved disease outcomes (Grade C). Following surgery with no residual gross disease, conventionally fractionated doses of 50–66 Gy appeared adequate (Grade C). There is growing evidence that stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) reirradiation is relatively safe with, to date, no clear evidence of benefit compared with IMRT for disease control.^{46–49} Brachytherapy either as definitive or adjuvant treatment is a further option with acceptable toxicity.^{50,51}

Palliative radiotherapy

Palliative radiotherapy is used in a very heterogenous group of patients and may range from the use of a single fraction to stop bleeding or fungation to the use of high doses to achieve longer-term disease control while accepting that a cure is not possible. Hypofractionated palliative radiotherapy can be used for symptoms such as pain, swallowing, breathing and speech.⁵² Response is dose related so some selected patients with good performance status and more limited disease burden may benefit from more intensive schedules.⁵² There is no high-level evidence on which to recommend a specific palliative radiotherapy schedule,⁵² with a survey of UK practice showing a host of different schedules in use.⁵³ The use of conformal radiotherapy techniques is appropriate to facilitate the delivery of higher-dose schedules.

Recommendations

Examples of some appropriate dose fractionation schedules include:

- 8–10 Gy in 1 fraction (Grade D)
- 25 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week⁵⁴ (Grade C)
- 20 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week⁵³ (Grade D)
- 30 Gy in 10 fractions over 2 weeks (Grade D)
- 24 Gy in 3 fractions over 3 weeks (fractions on day 1, 8, 22)⁵⁵ (Grade C)
- 40 Gy in 10 fractions over 4 weeks 'split course'⁵⁶ (Grade C)
- 14 Gy in 4 fractions, which may be repeated 2 further times every 4 weeks (Grade C)⁵⁷

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹²

07 Head and neck cancer

References

- 1. Lacas B, Bourhis J, Overgaard J et al. Role of radiotherapy fractionation in head and neck cancers (MARCH): an updated meta-analysis. *Lancet Oncol* 2017; **18**(9): 1221–37.
- Nguyen-Tan PF, Zhang Q, Ang KK et al. Randomized phase III trial to test accelerated versus standard fractionation in combination with concurrent cisplatin for head and neck carcinomas in the Radiation Therapy Oncology Group 0129 trial: long-term report of efficacy and toxicity. J Clin Oncol 2014; 32(34): 3858–66.
- 3. Bourhis J, Sire C, Graff P *et al.* Concomitant chemoradiotherapy versus acceleration of radiotherapy with or without concomitant chemotherapy in locally advanced head and neck carcinoma (GORTEC 99–02): an open-label phase 3 randomised trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2012; **13**(2): 145–53.
- 4. Nutting CM, Griffin CL, Sanghera P *et al*. Dose-escalated intensity-modulated radiotherapy in patients with locally advanced laryngeal and hypopharyngeal cancers: ART DECO, a phase III randomised controlled trial. *Eur J Cancer* 2021; **153**: 242–56.
- 5. Sanghera PLW, Gaunt P, Firth C *et al*. Results from CompARE phase III RCT: dose escalated chemoradiation v control in oropharynx cancer. ICHNO, 2022.
- 6. Dixon LM, Douglas CM, Shaukat SI *et al*. Conventional fractionation should not be the standard of care for T2 glottic cancer. *Radiat Oncol* 2017; **12**(1): 178.
- 7. Sapienza LG, Ning MS, Taguchi S *et al*. Altered-fractionation radiotherapy improves local control in earlystage glottic carcinoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis of 1762 patients. *Oral Oncol* 2019; **93**: 8–14.
- van der Voet JC, Keus RB, Hart AA, Hilgers FJ, Bartelink H. The impact of treatment time and smoking on local control and complications in T1 glottic cancer. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 1998; 42(2): 247–55.
- 9. Ermis E, Teo M, Dyker KE, Fosker C, Sen M, Prestwich RJ. Definitive hypofractionated radiotherapy for early glottic carcinoma: experience of 55 Gy in 20 fractions. *Radiat Oncol* 2015; **10**: 203.
- 10. Gowda RV, Henk JM, Mais KL, Sykes AJ, Swindell R, Slevin NJ. Three weeks radiotherapy for T1 glottic cancer: the Christie and Royal Marsden Hospital experience. *Radiother Oncol* 2003; **68**(2): 105–11.
- Cheah NL, Lupton S, Marshall A, Hartley A, Glaholm J. Outcome of T1NOMO squamous cell carcinoma of the larynx treated with short-course radiotherapy to a total dose of 50 Gy in 16 fractions: the Birmingham experience. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* 2009; **21**(6): 494–501.
- www.cebm.ox.ac.uk/resources/levels-of-evidence/oxford-centre-for-evidence-based-medicine-levels-ofevidence-march-2009 (last accessed 28/11/2023).
- Price JM, West CM, Dixon LM et al. Similar long-term swallowing outcomes for accelerated, mildlyhypofractionated radiotherapy compared to conventional fractionation in oropharyngeal cancer: a multicentre study. Radiother Oncol 2022; 172: 111–7.
- Price J, Hall E, West C, Thomson D. TORPEdO: a phase III trial of intensity-modulated proton beam therapy versus intensity-modulated radiotherapy for multi-toxicity reduction in oropharyngeal cancer. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* 2020; **32**(2): 84–8.
- Nutting CM, Morden JP, Harrington KJ et al. Parotid-sparing intensity modulated versus conventional radiotherapy in head and neck cancer (PARSPORT): a phase 3 multicentre randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol 2011; 12(2): 127–36.
- Mehanna H, Taberna M, von Buchwald C *et al.* Prognostic implications of p16 and HPV discordance in oropharyngeal cancer (HNCIG-EPIC-OPC): a multicentre, multinational, individual patient data analysis. *Lancet Oncol* 2023; 24(3): 239–51.
- 17. Bedi M, Firat S, Semenenko VA *et al*. Elective lymph node irradiation with intensity-modulated radiotherapy: is conventional dose fractionation necessary? *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2012; **83**(1): e87–92.
- Deschuymer S, Nevens D, Duprez F et al. Randomized clinical trial on reduction of radiotherapy dose to the elective neck in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma; update of the long-term tumor outcome. Radiother Oncol 2020; 143: 24–9.
- 19. Nevens D, Duprez F, Daisne JF *et al*. Recurrence patterns after a decreased dose of 40 Gy to the elective treated neck in head and neck cancer. *Radiother Oncol* 2017; **123**(3): 419–23.

07 Head and neck cancer

- 20. Liu X, Li D, Li N, Zhu X. Optimization of radiotherapy for neck carcinoma metastasis from unknown primary sites: a meta-analysis. *Oncotarget* 2016; **7**(48): 78736–46.
- 21. Maghami E, Ismaila N, Alvarez A *et al*. Diagnosis and management of squamous cell carcinoma of unknown primary in the head and neck: ASCO guideline. *J Clin Oncol* 2020; **38**(22): 2570–96.
- 22. Chen AM, Farwell DG, Lau DH, Li BQ, Luu Q, Donald PJ. Radiation therapy in the management of head-andneck cancer of unknown primary origin: how does the addition of concurrent chemotherapy affect the therapeutic ratio? *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2011; **81**(2): 346–52.
- Frank SJ, Rosenthal DI, Petsuksiri J et al. Intensity-modulated radiotherapy for cervical node squamous cell carcinoma metastases from unknown head-and-neck primary site: M.D. Anderson Cancer Center outcomes and patterns of failure. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2010; 78(4): 1005–10.
- 24. Poon WY, Thomson M, McLoone P *et al*. Comparative cohort study of volumetric modulated arc therapy for squamous cell cancer of unknown primary in the head and neck involved neck only versus mucosal irradiation. *Clin Otolaryngol* 2020; **45**(6): 847–52.
- 25. Langendijk JA, Ferlito A, Takes RP *et al*. Postoperative strategies after primary surgery for squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. *Oral Oncol* 2010; **46**(8): 577–85.
- 26. Peters LJ, Goepfert H, Ang KK *et al*. Evaluation of the dose for postoperative radiation therapy of head and neck cancer: first report of a prospective randomized trial. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 1993; **26**(1): 3–11.
- 27. Bernier J, Domenge C, Ozsahin M *et al.* Postoperative irradiation with or without concomitant chemotherapy for locally advanced head and neck cancer. *N Engl J Med* 2004; **350**(19): 1945–52.
- 28. Cooper JS, Pajak TF, Forastiere AA et al. Postoperative concurrent radiotherapy and chemotherapy for highrisk squamous-cell carcinoma of the head and neck. N Engl J Med 2004; **350**(19): 1937–44.
- 29. Avkshtol V, Handorf EA, Ridge JA *et al.* Examining adjuvant radiation dose in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Head Neck* 2019; **41**(7): 2133–42.
- Margalit DN, Sacco AG, Cooper JS et al. Systematic review of postoperative therapy for resected squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck: executive summary of the American Radium Society appropriate use criteria. *Head Neck* 2021; 43(1): 367–91.
- 31. Matuschek C, Haussmann J, Bolke E *et al*. Accelerated vs. conventionally fractionated adjuvant radiotherapy in high-risk head and neck cancer: a meta-analysis. *Radiat Oncol* 2018; **13**(1): 195.
- 32. Owadally W, Hurt C, Timmins H *et al.* PATHOS: a phase II/III trial of risk-stratified, reduced intensity adjuvant treatment in patients undergoing transoral surgery for human papillomavirus (HPV) positive oropharyngeal cancer. *BMC Cancer* 2015; **15**: 602.
- Chan AK, Huang SH, Le LW et al. Postoperative intensity-modulated radiotherapy following surgery for oral cavity squamous cell carcinoma: patterns of failure. Oral Oncol 2013; 49(3): 255–60.
- 34. Askoxylakis V, Hegenbarth P, Timke C *et al.* Intensity modulated radiation therapy (IMRT) for sinonasal tumors: a single center long-term clinical analysis. *Radiat Oncol* 2016; **11**: 17.
- Dirix P, Vanstraelen B, Jorissen M, Vander Poorten V, Nuyts S. Intensity-modulated radiotherapy for sinonasal cancer: improved outcome compared to conventional radiotherapy. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2010; **78**(4): 998–1004.
- 36. lyizoba-Ebozue Z, Fleming JC, Prestwich RJD, Thomson DJ. Management of sinonasal cancers: survey of UK practice and literature overview. *Eur J Surg Oncol* 2022; **48**(1): 32–43.
- 37. Lapierre A, Selmaji I, Samlali H, Brahmi T, Yossi S. Esthesioneuroblastoma: a single institution's experience and general literature review. *Cancer Radiother* 2016; **20**(8): 783–9.
- 38. Ng WT, Lee MC, Chang AT *et al*. The impact of dosimetric inadequacy on treatment outcome of nasopharyngeal carcinoma with IMRT. *Oral Oncol* 2014; **50**(5): 506–12.
- Lee AW, Ma BB, Ng WT, Chan AT. Management of nasopharyngeal carcinoma: current practice and future perspective. J Clin Oncol 2015; 33(29): 3356–64.
- 40. Chen YP, Ismaila N, Chua MLK *et al*. Chemotherapy in combination with radiotherapy for definitive-intent treatment of stage II-IVA nasopharyngeal carcinoma: CSCO and ASCO guideline. *J Clin Oncol* 2021; **39**(7): 840–59.

07 Head and neck cancer

- Miah AB, Bhide SA, Del Rosario L et al. Induction chemotherapy followed by chemo-intensity-modulated radiotherapy for locally advanced nasopharyngeal cancer. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 2016; 28(8): e61–7.
- Ben-Ami T, Kontny U, Surun A et al. Nasopharyngeal carcinoma in children and adolescents: the EXPeRT/ PARTNER diagnostic and therapeutic recommendations. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2021; 68 Suppl 4: e29018.
- 43. Terhaard CH, Lubsen H, Rasch CR et al. The role of radiotherapy in the treatment of malignant salivary gland tumors. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2005; 61(1): 103–11.
- 44. Geiger JL, Ismaila N, Beadle B *et al*. Management of salivary gland malignancy: ASCO guideline. *J Clin Oncol* 2021; **39**(17): 1909–41.
- 45. The Royal College of Radiologists. *Head and neck cancer: RCR consensus statements*. London: The Royal College of Radiologists, 2022.
- 46. Caudell JJ, Ward MC, Riaz N *et al.* Volume, dose, and fractionation considerations for IMRT-based reirradiation in head and neck cancer: a multi-institution analysis. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2018; **100**(3): 606–17.
- Vargo JA, Ward MC, Caudell JJ et al. A multi-institutional comparison of SBRT and IMRT for definitive reirradiation of recurrent or second primary head and neck cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2018; 100(3): 595–605.
- 48. Ward MC, Riaz N, Caudell JJ *et al.* Refining patient selection for reirradiation of head and neck squamous carcinoma in the IMRT era: a multi-institution cohort study by the MIRI Collaborative. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2018; **100**(3): 586–94.
- 49. Iqbal MS, West N, Richmond N et al. A systematic review and practical considerations of stereotactic body radiotherapy in the treatment of head and neck cancer. Br J Radiol 2021; **94**(1117): 20200332.
- 50. Rodin J, Bar-Ad V, Cognetti D *et al*. A systematic review of treating recurrent head and neck cancer: a reintroduction of brachytherapy with or without surgery. *J Contemp Brachytherapy* 2018; **10**(5): 454–62.
- 51. Bhalavat R, Pareek V, Chandra M *et al*. High-dose-rate interstitial brachytherapy in recurrent head and neck cancer: an effective salvage option. *J Contemp Brachytherapy* 2018; **10**(5): 425–30.
- 52. Iqbal MS, Kelly C, Kovarik J et al. Palliative radiotherapy for locally advanced non-metastatic head and neck cancer: a systematic review. Radiother Oncol 2018; **126**(3): 558–67.
- 53. Iqbal MS, Kelly C, Kovarik J et al. Palliative radiotherapy for locally advanced non-metastatic head and neck cancer: a survey of UK national practice. *Radiother Oncol* 2018; **126**(3): 568–9.
- 54. Fortin B, Khaouam N, Filion E, Nguyen-Tan PF, Bujold A, Lambert L. Palliative radiation therapy for advanced head and neck carcinomas: a phase 2 study. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2016; **95**(2): 647–53.
- 55. Nguyen NT, Doerwald-Munoz L, Zhang H *et al.* 0-7-21 hypofractionated palliative radiotherapy: an effective treatment for advanced head and neck cancers. *Br J Radiol* 2015; **88**(1049): 20140646.
- 56. Kancherla KN, Oksuz DC, Prestwich RJ *et al*. The role of split-course hypofractionated palliative radiotherapy in head and neck cancer. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* 2011; **23**(2): 141–8.
- 57. Corry J, Peters LJ, Costa ID *et al*. The 'QUAD SHOT': a phase II study of palliative radiotherapy for incurable head and neck cancer. *Radiother Oncol* 2005; **77**(2): 137–42.

Acknowledgements

With thanks to lead author Dr Robin Prestwich (Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust) for reviewing and updating this chapter of the guidance.

Hepato-pancreato-biliary cancer (HPB)

Liver

Liver malignancies are either primary or secondary liver cancers. Primary liver cancer comprises hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) and biliary tract cancers, which include intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma (IHC).

Primary liver cancer

The incidence of primary liver cancer in the UK is estimated at 6,200 new cases per year and is projected to rise by 38% by 2035. It is currently the eighth most common cause of cancer death in the UK (2017–2019).¹

Optimal treatment of primary liver cancers relies on a multidisciplinary approach, taking into account disease stage, liver function, medical co-morbidities (particularly presence of liver cirrhosis) and patient fitness. It is recommended that the treatment selection and subsequent radiation therapy delivered to patients with HCC or biliary tract cancers should only proceed following formal specialist hepatobiliary multidisciplinary team review and involve the care of a hepatologist.

The American Society for Radiation Oncology (ASTRO) has recently published a guideline on the use of external beam radiotherapy (EBRT) in the treatment of primary liver malignancies, which has been endorsed by the European Society for Therapeutic Radiation Oncology (ESTRO).³

Liver cancers are often treated with highly conformal EBRT delivered in hypofractionated schedules or stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy (SABR).* The ASTRO guidelines cover the definition of hypofractionation (including moderate hypofractionation and ultra-hypofractionation) and SABR.³

* We are applying the term SABR to include the term SBRT (stereotactic body radiotherapy). The definition of SABR and ultra-hypofractionation is as per the *ASTRO external beam radiation therapy for primary liver cancers: an ASTRO clinical practice guideline*.

Hepatocellular carcinoma

The Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer (BCLC) group staging, prognosis and treatment guidelines were updated in 2022 and are commonly cited when making clinical decisions regarding the treatment of HCC.⁴ Retrospective and prospective studies have demonstrated the safety and efficacy of EBRT (SABR and proton beam therapy [PBT]) in all BCLC stages.⁵

The European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO) and the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases (AASLD) have published guidance recommending EBRT as a treatment option for selected patients with HCC.⁶ Furthermore, the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) 2022 guidelines recommend the use of EBRT for liver-confined HCC.⁷

EBRT can also be considered for palliation of HCC.³



Radical treatment

Hypofractionation/ultra-hypofractionation

Radiotherapy for HCC should aim for a biological equivalent dose (BED) 10 as close to 100 Gy as possible, in as few fractions as possible, while still meeting the mandatory organ-at-risk (OAR) constraints defined by SABR-C.^{8,9} The fractionation schedule prescribed should be adapted depending on location in relation to the proximity to the high-risk zone and tumour size.⁸ Larger tumours may be treated in 10 or 15 fractions.⁸

A phase II randomised controlled trial (RCT) provides evidence for PBT delivered in a 15-fraction regimen, with a prescription dose ranging from 67.5 Gy for peripheral tumours to 58.05 Gy for central tumours located ≤ 2 cm from the porta hepatis.¹⁰ The trial included tumours with HCC (53%) and IHC histology (47%) with median tumour size of 5.7 cm. It demonstrated a 95% 2-year local control with 3.6% rate of Child-Pugh score deterioration.¹⁰

The NRG Oncology GI-003 RCT is comparing proton versus photon treatments utilising the same stratified fractionation schedules described above of 5 and 15 fractions (NCT03186898) to determine if the treatment of HCC with protons compared with photons has an effect on overall survival.¹⁰

Stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy (SABR)

SABR is recommended for the treatment of HCC (histological or radiological diagnosis) in those unsuitable for surgery, transplant or transarterial chemoembolisation (TACE) or in those who have become refractory to TACE. Such patients should have a Child-Pugh score of A, have fewer than 5 discrete lesions and have no single lesion greater than 6 cm.^{9,11,12}

The SABR Consortium Guidelines have utilised these inclusion and exclusion criteria with a recommended dose based on a risk-adapted approach dependent on the mean liver dose (MLD) delivered to liver-GTV structure.¹³

Preoperative and adjuvant radiotherapy

In HCC with macrovascular invasion (MVI) randomised phase III trials have demonstrated that EBRT improved survival when given pre-operatively compared with surgery alone and in conjunction with TACE compared with sorafenib alone.^{14,15}

SABR has been shown to be a safe and effective option as a bridge to liver transplantation¹⁶ (Grade C).

DB Hepato-pancreato-biliar

Recommendations

Definitive radiation for HCC

SABR:

For selected patients with Child-Pugh A, solitary tumour only with maximum tumour diameter <5 cm and which meets OAR constraint for 3 fractions. This schedule is not recommended for treating more than one tumour region.

• 45 Gy in 3 fractions (Grade B)

For all other patients having SABR:

• 30–50 Gy in 5 fractions (Grade B)

Hypofractionation:

- 45–67.5 Gy in 15 fractions (Grade B)
- 40–60 Gy in 10 fractions (Grade B)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.²

Biliary tract cancer (BTC)

The survival rates of IHC remain poor with observed 1-, 3- and 5-year survival of 36.3%, 12.8% and 8.1% respectively.¹⁷ Surgery remains the only potential curative treatment option. In those suitable, surgery combined with chemoradiotherapy, radiotherapy or chemotherapy is associated with a reduced risk of mortality compared with those having non-surgical interventions alone.¹⁷

Radical radiotherapy

Conventional fractionation

Unresectable biliary tract cancers (excluding gallbladder cancer) may be treated with conventional fractionation of 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions with concurrent fluoropyrimidine.

Hypofractionation

In unresectable biliary tract cancers (excluding gallbladder cancer) hypofractionation with photon radiotherapy is an acceptable option for intrahepatic tumours, but such cases should only be treated at centres with experience.

The 15-fraction schedule has been used in the completed ABC 07 study with interim evidence of safety for this dose fractionation regime.



Stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy (SABR)

Unresectable BTC can be treated with SABR to a dose of 50 Gy in 5 fractions (as per the ABC 07 study) in experienced centres.

Recommendations

Unresectable disease (BTC excluding gallbladder cancer)

Conventional fractionation:

• 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions with concurrent fluropyrimidine (Grade B)

Hypofractionation:

• 45–67.5 Gy in 15 fractions (Grade C)

SABR:

• 40–50 Gy in 5 fractions (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.²

Preoperative radiotherapy

Hypofractionation

Preoperative chemoradiation, including with PBT, prior to liver transplantation improves survival.^{18–20} The use of PBT enables optimal dose delivery while sparing the dose to the diseased background liver.¹⁰

Preoperative PBT for neoadjuvant treatment prior to orthotopic liver transplantation (OLT) is indicated in selected patients with IHC on a background of primary sclerosing cholangitis. The criteria have been defined as histological proof of hilar cholangiocarcinoma, less than 3 cm in size and with no evidence of metastases to the retroperitoneal lymph nodes or other sites. PBT is delivered at a dose of 67.5 Gy (RBE=1.1) to the primary tumour region and 45 Gy (RBE=1.1) to the elective nodal region in 15 fractions.



Recommendations

Preoperative radiotherapy prior to OLT

Conventional fractionation:

• 45 Gy in 25 fractions concurrent with fluoropyrimidine followed by intraluminal brachytherapy boost 10–16 Gy to tumour (Grade C)

Hypofractionation:

• PBT: 45–67.5 Gy in 15 fractions (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.²

Postoperative radiotherapy

Conventional fractionation

Postoperative EBRT using conventional intensity-modulated radiation therapy (IMRT) with concurrent fluoropyrimidine is an option for resected extrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma and gallbladder cancer.²¹ Target volumes should cover the draining regional lymph nodes: porta hepatis, coeliac, superior mesenteric, gastrohepatic and para-aortic with 45 Gy in 1.8 Gy/ fraction and the tumour bed, depending on margin positivity, with 50–60 Gy in 1.8–2 Gy/ fraction as per SWOG S0809. SWOG S0809 reported a 2-year survival of 65% (95% CI, 53% to 74%) for patients undergoing postoperative radiotherapy with concurrent chemotherapy.²¹

Recommendation

Adjuvant radiotherapy following surgical resection

Conventional fractionation:

• 45 Gy in 1.8 Gy/fraction to the nodes and 50–60 Gy in 1.8–2 Gy/fraction to the tumour bed (Grade B)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.²

For details on treatment of liver oligometastases please refer to the 'Extracranial oligometastases' chapter.

Palliative treatment

Palliative radiotherapy may help alleviate the symptoms caused by the presence of primary and secondary liver cancers. It has been found to improve symptoms such as pain, abdominal discomfort and nausea and thereby improve quality of life.^{22,23} Patients with a performance



status of 0-2 and an estimated prognosis of 3 months or more should be considered for palliative radiotherapy.

Patients may be treated with 25 Gy in 5 fractions if the V10 Gy to the normal liver is <70% and the MLD is <15 Gy. If these constraints are not met, 8 Gy in 1 fraction can be used as an appropriate palliative dose.

Recommendations

- 25 Gy in 5 fractions (Grade C)
- 30–40 Gy in 10 fractions (Grade C)
- 8 Gy in 1 fraction (Grade B)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.²

References

- 1. Liver cancer statistics. Cancer Research UK. www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-professional/cancerstatistics/statistics-by-cancer-type/liver-cancer
- www.cebm.ox.ac.uk/resources/levels-of-evidence/oxford-centre-for-evidence-based-medicine-levels-ofevidence-march-2009 (last accessed 28/11/2023).
- Apisarnthanarax S, Barry A, Cao M et al. External beam radiation therapy for primary liver cancers: an ASTRO clinical practice guideline. Pract Radiat Oncol 2022; 12: 28–51.
- Reig M, Forner A, Rimola J et al. BCLC strategy for prognosis prediction and treatment recommendation: the 2022 update. J Hepatol 2022; 76: 681–693.
- Hallemeier CL, Apisarnthanarax S, Dawson LA. BCLC 2022 update: important advances, but missing external beam radiotherapy. J Hepatol 2022; 76: 1237–1239.
- Marrero JA, Kulik LM, Sirlin CB et al. Diagnosis, staging, and management of hepatocellular carcinoma: 2018 practice guidance by the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases. *Hepatology* 2018; 68: 723–750.
- 7. NCCN. Hepatobiliary cancers. 2022. www.nccn.org/login?ReturnURL=https://www.nccn.org/professionals/ physician_gls/pdf/hepatobiliary.pdf
- Lewis S, Barry A, Hawkins MA. Hypofractionation in hepatocellular carcinoma: the effect of fractionation size. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 2022; 34: e195–e209.
- 9. NHS England. SABR for HCC. www.england.nhs.uk/publication/stereotactic-ablative-radiotherapy-sabr-forhepatocellular-carcinoma-adults
- Hong TS, Wo JY, Yeap BY *et al.* Multi-institutional phase II study of high-dose hypofractionated proton beam therapy in patients with localized, unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma and intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma. *J Clin Oncol* 2016; **34**: 460–8.
- Durand-Labrunie J, Baumann AS, Ayav A et al. Curative irradiation treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma: a multicenter phase 2 trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2020; 107: 116–125.
- Park S, Jung J, Cho B et al. Clinical outcomes of stereotactic body radiation therapy for small hepatocellular carcinoma. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 35: 1953–1959.
- SABR UK Consortium. Stereotactic ablative body radiation therapy (SABR): a resource. Version 6.1. SABR, January 2019. www.sabr.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/SABRconsortium-guidelines-2019-v6.1.0.pdf
- Wei X, Jiang Y, Zhang X *et al.* Neoadjuvant three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy for resectable hepatocellular carcinoma with portal vein tumor thrombus: a randomized, open-label, multicenter controlled study. J Clin Oncol 2019; **37**: 2141–2151.



- Yoon SM, Ryoo BY, Lee SJ et al. Efficacy and safety of transarterial chemoembolization plus external beam radiotherapy vs sorafenib in hepatocellular carcinoma with macroscopic vascular invasion: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Oncol 2018; 4: 661–669.
- Sapisochin G, Barry A, Doherty M *et al.* Stereotactic body radiotherapy vs. TACE or RFA as a bridge to transplant in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma: an intention-to-treat analysis. *J Hepatol* 2017; 67: 92–99.
- Ali H, Tedder B, Waqar SH et al. Changing incidence and survival of intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma based on Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Database (2000–2017). Ann Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg 2022; 26: 235–243.
- Darwish Murad S, Kim WR, Harnois DM *et al.* Efficacy of neoadjuvant chemoradiation, followed by liver transplantation, for perihilar cholangiocarcinoma at 12 US centers. *Gastroenterology* 2012 Jul; **143**(1): 88–98. e3; quiz e14. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2012.04.008. Epub 2012 Apr 12. PMID: 22504095; PMCID: PMC3846443.
- Tan EK, Taner T, Heimbach JK, Gores GJ, Rosen CB. Liver transplantation for peri-hilar cholangiocarcinoma. J Gastrointest Surg 2020 Nov; 24(11): 2679–2685. doi:10.1007/s11605-020-04721-4. Epub 2020 Jul 15. PMID: 32671802.
- Loveday BPT, Knox JJ, Dawson LA *et al.* Neoadjuvant hyperfractionated chemoradiation and liver transplantation for unresectable perihilar cholangiocarcinoma in Canada. *J Surg Oncol* 2018 Feb; **117**(2): 213–219. doi:10.1002/jso.24833. PMID: 29480952.
- 21. Ben-Josef E, Guthrie KA, El-Khoueiry AB *et al*. SWOG S0809: A phase II intergroup trial of adjuvant capecitabine and gemcitabine followed by radiotherapy and concurrent capecitabine in extrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma and gallbladder carcinoma. *J Clin Oncol* 2015; **33**: 2617–22.
- 22. Soliman H, Ringash J, Jiang H *et al*. Phase II trial of palliative radiotherapy for hepatocellular carcinoma and liver metastases. *J Clin Oncol* 2013; **31**: 3980–6.
- 23. Dawson L, Fairchild A, Dennis K *et al.* Canadian Cancer Trials Group HE.1: a phase III study of palliative radiotherapy for symptomatic hepatocellular carcinoma and liver metastases. *J Clin Oncol* 2023 **41**: 4_suppl, LBA492-LBA492ASCO GI.

Acknowledgements

With thanks to lead authors Dr Ganesh Radhakrishna (The Christie NHS Foundation Trust) and Dr Rosalyne Westley (The Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust) for reviewing and updating this chapter of the guidance.

- Dr Radhakrishna and Dr Westley would also like to thank the following colleagues for their contributions:
- Dr Somnath Mukherjee (Oxford University Hospitals NHS Trust)
- Dr Katharine Aitken (The Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust)
- Dr Ajithkumar Thankamma (Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust)
- Dr Seema Arif (Velindre University NHS Trust)
- Dr Claire Harrison (Belfast Health and Social Care Trust)
- Dr Rebecca Goody (Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust)
- Dr Jolyne O'Hare (Belfast Health and Social Care Trust)
- Dr Owen Nicholas (Swansea Bay University Health Board)
- Dr Derek Grose (The Beatson West of Scotland Cancer Centre)
- Dr James Good (University Hospitals Birmingham NHS Foundation Trust)
- Dr Daniel Holyoake (Norfolk and Norwich University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust)
- Prof Maria Hawkins (University College London / University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust)
- Ms Patricia Diez (National Radiotherapy Trials Quality Assurance Group (RTTQA), Mount Vernon Cancer Centre)
OB Hepato-pancreato-biliar

Pancreas

Radical treatment

Standard treatment for patients with locally advanced inoperable pancreatic cancer* consists of chemotherapy, which may be followed by radiation or chemoradiation in responding or stable disease after induction chemotherapy.^{1,2}

* Locally advanced inoperable pancreatic cancer includes patients who are medically unfit for surgery and/or surgically unresectable.

Conventionally fractionated radiotherapy with concurrent chemotherapy

The use of conventionally fractionated radiotherapy (50.4–54 Gy in 28–30 fractions) with concurrent chemotherapy following induction chemotherapy has been investigated and has not been shown to improve overall survival (OS) compared with chemotherapy alone^{1,2} (Level 1b).

In the LAP07 trial, 54 Gy in 30 fractions was used with concurrent capecitabine following 4 months of gemcitabine chemotherapy with or without erlotinib. While median OS did not improve with the addition of chemoradiotherapy (CRT) (16.5 versus 15.2 months; p=0.08), chemoradiotherapy was associated with reduced rates of local progression (32% versus 46%; p=0.03) and a trend towards improved progression-free survival (PFS)² (hazard ratio [HR], 0.78; p=0.06) (Level 1b).

In the SCALOP-2 trial, dose escalation from 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions to 60 Gy in 30 fractions combined with capecitabine was evaluated. There was no improvement in median OS (15.6 versus 16.9 months). However, 1-year local progression (no metastasis) was reduced (26.7% to 15.2%) and 1-year local progression (with or without metastasis) was reduced (33.3% to 23.9%).³ There was no significant added toxicity of the 60 Gy regimen compared with the 50.4 Gy regimen (Level 1b).

Hypofractionated radiotherapy with concurrent chemotherapy

Since the COVID-19 pandemic, a hypofractionated regimen of 45 Gy in 15 fractions has been used with concurrent capecitabine.⁴ This dose and fractionation was based on published data (predominantly retrospective US experience) where this dose had been used within dose-escalated regimens of up to 67.5 Gy, delivered using a simultaneous integrated boost (SIB) approach. A dose of 45 Gy in 15 fractions was recommended in COVID-19 guidance⁴ because the biological equivalent dose (BED) 10 of this dose was comparable to the standard 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions regimen used in the UK (Level 2b).

Dose escalation with a SIB up to 67.5 Gy in 15 fractions is not recommended outside of a clinical trial or study with robust quality-assured image guidance. 5,6

DB Hepato-pancreato-biliar

Recommendations

Conventionally fractionated or hypofractionated radiotherapy with concomitant chemotherapy following induction chemotherapy:

- 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions over 5.5 weeks (Grade B)
- 54–60 Gy in 30 fractions over 6 weeks (Grade B)
- 45 Gy in 15 fractions over 3 weeks (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁷

Stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy (SABR)

Patients with locally advanced non-metastatic pancreatic cancer (LANMPC) may be eligible for SABR if no progression after initial systemic treatment has been seen or they are part of clinical trials.⁸⁻¹¹

Initial trials demonstrated the safety and efficacy of delivering doses of 33–35 Gy in 5 fractions,¹² and the safety of increasing dose to 40 Gy in 5 fractions has been demonstrated in prospective clinical trials¹³ (Level 2b).

SABR was compared with conventional fractionation in the CRiSP (conventionally fractionated radiation therapy versus stereotactic body radiation therapy for locally advanced pancreatic cancer) meta-analysis.¹⁴ The meta-analysis reported an estimate for 2-year OS of 26.9% for SABR versus 13.7% for conventionally fractionated radiotherapy (CFRT). The estimate for acute grade 3/4 toxicity was 5.6% for SABR versus 37.7% for CFRT. Petrelli *et al*¹⁵ performed a systematic review and pooled analysis of 19 trials in SABR for locally advanced pancreatic cancer (LAPC), where the range of doses delivered was 18–50 Gy in 1–8 fractions. The median OS was 17 months (Level 2a).

Recommendation

SABR following induction chemotherapy:

- 33–40 Gy in 5 fractions delivered daily (with a minimum 16–18 hours gap) or on alternate days over 2 weeks
- Treatment gaps should be kept to ≤4 days (Grade B)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁷



Preoperative chemoradiotherapy

Preoperative radiotherapy was investigated during the PREOPANC study,¹⁶ where a dose of 36 Gy in 15 fractions was used in combination with full-dose gemcitabine. There was improvement in median OS (15.7 months versus 14.3 months), but the 5-year OS rate was 20.5% with neoadjuvant chemoradiation and 6.5% with upfront surgery, and this was consistent across the prespecified subgroups, including resectable and borderline resectable pancreatic cancer. In addition, R0 resection was achieved in 72% in the neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy group compared with 43% in the upfront surgery group (p<0.001) (Level 1b). The predefined subgroup of patients with suspected resectable pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) showed no significant difference in OS, disease-free survival (DFS), locoregional failure-free interval (LFFI) and distant metastases-free survival (DMFI). The predefined subgroup of patients with suspected borderline resectable PDAC showed a significantly improved OS, DFS and LFFI for preoperative chemoradiotherapy.

The more recent PreopPanc 2 trial¹⁷ comparing neoadjuvant Folfirinox versus gemcitabine and gemcitabine concurrent chemoradiation has demonstrated no difference in clinical outcomes. Median OS was 21.9% versus 21.3%, respectively (hazard ratio 0.87; 95% confidence interval [CI] 0.68–1.12; p=0.28). Resection rates (77% versus 75%, respectively; p=0.7). The serious adverse rates (49% versus 43%, respectively; p=0.26) were similar between treatment arms.

The CONKO-007 trial studied the role of sequential chemotherapy and chemoradiotherapy for patients with initially unresectable disease. Patients received induction chemotherapy for 3 months (gemcitabine or FOLFIRINOX), then were randomised to continuing chemotherapy or chemoradiation (50.4 Gy in 28 fractions with concurrent gemcitabine). Median PFS (HR 0.919, p=0.540) and OS (HR 0.964, p=0.766) did not differ significantly in both arms. However, PFS rate was higher in the CRT arm after 2 years. OS rates for circumferential resection margin (CRM) negative RO surgery at 87.5% (1 year) and 67.2% (2 years) were significantly higher (p<0.01) than for CRM plus RO surgery at 66.7% (1 year) and 41.2% (2 years), as well as for patients without or with incomplete surgery at 68.5% (1 year) and 26.4% (2 years).¹⁸

A retrospective multicentre study (AEGO group), which included patients with both borderline resectable pancreatic cancer and LAPC, suggested a signal for improved outcomes with the addition of consolidation of chemoradiation prior to surgery after induction FOLFIRINOX, particularly in those with borderline resectable disease. In those with borderline resectable pancreatic cancer, DFS was improved (23.9 versus 16.6 months, p=0.01) and there was a trend to improved OS (not reached versus 28.7 months, p=0.09) after preoperative CRT. The median dose given was 50 Gy (range 49–54 Gy) in 1.8–2 Gy per fraction and was given predominantly with concurrent capecitabine.¹⁹

The ESPAC-5F prospective study randomised patients with borderline resectable disease to either immediate surgery or neoadjuvant therapy (2 cycles of GEMCAP, 4 cycles of neoadjuvant FOLFIRINOX or chemoradiation with 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions with concurrent capecitabine). The resection rate was the same in each arm (62% for immediate surgery and 55% for neoadjuvant therapy, p=0.668) and the RO resection rate was 15% and 23% respectively. However, the 1-year survival rate was higher in those who received neoadjuvant therapy: 40% for immediate surgery and 77% for neoadjuvant therapy (HR=0.27, 95% CI 0.13–0.55).²⁰

DB Hepato-pancreato-biliar

Recommendations

Preoperative chemoradiotherapy (should be considered as a treatment option, particularly in borderline resectable pancreatic cancer):

- 36 Gy in 15 fractions over 3 weeks (Grade A)
- 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions over 5.5 weeks (Grade B)
- 54 Gy in 30 fractions over 6 weeks (Grade B)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁷

Adjuvant chemoradiotherapy

Adjuvant radiotherapy may be considered in selected cases following multidisciplinary team discussion for patients with high-risk features on postoperative histology, following a complete course of adjuvant chemotherapy. Radiotherapy is delivered with concurrent fluoropyrimidine or gemcitabine chemotherapy. Doses of 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions have been used in this situation.^{21–25}

Recommendation

Adjuvant chemoradiotherapy, following adjuvant chemotherapy:

• 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions over 5.5 weeks (Grade D)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁷

Palliative treatment

Palliative radiotherapy can be considered for relief of pain or for haemostasis.

There is little evidence available to inform dose and fractionation, so regimen should be selected on an individual patient basis.

Recommendations

Palliative radiotherapy:

- 30–36 Gy in 10–12 fractions over 2 weeks (Grade D)
- 20–25 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week (Grade D)
- 8–10 Gy in 1 fraction (Grade D)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁷



References

- Mukherjee S, Hurt CN, Bridgewater J et al. Gemcitabine-based or capecitabine-based chemoradiotherapy for locally advanced pancreatic cancer (SCALOP): a multicentre, randomised, phase 2 trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2013; 14(4): 317–326. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(13)70021-4.
- 2. Hammel P, Huguet F, van Laethem JL *et al.* Effect of chemoradiotherapy vs chemotherapy on survival in patients with locally advanced pancreatic cancer controlled after 4 months of gemcitabine with or without erlotinib. *JAMA* 2016; **315**(17): 1844. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.4324.
- Mukherjee S, Qi C, Shaw R et al. SCALOP2: A multicenter randomized trial of RT dose escalation and nelfinavir in pancreatic cancer. ESTRO 2022. www.estro.org/Congresses/ESTRO-2022/547/late-breaking/5158/ scalop2-amulticenterrandomizedtrialofrtdoseescalat (accessed 4 July 2022).
- Jones CM, Radhakrishna G, Aitken K *et al.* Considerations for the treatment of pancreatic cancer during the COVID-19 pandemic: the UK consensus position. *Br J Cancer* 2020; **123**(5): 709–713. doi:10.1038/s41416-020-0980-x.
- 5. Koay EJ, Hanania AN, Hall WA *et al.* Dose-escalated radiation therapy for pancreatic cancer: a simultaneous integrated boost approach. *Pract Radiat Oncol* 2020; **10**(6): e495–e507. doi:10.1016/j.prro.2020.01.012.
- Colbert LE, Moningi S, Chadha A et al. Dose escalation with an IMRT technique in 15 to 28 fractions is better tolerated than standard doses of 3DCRT for LAPC. Adv Radiat Oncol 2017; 2(3): 403–415. doi:10.1016/j. adro.2017.02.004.
- www.cebm.ox.ac.uk/resources/levels-of-evidence/oxford-centre-for-evidence-based-medicine-levels-ofevidence-march-2009 (last accessed 28/11/2023).
- 8. Reyngold M, Parikh P, Crane CH. Ablative radiation therapy for locally advanced pancreatic cancer: techniques and results. *Radiat Oncol* 2019; **14**(1): 95. doi:10.1186/s13014-019-1309-x.
- Crane CH. Hypofractionated ablative radiotherapy for locally advanced pancreatic cancer. J Radiat Res 2016; 57(S1): i53–i57. doi:10.1093/jrr/rrw016.
- Krishnan S, Chadha AS, Suh Y et al. Focal radiation therapy dose escalation improves overall survival in locally advanced pancreatic cancer patients receiving induction chemotherapy and consolidative chemoradiation. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2016; 94(4). doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2015.12.003.
- NHS England. Clinical commissioning policy statement: stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy for patients with locally advanced, inoperable, non-metastatic pancreatic carcinoma. NHS England, November 2021. www.england.nhs.uk/publication/clinical-commissioning-policy-statement-stereotactic-ablative-bodyradiotherapy-for-patients-with-locally-advanced-inoperable-non-metastatic-pancreatic-carcinoma (accessed 24 June 2022).
- Herman JM, Chang DT, Goodman KA et al. Phase 2 multi-institutional trial evaluating gemcitabine and stereotactic body radiotherapy for patients with locally advanced unresectable pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Cancer 2015; 121(7). doi:10.1002/cncr.29161.
- Suker M, Nuyttens JJ, Eskens FALM *et al.* Efficacy and feasibility of stereotactic radiotherapy after folfirinox in patients with locally advanced pancreatic cancer (LAPC-1 trial). *EClinicalMedicine* 2019; **17**. doi:10.1016/j. eclinm.2019.10.013.
- Tchelebi LT, Lehrer EJ, Trifiletti DM et al. Conventionally fractionated radiation therapy versus stereotactic body radiation therapy for locally advanced pancreatic cancer (CRiSP): an international systematic review and meta-analysis. Cancer 2020; **126**(10). doi:10.1002/cncr.32756.
- Petrelli F, Comito T, Ghidini A, Torri V, Scorsetti M, Barni S. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for locally advanced pancreatic cancer: a systematic review and pooled analysis of 19 trials. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2017; 97(2). doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2016.10.030.
- Versteijne E, van Dam JL, Suker M et al. Neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy versus upfront surgery for resectable and borderline resectable pancreatic cancer: long-term results of the Dutch randomized PREOPANC trial. J Clin Oncol 2022; 40(11): 1220–1230. doi:10.1200/JCO.21.02233.



- 17. Koerkamp BG, Janssen QP, van Dam JL *et al*. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy with FOLFIRINOX versus neoadjuvant gemcitabine-based chemoradiotherapy for borderline resectable and resectable pancreatic cancer (PREOPANC-2): a multicenter randomized controlled trial. ESMO Congress 2023, LBA83.
- Fietkau R, Grützmann R, Wittel UA et al. RO resection following chemo (radio) therapy improves survival of primary inoperable pancreatic cancer patients: interim results of the German randomized CONKO-007± trial. Strahlenther Onkol 2021; 197(1): 8–18. doi:10.1007/s00066-020-01680-2.
- Auclin E, Marthey L, Abdallah R et al. Role of FOLFIRINOX and chemoradiotherapy in locally advanced and borderline resectable pancreatic adenocarcinoma: update of the AGEO cohort. Br J Cancer 2021; 124(12): 1941–1948. doi:10.1038/s41416-021-01341-w.
- 20. Ghaneh P, Palmer DH, Cicconi S et al. ESPAC-5F: four-arm, prospective, multicenter, international randomized phase II trial of immediate surgery compared with neoadjuvant gemcitabine plus capecitabine (GEMCAP) or FOLFIRINOX or chemoradiotherapy (CRT) in patients with borderline resectable pancreatic cancer. J Clin Oncol 2020; 38(15_suppl): 4505–4505. doi:10.1200/JCO.2020.38.15_suppl.4505.
- 21. Stocken DD, Büchler MW, Dervenis C et al. Meta-analysis of randomised adjuvant therapy trials for pancreatic cancer. Br J Cancer 2005; **92**(8): 1372–1381. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6602513.
- 22. Neoptolemos JP, Stocken DD, Friess H *et al*. A randomized trial of chemoradiotherapy and chemotherapy after resection of pancreatic cancer. *N Eng J Med* 2004; **350**(12): 1200–1210. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa032295.
- 23. Boyle J, Czito B, Willett C, Palta M. Adjuvant radiation therapy for pancreatic cancer: a review of the old and the new. J Gastrointest Oncol 2015; **6**(4): 436–444. doi:10.3978/j.issn.2078–6891.2015.014.
- 24. Morganti AG, Cellini F, Buwenge M *et al*. Adjuvant chemoradiation in pancreatic cancer: impact of radiotherapy dose on survival. *BMC Cancer* 2019; **19**(1): 569. doi:10.1186/s12885-019-5790-2.
- NCCN. Pancreatic cancer. NCCN, 2022. www.nccn.org/professionals/physician_gls/pdf/pancreatic.pdf (accessed 8 September 2022).

Acknowledgements

With thanks to lead authors Dr Ganesh Radhakrishna (The Christie NHS Foundation Trust) and Dr Jessica Gough (The Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust) for reviewing and updating this chapter of the guidance.

Dr Radhakrishna and Dr Gough would also like to thank the following colleagues for their contributions:

- Dr Somnath Mukherjee (Oxford University Hospitals NHS Trust)
- Dr Katharine Aitken (The Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust)
- Dr Ajithkumar Thankamma (Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust)
- Dr Seema Arif (Velindre University NHS Trust)
- Dr Claire Harrison (Belfast Health and Social Care Trust)
- Dr Rebecca Goody (Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust)
- Dr Jolyne O'Hare (Belfast Health and Social Care Trust)
- Dr Owen Nicholas (Swansea Bay University Health Board)
- Dr Derek Grose (The Beatson West of Scotland Cancer Centre)
- Dr James Good (University Hospitals Birmingham NHS Foundation Trust)
- Dr Daniel Holyoake (Norfolk and Norwich University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust)
- Prof Maria Hawkins (University College London / University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust)
- Ms Patricia Diez (National Radiotherapy Trials Quality Assurance Group (RTTQA), Mount Vernon Cancer Centre)

09

Lung cancer

Background

Lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer mortality in the United Kingdom.¹ Major advances in molecular biology, drug development, improvement in surgical and radiotherapy techniques, immunotherapy revolution and patient education are improving outcomes, but survival remains poor in comparison with many other cancers.¹

The National Lung Cancer Audit (NLCA) was established in 2004 aiming to improve lung cancer care and through annual publications has documented sustained improvements over the past 20 years. However, NLCA data used to look at uptake of treatment continue to suggest that the proportion of patients with lung cancer in the United Kingdom accessing radiotherapy remains lower than expected.²

The routine use of positron emission tomography computed tomography (PET-CT) and endobronchial ultrasound (EBUS) and increasing access to navigational bronchoscopy improves lung cancer staging. Significant technological advances are adopted into radiotherapy practice; for radical radiotherapy, four-dimensional computed tomography (4DCT) planning to account for respiratory motion has become the norm, replacing threedimensional conformal radiotherapy (3DCRT). By combining 4DCT with the improved dosimetry from intensity-modulated radiotherapy (IMRT) and volumetric modulated arc therapy (VMAT) techniques, meeting normal tissue constraints for bulky tumours in awkward anatomical locations is increasingly feasible. However, as with many tumour types, there is limited evidence from trials that determine the efficacy of these techniques (Level 4).³⁻⁵

The World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a pandemic on 11 March 2020. General guidance on delivery of radiotherapy during the pandemic has been provided by the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE).⁶ One recommendation is to consider alternative dose fractionation schedules or radiotherapy techniques. As a result, several reduced-fractionation, curative-intent radiotherapy regimes were introduced into lung cancer practice in the United Kingdom.⁷

Non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): curative therapy

Background

Stages I and II lung cancer are best managed with surgical resection. The Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) 1021,⁸ STARS,⁹ ROSEL¹⁰ and SABRTooth¹¹ studies evaluated stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy (SABR) against surgery in early-stage lung cancer; all studies closed early due to poor accrual. The STARS and ROSEL data have been published in pooled form (Level 2b); of the 58 patients examined, the 3-year recurrence-free and overall survival were >80% in both groups.¹² The Royal College of Radiologists Clinical Oncology

09 Lung cancer

There is a strong body of literature to support SABR for stage I patients who have a high surgical risk,¹³ with Level 1 evidence of superiority compared with more conventionally fractionated radiotherapy.¹⁴ NHS England and the United Kingdom SABR Consortium support SABR for the radical treatment of node-negative tumours less than 5 cm that are in a favourable anatomical position. The best outcome is achieved when the tumour receives >100 Gy equivalent dose in 2 Gy per fraction EQD2 biologically equivalent dose (BED). Treatment should be delivered with an interfraction interval of greater than 40 hours but less than 4 days.¹⁵

Stage III NSCLC is a heterogeneous group in terms of tumour size, invasion of local structures, and lymph node involvement. Concurrent chemoradiotherapy has been demonstrated in meta-analyses to give superior outcomes when compared with sequential chemoradiotherapy or radiotherapy alone.^{16,17} In those who have not progressed following concurrent chemoradiotherapy and have maintained good performance status (PS), sequential durvalumab immunotherapy should be offered, as evidenced by the landmark PACIFIC trial, which reports 5-year overall survival and progression-free survival of 42.9% and 33.1%.¹⁸

The optimal dose fractionation schedule for radical radiotherapy is not defined. For concurrent chemo-radiotherapy schedules 60 Gy in 30 fractions has become a standard,¹⁹ but there is an increased incidence of Grade 3 oesophageal toxicity (Level 1b) using this approach. Older patients with good PS and few co-morbidities derive as much benefit from concurrent therapy as their younger counterparts (Level 1b).^{20,21}

Dose escalation, intensification and adaptation have been evaluated in several phase I/II studies and many have shown promising results.^{22–29} In contrast, the randomised RTOG 0617 trial did not demonstrate an overall survival benefit in the dose-escalated arm.³⁰ The recent United Kingdom ADSCaN trial³¹ failed to reach the recruitment target, and with the response to the COVID-19 pandemic introducing 15 fraction schedules into UK practice,⁷ the optimal dose fractionation schedule of radical radiotherapy is yet to be defined.

Although tri-modality therapy is an option recommended in NICE guidance³² there is little evidence of benefit over definitive chemoradiotherapy, except in Pancoast tumours,³³ where studies looking at higher dose fractionations are ongoing.

For those unable to tolerate concurrent chemoradiotherapy, a sequential approach demonstrates survival benefit over radiotherapy alone.³⁴ Patients unfit for systemic therapy should be treated with radiotherapy alone. Accelerated fractionation schedules seem to improve outcomes^{35,36} and can be safely combined with concurrent and neoadjuvant approaches.^{37–39}

The 1998 postoperative radiotherapy (PORT) meta-analysis highlighted the adverse impact of PORT on overall survival, with 7% survival detriment at 2 years.⁴⁰ Subgroup analysis suggests the negative effect of PORT was greatest in NO-1 disease. The LungART trial evaluated the role of PORT in pN2 disease, a group at higher risk of locoregional recurrence. LungART reported the addition of PORT reduced mediastinal relapse (25% versus 46%), but these gains did not translate into an improvement in disease-free survival, partly because of an increase in cardiopulmonary toxicity.⁴¹This additional evidence indicates the role for PORT is limited; PORT can be considered in instances of R1 resection.



Medically inoperable T1–T2b (≤5 cm) NO Favourable Anatomical Position*: SABR using:

- 54 Gy in 3 fractions over 5–8 days (Grade B)
- 55 Gy in 5 fractions over 10–14 days (Grade B)
- 60 Gy in 8 fractions over 10–20 days (Grade B)

Medically inoperable stages I and II Unfavourable Anatomical Position**:

- 54 Gy in 36 fractions CHART (continuous, hyperfractionated, accelerated radiotherapy [treat thrice daily over 12 consecutive days]) (Grade A)
- 55 Gy in 20 fractions (Grade C)

*Corresponds to peripheral tumours >2 cm from any mediastinal critical structure, including the bronchial tree, oesophagus, heart, brachial plexus, major vessels, spinal cord, phrenic nerve and recurrent laryngeal nerve.⁴²

**Corresponds to ultra-central⁴³ ITV ≤1 cm from the proximal bronchial tree (PBT) or overlaps central structures (defined as major vessels, heart, oesophagus, spinal cord, phrenic and recurrent laryngeal nerve, brachial plexus, trachea).

Note: Central tumours (<2 cm from mediastinal critical structures) require individual assessment as they can be managed as occurring in Favourable Anatomical Position. More detailed guidance on the optimal SABR practice for central disease are found in the United Kingdom SABR Consortium Resource (version 7 to be published in 2023).¹⁵

Stage III:

Concurrent (with platinum doublet chemotherapy):

- 55 Gy in 20 fractions over 4 weeks (Grade A)
- 60 Gy in 30 fractions over 6 weeks (Grade A)
- 66 Gy in 33 fractions over 6.5 weeks (Grade A)

Sequential chemoradiotherapy or radiotherapy alone:

- 54 Gy in 36 fractions treating thrice daily over 12 consecutive days (CHART) (Grade A)
- 66 Gy in 33 fractions over 6.5 weeks (Grade A)
- 55 Gy in 20 fractions over 4 weeks (Grade B)

Pancoast tumours (T3–4 N0–1):

• 45 Gy in 25 fractions over 5 weeks with cisplatin and etoposide followed by surgery

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴⁴



Non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): palliative radiotherapy

Background

The trials of palliative radiotherapy were largely undertaken 30 years ago in patients unexposed to systemic anti-cancer therapy. These trials demonstrated that short-course radiotherapy palliates intrathoracic symptoms as well as long-course, but for those with good PS, higher doses confer a modest survival advantage at the expense of extra toxicity.⁴⁵ The upcoming United Kingdom TOURIST platform trial will be testing timing, dose and fractionation for palliative thoracic radiotherapy in combination with modern systemic therapies.⁴⁶

Recommendations

NSCLC with good PS:

- 39 Gy in 13 fractions over 2.5 weeks with cord dose limited to 36 Gy (Grade A)
- 36 Gy in 12 fractions over 2.5 weeks (Grade A)
- 30 Gy in 10 fractions over 2 weeks (Grade A)
- 20 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week (Grade A)

NSCLC with poor PS:

- 17 Gy in 2 fractions over 8 days (Grade A)
- 10 Gy in 1 fraction (Grade A)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴⁴

Non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): whole-brain radiotherapy

Background

There is no evidence supporting the use of prophylactic cranial irradiation in NSCLC. The international QUARTZ trial provides Level 1 evidence for whole-brain radiotherapy (WBRT) and randomised patients between best supportive care with or without WBRT. The primary outcome measure was quality-adjusted life years, and the study showed no significant difference in overall survival, overall quality of life or dexamethasone use between the two groups.⁴⁷

WBRT should not be routinely offered to patients with cerebral metastasis, though stereotactic radiosurgery or stereotactic radiotherapy (see chapter on 'Brain metastases') to the brain can be considered for good PS patients with disease amenable to treatment. For those with volumes unsuitable for a stereotactic approach, WBRT may be considered in those patients with driver mutations maintaining good PS.



NSCLC offered whole-brain radiotherapy:

• 20 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week (Grade A)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴⁴

Small cell lung cancer (SCLC)

Background

The evidence base supports the integration of chemotherapy and radiotherapy at all disease stages.⁴⁸

Stages I–III

Concurrent chemoradiotherapy should be offered with radiotherapy starting no later than day 1 of cycle 3 of chemotherapy.^{49–51} The UK phase III CONVERT (concurrent once daily versus twice daily radiotherapy) trial found no significant difference between the two standard fractionation schedules,⁵⁰ evidence supported by the CALGB 30610/RTOG 0538 trial.⁵²

For those patients who due to tumour size or co-morbidities cannot be treated with concurrent chemoradiotherapy, sequential chemoradiotherapy is the best alternative. There is no definitive evidence to indicate the optimal schedule in this patient group, although many use 40 Gy in 15 fractions over 3 weeks.⁵¹

Recommendations

Stages I–III SCLC offered concurrent chemoradiotherapy:

- 45 Gy in 30 fractions twice daily over 3 weeks (Grade A)
- 66 Gy in 33 fractions over 6.5 weeks (Grade A)

Stages I–III SCLC offered sequential chemoradiotherapy:

• 40–50 Gy in 15–20 daily fractions over 3–4 weeks (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴⁴



SCLC: palliative thoracic radiotherapy

Background

The CREST trial evaluated the role of thoracic radiotherapy in patients with metastatic SCLC on completion of their primary chemotherapy treatment.⁵³ Although the primary endpoint was not met, the improvement seen in 2-year overall survival supports mediastinal consolidation with a significant improvement in progression-free survival and near 50% reduction in intrathoracic progression. Post hoc analysis describes the benefit of consolidation thoracic radiotherapy may be limited to those with persistent intrathoracic disease.⁵⁴

Recommendation

Stage IV SCLC offered consolidation thoracic radiotherapy:

• 30 Gy in 10 fractions over 2 weeks (Grade A)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴⁴

Prophylactic cranial irradiation

Meta-analysis of patients with stages I–III SCLC in complete or near complete thoracic remission following primary chemoradiotherapy have an increased overall survival and decreased incidence of intracerebral relapse when prophylactic cranial irradiation (PCI) is delivered.⁵⁵ Fractionation studies favoured the lower-dose schedule of 25 Gy in 10 fractions, which gave a similar intracranial relapse rate and better survival when compared with 36 Gy in 18 fractions over 24 days.⁵⁶

Subsequent studies established a similar benefit for PCI in patients with stage IV SCLC with an increased overall survival and reduced symptomatic incidence of brain metastases.⁵⁷ Within this study 5 fraction schedules were permitted, though 85% of patients treated received either 30 Gy in 10 fractions or 20 Gy in 5 fractions.

The routine use of PCI is being challenged by concerns about the short-term and long-term neurocognitive effect, and data from the Japanese trial,⁵⁸ which compared PCI with magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) surveillance did not demonstrate a survival advantage with the addition of PCI. The upcoming PRIMALung trial will test the validity of the Japanese finding for the European population.⁵⁹



Stages I–III SCLC offered PCI:

• 25 Gy in 10 fractions over 2 weeks (Grade A)

Stage IV SCLC offered PCI:

- 20 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week (Grade A)
- 25 Gy in 10 fractions over 2 weeks (Grade A)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴⁴

Mesothelioma

Background

The use of prophylactic irradiation of tracts of pleural interventions has historically been thought to reduce the incidence of chest wall recurrence. The PIT⁶⁰ and SMART⁶¹ trials evaluated prophylactic chest wall irradiation in the prevention of procedure-tract metastases. Both studies were negative and the routine prophylactic irradiation of procedure tracts can no longer be recommended.

For those patients with symptomatic chest wall disease, chest wall irradiation is associated with a response rate of 35%.^{62,63} Dose fractionation was examined further in the SYSTEMS 2 study, which will hopefully publish results in 2024.⁶⁴

Recommendation

Mesothelioma with chest wall pain offered thoracic radiotherapy:

20 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴⁴

References

- 1. Cancer Research UK. www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-professional/cancer-statistics/statistics-by-cancertype/lung-cancer (accessed July 2022).
- 2. The National Lung Cancer Audit: Annual Report 2022. www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/nlca-annualreport-2022 (accessed July 2022).
- Harris JP, Murphy JD, Hanlon AL, Le QT, Loo BW Jr, Diehn M. A population-based comparative effectiveness study of radiation therapy techniques in stage III non-small cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2014; 88(4): 872–884.
- 4. Fornacon-Wood I, Chan C, Bayman N *et al.* Impact of introducing intensity modulated radiotherapy on curative intent radiotherapy and survival for lung cancer. *Front Oncol* 2022; **12**: 835844.
- 5. Bezjak A, Rumble RB, Rodrigues G, Hope A, Warde P, Members of the IMRT Indications Expert Panel. Intensitymodulated radiotherapy in the treatment of lung cancer. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* 2012; **24**(7): 508–520.
- 6. The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. COVID-19 rapid guideline: delivery of radiotherapy. NICE guideline [NG162]. 2020.
- 7. Faivre-Finn C, Fenwick JD, Franks KN *et al*. Reduced fractionation in lung cancer patients treated with curative-intent radiotherapy during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Clin Oncol* 2020: **32**; 481–9.
- Fernando HC, Timmerman R. American College of Surgeons Oncology Group Z4099/Radiation Therapy Oncology Group 1021: a randomized study of sublobar resection compared with stereotactic body radiotherapy for high-risk stage I non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2012; 144: S35–8.
- Chang JY, Mehran RJ, Feng L *et al.* Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy for operable stage I non-small-cell lung cancer (revised STARS): long-term results of a single-arm, prospective trial with prespecified comparison to surgery. *Lancet Oncol* 2021; 22: 1448–57.
- 10. Louie AV, van Werkhoven E, Chen H *et al*. Patient reported outcome following stereotactic ablative radiotherapy or surgery for stage IA non-small-cell lung cancer: results from the ROSEL multicenter randomized trial. *Radiother Oncol* 2015; **117**: 44–8.
- Franks KN, McParland L, Webster J et al. SABRTOOTH: a randomised controlled feasibility study of stereotactic ablative radiotherapy (SABR) with surgery in patients with peripheral stage I non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) considered to be at higher risk of complications from surgical resection. *Eur Respir J* 2020; 56: 2000118.
- 12. Chang JY, Senan S, Paul MA *et al*. Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy versus lobectomy for operable stage I non-small-cell lung cancer: a pooled analysis of two randomised trials. *Lancet Oncol* 2015; **16**: 630–7.
- 13. The Royal College of Radiologists. *Radiotherapy for lung cancer: RCR consensus statements*. London: The Royal College of Radiologists, 2020.
- Ball D, Mai G T, Vinod S et al. Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy versus standard radiotherapy in stage 1 non-small-cell lung cancer (TROG 09.02 CHISEL): a phase 3, open-label, randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol 2019; 20: 494–503.
- 15. SABR UK Consortium. Stereotactic ablative body radiation therapy (SABR): a resource. Version 6.1. SABR UK Consortium, January 2019.
- Aupérin A, Le Péchoux C, Pignon JP et al. Concomitant radio-chemotherapy based on platin compounds in patients with locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): a meta-analysis of individual data from 1764 patients. Ann Oncol 2006; 17: 473–483.
- 17. O'Rourke N, Roqué I, Figuls M, Farré Bernadó N, Macbeth F. Concurrent chemoradiotherapy in non-small cell lung cancer. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2010; **16**: CD002140.
- 18. Spiegel DR, Faivre-Finn C, Gray JE *et al*. Five-year survival outcomes from the PACIFIC trial: durvalumab after chemoradiotherapy in stage III non–small-cell lung cancer. *J Clin Oncol* 2022; **40**: 1301–11.
- Eberhardt WEE, De Ruysscher D, Weder W et al. 2nd ESMO Consensus Conference in Lung Cancer: locally advanced stage III non-small-cell lung cancer. Ann Oncol 2015; 26: 1573–88.



- 20. Jalal SI, Riggs HD, Melnyk A *et al.* Updated survival and outcomes for older adults with inoperable stage III non-small-cell lung cancer treated with cisplatin, etoposide, and concurrent chest radiation with or without consolidation docetaxel: analysis of a phase III trial from the Hoosier Oncology Group (HOG) and US Oncology. Ann Oncol 2012; 805: 1730–1738.
- 21. Sekine I, Sumi M, Ito Y et al. Phase I study of concurrent high-dose three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy with chemotherapy using cisplatin and vinorelbine for unresectable stage III non-small cell lung cancer. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2012; **82**: 953–9.
- Kelsey CR, Das S, Gu L, Dunphy FR, Ready NE, Marks LB. Phase 1 dose escalation study of accelerated radiation therapy with concurrent chemotherapy for locally advanced lung cancer. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2015; **93**: 997–1004.
- 23. Hatton MQF, Hill R, Fenwick JD *et al*. Continuous hyperfractionated accelerated radiotherapy escalated dose (CHART-ED): a phase I study. *Radiother Oncol* 2016; **118**: 471–77.
- 24. Landau DB, Hughes L, Baker A *et al.* IDEAL-CRT: a phase 1/2 trial of isotoxic dose-escalated radiation therapy and concurrent chemotherapy in patients with stage II/III non-small cell lung cancer. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2016; **95**: 1367–77.
- 25. Hallqvist A, Bergstrom S, Bjorkestrand H *et al.* Dose escalation to 84 Gy with concurrent chemotherapy in stage III NSCLC appears excessively toxic: results from a prematurely terminated randomized phase II trial. *Lung Cancer* 2018; **122**: 180–6.
- Urbanic JJ, Wang X, Bogart JA et al. Phase 1 study of accelerated hypofractionated radiation therapy with concurrent chemotherapy for stage III non-small cell lung cancer: CALGB 31102 (Alliance). Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2018; 101: 177–85.
- de Ruysscher D, van Baardwijk A, Wanders R *et al.* Individualised accelerated isotoxic concurrent chemoradiotherapy for stage III non-small cell lung cancer: 5-year results of a prospective study. *Radiother Oncol* 2019; **135**: 141–6.
- 28. van Diesen J, de Ruysscher D, Sonke J-J et al. The acute and late toxicity results of a randomized phase II dose-escalation trial in non-small cell lung cancer (PET-boost trial). *Radiother Oncol* 2019; **131**: 166–73.
- 29. Chajon E, Bellec J, Castelli J *et al.* Simultaneously modulated accelerated radiation therapy reduces severe oesophageal toxicity in concomitant chemoradiotherapy of locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer. *Br J Radiol* 2015; **88**: 20150311.
- 30. Bradley JD, Paulus R, Komaki R et al. Standard-dose versus high dose conformal radiotherapy with concurrent and consolidation carboplatin plus paclitaxel with or without cetuximab for patients with stage IIIA or IIIB non-small cell lung cancer (RTOG 0617): a randomized, two-by-two factorial phase 3 study. *Lancet Oncol* 2015; **16**: 187–99.
- Hatton MQF, Lawless C, Faivre-Finn C *et al*. A protocol for a randomised phase II study of accelerated, dose escalated, sequential chemo-radiotherapy in non-small cell lung cancer (ADSCaN). *BMJ Open* 2019; 9: e019903. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019903.
- 32. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. *Lung cancer: diagnosis and management*. (NG122). NICE, 2019. www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng122.
- Rusch VW, Giroux DJ, Kraus MJ et al. Induction chemoradiation and surgical resection for superior sulcus nonsmall-cell lung carcinomas: long-term results of Southwest Oncology Group trial 9416 (Intergroup trial 0160). J Clin Oncol 2007; 25: 313–318.
- Aupérin A, Le Péchoux C, Rolland E et al. Meta-analysis of concomitant versus sequential radiochemotherapy in locally advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2010; 28: 2181–90.
- 35. Saunders M, Dische S, Barrett A *et al* for the CHART Steering Committee. Continuous hyperfractionated accelerated radio-therapy (CHART) versus conventional radiotherapy in non-small-cell lung cancer: a randomised multicentre trial. *Lancet* 1997; **350**: 161–165.
- 36. Mauguen A, Le Péchoux C, Saunders MI *et al*. Hyperfractionated or accelerated radiotherapy in lung cancer: an individual patient data meta-analysis. *J Clin Oncol* 2010; **28**: 2181–90.



- 37. Hatton M, Nankivell M, Lyn E et al. Induction chemotherapy and continuous hyperfractionated accelerated radiotherapy (CHART) for patients with locally advanced inoperable non-small-cell lung cancer: the MRC INCH randomized trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2011; 81: 712–718.
- Price A, Yellowlees A, Keerie C et al. Radical radiotherapy with or without gemcitabine in patients with early stage medically inoperable non-small cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer 2012; 77: 532–536.
- 39. Maguire J, Khan I, McMenemin R et al. SOCCAR: a randomised phase II trial comparing sequential versus concurrent chemotherapy and radical hypofractionated radiotherapy in patients with inoperable stage III non-small cell lung cancer and good performance status. Eur J Cancer 2014; 50: 2939–2949.
- PORT Meta-analysis Trialists Group. Postoperative radiotherapy in non-small-cell lung cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis of individual patient data from nine randomised controlled trials. *Lancet* 1998; **352**: 257–63.
- Le Péchoux C, Pourel N, Barlesi F et al. Postoperative radiotherapy versus no postoperative radiotherapy in patients with completely resected non-small-cell lung cancer and proven mediastinal N2 involvement (Lung ART, IFCT 0503): an open-label, randomised, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2022; 23: 104–14.
- Chang JY, Bezjak A, Mornez F, on behalf of the IASLC Advanced Radiation Technology Committee. Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy for centrally located early stage non-small-cell lung cancer: what we have learned. J Thorac Oncol 2015; 10: 577–85.
- 43. Lindberg K, Grozman V, Karlsson K *et al.* The HILUS-trial: a prospective Nordic multicentre phase 2 study of ultracentral lung tumors treated with stereotactic body radiotherapy. *J Thorac Oncol* 2021; **16**: 1200–10.
- 44. www.cebm.ox.ac.uk/resources/levels-of-evidence/oxford-centre-for-evidence-based-medicine-levels-ofevidence-march-2009 (last accessed 28/11/2023).
- 45. Lester JF, Macbeth F, Toy E, Coles B. Palliative radiotherapy regimens for non-small-cell lung cancer. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2006; **18**(4): CD002143.
- 46. Woolf D, Lee C, Shah R *et al.* Pr.01–25 TOURIST: thoracic umbrella radiotherapy study in stage IV NSCLC: a phase III randomized trial in development. *J Thorac Oncol* 2019; **14**: S648–9.
- 47. Mulvenna P, Nankivell M, Barton R et al. Dexamethasone and supportive care with or without whole brain radiotherapy in treating patients with non-small cell lung cancer with brain metastases unsuitable for resection or stereotactic radiotherapy (QUARTZ): results from a phase 3, non-inferiority, randomised trial. *Lancet* 2016; **388**: 2004–14.
- Pignon JP, Arriagada R, Ihde DC et al. A meta-analysis of thoracic radiotherapy for small-cell lung cancer. New Engl J Med 1992; 327: 1618–24.
- 49. Turrisi AT, Kim K, Blum R *et al*. Twice-daily compared with once-daily thoracic radiotherapy in limited small cell lung cancer treated concurrently with cisplatin and etoposide. *N Engl J Med* 1999; **340**: 265–271.
- 50. Faivre-Finn C, Snee M, Ashcroft L *et al*. Concurrent once-daily versus twice-daily chemoradiotherapy in patients with limited-stage small-cell lung cancer (CONVERT): an open-label, phase 3, randomised, superiority trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2017; **18**: 1116–25.
- Murray N, Coy P, Pater JL et al. Importance of timing of thoracic irradiation in the combined modality treatment of limited-stage small-cell lung cancer. The National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group. J Clin Oncol 1993; 11: 336–44.
- 52. Bogart JA, Wang XF, Masters GA *et al.* Phase 3 comparison of high-dose once-daily (QD) thoracic radiotherapy (TRT) with standard twice-daily (BID) TRT in limited stage small cell lung cancer (LSCLC): CALGB 30610 (Alliance)/RTOG 0538. *J Clin Oncol* 2021; **39**: S8505.
- 53. Slotman BJ, van Tinteren H, Praag JO *et al*. Use of thoracic radiotherapy for extensive stage small-cell lung cancer: a phase 3 randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 2015; **385**: 36–42.
- 54. Slotman BJ, van Tinteren. Which patients with extensive stage small-cell lung cancer should and should not receive thoracic radiotherapy? *Trans Lung Cancer Res* 2015; **4**: 292–4.
- Aupérin A, Arriagada R, Pignon JP *et al.* Prophylactic cranial irradiation for patients with small-cell lung cancer in complete remission. Prophylactic Cranial Irradiation Overview Collaborative Group. *N Engl J Med* 1999; 341: 476–484.



- 56. Le Péchoux C, Dunant A, Senan S et al. Prophylactic Cranial Irradiation (PCI) Collaborative Group. Standarddose versus higher-dose prophylactic cranial irradiation (PCI) in patients with limited-stage small-cell lung cancer in complete remission after chemotherapy and thoracic radiotherapy (PCI 99-01, EORTC 22003– 08004, RTOG 0212, and IFCT 99–01): a randomised clinical trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2009; **10**: 467–474.
- 57. Slotman B, Faivre-Finn C, Kramer G, Rankin E, Snee M, Hatton M on behalf of the EORTC Radiation Oncology Group and Lung Cancer Group. Randomised trial on the use of prophylactic cranial irradiation in extensive disease small cell lung cancer (EORTC 08993–22993). *New Engl J Med* 207; **357**: 664–72.
- Takahashi T, Yamanaka T, Seto T *et al.* Prophylactic cranial irradiation versus observation in patients with extensive-disease small-cell lung cancer: a multicentre, randomised, open-label, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2017; 18: 663–671.
- 59. PRIMALung. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04790253 (accessed July 2022).
- 60. Bayman N, Appel W, Ashcroft L *et al.* Prophylactic irradiation of tracts in patients with malignant pleural mesothelioma: an open-label, multicenter, phase III randomized trial. *J Clin Oncol* 2019; **37**: 1200–8.
- 61. Clive AO, Taylor H, Dobson L *et al.* Prophylactic radiotherapy for the prevention of procedure-tract metastases after surgical and large-bore pleural procedures in malignant pleural mesothelioma (SMART): a multicentre, open-label, phase 3, randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2016; **17**: 1094–1104.
- 62. O'Rourke N, Garcia JC, Paul J, Lawless C, McMenemin R, Hill J. A randomised controlled trial of intervention site radiotherapy in malignant pleural mesothelioma. *Radiother Oncol* 2007; **84**: 18–22.
- 63. MacLeod N, Chalmers A, O'Rourke N et al. Is radiotherapy useful for treating pain in mesothelioma?: a phase II trial. J Thorac Oncol 2015; **10**: 944–950.
- 64. Ashton M, O'Rourke N, Macleod N et al. SYSTEMS-2: a randomised phase II study of radiotherapy dose escalation for pain control in malignant pleural mesothelioma. *Clin Transl Radiat Oncol* 2017; 8: 45–49.

Acknowledgements

With thanks to lead authors Prof Matthew Hatton (Weston Park Hospital, Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust) and Dr Romaana Mir (Mount Vernon Cancer Centre) for reviewing and updating this chapter of the guidance.

Lymphoma

Hodgkin lymphoma

Background

Over the past 30 years, combination chemotherapy has become integral to the standard of care for both early and late-stage Hodgkin lymphoma. Previous techniques employing the traditional mantle and inverted Y fields are no longer practised. Involved-field radiotherapy (IFRT) has been replaced by involved-node radiotherapy (INRT) or involved-site radiotherapy (ISRT), further reducing the treated volume for consolidation or residual disease after chemotherapy.^{1,2} There should be every effort to reduce cardiac and lung doses when treating the mediastinum, with good evidence to support the use of intensity-modulated radiotherapy (IMRT) and deep inspiration breath hold (DIBH) in this setting.^{3,4}

Early Hodgkin lymphoma

The HD-10 study by the German Hodgkin Study Group (GHSG) showed no difference in outcome in the favourable subgroup (stages I–II without risk factors) between two cycles of adriamycin, bleomycin, vinblastine and dacarbazine (ABVD) and 20 Gray (Gy) in 10 fractions IFRT or four cycles of ABVD and 30 Gy IFRT (Level 1b).⁵⁻⁶ In early unfavourable disease, the GHSG HD-11 study established 4 cycles of ABVD and 30 Gy as the best arm.⁷

Subsequently, three large randomised controlled trials (RCTs)⁸⁻¹⁰ testing the omission of radiotherapy in patients achieving complete metabolic response (CMR) on interim positron emission tomography (PET) scanning showed that the omission of radiotherapy results in increased relapse rates when ABVD chemotherapy is used.

One study in early-stage unfavourable (stages I–II with risk factors) Hodgkin lymphoma using a 2+2 approach (escalated BEACOPP \times 2 + ABVD \times 2) showed that the omission of radiotherapy in patients achieving CMR after all chemotherapy was not inferior in terms of 5-year progression-free survival (Level 1b).^{6,11}

Combined modality treatment therefore remains to be the standard of care in ABVD-treated early-stage Hodgkin lymphoma but the decision on radiotherapy needs to be carefully considered on an individual patient basis, taking account of their age, sex, smoking history and the anatomical disease distribution, and weighing up predicted risks of late toxicity against potential benefit of improved disease control.^{12,13}



For patients with early Hodgkin lymphoma:

- Favourable group: 2 cycles of ABVD chemotherapy followed by 20 Gy in 10 fractions over 2 weeks (Grade A)
- **Unfavourable group:** 4 cycles of ABVD followed by 30 Gy in 15 fractions over 3 weeks (Grade A)
- For patients treated with escalated BEACOPP×2 + ABVD ×2, radiotherapy can be omitted if there is CMR on PET scanning after chemotherapy (Grade A)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁶

Advanced Hodgkin lymphoma

The role of radiotherapy in advanced Hodgkin disease after full-dose combination chemotherapy is controversial and has changed with the introduction of PET imaging.

In the context of ABVD chemotherapy, two Italian RCTs^{14,15} randomised patients with initial bulk disease (defined as >5 cm) who demonstrated CMR on both interim (post cycle 2) and end of treatment PET after 6 cycles to radiotherapy (30 Gy in 15 fractions) or no radiotherapy. The two studies showed no statistically significant benefit from consolidation radiotherapy to sites of initial bulk, although they were not powered adequately (Level 1b).⁶ The outcomes of the chemotherapy alone arms were excellent, suggesting that any potential benefit from radiotherapy would be very small. The benefit of radiotherapy in patients with partial metabolic response and who continue on ABVD is unknown, as these patients were escalated to more intensive chemotherapy.

In the context of escalated BEACOPP chemotherapy, the GHSG HD-15 study¹⁶ showed that patients achieving CMR do well without radiotherapy to sites of bulk, and patients who have residual fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) uptake on PET may benefit from consolidation radiotherapy (30 Gy in 15 fractions) (Level 1b).⁶

Recommendation

In advanced Hodgkin lymphoma, radiotherapy for residual disease is indicated after partial response to chemotherapy.

• 30–36 Gy in 15–20 fractions over 3 to 4 weeks (Grade B)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁶

10

Relapsed Hodgkin lymphoma

High-dose chemotherapy and stem cell transplantation remain the international standard of care for many younger patients with relapsed Hodgkin lymphoma following previous combined modality treatment. Selected cases of early-stage disease, who relapse after previous chemotherapy alone treatment, may be successfully salvaged with radiotherapy.

The presence of residual PET-positive disease following salvage systemic treatment is an adverse prognostic factor for early relapse after stem cell transplant.¹⁷ Radiotherapy to areas of persistent disease can be used to induce a better remission status. Dose will depend upon the patient's response to salvage systemic treatment and normal tissue constraints.¹⁸

In some patients with a single site of relapse, particularly occurring late, after previous treatment, reinduction as for early disease combined with ISRT may be appropriate, using a dose of 30–36 Gy in 15–20 fractions over 3–4 weeks (Grade D).^{6,18}

Recommendations

In relapsed/refractory disease, the following may be used:

To consolidate complete response following systemic treatment:

- 30 Gy in 15 fractions over 3 weeks (Grade D)
- Persistent disease seen following systemic treatment:
- 36–40 Gy in 18–20 fractions over 3–4 weeks (Grade D)

For palliative treatments no definitive recommendations can be made and dose will depend on the clinical situation. The following may be used:

- 30 Gy in 10 fractions over 2 weeks (Grade D)
- 20 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week (Grade D)
- Single dose of 8 Gy (Grade D)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁶

Nodular lymphocyte-predominant Hodgkin lymphoma

ISRT alone, without chemotherapy, results in high progression-free survival (PFS) and overall survival (OS) rates and is considered an adequate treatment for early-stage disease.¹⁹ A dose of 30 Gy in 15 fractions over 3 weeks is recommended (Grade D).^{6,20}



Aggressive non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL)

The most common subtype of aggressive NHL is diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL). Radiotherapy has been used as part of combined modality treatment for localised disease or as a consolidation after chemoimmunotherapy in selected cases of advanced-stage disease, most commonly for bulky sites. Historical studies used radiotherapy doses of 40–45 Gy in DLBCL but the BNLI study, published in 2011, demonstrated that 30 Gy is equivalent to higher doses in aggressive NHL (Level 1b).^{6,26}

Of note, the evidence for dose fractionation in aggressive NHL comes predominantly from data on DLBCL. However, less common subtypes, such as peripheral T-cell lymphomas, were also included in the BNLI study, albeit in much smaller numbers. The extrapolation of dose fractionation schedules from DLBCL to the other less common subtypes of aggressive NHL is therefore considered reasonable, given the limited data available for the rarer subtypes. An exception to this is NK/T-cell lymphoma (see separate section below).

Localised DLBCL

The standard of care is short-course chemotherapy (R-CHOP \times 3) followed by ISRT, or alternatively 6 cycles of R-CHOP alone. The two options have similar oncological outcomes based on historical data.^{21,22} However, they differ in their toxicity profile and choice may therefore depend on site of disease, age, sex and co-morbidities of patients and their preference.

More recently, selected cases with very good prognosis (age <60, IPI=0, no bulk) achieved a similar outcome with 4 cycles of R-CHOP and 2 additional cycles of rituximab without radiotherapy (Level 1b).^{6,23}

Advanced DLBCL

In advanced-stage disease, the RICOVER-60 study showed a PFS and OS benefit for radiotherapy (36 Gy in 18 fractions) given to initial sites of bulk and extranodal disease after 6 cycles of R-CHOP-14 in patients with DLBCL aged >60 years (Level 1b).^{6.24} In patients aged <60 years, the UNFOLDER RCT²⁵ (reported in abstract form only) showed a 16% benefit in 3-year event-free survival in those assigned to receive radiotherapy versus no radiotherapy (Level 2b).⁷ Based on these studies, radiotherapy has been offered as consolidation for bulky sites after R-CHOP. However, it remains currently unknown if patients achieving CMR after R-CHOP still benefit from radiotherapy, and there are no randomised studies to answer this question.

Chemorefractory DLBCL

In patients with residual disease after chemotherapy, higher doses of 36-40 Gy in 2 Gy fractions should be considered (Level 2b).²⁷⁻²⁹

10

Bridging to chimeric antigen receptors cell therapy (CAR-T)

CAR-T is an effective salvage treatment for relapsed or refractory DLBCL and primary mediastinal B-cell lymphoma. Radiotherapy has been used successfully as a bridging therapy to halt disease progression and maintain patient condition during the period of cell manufacture. Several small studies reported a range of doses and treatment duration, usually chosen depending on treatment site and to minimise delay of CAR-T infusion (Level 2b).^{6,30}

Recommendations

For patients with DLBCL:

- In early-stage DLBCL, 30 Gy in 15 fractions over 3 weeks is recommended as part of combined modality treatment (Grade B)
- In patients with CMR receiving consolidation radiotherapy (eg to initial sites of bulk), a dose of 30 Gy in 15 fractions over 3 weeks is recommended (Grade B)
- In patients with incomplete response to systemic treatment, consider higher doses of 36 Gy-40 Gy in 18–20 fractions over 3–4 weeks (Grade C)
- Extrapolation of these dose recommendations to other less common subtypes of aggressive NHL is reasonable (with the exception of NK/T-cell lymphoma; see separate section below)

For bridging to CAR-T:

• 30 Gy in 10–15 fractions over 2–3 weeks or 20 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁶

Mantle cell lymphoma (MCL)

The vast majority of patients present with advanced disease and require systemic treatment. However, MCL is radiosensitive and responds well even to low doses of radiation, making radiotherapy a useful option for local control or palliation of specific disease sites. MCL less frequently presents as localised disease; radiotherapy alone has been used and is associated with reasonable outcomes. Doses in the range of 4–30 Gy can be used.^{31–34}

Natural killer (NK)/T-cell lymphoma

This is a rare entity in Western countries but is common in East Asia and Latin America. Chemoradiation using cisplatin-based schedules and I-asparaginase are now standard, followed by consolidation chemotherapy. This type of lymphoma requires a higher dose than other T-cell lymphomas and a dose of 45–50 Gy in 25 fractions over 5 weeks should be given (Grade C).^{6,35,36}

10

Central nervous system lymphoma (CNS) lymphoma

The landmark IELSG32 trial³⁷ established the MATRIx chemo-immunotherapy schedule (methotrexate, cytarabine, thiotepa and rituximab) as a new standard of care in primary CNS lymphoma for fit patients (Level 1b).⁶ Following systemic treatment, patients were consolidated with either autologous stem cell transplantation (ASCT) or whole-brain radiotherapy (36 Gy in 20 fractions over 4 weeks with additional 9 Gy in 5 fraction boost to tumour bed in cases of partial response). There was no significant difference in 2-year PFS (80% for WBRT) but neurocognitive deficit was noted in a subset of the WBRT cohort at 2-year follow-up (Level 1b).^{6,38}

Escalation beyond 36 Gy to the whole brain in patients who have achieved a complete response following high-dose methotrexate-based chemotherapy has not been shown to offer additional clinical benefit (Level 2b)^{6.39} but could increase neurotoxicity.

In view of the observed neurotoxicity seen with consolidation WBRT, the standard of care for primary CNS lymphoma is consolidation ASCT after MATRIx chemotherapy. In patients not fit for ASCT or those not responding to systemic treatment, radiotherapy may be used as consolidation or palliation. Dose choice will depend on patient fitness, age and predicted risk of neurotoxicity.

Of note, in patients with a complete response to rituximab, methotrexate, procarbazine and vincristine (R-MPV), a reduced dose of 23.4 Gy in 1.8 Gy fractions to the whole brain resulted in 2-year PFS of 77% with minimal neurotoxicity (Level 2b).^{6,40}

Recommendations

- For patients with primary CNS lymphoma not fit for consolidation ASCT or those not responding to chemotherapy, consider consolidation WBRT with a dose of 23.4–36 Gy in 1.8 fractions (Grade B)
- In the palliative setting, consider 20 Gy in 5 fractions (Grade D)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁶

Palliative treatment of aggressive non-Hodgkin lymphoma

For aggressive lymphoma, a single dose of 8 Gy or short-course palliation such as 20 Gy in 5 fractions or 30 Gy in 10 fractions are effective and appropriate for the palliative treatment of many patients with limited prognosis (Grade D.)⁶



In the palliative management of aggressive non-Hodgkin lymphoma, the following are recommended:

- Single dose 8–10 Gy (Grade D)
- 20 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week (Grade D)
- 30 Gy in 10 fractions over 2 weeks (Grade D)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁶

Mycosis fungoides

This will typically be a widespread skin infiltration with radiotherapy used for palliation of thicker plaques. Doses of 8 Gy in 2 fractions or 12 Gy in 3 fractions are recommended (Grade C).^{6,41}

Indolent lymphoma

Indolent lymphoma includes follicular lymphoma, marginal zone lymphoma (including extranodal marginal zone lymphoma, MALT), small lymphocytic lymphoma, lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma and other rarer types. Stage I indolent lymphoma has, for many years, been treated with radical radiotherapy. In advanced-stage indolent lymphoma, radiotherapy may be indicated for control of local symptomatic disease.

A randomised trial comparing 24 Gy with 40 Gy (all in 2 Gy fractions) included patients with early-stage indolent lymphoma.²⁶ There was no difference in local PFS or OS between these two dose arms (Level 1b).⁶ A subsequent study⁴² randomised patients with follicular and marginal zone lymphoma to receive either 24 Gy in 12 fractions or 4 Gy in 2 fractions.

At 12 weeks, the complete response rate was 68% after 24 Gy and 49% after 4 Gy. Toxicity was low in both arms (Level 1b).⁶ PFS at 5 years was reported as 89.9% with 24 Gy and 70.4% with 4 Gy,⁴³ establishing 24 Gy as the standard dose for definitive radiotherapy (Level 1b).⁶ However, 4 Gy remains a useful alternative in selected cases for palliation, providing good outcomes with low toxicity and more patient convenience.

Recommendations

For the radical treatment of stage I indolent lymphoma or durable palliation in more advanced stages:

- 24 Gy in 12 fractions over 2.5 weeks (Grade A)
- 4 Gy in 2 fractions is an alternative option for palliation (Grade A)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁶

10

References

- Hoskin PJ, Díez P, Williams M et al. Recommendations for the use of radiotherapy in nodal lymphoma. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 2013; 25(1): 49–58.
- Specht L, Yahalom J, Illidge T et al. Modern radiation therapy for Hodgkin lymphoma: field and dose guidelines from the International Lymphoma Radiation Oncology Group (ILROG). Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2014; 89(4): 854–862.
- 3. Aznar MC, Maraldo MV, Schut DA *et al*. Minimizing late effects for patients with mediastinal Hodgkin lymphoma: deep inspiration breath-hold, IMRT, or both? *In J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2015; **92**(1): 169–174.
- Starke A, Bowden J, Lynn R *et al.* Comparison of butterfly volumetric modulated arc therapy to full arc with or without deep inspiration breath hold for the treatment of mediastinal lymphoma. *Radiother Oncol* 2018 Dec; 129(3): 449–455.
- 5. Engert A, Plutschow A, Eich HT *et al*. Reduced treatment intensity in patients with early-stage Hodgkin's lymphoma. *N Engl J Med* 2010; **363**(7): 640–652.
- www.cebm.ox.ac.uk/resources/levels-of-evidence/oxford-centre-for-evidence-based-medicine-levels-ofevidence-march-2009 (last accessed 28/11/2023).
- Radford J, Illidge T, Counsell N et al. Results of a trial of PET-directed therapy for early-stage Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med 2015; 372(17): 1598–1607.
- Andre MPE, Girinsky T, Federico M et al. Early positron emission tomography response-adapted treatment in stage I and II Hodgkin lymphoma: final results of the randomized EORTC/LYSA/FIL H10 trial. J Clin Oncol 2017; 35(16): 1786–1794.
- Fuchs M, Goergen H, Kobe C *et al.* Positron emission tomography-guided treatment in early-stage favorable Hodgkin lymphoma: final results of the international, randomized phase III HD16 trial by the German Hodgkin Study Group. J Clin Oncol 2019; **37**(31): 2835–2845.
- Borchmann P, Plutschow A, Kobe C et al. PET-guided omission for radiotherapy in early-stage unfavourable Hodgkin lymphoma (GHSG HD17): a multicentre, open-label, randomizer, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2021; 22(2): 223–234.
- Ntentas G, Dedeckova K, Andrlik M et al. Proton therapy in supradiaphragmatic lymphoma: predicting treatment-related mortality to help optimize patient selection. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2022; 112(4): 913–925.
- 13. Jones DA, Candio P, Shakir R *et al.* Informing radiotherapy decisions in stage I/IIa Hodgkin lymphoma: modeling life expectancy using radiation dosimetry. *Blood Adv* 2022; **6**(3): 909–919.
- Gallamini A, Rossi A, Patti C et al. Consolidation radiotherapy could be safely omitted in advanced Hodgkin lymphoma with large nodal mass in complete metabolic response after ABVD: final analysis of the randomized GITIL/FIL HD0607 trial. J Clin Oncol 2020; 38(33): 3905–3913.
- 15. Ricardi U, Levis M, Evangelista A *et al*. Role for radiotherapy to bulky sites of advanced Hodgkin lymphoma treated with ABVD: final results of FIL HD0801 trial. *Blood Adv* 2021; **5**(21): 4504–4514.
- Engert A, Haverkamp H, Kobe C et al. Reduced-intensity chemotherapy and PET-guided radiotherapy in patients with advanced stage Hodgkin's lymphoma (HD15 trial): a randomised, open-label, phase 3 noninferiority trial. Lancet 2012; 379(9828): 1791–1799.
- Moskowitz AJ, Yahalom J, Kewalramani T *et al*. Pretransplantation functional imaging predicts outcome following autologous stem cell transplantation for relapsed and refractory Hodgkin lymphoma. *Blood* 2010; 116(23): 4934–4937.
- Constine LS, Yahalom J, Ng AK *et al.* The role of radiation therapy in patients with relapsed or refractory Hodgkin lymphoma: guidelines from the International Lymphoma Radiation Oncology Group. *Int J Radiat* Oncol Biol Phys 2018; **100**(5): 1100–1118.

10

- 19. Binkley MS, Rauf MS, Milgrom SA *et al.* Stage I–II nodular lymphocyte-predominant Hodgkin lymphoma: a multi-institutional study of adult patients by ILROG. *Blood* 2020; **135**(26): 2365–2374.
- Eichenauer DA, Plutschow A, Fuchs M et al. Long-term follow-up of patients with nodular lymphocytepredominant Hodgkin lymphoma treated in the HD7 to HD15 trials: a report from the German Hodgkin Study Group. J Clin Oncol 2019; 38(7): 698–705.
- 21. Miller TP, Dahlberg S, Cassady JR *et al*. Chemotherapy alone compared with chemotherapy plus radiotherapy for localized intermediate- and high-grade non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *N Engl J Med* 1998; **339**(1): 21–26.
- Stephens DM, Li H, LeBlanc ML et al. Continued risk of relapse independent of treatment modality in limitedstage diffuse large B-cell lymphoma: final and long-term analysis of Southwest Oncology Group Study S8736. J Clin Oncol 2016; 34(25): 2997–3004.
- 23. Poeschel V, Held G, Ziepert M *et al.* Four versus six cycles of CHOP chemotherapy in combination with six applications of rituxumab in patients with aggressive B-cell lymphoma with favourable prognosis (FLYER): a randomised, phase 3, non-inferiority trial. *Lancet* 2019; **394**(10216): 2271–2281.
- 24. Held G, Murawski N, Ziepert M et al. Role of radiotherapy to bulky disease in elderly patients with aggressive B-cell lymphoma. J Clin Oncol 2014; **32**(11): 1112–1118.
- 25. Pfreundschuh M, Murawski N, Ziepert M *et al.* Radiotherapy (RT) to bulky (B) and extralymphatic (E) disease in combination with 6xR-CHOP-14 or R-CHOP-21 in young good-prognosis DLBCL patients: results of the 2x2 randomized UNFOLDER trial of the DSHNHL/GLA. *J Clin Oncol* 2018; **36**(15): 7574–7574.
- 26. Lowry L, Smith P, Qian W *et al*. Reduced dose radiotherapy for local control in non-Hodgkin lymphoma: a randomised phase III trial. *Radiother Oncol* 2011; **100**(1): 86–92.
- 27. Aref A, Narayan S, Tekyi-Mensah S *et al*. Value of radiation therapy in the management of chemoresistant intermediate grade non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Rad Onc Invest* 1999; **7**(3): 186–191.
- Tseng YD, Chen YH, Catalano P et al. Rates and durability of response to salvage radiation therapy among patients with refractory or relapsed aggressive non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2015; 91(1): 223–231.
- 29. Ng AK, Yahalom J, Goda JS *et al.* Role of radiation therapy in patients with relapsed/refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma: guidelines from the International Lymphoma Radiation Oncology Group. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2018; **100**(3): 652–669.
- 30. Sim AJ, Jain MD, Figura NB *et al*. Radiation therapy as a bridging strategy for CAR T cell therapy with axicatagene ciloleucel in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2019; **105**(5): 1012–1021.
- 31. Ning MS, Pinnix CC, Chapman BV *et al*. Low-dose radiation (4 Gy) with/without concurrent chemotherapy is highly effective for relapsed, refractory mantle cell lymphoma. *Blood Adv* 2019; **3**(13): 2035–2039.
- 32. Dabaja BS, Zelenetz AD, Ng AK *et al*. Early-stage mantle cell lymphoma: a retrospective analysis from the International Lymphoma Radiation Oncology Group (ILROG). *Ann Oncol* 2017; **28**(9): 2185–2190.
- Leitch HA, Gascoyne RD, Chanabhai M et al. Limited-stage mantle-cell lymphoma. Ann Oncol 2003; 14(10): 1555–61.
- 34. Barouch SB, Kuruvilla J, Tsang RW *et al*. Radiotherapy in mantle cell lymphoma: a literature review. *Hem Onc* 2020; **38**(3): 223–228.
- 35. Li YX, Tao B, Jin J *et al*. Radiotherapy as primary treatment for stage IE and IIE nasal natural killer/T-cell lymphoma. *J Clin Oncol* 2006, **24**(1): 181–189.
- 36. Ghione P, Qi S, Imber BS et al. Modified SMILE (mSMILE) and intensity-modulated radiotherapy (IMRT) for extranodal NK-T lymphoma nasal type in a single center population. *Leuk Lymphoma* 2020; 61(14): 3331– 3341.
- 37. Ferreri AJM, Cwynarski K, Pulczynski E et al. Chemoimmunotherapy with methotrexate, cytarabine, thiotepa, and rituximab (MATRix regimen) in patients with primary CNS lymphoma: results of the first randomisation of the International Extranodal Lymphoma Study Group-32 (IELSG32) phase 2 trial. Lancet Haematol 2016; 3(5): e217–27.



- 38. Ferreri AJM, Cwynarski K, Pulczynski E et al. Whole-brain radiotherapy or autologous stem-cell transplantation as consolidation strategies after high-dose methotrexate-based chemoimmunotherapy in patients with primary CNS lymphoma: results of the second randomisation of the International Extranodal Lymphoma Study Group-32 phase 2 trial. *Lancet Haematol* 2017; 4(11): e510523.
- 39. Ferreri AJM, Verona C, Politi LS *et al*. Consolidation radiotherapy in primary central nervous system lymphomas: impact on outcome of different fields and doses in patients in complete remission after upfront chemotherapy. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2011; **80**(1): 169–175.
- 40. Morris PG, Correa DD, Yahalom J *et al*. Rituxumab, methotrexate, procarbazine, and vincristine followed by consolidation reduced-dose whole-brain radiotherapy and cytarabine in newly diagnosed primary CNS lymphoma: final results and long-term outcome. *J Clin Oncol* 2013; **31**(31): 3971–3979.
- 41. Morris SL. Skin lymphoma. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 2012; 24(5): 371-285.
- 42. Hoskin PJ, Kirkwood AA, Popova B et al. 4 Gy versus 24 Gy radiotherapy for patients with indolent lymphoma (FORT): a randomised phase 3 non-inferiority trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2014; **15**(4): 457–463.
- 43. Hoskin P, Popova B, Schofield O *et al.* 4 Gy versus 24 Gy radiotherapy for follicular and marginal zone lymphoma (FoRT): long-term follow-up of a multicentre, randomised, phase 3, non-inferiority trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2021; **22**(3): 332–340.

Acknowledgements

With thanks to lead authors Prof George Mikhaeel (Guy's Cancer Centre, Guy's & St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust) and Dr Melissa Tan (The Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust) for reviewing and updating this chapter of the guidance.

Paediatric cancer

Background

Radiotherapy (RT) is an important modality of therapy in the local control of paediatric malignancies, and the majority of paediatric tumours are radiosensitive. However, for many children, long-term survival comes at the price of long-term effects of treatment. Long-term effects of radiotherapy include soft tissue hypoplasia, impaired bone growth, endocrine dysfunction, impaired fertility, neuropsychological effects of irradiation of the central nervous system (CNS) and radiation-induced malignancy.

Currently, 40–50% of children with cancer receive radiotherapy as part of their initial treatment. The paediatric radiotherapy team should include a specialist paediatric therapy radiographer, specialist nurse and play specialist. The components of the paediatric multidisciplinary team are described in the RCR *Good practice guidance for paediatric radiology*.¹

Wherever possible, parents of children requiring radiotherapy should be offered the opportunity for their child to have treatment within an appropriate National Cancer Research Institute (NCRI) portfolio or international trial.

Radiotherapy for children should only be carried out in designated departments associated with Children's Cancer and Leukaemia Group (CCLG) principal treatment centres. The current document summarises typical dose fractionation policies as applied in CCLG centres in the UK.

Leukaemia

The leukaemias account for the largest group of paediatric malignancies, with approximately 80% having acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (ALL). The remainder have acute non-lymphoblastic leukaemias, usually acute myeloid leukaemia (AML) or, rarely, chronic myeloid leukaemia (CML). Currently more than 85% with ALL and 65% with AML are long-term survivors.

In current protocols, WBRT may be employed for patients with relapsed or refractory CNS involvement, either alone, as detailed below, or delivered as a boost (see total body irradiation section) prior to total body irradiation.^{2,3}

Paediatric cancer

Recommendation

Whole-brain radiotherapy in childhood leukaemia:

• 24 Gray (Gy) in 15 fractions of 1.6 Gy daily over 3 weeks (Level B)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴

Children with a testicular relapse may be treated with testicular radiotherapy, generally using orthovoltage or electrons, encompassing a clinical target volume (CTV) that includes both testes, the scrotum and the inguinal canal supero-laterally as far as the deep inguinal ring, either alone, as detailed below, or delivered as a boost (see total body irradiation section) prior to total body irradiation.⁵

Recommendation

Testicular irradiation in childhood leukaemia:

• 24 Gy in 12 fractions of 2.0 Gy daily over 2.5 weeks (Level B)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴

Total body irradiation (TBI)

As in the treatment of adults with haematological malignancies, TBI is an important technique usually used together with high-dose cyclophosphamide or etoposide as the conditioning regimen prior to bone marrow transplantation (BMT).^{6,7} Individual techniques for TBI have evolved in different departments due to a number of factors including available equipment and bunker size. TBI planning often utilises CT in addition to *in vivo* measurements. For such a large and complex target volume, it is not feasible to adhere to the International Commission on Radiation Units and Measurements (ICRU) 50 guidelines of a range of -5% to +7%; a range of -10% to +10% is more realistic.⁷⁻¹⁰



TBI in childhood leukaemia:

- 13.2–14.4 Gy in 8 fractions of 1.65–1.8 Gy twice daily, with a minimum interfraction interval of 6 hours over 4 days (Level C)
- 12 Gy in 6 fractions of 2 Gy twice daily with a minimum interfraction interval of 6 hours over 3 days (Level C)

Cranial boost where indicated (given in the days prior to TBI):

• 5.4–6 Gy in 3–4 fractions of 1.5–1.8 Gy daily over 3 days (Level C)

Testicular boost where indicated (given in the days prior to TBI):

- 5.4–6 Gy in 3–4 fractions of 1.5–1.8 Gy daily over 3 days (Level C)
- 4 Gy single fraction over 1 day (Level C)

TBI for reduced-intensity cord transplant or benign haematological disorders (eg Fanconi's anaemia and thalassaemia):

2–4 Gy single dose (Level C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴

Hodgkin lymphoma

The survival rate for children with Hodgkin lymphoma is approximately 90%. In current protocols, the aims are to maintain this good overall survival rate and reduce long-term effects.^{11–13} Patients are stratified into treatment risk groups (TL-1, TL-2 and TL-3) based on stage and risk factors such as disease bulk and erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) levels, as defined in the recent international EuroNet pHL-C2 study.

Typically patients are selected for radiotherapy if their disease demonstrates an inadequate response on 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose (18F-FDG) positron emission tomography computed tomography (PET-CT) early response reassessment after initial chemotherapy (2 cycles of OEPA).¹⁴ An involved-site approach encompassing all sites initially involved is recommended, with an additional boost recommended for TL-2 and TL-3 patients if there is residual avid disease at the end of chemotherapy on the late-response assessment FDG PET-CT scan.

The EuroNet pHL-C2 phase III trial investigated a strategy of chemotherapy intensification (DECOPDAC) and response-adapted radiotherapy strategy for TL-2 and TL-3 patients. Only FDG PET-positive sites of disease at the end of chemotherapy (late-response assessment) are irradiated to a dose of 28.8 Gy in 16 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily over 3.5 weeks. The results of this trial are expected in the next 6–12 months and if positive the experimental radiotherapy strategy will be adopted as the standard of care for patients receiving DECOPDAC chemotherapy.



Given the current risk-stratified approach, which looks to limit the use of radiotherapy as part of initial treatment, many patients who relapse may never have received radiotherapy before or may relapse at sites previously not irradiated. For these patients, radiotherapy should be considered as part of the relapsed salvage treatment strategy, but this should be carefully tailored taking into consideration any previous radiotherapy and the potential toxicity from the required involved-site radiotherapy.¹⁵

Recommendations

Hodgkin lymphoma: upfront treatment of initial involved sites:

• 19.8 Gy in 11 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily over 2.5 weeks (Level B)

Hodgkin lymphoma: residual FDG-avid disease following completion of chemotherapy:

• Boost of 10 Gy in 5 fractions of 2 Gy daily over 1 week (Level B)

Refractory/relapsed Hodgkin lymphoma at radiotherapy naive sites:

• 30.6 Gy in 17 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily over 3.5 weeks (Level B)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴

Neuroblastoma

Patients with neuroblastoma are risk-stratified at presentation by age, stage and molecular pathology. External beam radiotherapy to the primary tumour bed is indicated for all patients with high-risk (including metastatic) disease and selected patients with intermediate-risk disease. The intent is to maximise the probability of local tumour control following induction chemotherapy, surgical resection of the primary tumour and high-dose chemotherapy.¹⁶⁻¹⁸ The role of dose escalation to 36 Gy in the context of macroscopic residual disease is currently under investigation within the SIOPEN HR-NBL2 phase III international trial.

Recommendations

Neuroblastoma: postoperative radiotherapy to the tumour bed:

- 21 Gy in 14 fractions of 1.5 Gy daily over 2.5 weeks (Level B) or
- 21.6 Gy in 12 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily over 2.5 weeks (Level B)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴

Wilms' tumour (nephroblastoma)

In Europe, the International Society of Paediatric Oncology (SIOP) UMBRELLA study approach utilises preoperative chemotherapy to 'downstage' the primary and reduce the surgical morbidity, the risk of tumour rupture at surgery and the number who require adjuvant flank radiotherapy. After 6 weeks of initial preoperative actinomycin-D and vincristine (VA) chemotherapy, patients proceed to delayed nephrectomy. Postoperative adjuvant therapy is based on postoperative pathological staging and allocation of risk status (good risk versus intermediate risk versus poor risk histology).

Postoperative chemotherapy again uses vincristine, actinomycin-D, with the duration and the requirement for other drugs dependent upon the staging and risk grouping.

Postoperative flank radiotherapy is employed for stage III patients, including those with incompletely resected primary tumours, pre- or perioperative tumour rupture or histologically involved lymph nodes. Patients with gross pre- or perioperative tumour rupture or disseminated intra-abdominal disease should receive whole-abdominal and pelvic radiotherapy.¹⁹ Patients with lung metastases who do not achieve a complete response to chemotherapy should receive whole-lung radiotherapy.²⁰

Recommendations

Wilms' tumour: postoperative radiotherapy to flank:

- Intermediate risk: 14.4 Gy in 8 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily over 1.5 weeks (Level B)
- High risk, stage II (except blastemal subtype*) and stage III (all histology): 25.2 Gy in 14 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily over 2.5 weeks (Level B)
- Boost to macroscopic residual disease after surgery (intermediate risk): delivering a total dose of 25.2 Gy in 14 fractions of 1.8 Gy per fraction (or equivalent), for example an additional 10.8 Gy in 6 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily over 1.5 weeks after receiving 14.4 Gy (Level B)
- Boost to macroscopic residual disease after surgery (high risk): delivering a total dose of 36 Gy in 20 fractions of 1.8 Gy per fraction (or equivalent), for example an additional 10.8 Gy in 6 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily over 1.5 weeks after receiving 25.2 Gy (Level B)

Wilms' tumour: whole-abdominal and pelvic radiotherapy:

Depending upon histopathological risk group:

- Intermediate risk: 15 Gy in 10 fractions of 1.5 Gy daily over 2 weeks (Level B)
- **High risk:** 19.5 Gy in 13 fractions of 1.5 Gy daily over 2.5 weeks (Level B) ± boost to flank delivering a total dose of 25.2 Gy in 14 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily over 2.5 weeks (or equivalent)

*The poor prognosis of blastemal subtype is caused by metastases and not by increased local recurrence, therefore radiotherapy to primary tumour bed in stage II disease is not recommended.



Recommendations (contd)

Wilms' tumour: whole-lung radiotherapy:

- Intermediate risk: 12 Gy in 8 fractions of 1.5 Gy daily over 1.5 weeks (Level B)
- High risk: 15 Gy in 10 fractions of 1.5 Gy daily over 2 weeks (Level B)
- For infants (<1 year) a lower dose per fraction (1.2–1.5 Gy daily) may be considered on an individualised basis. If multiple areas require treatment, simultaneous treatment to avoid overlap of fields is preferable.

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴

Rhabdomyosarcoma (RMS)

The basis of treatment involves multimodality treatment with induction chemotherapy followed by local therapy utilising surgery and/or radiotherapy.^{21–24} Treatment is stratified according to risk groups based on parameters such as PAXO1 fusion gene status (positive versus negative), stage of disease, age and primary tumour site. High-risk RMS are treated with 9 cycles of induction ifosfamide, vincristine and actinomycin-D (IVA) chemotherapy, and very high risk (including metastatic disease) receive similar chemotherapy with 4 cycles also incorporating doxorubicin; both high-risk and very high-risk patients receive low-dose maintenance chemotherapy (6 months and 12 months respectively) after the completion of the induction phase. Standard-risk patients receive only 5 cycles of IVA and 4 cycles of VA if they are also having radiotherapy, and patients in the low-risk category, with localised tumours at a favourable site that are microscopically completely resected, receive only 8 cycles of actinomycin-D and vincristine chemotherapy for 22 weeks.^{18–20}

It is important to ensure that the choice of local therapy offers the most optimal local control, carefully balanced with the risk of long-term effects in the decision-making process. The benefits of dose escalation for tumours at unfavourable sites and in adults (both adjuvant and primary radiotherapy) are being explored in the FaR-RMS trial currently open to recruitment.

Brachytherapy may be considered for very carefully selected patients such as those with localised embryonal bladder/prostate and female genital tract RMS.^{25,26} Such patients should be referred to a specialist centre with experience in this type of treatment.

In the metastatic setting, radical irradiation of all metastatic sites may confer a survival advantage in selected patients, usually with only 1 or 2 metastatic sites.²⁷ The role of metastatic radiotherapy in the wider setting is currently being investigated within the FaR-RMS trial.



Unresectable disease, definitive radiotherapy:

- 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily over 5.5 weeks, if incomplete response, given at 2 dose levels: 41.4 Gy in 23 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily to disease at presentation, followed by 9 Gy in 5 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily boost to residual disease (Level B)
- Can consider boost, delivering a total dose of 55.8 Gy in 31 fractions (an additional 5.4 Gy in 3 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily) for large tumours with poor response to induction chemotherapy (Level B)

or

• 41.4 Gy in 23 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily over 4.5 weeks following complete response to induction chemotherapy (Level B)

Resectable disease, pre- or postoperative radiotherapy:

- 41.4 Gy in 23 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily over 4.5 weeks
- Boost to macroscopic residual disease after surgery: delivering a total dose of 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions of 1.8 Gy per fraction (or equivalent), for example an additional 9 Gy in 5 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily over 1 week after receiving 41.4 Gy (Level B)

Definitive radiotherapy for metastatic sites:

- Bone, nodal and soft-tissue metastases: 41.4 Gy in 23 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily (or equivalent)
- Whole-lung radiotherapy: 15 Gy in 10 fractions of 1.5 Gy daily
- Whole-abdominal and pelvic radiotherapy: 24 Gy in 16 fractions of 1.5 Gy daily (Level B)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴

Ewing sarcoma

Initial treatment is with chemotherapy in conjunction with the appropriate use of local therapy. The decision as to whether surgery, radiotherapy or both should be employed for local control of the primary tumour demands careful multidisciplinary discussion. In previous series, patients' survival has been better following local treatment with surgery compared with radiotherapy alone. However, these series are confounded by selection bias.^{28,29} In some situations, definitive radiotherapy may be more appropriate than surgery, particularly in cases requiring extensive resection at pelvic or spinal locations.^{30,31}

The upcoming Inter-Ewing-1 trial will evaluate the role of dose escalation for definitive radiotherapy and the optimal dose for postoperative radiotherapy. Centres are encouraged to consider patients for the trial as appropriate when the trial is open to recruitment.



Preoperative radiotherapy:

- 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily over 5.5 weeks (Level B)
- 45 Gy in 25 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily over 5 weeks can be considered, particularly if there are concerns about organ tolerance or wound healing

Postoperative radiotherapy:

• 54 Gy in 30 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily over 6 weeks, delivered in 2 phases: 45 Gy in 25 fractions followed by a boost of 9 Gy in 5 fractions (Level B)

Definitive radiotherapy:

- 54 Gy in 30 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily
- A boost of 5.4 Gy in 3 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily sequentially, or delivering up to 60 Gy as a simultaneous integrated boost may be considered (Level B)

Whole-lung radiotherapy:

- <14 years of age: 15 Gy in 10 fractions of 1.5 Gy daily over 2 weeks</p>
- ≥14 years of age: 18 Gy in 12 fractions of 1.5 Gy over 2.5 weeks (Level B)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴

Central nervous system tumours

Low-grade glioma

These comprise the most common group of paediatric CNS tumours. Modern management is based on the recognition that low-grade gliomas may undergo long periods of 'quiescence' even when not completely resected. The current 5-year survival rate is 85%, but late relapse is not uncommon.

Treatment is initially with surgical resection, as complete as is considered safe. Systemic therapy is increasingly being used. Decision on the sequencing of systemic therapy and timing of radiotherapy should be made on an individualised basis based on burden of symptoms, age, site and extent of tumour. In general, radiotherapy is delayed or avoided where possible, especially in NF1 and young patients.³²⁻³⁴



Low-grade glioma:

• 50.4–54 Gy in 28–30 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily over 5.5–6 weeks (Level B)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴

For patients who present with spinal cord primary low-grade glioma, the management policy will be similar.

Recommendation

Low-grade spinal glioma:

• 50.1–50.4 Gy in 28–30 fractions of 1.67–1.8 Gy daily over 5.5–6 weeks (Level B)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴

High-grade glioma

Unlike in adults, high-grade gliomas are uncommon in childhood. However, in common with adults, the outlook is generally poor. Survival is currently approximately 20% at 5 years. Current management is based on surgical resection and postoperative chemoradiotherapy with temozolomide.²⁴

Diffuse midline gliomas (DMG), H3 K27M-mutant, arising in the midbrain, pons, medulla and thalami, are considered high-grade glioma. Their prognosis is very poor, particularly those arising in the brainstem, with a median survival of approximately 9 months and very few long-term survivors.³⁵ Urgent upfront radiotherapy is the mainstay of treatment for these patients for symptom control. Hypofractionation can be used to minimise time spent on treatment for patients with brainstem tumours and those with poor performance status.³⁶ Reirradiation can be considered if there has been a time interval (usually at least 6 months) between the end of initial radiotherapy treatment and disease progression.³⁷
Paediatric cancer

Recommendations

High-grade glioma:

• 54–59.4 Gy in 30–33 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily over 6 weeks (Level B)

Diffuse midline glioma of the brainstem:

• 54 Gy in 30 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily over 6 weeks (Level B)

or

• 39 Gy in 13 fractions of 3 Gy daily over 2.5 weeks (Level B)

Diffuse midline glioma of the brainstem - reirradiation:

• 20 Gy in 10 fractions of 2 Gy daily given over 2 weeks (Level B)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴

Ependymoma

The overall 5-year survival rate is approximately 50–60%. Prognostic factors include tumour grade and extent of resection, with the predominant site of relapse within the local tumour bed. The majority of collaborative groups now recommend the use of a higher radiotherapy dose (59.4 Gy with highly conformal techniques) taking care to limit the dose to the brainstem and other adjacent critical structures.^{38,39}

Recommendations

Intracranial ependymoma:

- 59.4 Gy in 33 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily over 6.5 weeks (Level B)
- 54 Gy in 30 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily over 6 weeks in very young children <18 months, poor neurological status or multiple surgeries

Spinal ependymoma:

• 50.4–54 Gy in 28–30 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily over 5.5–6 weeks (Level B)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴

11 Padiatric cancer

Medulloblastoma

Medulloblastoma is an embryonal tumour of the CNS, which arises in the cerebellum. It is notable for its propensity for metastatic spread via the craniospinal fluid (CSF) and its radiosensitivity. Embryonal tumours can arise elsewhere in the CNS and are now referred to as CNS embryonal tumours, with those arising in the pineal area defined as pineoblastoma.

Standard therapy for medulloblastoma, other CNS embryonal tumours and pineoblastoma is initial maximal surgical resection followed by craniospinal radiotherapy and a 'boost' to the primary site.

Current studies are based on the allocation of risk status.^{40,41} Standard-risk disease refers to non-metastatic medulloblastoma with complete or near complete surgical resection.

High-risk disease includes patients with medulloblastoma with large cell histology, metastases or postsurgical residue.

It is standard practice to employ adjuvant chemotherapy (vincristine, CCNU, cisplatin and/ or cyclophosphamide, vincristine) following radiotherapy for patients with standard-risk and high-risk disease, although more intensive chemotherapy is utilised in some high-risk disease protocols, including one of the arms in the current SIOP high-risk medulloblastoma study.⁴²⁻⁴⁴

Recommendations

Medulloblastoma, CNS embryonal tumours and pineoblastoma:

Standard-risk craniospinal:

• 23.4 Gy in 13 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily over 2.5 weeks (Level B) followed by boost of 30.6 Gy in 17 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily in 3.5 weeks to tumour bed or whole posterior fossa to a total dose of 54 Gy (Level B)

High-risk craniospinal:

- 36.0 Gy in 20 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily over 4 weeks (Level B)
- 39.6 Gy in 22 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily over 4.5 weeks (St Jude's regimen for M2–3) (Level B)
- Followed by boost to primary site to a total of 54.0–55.8 Gy in fractions of 1.8 Gy daily (Level B)
- Boost to sites of metastases to a total of 45–50.4 Gy (spinal) and 54–55.8 Gy (intracranial) fractions of 1.8 Gy daily (Level B)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴

Intracranial germ cell tumours

Intracranial germ cell tumours (GCT) account for approximately 30% of paediatric GCT. Localised disease for both germinoma and non-germinoma GCT refers to unifocal or bifocal disease involving only the pineal and/or the pituitary/suprasellar region.



For germinoma, craniospinal radiotherapy is no longer the standard of care for all stages, with initial chemotherapy and whole-ventricular radiotherapy \pm boost now offered to patients with localised disease.⁴⁵

Patients with non-germinoma receive platinum-based chemotherapy and radiotherapy, either whole-ventricular radiotherapy with focal boost for non-metastatic disease⁴⁶ or craniospinal for metastatic disease.⁴⁷

Recommendations

Germinoma, post-chemotherapy, localised disease – whole-ventricular radiotherapy:

- 24 Gy in 15 fractions of 1.6 Gy daily over 3 weeks
- Bifocal tumours, and those localised to suprasellar or pineal regions not achieving complete radiological response (CR) with induction chemotherapy, should receive a further boost to residual disease of 16 Gy in 10 fractions of 1.6 Gy daily over 2 weeks, delivering a total dose of 40 Gy (Level B)

Germinoma, localised with no chemotherapy or metastatic disease – craniospinal radiotherapy:

• 24 Gy in 15 fractions of 1.6 Gy daily over 3 weeks followed by boost to primary and metastatic sites of 16 Gy in 10 daily fractions of 1.6 Gy daily over 2 weeks (Level B)

Non-germinomatous GCT, localised disease - whole-ventricular radiotherapy:

- 24 Gy in 15 fractions of 1.6 Gy daily over 3 weeks followed by a boost to primary tumour to a total dose of 54 Gy, in fractions not exceeding 1.8 Gy daily (Level B)
- A simultaneous integrated boost approach can be used to treat the primary site(s) to 27 Gy in 15 fractions (1.8 Gy daily) concurrently with the whole ventricles receiving 24 Gy in 15 fractions (1.6 Gy daily). This is followed by a boost of 27 Gy in 15 fractions to the primary site(s) only, with a total dose to the primary site(s) of 54 Gy in 30 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily over 6 weeks.

Non-germinomatous GCT, meningeal metastases – craniospinal radiotherapy:

- 30 Gy in 20 fractions of 1.5 Gy daily over 4 weeks (Level B). Boost to primary and metastatic sites of 24 Gy in 15 fractions (intracranial) or 20.8 Gy in 13 fractions (spinal) of 1.6 Gy daily over 2.5–3 weeks, delivering a total dose of 54 Gy intracranially and 50.8 Gy to involved spinal sites
- If more than two-thirds of spine is involved with macroscopic disease, the total dose should be limited to 45 Gy (ie additional boost of 15 Gy in 10 fractions of 1.5 Gy daily over 2 weeks)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴



Craniopharyngioma

Radiotherapy is usually recommended when tumour resection is incomplete. In select cases where morbidity of radiation outweighs the benefits, such as in very young children with minimal residual disease, it may be appropriate to defer radiotherapy until there is clear tumour progression.⁴⁸ Experience with doses of 50–54 Gy, with fraction sizes not exceeding 1.8 Gy daily, have been reported internationally.^{49,50} However, there remains a lack of evidence to demonstrate that a higher radiation dose improves local control rate. Given concern over the risk of optic neuropathy and brainstem toxicity, particularly for young patients with this type of benign tumour, a cautious approach to treat to a dose of 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions of 1.8 Gy daily over 5.5 weeks may be favoured.

Recommendation

• 50.1–54 Gy in 28–30 fractions of 1.67–1.8 Gy daily over 5.5–6 weeks (Level B)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴

Further reading

- i. Boterberg T, Dieckmann K, Gaze M (eds). Radiotherapy and the cancers of children, teenagers and young adults: radiotherapy in practice. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2020.
- ii. Constine LS, Tarbell NJ, Halperin EC (eds). *Pediatric radiation oncology*. 6th revised edition. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2016.
- iii. Mandeville HC. Principles of paediatric radiation oncology (chapter 21). In: P Hoskin. *External beam therapy*. Third edition. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2019.
- Lavan NA, Saran FH, Oelfke U, Mandeville HC. Adopting advanced radiotherapy techniques in the treatment of paediatric extracranial malignancies: challenges and future directions. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* 2019 Jan; 31(1): 50–57. doi:10.1016/j.clon.2018.08.020.
- ii. Thorp N, Taylor RE. Management of central nervous system tumours in children. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* 2014; **26**(7): 438–445.
- iii. www.cclg.org.uk/member-area/treatment-guidelines

References

- 1. Gaze MN. Good practice guide for paediatric radiotherapy. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 2019; 31(3): 139-41.
- 2. Pui CH, Howard SC. Current management and challenges of malignant disease in the CNS in paediatric leukaemia. *Lancet Oncol* 2008; **9**(3): 257–68.
- 3. CCLG Relapsed ALL guideline. 2021 (v1.3 Jan 2022). www.cclg.org.uk/member-area/treatment-guidelines/leukaemias
- www.cebm.ox.ac.uk/resources/levels-of-evidence/oxford-centre-for-evidence-based-medicine-levels-ofevidence-march-2009 (last accessed 28/11/2023).
- 5. Bowman WP, Aur RJ, Hustu HO, Rivera G. Isolated testicular relapse in acute lymphocytic leukemia of childhood: categories and influence on survival. *J Clin Oncol* 1984; **2**(8): 924–9.

- Peters C, Dalle JH, Locatelli F et al. Total body irradiation or chemotherapy conditioning in childhood ALL: a multinational, randomized, noninferiority phase III study. J Clin Oncol 2021; 39(4): 295–307.
- Hoeben BAW, Pazos M, Seravalli E et al. ESTRO ACROP and SIOPE recommendations for myeloablative total body irradiation in children. *Radiother Oncol* 2022; 173: 119–33.
- Jones D. ICRU report 50. Prescribing, recording and reporting photon beam therapy. *Med Phys* 1994; 21(6): 833–4.
- Cosset JM, Girinsky T, Malaise E, Chaillet MP, Dutreix J. Clinical basis for TBI fractionation. *Radiother Oncol* 1990; 18 Suppl 1: 60–7.
- Gerrard GE, Vail A, Taylor RE *et al*. Toxicity and dosimetry of fractionated total body irradiation prior to allogeneic bone marrow transplantation using a straightforward radiotherapy technique. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* 1998; **10**(6): 379–83.
- Ruhl U, Albrecht M, Dieckmann K et al. Response-adapted radiotherapy in the treatment of pediatric Hodgkin's disease: an interim report at 5 years of the German GPOH-HD 95 trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2001; 51(5): 1209–18.
- Frew JA, Lewis J, Lucraft HH. The management of children with lymphomas. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* 2013; 25(1): 11–8.
- 13. Mauz-Korholz C, Metzger ML, Kelly KM et al. Pediatric Hodgkin lymphoma. J Clin Oncol 2015; 33(27): 2975-85.
- 14. Mauz-Korholz C, Landman-Parker J, Balwierz W et al. Response-adapted omission of radiotherapy and comparison of consolidation chemotherapy in children and adolescents with intermediate-stage and advanced-stage classical Hodgkin lymphoma (EuroNet-PHL-C1): a titration study with an open-label, embedded, multinational, non-inferiority, randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2022; 23(1): 125–37.
- 15. Daw S, Hasenclever D, Mascarin M et al. Risk and response adapted treatment guidelines for managing first relapsed and refractory classical Hodgkin lymphoma in children and young people. Recommendations from the EuroNet Pediatric Hodgkin Lymphoma Group. *Hemasphere* 2020; 4(1): e329.
- 16. Wolden SL, Gollamudi SV, Kushner BH *et al*. Local control with multimodality therapy for stage 4 neuroblastoma. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2000; **46**(4): 969–74.
- 17. Gatcombe HG, Marcus RB Jr, Katzenstein HM, Tighiouart M, Esiashvili N. Excellent local control from radiation therapy for high-risk neuroblastoma. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2009; **74**(5): 1549–54.
- 18. Robbins JR, Krasin MJ, Pai Panandiker AS *et al*. Radiation therapy as part of local control of metastatic neuroblastoma: the St Jude Children's Research Hospital experience. *J Pediatr Surg* 2010; **45**(4): 678–86.
- Kalapurakal JA, Dome JS, Perlman EJ et al. Management of Wilms' tumour: current practice and future goals. Lancet Oncol 2004; 5(1): 37–46.
- 20. Nicolin G, Taylor R, Baughan C *et al.* Outcome after pulmonary radiotherapy in Wilms' tumor patients with pulmonary metastases at diagnosis: a UK Children's Cancer Study Group, Wilms' Tumour Working Group study. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2008; **70**(1): 175–80.
- Terezakis SA, Wharam MD. Radiotherapy for rhabdomyosarcoma: indications and outcome. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 2013; 25(1): 27–35.
- 22. Mandeville HC. Radiotherapy in the management of childhood rhabdomyosarcoma. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* 2019; **31**(7): 462–70.
- Michalski JM, Meza J, Breneman JC et al. Influence of radiation therapy parameters on outcome in children treated with radiation therapy for localized parameningeal rhabdomyosarcoma in Intergroup Rhabdomyosarcoma Study Group trials II through IV. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2004; 59(4): 1027–38.
- 24. Raney RB, Walterhouse DO, Meza JL *et al.* Results of the Intergroup Rhabdomyosarcoma Study Group D9602 protocol, using vincristine and dactinomycin with or without cyclophosphamide and radiation therapy, for newly diagnosed patients with low-risk embryonal rhabdomyosarcoma: a report from the Soft Tissue Sarcoma Committee of the Children's Oncology Group. *J Clin Oncol* 2011; **29**(10): 1312–8.
- 25. Lobo S, Gaze MN, Slater O et al. Bladder function after conservative surgery and high-dose rate brachytherapy for bladder-prostate rhabdomyosarcoma. *Pediatr Blood Cancer* 2022; **69**(8): e29574.



- 26. Gaze MN, Smeulders N, Ackwerh R *et al.* A national referral service for paediatric brachytherapy: an evolving practice and outcomes over 13 years. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* 2023 Apr; **35**(4): 237–244.
- 27. Cameron AL, Elze MC, Casanova M et al. The impact of radiation therapy in children and adolescents with metastatic rhabdomyosarcoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2021; **111**(4): 968–78.
- Bolling T, Hardes J, Dirksen U. Management of bone tumours in paediatric oncology. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* 2013; 25(1): 19–26.
- Lopez JL, Cabrera P, Ordonez R et al. Role of radiation therapy in the multidisciplinary management of Ewing's sarcoma of bone in pediatric patients: an effective treatment for local control. *Rep Pract Oncol Radiother* 2011; 16(3): 103–9.
- Uezono H, Indelicato DJ, Rotondo RL et al. Treatment outcomes after proton therapy for Ewing sarcoma of the pelvis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2020; 107(5): 974–81.
- Andreou D, Ranft A, Gosheger G et al. Which factors are associated with local control and survival of patients with localized pelvic Ewing's sarcoma? A retrospective analysis of data from the Euro-EWING99 trial. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2020; 478(2): 290–302.
- 32. Merchant TE, Kun LE, Wu S, Xiong X, Sanford RA, Boop FA. Phase II trial of conformal radiation therapy for pediatric low-grade glioma. *J Clin Oncol* 2009; **27**(22): 3598–604.
- Gnekow AK, Kandels D, Tilburg CV et al. SIOP-E-BTG and GPOH guidelines for diagnosis and treatment of children and adolescents with low grade glioma. Klin Padiatr 2019; 231(3): 107–35.
- 34. CCLG guidelines for the diagnosis and management of paediatric and adolescent low-grade glioma. www.cclg.org.uk/member-area/treatment-guidelines/CNS-radiotherapy (accessed 10 Jan 2023).
- 35. Karremann M, Gielen GH, Hoffmann M *et al.* Diffuse high-grade gliomas with H3 K27M mutations carry a dismal prognosis independent of tumor location. *Neuro Oncol* 2018; **20**(1): 123–31.
- Janssens GO, Jansen MH, Lauwers SJ et al. Hypofractionation vs conventional radiation therapy for newly diagnosed diffuse intrinsic pontine glioma: a matched-cohort analysis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2013; 85(2): 315–20.
- 37. Janssens GO, Gandola L, Bolle S et al. Survival benefit for patients with diffuse intrinsic pontine glioma (DIPG) undergoing re-irradiation at first progression: a matched-cohort analysis on behalf of the SIOP-E-HGG/DIPG working group. Eur J Cancer 2017; 73: 38–47.
- Merchant TE, Li C, Xiong X, Kun LE, Boop FA, Sanford RA. Conformal radiotherapy after surgery for paediatric ependymoma: a prospective study. *Lancet Oncol* 2009; 10(3): 258–66.
- 39. Ruda R, Reifenberger G, Frappaz D *et al*. EANO guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of ependymal tumors. *Neuro Oncol* 2018; **20**(4): 445–56.
- 40. Bailey S, Andre N, Gandola L, Massimino M, Rutkowski S, Clifford SC. Clinical trials in high-risk medulloblastoma: evolution of the SIOP-Europe HR-MB trial. *Cancers (Basel)* 2022; **14**(2).
- 41. Mynarek M, Milde T, Padovani L et al. SIOP PNET5 MB trial: history and concept of a molecularly stratified clinical trial of risk-adapted therapies for standard-risk medulloblastoma. *Cancers (Basel)* 2021; **13**(23).
- 42. Packer RJ, Gajjar A, Vezina G et al. Phase III study of craniospinal radiation therapy followed by adjuvant chemotherapy for newly diagnosed average-risk medulloblastoma. J Clin Oncol 2006; **24**(25): 4202–8.
- 43. Lannering B, Rutkowski S, Doz F *et al.* Hyperfractionated versus conventional radiotherapy followed by chemotherapy in standard-risk medulloblastoma: results from the randomized multicenter HIT-SIOP PNET 4 trial. *J Clin Oncol* 2012; **30**(26): 3187–93.
- 44. Gajjar A, Chintagumpala M, Ashley D *et al.* Risk-adapted craniospinal radiotherapy followed by highdose chemotherapy and stem-cell rescue in children with newly diagnosed medulloblastoma (St Jude medulloblastoma-96): long-term results from a prospective, multicentre trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2006; 7(10): 813–20.



- 45. Calaminus G, Kortmann R, Worch J *et al.* SIOP CNS GCT 96: final report of outcome of a prospective, multinational nonrandomized trial for children and adults with intracranial germinoma, comparing craniospinal irradiation alone with chemotherapy followed by focal primary site irradiation for patients with localized disease. *Neuro Oncol* 2013; **15**(6): 788–96.
- Fangusaro J, Wu S, MacDonald S *et al*. Phase II trial of response-based radiation therapy for patients with localized CNS nongerminomatous germ cell tumors: a Children's Oncology Group study. *J Clin Oncol* 2019; 37(34): 3283–90.
- 47. Murray MJ, Bartels U, Nishikawa R, Fangusaro J, Matsutani M, Nicholson JC. Consensus on the management of intracranial germ-cell tumours. *Lancet Oncol* 2015; **16**(9): e470-e7.
- 48. www.cclg.org.uk/guidelines/endocrine/craniopharyngioma (accessed 18/4/23).
- 49. Merchant TE, Kun LE, Hua CH et al. Disease control after reduced volume conformal and intensity modulated radiation therapy for childhood craniopharyngioma. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2013; **85**(4): e187–92.
- 50. Bishop AJ, Greenfield B, Mahajan A *et al.* Proton beam therapy versus conformal photon radiation therapy for childhood craniopharyngioma: multi-institutional analysis of outcomes, cyst dynamics, and toxicity. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2014; **90**(2): 354–61.

Acknowledgements

With thanks to lead authors Dr Henry Mandeville (The Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust) and Dr Pei Lim (University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust) for reviewing and updating this chapter of the guidance.

12

Penile cancer

Background

Squamous cell carcinoma of the penis is rare; treatment needs to consider both the primary lesion and the potential for lymphatic dissemination. Bilateral lymph node involvement is common due to the rich penile lymphatic drainage. Lymph node spread generally occurs in a predictable manner, involving superficial inguinal, then deep inguinal and then pelvic lymph nodes.^{1,2} Approximately 20–30% of patients with positive inguinal nodes have positive pelvic nodes.¹ Lymph node status is a major prognostic factor for penile cancer.¹ Surgery is the mainstay of locoregional treatment.³ There is a lack of high-level evidence to guide management.

Radical radiotherapy for primary lesion

Primary disease is rarely managed non-surgically, with the development of penile-preserving and reconstruction surgical techniques and the need for surgical lymph node management.⁴ Radiotherapy remains an effective penile-sparing alterative and may be delivered with external beam radiotherapy (EBRT) with tissue-equivalent bolus (Level 3) or brachytherapy (Level 3).⁵ Brachytherapy provides good control rates with acceptable morbidity and can be considered for T1/2 and selected T3 lesions according to the 2013 American Brachytherapy Society–Groupe Européen de Curiethérapie–European Society of Therapeutic Radiation Oncology (ABS–GEC–ESTRO) guidelines.^{6,7,8,9} Only a limited number of series have reported outcomes with EBRT; a higher risk of local failure has been associated with a total dose <60 Gray (Gy) (dose per fraction <2 Gy, treatment time >45 days), T3 or greater disease and higher tumour grade.^{10–14}

Lymph nodes are managed with either a sentinel lymph node biopsy or dissection.⁴ Elective irradiation of clinically and radiologically NO inguinal lymph nodes is of unproven efficacy and is not performed.⁴

If a primary penile cancer is treated non-surgically, either interstitial brachytherapy or EBRT are appropriate.

Recommendations

- 50 Gy in 16 fractions over 3 weeks (Grade C)¹¹
- 55 Gy in 20 fractions over 4 weeks (Grade D)
- 60 Gy in 30 fractions over 6 weeks (Grade C)¹⁰
- 66 Gy in 33 fractions over 6.5 weeks (Grade C)¹⁰
- 70 Gy in 35 fractions over 7 weeks (Grade C)¹⁵

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁵

12 Penile cancer

Unresectable primary and lymph node disease or locoregionally recurrent tumour

For patients with resectable primary and lymph node disease, primary surgery is the standard approach. For unresectable disease, there is interest in the use of multimodality treatment, although there is no standard approach. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy is an option with a view to downstaging the disease to facilitate surgery.^{16,17} The use of either neoadjuvant or definitive radiotherapy or radiotherapy with concomitant chemotherapy are alternative approaches.⁴ The radiotherapy target volume is individualised, but may include inguinal and pelvic lymph node regions with a boost to sites of gross disease using intensity-modulated radiotherapy (IMRT). Combining radiotherapy with concurrent chemotherapy can be considered, although there is no direct evidence to support the combination in penile cancer (Level 4).⁵

Recommendations

Dose to pelvis/inguinal regions:

- 45–50 Gy in 25 fractions over 5 weeks (Grade D)
- 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions over 5.5 weeks (Grade D)
- 45 Gy in 20 fractions over 4 weeks (Grade D)
- Boost dose to gross disease: up to a total of 55–66 Gy depending on tumour volume/ site (Grade D)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁵

Adjuvant radiotherapy

The current European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO) guidelines recommendation for patients with mobile inguinal lymph nodes is an inguinal dissection with a subsequent pelvic lymph node dissection if ≥ 2 inguinal lymph nodes are positive or in the presence of extracapsular spread (ECS).⁴

The rationale for considering adjuvant radiotherapy is provided by the observation of a significant rate of lymph node recurrence in patients treated with lymphadenectomy with positive lymph nodes recurrence rates varying between 25% and 77%^{5,18-20} and extrapolation from other HPV-driven squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) tumour sites. The role of adjuvant radiotherapy in penile cancer is controversial based on limited data (Level 2, Grade D) due to rarity of this disease and the lack of randomised controlled trial data.

Two previous series have reported on the use of adjuvant radiotherapy for ≥ 2 lymph nodes or ECS^{21,22} using doses of 45–57 Gy over 20–25 fractions. In both series, outcomes were superior to those that reported on ECS without adjuvant radiotherapy.²

A recent UK multi-institutional case series of adjuvant radiotherapy of 146 patients with pN3 disease reported its outcomes.²³ The ipsilateral pelvis received radiotherapy if extranodal extension was present following pelvic lymph node dissection or if pelvic lymph node dissection was not performed. Radiotherapy doses used were 45–54 Gy over 20–27 fractions and typically given in combination with weekly low-dose platinum-based chemotherapy.

12 Penile cancer

Rates of 5-year recurrence-free survival, cancer-specific survival and overall survival were better than previously documented for pN3 disease without adjuvant treatment.²³

A multi-institutional retrospective analysis was carried out to review the benefit of adjuvant radiotherapy in addition to adjuvant chemotherapy after inguinal surgery for penile cancer.²⁴ This study looked at 93 patients across 9 centres and reported longer cancer-specific survival with additional radiotherapy (28.5%) compared with adjuvant chemotherapy alone (16.2%, p=0.036).²⁴ Further prospective studies would be required to confirm these findings.

A current trial of chemoradiation (International Penile Advanced Cancer Trial, InPACT, NCT02305654) is still recruiting and aims to determine prospectively the relative benefits and sequencing of surgery, chemotherapy and chemoradiotherapy in the management of patients with inguinal lymph node positive penile cancer.^{25,26}

Recommendations

Inguinal dose:

- 54 Gy in 25 fractions over 5 weeks²¹
- Boost sites of residual disease to 57 Gy (Grade D)

Pelvic dose:

• 45 Gy in 25 fractions over 5 weeks; consider boost up to 54 Gy in 25 fractions to sites of residual disease or external iliac lymph nodes in high-risk patients (Grade D)

or

• 45 Gy in 20 fractions over 4 weeks to pelvis/inguinal regions with 10–12 Gy in 5-fraction boost (Grade D)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁵

References

- 1. Horenblas S. Lymphadenectomy for squamous cell carcinoma of the penis. Part 2: the role and technique of lymph node dissection. *BJU Int* 2001; **88**(5): 473–483.
- 2. Pandey D, Mahajan V, Kannan RR. Prognostic factors in node-positive carcinoma of the penis. *J Surg Oncol* 2006; **93**(2): 133–138.
- 3. Pizzocaro G, Algaba F, Horenblas S et al. EAU penile cancer guidelines 2009. Eur Urol 2010; 57(6): 1002–1012.
- Van Poppel H, Watkin NA, Osanto S et al. Penile cancer: ESMO clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 2013; 24(Suppl 6): vi115–vi124.
- 5. www.cebm.ox.ac.uk/resources/levels-of-evidence/oxford-centre-for-evidence-based-medicine-levels-of-evidence-march-2009 (last accessed 28/11/2023).
- Crook J, Ma C, Grimard L. Radiation therapy in the management of the primary penile tumor: an update. World J Urol 2009; 27(2): 189–196.
- Crook JM, Haie-Meder C, Demanes DJ et al. American Brachytherapy Society-Groupe Européen de Curiethérapie–European Society of Therapeutic Radiation Oncology (ABS-GEC-ESTRO) consensus statement for penile brachytherapy. Brachytherapy 2013; 12(3): 191–198.

12 Penile cancer

- 8. de Crevoisier R, Slimane K, Sanfilippo N *et al*. Long-term results of brachytherapy for carcinoma of the penis confined to the glans (N- or NX). *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2009; **74**(4): 1150–6.
- Dee EC, Fefer M, Hammoudeh L et al. Surface applicator high-dose-rate fractionated brachytherapy for superficial cancers of the penis: a single-center case series and national database comparison. J Am Acad Dermatol 2021 Jan; 84(1): 168–172. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2020.04.041.
- 10. Zouhair A, Coucke PA, Jeanneret W *et al*. Radiation therapy alone or combined surgery and radiation therapy in squamous-cell carcinoma of the penis? *Eur J Cancer* 2001; **37**(2): 198–203.
- 11. Gotsadze D, Matveev B, Zak B, Mamaladze V. Is conservative organ-sparing treatment of penile carcinoma justified? *Eur Urol* 2000; **38**(3): 306–312.
- 12. Sarin R, Norman AR, Steel GG, Horwich A. Treatment results and prognostic factors in 101 men treated for squamous carcinoma of the penis. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 1997; **38**(4): 713–722.
- Azrif M, Logue JP, Swindell R, Cowan RA, Wylie JP, Livsey JE. External-beam radiotherapy in T1–2 NO penile carcinoma. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* 2006; 18(4): 320–325.
- Soria JC, Fizazi K, Piron D et al. Squamous cell carcinoma of the penis: multivariate analysis of prognostic factors and natural history in monocentric study with a conservative policy. Ann Oncol 1997; 8(11): 1089– 1098.
- 15. National Comprehensive Cancer Network. *NCCN clinical practice guidelines in oncology: penile cancer*. Version 2.2019. National Comprehensive Cancer Network, 2019.
- Pagliaro LC, Williams DL, Daliani D et al. Neoadjuvant paclitaxel, ifosfamide, and cisplatin chemotherapy for metastatic penile cancer: a phase II study. J Clin Oncol 2010; 28(24): 3851–3857.
- Nicholson S, Hall E, Harland SJ et al. Phase II trial of docetaxel, cisplatin and 5FU chemotherapy in locally advanced and metastatic penis cancer (CRUK/09/001). Br J Cancer 2013; 109(10): 2554–2559.
- 18. Culkin DJ, Beer TM. Advanced penile carcinoma. J Urol 2003; 170(2 Pt 1): 359-365.
- 19. Ozsahin M, Jichlinski P, Weber DC *et al*. Treatment of penile carcinoma: to cut or not to cut? *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2006; **66**(3): 674–679.
- Horenblas S, van Tinteren H, Delemarre JF et al. Squamous cell carcinoma of the penis. III. Treatment of regional lymph nodes. J Urol 1993; 149(3): 492–497.
- Franks KN, Kancherla K, Sethugavalar B, Whelan P, Eardley I, Kiltie AE. Radiotherapy for node positive penile cancer: experience of the Leeds teaching hospitals. J Urol 2011; 186(2): 524–529.
- Graafland NM, Moonen LM, van Boven HH, van Werkhoven E, Kerst JM, Horenblas S. Inguinal recurrence following therapeutic lymphadenectomy for node positive penile carcinoma: outcome and implications for management. J Urol 2011; 185(3): 888–893.
- 23. Ager M, Njoku K, Serra M et al. Long-term multicentre experience of adjuvant radiotherapy for pN3 squamous cell carcinoma of the penis. *BJU Int* 2021; **128**(4): 451–459. https://doi.org/10.1111/bju.15309
- 24. Li ZS, Li XY, Wang B *et al.* Radiotherapy plus chemotherapy versus chemotherapy alone in penile cancer patients with extracapsular nodal extension after inguinal lymph node surgery: a multi-institutional study. *World J Urol* 2021; **39**(1): 113–119. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00345-020-03179-y
- 25. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02305654 (accessed 3/10/16).
- Canter, DJ, Nicholson S, Watkin N, Hall E, Pettaway C. The International Penile Advanced Cancer Trial (InPACT): rationale and current status. *Eur Urol Focus* 2019; 5(5): 706–709. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euf.2019.05.010

Acknowledgements

With thanks to lead authors Dr Anna Tran (The Christie NHS Foundation Trust) and Dr Harshani Green (The Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust) for reviewing and updating this chapter of the guidance.

Background

Prostate cancer is a common malignancy, with 52,300 cases diagnosed annually in the UK.¹ Standard management for low-risk groups is surveillance. External beam radiotherapy (EBRT) is a non-surgical curative treatment modality for patients with localised intermediate, high-risk or locally advanced prostate cancer.²⁻⁴ Depending on staging, performance status, urinary symptoms and co-morbidities, EBRT, brachytherapy or a combination of both can be used and many patients benefit from the addition of androgen deprivation therapy (ADT) to EBRT.

Androgen deprivation therapy and additional systemic therapies

The relative risk reduction for disease progression and metastatic relapse with the addition of ADT to EBRT applies to all risk groups. For lower-risk groups (low and intermediate risk with favourable features),³ the addition of short-duration ADT (6 months) to radiotherapy (RT) significantly improves metastasis-free survival (MFS) (HR 0.83 [95% CI 0.77–0.89], p<0.0001).^{5,6} ADT started at the time of RT performs better for all disease-related endpoints with no differences in toxicity compared with neoadjuvant scheduling.⁷ Extending neoadjuvant ADT does not improve outcomes compared with shorter neoadjuvant ADT and the same adjuvant treatment.⁵ For patients with intermediate risk with unfavourable features or high-risk patients treated with radical RT, ADT prolongation from 6 to 18–36 months improves all disease-related endpoints including MFS (HR 0.84 [95 CI 0.78–0.91], p<0.0001).^{5,8}

The Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) 9413 trial found a significant interaction between RT field size and ADT sequencing. Neoadjuvant and concurrent ADT had a more favourable 10-year progression-free survival (PFS) with prostate and pelvic nodal RT and adjuvant ADT; the reverse was true when prostate-only RT was delivered.⁹ Local dose escalation does not negate the benefits of ADT.^{10,11} In a meta-analysis, the addition of docetaxel to EBRT and long-term ADT for patients with localised high-risk disease improved failure-free survival (FFS) but not other survival endpoints, with a greater risk of any grade and Grade \geq 3 adverse events (OR 3.19, [95% CI 2.70–3.77]; p<0.001).¹² In patients with nonmetastatic, high-risk localised disease, abiraterone + ADT was associated with significantly better OS (HR 0.69, 95% CI 0.50–0.95), MFS (HR 0.63, 95% 0.45–0.88) and FFS (HR 0.53, 95% CI 0.41–0.70). There were no significant differences between abiraterone + ADT and abiraterone + enzalutamide + ADT for any of the survival endpoints studied.¹³

In summary, for patients treated with prostate-only RT and 6 months of ADT, radiotherapy should commence shortly after starting ADT; for extended-course ADT (>12 months) and prostate and pelvic nodal RT (PNRT), any neoadjuvant, concurrent and adjuvant sequencing can be used.



Prostate-only radiotherapy

There are now five randomised radiation dose escalation studies that have demonstrated superior biochemical relapse-free survival with whole-gland doses ranging from (conventionally fractionated) 74 to 80 Gray (Gy)¹⁴. However, this has not translated into an OS benefit.^{10,15} Further whole-gland dose escalation is limited by concerns about excessive toxicities. Focal dose escalation to the dominant intraprostatic nodules (DIL) identified on staging mpMRI and/or prostate-specific membrane antigen positron emission tomography (PSMA PET) scan has been shown to improve biochemical control in a phase III randomised FLAME trial compared with the standard 78 Gy whole-gland RT.¹⁶

Hypofractionation (fraction size of 2.5 Gy and above)

So far, over 8,000 patients have been treated in randomised trials of moderate hypofractionation schedules (fraction size 3.0–3.4 Gy), and findings of these trials suggest that moderate hypofractionation results in similar oncological outcomes in terms of disease-free survival, MFS and OS. There appears to be little to no increase in both acute and late toxicities in a recent Cochrane review.^{17,18} In the UK, the CHHiP fractionation schedule of 60 Gy in 20 fractions is currently the recommended schedule.¹⁹

Stereotactic radiotherapy

Ultra-hypofractionation (stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy [SABR] defined as fraction size of 6 Gy or more) has been shown to be feasible and safe in cohort studies, with high levels of disease control.²⁰ HYPO-RT-PC compared 78 Gy in 39 fractions versus 42.7 Gy in 7 fractions without hormone therapy in 1,200 patients with intermediate-to-high-risk prostate cancer. SABR has a non-inferior biochemical control compared with conventional fractionation. Early side-effects were more pronounced with SABR whereas late toxicities were similar in both treatment groups.^{21,22} The PACE-B trial randomised 874 patients between conventional or stereotactic radiotherapy (36.25 Gy in 5 fractions) without ADT; SABR did not increase either gastrointestinal (GI) or genitourinary (GU) acute toxicities.²³ At 2 years, incidence of G2+ GI toxicities was low with no differences between groups; however, incidence of CTCAE G2+ GU toxicity was higher with SABR (6.4% versus 11.1%, p=0.02); the increase in RTOG G2+ GU toxicity was not statistically significant.

Brachytherapy

Prostate brachytherapy allows radiation dose escalation beyond what would be achievable by EBRT. In addition, there are fewer issues with changes in prostate position during treatment delivery.²⁴ Brachytherapy as monotherapy for low-risk and intermediate-risk patients with favourable features can be used as a single implant, most commonly with iodine-125 (I-125) seeds. For low-dose-rate (LDR) I-125 monotherapy the prescription dose to the CTV is 145 Gy.^{25,26} An alternative option is fractionated high-dose-rate (HDR) brachytherapy with a recommended dose of 27 Gy in 2 treatments 1–2 weeks apart; single-fraction HDR schedules are associated with higher biochemical relapse rates.²⁷ For high-risk patients LDR or HDR brachytherapy in combination with ADT and EBRT to the prostate or prostate and pelvic nodes is an effective treatment.^{10,28–30} Brachytherapy boost may be delivered before or after EBRT. Recommended EBRT schedules are 37 Gy in 15 fractions for prostate-only RT. Most published series for brachytherapy and EBRT combinations have used 46 Gy in 23 fractions for PNRT. For the pelvic nodal dose, please refer to the discussion below.

In a meta-analysis of three RCTs, there was a significant benefit in 5-year biochemicalprogression-free survival in favour of brachytherapy and EBRT combination versus EBRT alone (HR 0.49 [95% CI, 0.37–0.66], p<0.01) with no difference in 5-year OS. Late Grade 3 or worse toxicities were higher in the combination arms for both GU and GI with large confidence intervals: GU (RR 2.19 [95% CI, 0.76–6.30], p=0.15) and GI toxicities (RR 1.85 [95% CI, 1.00– 3.41], p=0.05).³¹ Omitting ADT for brachytherapy and EBRT combinations results in an inferior OS.³²

Pelvic nodal radiotherapy

There is no large randomised trial evidence (GETUG-01, RTOG 9413) supporting that PNRT improves oncological outcomes.^{33,34} A recent smaller trial showed improved biochemical control with PNRT.³⁵ However, in this study more than 80% of patients had staging PSMA PET, confirming NO staging, pelvic nodes were treated to L4/5 level and the dose used was 68 Gy (prostate) and 50 Gy (lymph nodes) in 25 fractions. The acute toxicities were similar in both arms, but there was more late bladder toxicity in the PNRT arm.³⁶ Equivalent PNRT biological effective doses are 47 Gy in 20 fractions and 50–60 Gy in 37–39 fractions; the doses are computed for α/β =1.5 or 3 without time corrections. Commonly used schedules in the UK (46 Gy in 23 fractions and 44 Gy in 20 fractions) have a lower BED and may not control microscopic nodal disease. Results from the PIVOTALboost and RTOG 0924 trials are awaited to better define the role of PNRT. Patients with positive pelvic lymph nodes at the initial staging scans should be considered for PNRT as part of their management.³⁷ The PEARLS trial is currently recruiting, delivering 44 Gy in 20 fractions to uninvolved nodes with a boost to involved nodes of 51 Gy.³⁸

Postoperative radiotherapy

From three randomised trials (RADICALS-RT, GETUG-17, RAVES) and a meta-analysis, there is no evidence that event-free survival improves with adjuvant radiotherapy compared with early salvage radiotherapy (HR 0.95, 95% CI 0.75–1.21; p=0.70), with only 1 percentage point change in 5-year event-free survival (89% versus 88%).³⁹⁻⁴² The use of hormone therapy in combination with salvage postoperative radiotherapy has been tested in three randomised controlled trials. RTOG 9601 showed a survival benefit with 24 months of bicalutamide.⁴³ GETUG-16 showed a PFS but not an OS benefit; the 12-year OS was 86% for radiation therapy plus goserelin versus 85% for radiation therapy alone.⁴⁴ In the SPORRT trial, 1,716 patients were randomised to prostate bed RT, prostate bed RT plus 6 months ADT or PNRT plus 6 months ADT. At a median follow-up of 8.2 years, the 5-year FFS rates were 70.9% (95% CI 67.0–74.9) in group 1, 81.3% (78.0–84.6) in group 2 and 87.4% (84.7–90.2) in group 3.⁴⁵ There is currently no evidence supporting dose escalation in postoperative settings that would improve outcomes. Recommended schedules are either 66 Gy (46–50 Gy for nodes) in 33 fractions or 52.5–55 Gy (44 Gy for nodes) in 20 fractions.³⁷

Recommendations

Prostate-only RT:

• 60 Gy in 20 fractions over 4 weeks (Grade A)

In addition to a brachytherapy boost:

- 37.5 Gy in 15 fractions (prostate only) over 3 weeks before or after 15 Gy HDR brachytherapy boost (Grade A)
- 46 Gy in 23 fractions (prostate and pelvic nodes) over 4.5 weeks followed by 15 Gy HDR or 115 Gy LDR brachytherapy boost (Grade A)

Stereotactic radiotherapy (SBRT):

• 36.25 Gy in 5 fractions (Grade A)

Pelvic nodal RT:

- 50 Gy in 25 fractions over 5 weeks or equivalent (Grade A)
- 46 Gy in 23 fractions over 4.5 weeks (Grade A)
- 44–47 Gy in 20 fractions over 4 weeks (Grade D)

Postoperative RT:

- 66 Gy in 33 fractions over 6.5 weeks or
- 52.5–55 Gy in 20 fractions over 4 weeks (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴⁶

Palliative radiotherapy

For patients with high-risk localised disease, who are not fit or unsuitable for daily treatment and unsuitable for a watch and wait policy, hypofractionated radiotherapy may be used similar to the schedule tested in the STAMPEDE trial.⁴⁷ Prostate radiotherapy should be considered for patients with metastatic hormone-sensitive prostate cancer with a low metastatic burden (defined as per the CHAARTED trial), which showed an improvement in PFS and OS.⁴⁸ In the castration-resistant group, useful and long-term disease control is possible and symptom relief for troublesome haemorrhage, pain, outflow obstruction or pressure symptoms can be achieved with palliative RT. There are only cohort studies as supporting evidence that patients with a reasonable life expectancy benefit from radiotherapy in this setting.^{8,49–52}

Recommendations

Recommended palliative RT schedules

High-risk localised disease, unsuitable for longer-course fractionation and hormonesensitive disease with low metastatic burden:

- 55–60 Gy in 20 fractions over 4 weeks (Grade A)
- 30–36 Gy in 6 fractions over 6 weeks (Grade A)

Castration-resistant disease with local progression and/or symptoms:

- 21 Gy in 3 fractions, alternate days over 1 week (Grade D)
- 20 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week (Grade D)
- 30 Gy in 10 fractions over 2 weeks (Grade D)
- 8–10 Gy single dose (Grade D)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴⁶

References

- Cancer Research UK. Prostate cancer statistics. www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-professional/cancerstatistics/statistics-by-cancer-type/prostate-cancer (accessed Jul 2022).
- Schaeffer E, Srinivas S, Antonarakis ES et al. NCCN guidelines insights: prostate cancer, version 1.2021. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2021 Feb 2; 19(2): 134–143.
- Gnanapragasam VJ, Bratt O, Muir K *et al.* Cambridge Prognostic Groups for improved prediction of disease mortality at diagnosis in primary non-metastatic prostate cancer: a validation study. *BMC Med* 2018 Feb 28; 16(1): 31.
- Parry MG, Cowling TE, Sujenthiran A *et al.* Risk stratification for prostate cancer management: value of the Cambridge Prognostic Group classification for assessing treatment allocation. *BMC Med* 2020 May 28; **18**(1): 114.
- Kishan AU, Sun Y, Hartman H *et al.* Androgen deprivation therapy use and duration with definitive radiotherapy for localised prostate cancer: an individual patient data meta-analysis. *Lancet Oncol* 2022 Feb; 23(2): 304–316.
- 6. Voog JC, Paulus R, Shipley WU *et al*. Cardiovascular mortality following short-term androgen deprivation in clinically localized prostate cancer: an analysis of RTOG 94–08. *Eur Urol* 2016 Feb; **69**(2): 204–10.
- Spratt DE, Malone S, Roy S et al. Prostate radiotherapy with adjuvant androgen deprivation therapy (ADT) improves metastasis-free survival compared to neoadjuvant ADT: an individual patient meta-analysis. J Clin Oncol 2021 Jan 10; 39(2): 136–144.
- 8. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. *Prostate cancer: diagnosis and management. Clinical guideline*. Cardiff: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2014.
- Roach M, Moughan J, Lawton CAF et al. Sequence of hormonal therapy and radiotherapy field size in unfavourable, localised prostate cancer (NRG/RTOG 9413): long-term results of a randomised, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2018; 19: 1504–1515.

1	
	.5
Prostate cancer	

- 10. Kishan AU, Steigler A, Denham JW *et al.* Interplay between duration of androgen deprivation therapy and external beam radiotherapy with or without a brachytherapy boost for optimal treatment of high-risk prostate cancer: a patient-level data analysis of 3 cohorts. *JAMA Oncol* 2022 Mar 1; **8**(3): e216871.
- Kishan AU, Wang X, Sun Y et al. High-dose radiotherapy or androgen deprivation therapy (HEAT) as treatment intensification for localized prostate cancer: an individual patient-data network meta-analysis from the MARCAP Consortium. Eur Urol 2022 Jul; 82(1): 106–114.
- Rajwa P, Pradere B, Gandaglia G et al. Intensification of systemic therapy in addition to definitive local treatment in nonmetastatic unfavourable prostate cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur Urol 2022 Jul; 82(1): 82–96.
- Attard G, Murphy L, Clarke NW et al. Abiraterone acetate and prednisolone with or without enzalutamide for high-risk non-metastatic prostate cancer: a meta-analysis of primary results from two randomised controlled phase 3 trials of the STAMPEDE platform protocol. Lancet 2022 Jan 29; 399(10323): 447–460.
- 14. Viani GA, Stefano EJ, Afonso SL. Higher-than-conventional radiation doses in localized prostate cancer treatment: a meta-analysis of randomized, controlled trials. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2009; **74**: 1405–1418.
- Jiang T, Markovic D, Patel J et al. Radiation therapy dose and androgen deprivation therapy in localized prostate cancer: a meta-regression of 5-year outcomes in phase III randomized controlled trials. Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis 2022 Mar; 25(1): 126–128.
- Groen VH, Haustermans K, Pos FJ et al. Patterns of failure following external beam radiotherapy with or without an additional focal boost in the randomized controlled FLAME trial for localized prostate cancer. Eur Urol 2021 Dec 22; S0302–2838(21): 02223-5.
- 17. Dearnaley D, Syndikus I, Gulliford S, Hall E. Hypofractionation for prostate cancer: time to change. *Clin Oncol* (*R Coll Radiol*) 2017 Jan; **29**(1): 3–5.
- Hickey BE, James ML, Daly T et al. Hypofractionation for clinically localized prostate cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2019 Sep 3; 9(9): CD011462.
- Dearnaley D, Syndikus I, Mossop H et al. Conventional versus hypofractionated high-dose intensitymodulated radiotherapy for prostate cancer: 5-year outcomes of the randomised, non-inferiority, phase 3 CHHiP trial. Lancet Oncol 2016 Aug; 17(8): 1047–1060.
- Andruska N, Fischer-Valuck BW, Agabalogun T. Propensity-weighted survival analysis of SBRT vs. conventional radiotherapy in unfavorable intermediate-risk prostate cancer. *Clin Genitourin Cancer* 2022 Apr; 20(2): 123–131.
- 21. Widmark A, Gunnlaugsson A, Beckman L *et al.* Ultra-hypofractionated versus conventionally fractionated radiotherapy for prostate cancer: 5-year outcomes of the HYPO-RT-PC randomised, non-inferiority, phase 3 trial. *Lancet* 2019 Aug 3; **394**(10196): 385–395.
- Fransson P, Nilsson P, Gunnlaugsson A et al. Ultra-hypofractionated versus conventionally fractionated radiotherapy for prostate cancer (HYPO-RT-PC): patient-reported quality-of-life outcomes of a randomised, controlled, non-inferiority, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2021 Feb; 22(2): 235–245.
- Brand DH, Tree AC, Ostler P et al; PACE trial investigators. Intensity-modulated fractionated radiotherapy versus stereotactic body radiotherapy for prostate cancer (PACE-B): acute toxicity findings from an international, randomised, open-label, phase 3, non-inferiority trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2019 Nov; 20(11): 1531– 1543.
- 24. Henry A, Pieters BR, André Siebert F et al. GEC-ESTRO ACROP prostate brachytherapy guidelines. Radiother Oncol 2022 Feb; **167**: 244–251.
- Henry AM, Al-Qaisieh B, Gould K et al. Outcomes following iodine-125 monotherapy for localized prostate cancer: the results of Leeds 10-year single-center brachytherapy experience. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2010 Jan 1; 76(1): 50–6.
- 26. Tharmalingam H, Tsang Y, Ostler P *et al*. Single dose high-dose rate (HDR) brachytherapy (BT) as monotherapy for localised prostate cancer: early results of a UK national cohort study. *Radiother Oncol* 2020; **143**: 95–100.

- 27. Morton G, McGuffin M, Chung HT *et al.* Prostate high dose-rate brachytherapy as monotherapy for low and intermediate risk prostate cancer: efficacy results from a randomized phase II clinical trial of one fraction of 19 Gy or two fractions of 13.5 Gy. *Radiother Oncol* 2020 May; **146**: 90–96.
- 28. Morris WJ, Tyldesley S, Rodda S et al. Androgen suppression combined with elective nodal and dose escalated radiation therapy (the ASCENDE-RT trial): an analysis of survival endpoints for a randomized trial comparing a low-dose-rate brachytherapy boost to a dose-escalated external beam boost for high- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2017 Jun 1; 98(2): 275–285.
- 29. Rodda S, Tyldesley S, Morris WJ *et al.* ASCENDE-RT: an analysis of treatment-related morbidity for a randomized trial comparing a low-dose-rate brachytherapy boost with a dose-escalated external beam boost for high- and intermediate-risk prostate cancer. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2017 Jun 1; **98**(2): 286–295.
- Hoskin PJ, Rojas AM, Ostler PJ, Bryant L, Lowe GJ. Randomised trial of external-beam radiotherapy alone or with high-dose-rate brachytherapy for prostate cancer: mature 12-year results. *Radiother Oncol* 2021 Jan; 154: 214–219.
- 31. Kee DLC, Gal J, Falk AT *et al*. Brachytherapy versus external beam radiotherapy boost for prostate cancer: systematic review with meta-analysis of randomized trials. *Cancer Treat Rev* 2018 Nov; **70**: 265–271.
- Jackson WC, Hartman HE, Dess RT et al. Addition of androgen-deprivation therapy or brachytherapy boost to external beam radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer: a network meta-analysis of randomized trials. J Clin Oncol 2020 Sep 10; 38(26): 3024–3031.
- 33. Roach M, Moughan J, Lawton CAF et al. Sequence of hormonal therapy and radiotherapy field size in unfavourable, localised prostate cancer (NRG/RTOG 9413): long-term results of a randomised, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2018 Nov; 19(11): 1504–1515. Erratum in: Lancet Oncol 2018 Nov; 19(11): e581.
- 34. Pommier P, Chabaud S, Lagrange JL et al. Is there a role for pelvic irradiation in localized prostate adenocarcinoma? Update of the long-term survival results of the GETUG-01 randomized study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2016 Nov 15; 96(4): 759–769.
- 35. Murthy V, Maitre P, Kannan S *et al.* Prostate-only versus whole-pelvic radiation therapy in high-risk and very high-risk prostate cancer (POP-RT): outcomes from phase III randomized controlled trial. *J Clin Oncol* 2021 Apr 10; **39**(11): 1234–1242.
- 36. Murthy V, Maitre P, Bhatia J *et al*. Late toxicity and quality of life with prostate only or whole pelvic radiation therapy in high risk prostate cancer (POP-RT): a randomised trial. *Radiother Oncol* 2020 Apr; **145**: 71–80.
- 37. De Meerleer G, Berghen C, Briganti A *et al*. Elective nodal radiotherapy in prostate cancer. *Lancet Oncol* 2021 Aug; **22**(8): e348-e357.
- Murray J, Cruickshank C, Bird T et al. PEARLS: a multicentre phase II/III trial of extended field radiotherapy for androgen sensitive prostate cancer patients with PSMA-avid pelvic and/or para-aortic lymph nodes at presentation. *Clin Transl Radiat Oncol* 2022 Sep 24; **37**: 130–136. doi:10.1016/j.ctro.2022.09.003. PMID: 36238579; PMCID: PMC9550847.
- 39. Parker CC, Clarke NW, Cook AD et al. Timing of radiotherapy after radical prostatectomy (RADICALS-RT): a randomised, controlled phase 3 trial. Lancet 2020 Oct 31; **396**(10260): 1413–1421.
- 40. Kneebone A, Fraser-Browne C, Duchesne GM *et al.* Adjuvant radiotherapy versus early salvage radiotherapy following radical prostatectomy (TROG 08.03/ANZUP RAVES): a randomised, controlled, phase 3, non-inferiority trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2020 Oct; **21**(10): 1331–1340.
- Sargos P, Chabaud S, Latorzeff I et al. Adjuvant radiotherapy versus early salvage radiotherapy plus shortterm androgen deprivation therapy in men with localised prostate cancer after radical prostatectomy (GETUG-AFU 17): a randomised, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2020 Oct; **21**(10): 1341–1352.
- 42. Vale CL, Fisher D, Kneebone A *et al*; ARTISTIC Meta-analysis Group. Adjuvant or early salvage radiotherapy for the treatment of localised and locally advanced prostate cancer: a prospectively planned systematic review and meta-analysis of aggregate data. *Lancet* 2020 Oct 31; **396**(10260): 1422–1431.
- 43. Shipley WU, Seiferheld W, Lukka HR et al. Radiation with or without antiandrogen therapy in recurrent prostate cancer. N Engl J Med 2017 Feb 2; **376**(5): 417–428.



- 44. Carrie C, Magné N, Burban-Provost P *et al*. Short-term androgen deprivation therapy combined with radiotherapy as salvage treatment after radical prostatectomy for prostate cancer (GETUG-AFU 16): a 112-month follow-up of a phase 3, randomised trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2019 Dec; **20**(12): 1740–1749.
- 45. Pollack A, Karrison TG, Balogh AG et al. The addition of androgen deprivation therapy and pelvic lymph node treatment to prostate bed salvage radiotherapy (NRG Oncology/RTOG 0534 SPPORT): an international, multicentre, randomised phase 3 trial. *Lancet* 2022 May 14; **399**(10338): 1886–1901.
- 46. www.cebm.ox.ac.uk/resources/levels-of-evidence/oxford-centre-for-evidence-based-medicine-levels-ofevidence-march-2009 (last accessed 28/11/2023).
- Parker CC, James ND, Brawley CD *et al*. Radiotherapy to the primary tumour for newly diagnosed, metastatic prostate cancer (STAMPEDE): a randomised controlled phase 3 trial. *Lancet* 2018 Dec 1; **392**(10162): 2353– 2366.
- 48. Burdett S, Boevé LM, Ingleby FC *et al.* Prostate radiotherapy for metastatic hormone-sensitive prostate cancer: a STOPCAP systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur Urol* 2019 Jul; **76**(1): 115–124.
- 49. White R, Khor R, Bressel M et al. Efficacy of high-dose palliative radiotherapy for localised, castrationresistant prostate cancer. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 2015 Jan; 27(1): 16–21.
- 50. Din OS, Thanvi N, Ferguson CJ *et al*. Palliative prostate radiotherapy for symptomatic advanced prostate cancer. *Radiother Oncol* 2009 Nov; **93**(2): 192–6.
- 51. Carl J, Rades D, Doemer C *et al*. Palliative radiotherapy to dominant symptomatic lesion in patients with hormone refractory prostate cancer (PRADO). *Radiat Oncol* 2019 Jan 10; **14**(1): 3.
- 52. Cameron MG, Kersten C, Vistad I *et al*. Palliative pelvic radiotherapy for symptomatic incurable prostate cancer: a prospective multicenter study. *Radiother Oncol* 2015 Jun; **115**(3): 314–20.

Acknowledgements

With thanks to lead authors Dr Kamalram Thippu Jayaprakash (Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust) and Dr Isabel Syndikus (The Clatterbridge Cancer Centre NHS Foundation Trust) for reviewing and updating this chapter of the guidance.

Rectal cancer

Background

Rectal cancer is less common than colon cancer but presents difficult treatment decisions because, while it is frequently curable, treatment may involve radical surgery including the need for a colostomy, which can have a profound effect on a survivor's quality of life.

Equally, recurrent rectal cancers produce distressing symptoms and are difficult to treat and frequently require reirradiation for symptom control, exenterative surgery or both.

The aim of radiotherapy in rectal cancers is to allow radical treatment to take place for more advanced cancers or to reduce the risk of relapse for early-stage cancers (neoadjuvant therapy).

Total neoadjuvant therapy (TNT) uses chemotherapy in addition to radiotherapy in the neoadjuvant setting.

In recurrent or incurable disease, radiotherapy can reduce the disease burden and help control symptoms.

NICE guidance published in 2020 recommends preoperative radiotherapy with or without chemotherapy for rectal cancer staged as cT1–T2, cN1–N2 or cT3–T4, any N0–2, M0, as the evidence from several randomised controlled trials shows that this approach reduces local recurrence and has better overall and disease-free survival compared with no preoperative radiotherapy.¹

Neoadjuvant therapy

Risk-reducing radiotherapy

Preoperative radiotherapy is preferred to postoperative treatment as the preoperative technique is more effective and less toxic (Level 1a). $^{2-5}$

Preoperative short-course rectal radiotherapy (SCRT) has been evaluated in several prospective randomised controlled trials (RCTs). The Dutch total mesorectal excision (TME) versus SCRT (25 Gray [Gy] in 5 fractions) plus TME trial demonstrated a reduction in local recurrence rate, though with a longer median follow-up of 6.1 years the benefit appears to decrease (10.9% versus 5.6%; 49% relative reduction in risk).^{6,7} The overall survival was the same in both groups (Level 1b).⁴ The MRC-07 trial demonstrated the advantage of SCRT (25 Gy in 5 fractions) for operable rectal cancer over selective postoperative (chemo-) radiation, in terms of reducing the relative risk of local recurrence after a median follow-up of 4 years by 61% (hazard ratio [HR] 0.39, confidence interval [CI] 0.27–0.58). This translates to an absolute reduction in risk of local relapse of 6.2% at 3 years. There is also an absolute improvement in disease-free survival of 6% at 3 years with no effect on overall survival (Level 1b).^{4,8}

The Stockholm III trial evaluated SCRT (25 Gy in 5 fractions) followed by immediate surgery versus delayed surgery after 4–8 weeks or long-course radiotherapy (50 Gy in 25 fractions).



The rate of local recurrence was similar in all arms but the rate of postoperative complications was significantly higher in the SCRT and immediate surgery compared with the delayed surgery arm.⁹

SCRT, however, increases long-term toxicity, with poorer functional outcomes, especially in terms of continence (Level 1b).^{4,10,11}

Recommendation

Short-course preoperative radiotherapy:

- 25 Gy in 5 daily fractions (Grade A)
- Followed by definitive surgery either within a week or delayed surgery

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴

Down-staging radiotherapy

For inoperable cancers, cancers that involve or threaten the circumferential margin or cancers deemed to be at high risk of relapse, down-staging treatment is recommended.^{12,13}

Doses of >30 Gy improve the response rate, and long-course chemoradiotherapy (LCCRT) has been shown to improve response rate and the likelihood of RO resection compared with long-course radiotherapy alone (Level 1a), though the sphincter preservation rate and long-term outcomes appear to be similar.^{2,4,12,13} A dose of 45–50.4 Gy in 1.8 Gy per fraction with concurrent chemotherapy is commonly used in the UK.

Fluorouracil (5-FU)-based chemotherapy has been used in all major trials since the 1980s, and more recently capecitabine has been shown to have similar efficacy in several phase 2 studies (Level 2b); it has replaced infusional 5-FU as the drug of choice for LCCRT to the rectum.^{4,14,15} Addition of a second agent such as irinotecan or oxaliplatin has not demonstrated improvement in outcomes and is not recommended (Level 1A).^{4,16-19}

TNT has been shown in multiple trials to reduce local recurrence rates (STELLAR/Prodige 23), reduce distant free metastasis (STELLAR, RAPIDO, Prodige 23) and improve clinical and pathological complete response (RAPIDO, OPRA, Prodige 23) for high-risk rectal cancers. Two studies have found an overall survival benefit at 3 years, with one showing at 8 years that benefit was not maintained.^{20–23}

Some authors have reported a 'boost' of 5.4 Gy in 3 fractions to the gross tumour volume plus margin following 45 Gy in 25 fractions to a larger volume.¹⁵ The efficacy and toxicity of this remains unknown (Level 2b).⁴ A simultaneous integrated boost of 50 Gy in 25 fractions is recommended. A dose of 52 Gy in 25 fractions is an alternative and is equivalent to 54 Gy in 30 fractions used in the EXPERT study, with minimal acute toxicity.^{24,25} Higher doses correlate to improved response rates rather than local relapse rate and hence doses of greater than 50 Gy should only be considered for boosting disease that lies outside the resection margin or for an organ-preservation approach.²⁶

Retrospective series from Sweden and the UK, looking at patients with locally advanced unresectable rectal cancer who are unfit for standard LCCRT, treated with 25 Gy in 5 fractions, have reported significant tumour regression, with 60–80% of patients going on to have delayed surgery (Level 2c).^{4,27,28}



Recommendations

For down-staging LCCRT:

- 45 Gy in 25 daily fractions with concurrent chemotherapy (Grade A); optional boost of 5.4 Gy in 3 fractions to smaller volume (Grade C) or
- 50 Gy in 25 fractions simultaneous integrated boost (SIB) (Grade C)

For patients not suitable for chemotherapy:

- 45 Gy in 25 daily fractions (Grade A) with or without boost
- 25 Gy in 5 daily fractions (Grade B)

For total neoadjuvant therapy:

- 25 Gy in 5 daily fractions (Grade A)
- 45 Gy in 25 daily fractions with concurrent chemotherapy (Grade A); optional boost of 5.4 Gy in 3 fractions to smaller volume (Grade C) or
- 50 Gy in 25 fractions SIB (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴

Brachytherapy

Low-energy contact brachytherapy^{29,30} (Papillion technique) and high-dose-rate (HDR) brachytherapy have both been used, generally in combination with external beam radiotherapy (EBRT), for the treatment of rectal cancers. In patients unfit for surgery or who choose to not have surgery, these techniques can be used to improve local control.

For tumours less than 5 cm in size (T2–T3b, N0-1, node <8 mm), LCCRT plus contact radiotherapy significantly improves the 3-year organ-preservation rate, especially with tumours <3 cm where contact boost was delivered before LCCRT (Level 1b).³¹

There is one published RCT evaluating a neoadjuvant 10 Gy in 2 fractions HDR brachytherapy boost (endoluminal) along with 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions of EBRT (Level 1b).^{4,32} This trial showed no improvement in pathological complete response (pCR) or long-term survival despite a better RO resection rate for T3 tumours.

Contact radiotherapy can be used following endoscopic resection if there are adverse pathological features (CONTEM 1).

Contact radiotherapy can be used for the palliative treatment of patients with a recurrence or metastases.

Dose recommendations are derived from published trials and current consensus among UK centres offering brachytherapy.^{33–37}



Recommendations

Postoperative:

 pT1 or pT2 with adverse pathological features: 60 Gy in 2 fractions over 2 weeks followed by EBRT (Grade B)

Radical treatment (<3 cm):

- \bullet cT1/cN0: 90–110 Gy in 3–4 fractions (30 Gy $\times 3$ and final boost 20 Gy) over 3–6 weeks (Grade C)
- cT1/cN1 or cT2–T3b cN0/cN1 (node <8 mm): 90–110 Gy in 3–4 fractions (30 Gy ×3) and optional final boost (20 Gy) over 3–6 weeks, followed by EBRT (Grade A)

Radical treatment (>3 cm):

- cT1/cN1 or cT2–T3b cN0/cN1 (node <8 mm): EBRT followed by contact radiotherapy or HDR boost if regression to <3 cm: 90 Gy in 3 fractions (30 Gy \times 3) and optional final boost (20 Gy) over 3–6 weeks (Grade A) or
- HDR brachytherapy 12 Gy in 2 fractions (Grade D)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴

Palliative treatment

There are no good-quality trials evaluating different dose fractionation schedules for palliative treatment. An appropriate regime should be chosen after considering the patient's likely prognosis, disease burden, symptoms and performance status.

Recommendations

- 30 Gy in 10 daily fractions (Grade D)
- 20–25 Gy in 5 daily fractions (Grade D)
- HDR brachytherapy 10 Gy at 1 cm single dose (Grade D)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴

14

Reirradiation

Following previous SCRT or LCCRT, some patients will experience a local or regional relapse. Such patients should be discussed in specialist multidisciplinary team meetings (MDTMs) with the relevant expertise in treating recurrent rectal cancer.

Where possible, recurrences after neoadjuvant radiotherapy should be treated with surgery or systemic therapy, avoiding further radiation. However, if surgery is not feasible with clear margins or holds excess risks, reirradiation should be considered for limited volumes, including the use of stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy (SABR) techniques. This may yield good symptomatic relief as a palliative treatment, and long-term control is possible.

When curative resection is to be considered but reirradiation is required to achieve this, currently hyperfractionated chemoradiotherapy should be preferred to limit late toxicity (Grade D).³

References

- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Colorectal cancer. NICE guideline [NG151]. NICE, 29 January 2020. www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng151
- Colorectal Cancer Collaborative Group. Adjuvant radiotherapy for rectal cancer: a systematic overview of 8,507 patients from randomised trials. *Lancet* 2001; **358**(9290): 1291–1304.
- Frykholm GJ, Glimelius B, Påhlman L. Preoperative or postoperative irradiation in adenocarcinoma of the rectum: final results of a randomised trial and an evaluation of late secondary effects. *Dis Colon Rectum* 1993; 36(6): 564–572.
- 4. www.cebm.ox.ac.uk/resources/levels-of-evidence/oxford-centre-for-evidence-based-medicine-levels-of-evidence-march-2009 (last accessed 28/11/2023).
- Song JH, Jeong JU, Lee JH et al. Preoperative chemoradiotherapy versus postoperative chemoradiotherapy for stage II–III resectable rectal cancer: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Radiat Oncol J* 2017; 35(3): 198–207.
- 6. Kapiteijn E, Marijnen CA, Nagtegaal ID *et al.* Preoperative radiotherapy combined with total mesorectal excision for resectable rectal cancer. *N Engl J Med* 2001; **345**(9): 638–646.
- Peeters KC, Marijnen CA, Nagtegaal ID *et al*. The TME trial after a median follow-up of 6 years: increased local control but no survival benefit in irradiated patients with resectable rectal carcinoma. *Ann Surg* 2007; 246(5): 693–701.
- 8. Sebag-Montefiore D, Stephens RJ, Steele R. Preoperative radiotherapy versus selective postoperative chemoradiotherapy in patients with rectal cancer (MRC CR07 and NCIC-CTG C016): a multicentre, randomised trial. *Lancet* 2009; **373**(9666): 811–820.
- Erlandsson J, Holm T, Pettersson D et al. Optimal fractionation of preoperative radiotherapy and timing to surgery for rectal cancer (Stockholm III): a multicentre, randomised, non-blinded, phase 3, non-inferiority trial. Lancet Oncol 2017; 18(3): P336–346.
- Peeters KC, van de Velde CJ, Leer JW et al. Late side effects of short-course preoperative radiotherapy combined with total mesorectal excision for rectal cancer: increased bowel dysfunction in irradiated patients – a Dutch colorectal cancer group study. J Clin Oncol 2005; 23(25): 6199–6206.
- Bregendahl S, Emmertsen KJ, Lous J, Laurberg S. Bowel dysfunction after low anterior resection with and without neoadjuvant therapy for rectal cancer: a population-based cross-sectional study. *Colorectal Dis* 2013; 15: 1130–1139.
- 12. Braendengen M, Tveit KM, Berglund A et al. Randomised phase II study comparing preoperative radiotherapy with chemoradiotherapy in nonresectable rectal cancer. J Clin Oncol 2008; **26**(22): 3687–3694.
- 13. Ceelen WP, Van Nieuwenhove Y, Fierens K. Preoperative chemoradiation versus radiation alone for stage II and III resectable rectal cancer. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2009; **1**: CD006041.

- 14. De Bruin AF, Nuyttens JJ, Ferenschild FT, Planting AS, Verhoef C, de Wilt JH. Preoperative chemoradiation with capecitabine in locally advanced rectal cancer. *Neth J Med* 2008; **66**(2): 71–76.
- 15. De Paoli A, Chiara S, Luppi G et al. Capecitabine in combination with preoperative radiation therapy in locally advanced, resectable, rectal cancer: a multicentric phase II study. Ann Oncol 2006; **17**(2): 246–251.
- Sebag-Montefiore D, Adams R, Gollins S et al. ARISTOTLE: A phase III trial comparing concurrent capecitabine with capecitabine and irinotecan (Ir) chemoradiation as preoperative treatment for MRI-defined locally advanced rectal cancer (LARC). J Clin Oncol 2020; 38: 15_suppl, 4101–4101.
- Aschele C, Cionini L, Lonardi S et al. Primary tumor response to preoperative chemoradiation with or without oxaliplatin in locally advanced rectal cancer: pathologic results of the STAR-01 randomized phase III trial. J Clin Oncol 2011; 29(20): 2773–2780.
- Gerard JP, Azria D, Gourgou-Bourgade S *et al.* Comparison of two neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy regimens for locally advanced rectal cancer: results of the phase III trial ACCORD 12/0405-Prodige 2. *J Clin Oncol* 2010; 28(10): 1638–1644.
- 19. Rodel C, Graeven U, Fietkau R *et al.* Oxaliplatin added to fluorouracil-based preoperative chemoradiotherapy and postoperative chemotherapy of locally advanced rectal cancer (the German CAO/ARO/AIO-04 study): final results of the multicentre, open-label, randomised, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2015; **16**(8): 979–989.
- 20. Jin J, Liu S, Zhu Y *et al*. The updated results for the phase 3 study of 5×5 Gy followed by chemotherapy in locally advanced rectal cancer (STELLAR trial). *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2017; **99**: e157.
- Bahadoer RR, Dijkstra EA, van Etten B *et al.* Short-course radiotherapy followed by chemotherapy before total mesorectal excision (TME) versus preoperative chemoradiotherapy, TME, and optional adjuvant chemotherapy in locally advanced rectal cancer (RAPIDO): a randomised, open-label, phase 3 trial. *Lancet* Oncol 2021; 22(1): P29–42.
- 22. Conroy T, Bosset JF, Etienne PL et al. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy with FOLFIRINOX and preoperative chemoradiotherapy for patients with locally advanced rectal cancer (UNICANCER-PRODIGE 23): a multicentre, randomised, open-label, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2021 May; 22(5): 702–715.
- 23. Aguilar JC, Patil S, Gollub MJ *et al*. Organ preservation in patients with rectal adenocarcinoma treated with total neoadjuvant therapy. *J Clin Oncol* 2022; **40**(23): 2546–2556. doi: 10.1200/JCO.22.00032.
- 24. Chua YJ, Barbachano Y, Cunningham D *et al.* Neoadjuvant capecitabine and oxaliplatin before chemoradiotherapy and total mesorectal excision in MRI-defined poor-risk rectal cancer: a phase 2 trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2010; **11**(3):241–248.
- 25. Owens R, Mukherjee S, Padmanaban S et al. Intensity-modulated radiotherapy with a simultaneous integrated boost in rectal cancer. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 2019; **32**(1): 35–42.
- 26. The Royal College of Radiologists. *National rectal cancer intensity-modulated radiotherapy guidance*. London: The Royal College of Radiologists, 2021.
- 27. Radu C, Berflund A, Påhlman L, Glimelius B. Short-course preoperative radiotherapy with delayed surgery in rectal cancer: a retrospective study. *Radiother Oncol* 2008; **87**(3): 343–349.
- 28. Hatfield P, Hingorani M, Radhakrishna G *et al*. Short-course radiotherapy, with elective delay prior to surgery, in patients with unresectable rectal cancer who have poor performance status or significant co-morbidity. *Radiother Oncol* 2008; **92**(2): 210–214.
- 29. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Low energy contact X-ray brachytherapy (the Papillon technique) for early stage rectal cancer. London: NICE, 2015.
- 30. Ortholan C, Romestaing P, Chapet O, Ferard JP. Correlation in rectal cancer between clinical tumor response after neoadjuvant radiotherapy and sphincter or organ preservation: 10-year results of the Lyon R 96-02 randomized trial. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2012; **83**(2): e65–e71.
- 31. Gerard JP, Barbet N, Schiappa R et al. Neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy with radiation dose escalation with contact x-ray brachytherapy boost or external beam radiotherapy boost for organ preservation in early cT2– cT3 rectal adenocarcinoma (OPERA): a phase 3, randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2023: **1253**(22): 00392-2.
- 32. Appelt AL, Vogelius IR, Pløen J *et al*. Long-term results of a randomized trial in locally advanced rectal cancer: no benefit from adding a brachytherapy boost. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2014; **90**(1): 110–118.



- 33. Sischy B, Hinson EJ, Wilkinson DR. Definitive radiation therapy for selected cancers of the rectum. *Br J Surg* 1988; **75**(9): 901–903.
- 34. Gerard JP, Romestaing P, Chapet O. Radiotherapy alone in the curative treatment of rectal carcinoma. *Lancet Oncol* 2003; **4**(3): 158–166.
- 35. Sun Myint A, Grieve RJ, McDonald AC *et al.* Combined modality treatment of early rectal cancer: the UK experience. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* 2007; **19**(9): 674–681.
- 36. Dhadda A, Cast J, Hunter I. Organ preservation using contact radiotherapy for early rectal cancer: outcomes of patients treated at a single centre in the United Kingdom. *Ann Oncol* 2014; **25**(suppl 2): ii12.
- 37. Stewart AJ, Van Limbergen, EJ, Gerard JP *et al*. GEC ESTRO ACROP consensus recommendations for contact brachytherapy for rectal cancer. *Clin Transl Radiat Oncol* 2021; **33**: 15–22.

Acknowledgements

With thanks to lead authors Dr Vivek Misra (The Christie NHS Foundation Trust) and Dr Craig Barrington (South West Wales Cancer Centre) for reviewing and updating this chapter of the guidance.

Dr Misra and Dr Barrington would also like to thank Prof Arthur Sun Myint (The Clatterbridge Cancer Centre NHS Foundation Trust) for his contributions.

Renal cancer

Background

Primary kidney cancer is the seventh commonest cancer in the UK.¹ Approximately 20% present with metastatic disease and another 20–25% develop metastases after radical treatment to the primary (usually radical nephrectomy/nephron-sparing surgery). Historically kidney cancer has been considered intrinsically radioresistant based on a small amount of experimental data. Two xenograft models have measured α/β ratios as 2.6 and 6.9 Gy.² A possible mechanism may be the activation of HIF1 α (which is characteristic of clear cell cancers owing to von Hippel-Linda [VHL] mutations) stimulating endothelial cell survival, but preclinical models suggested ablative doses of radiotherapy can overcome this, inducing cell death by alternative means to DNA damage and mitotic catastrophe.³

Primary radiotherapy

Neoadjuvant or adjuvant conventional radiotherapy for primary renal cell carcinoma (RCC)

Historical series including small randomised trials of pre- or postoperative radiotherapy gave inconsistent results and used a variety of doses and outdated techniques, with higher doses giving significant toxicity.³ There is therefore no current role for these approaches.

Stereotactic radiotherapy for primary renal cancer

Surgical resection remains the standard of care in localised disease, but surgery is not feasible in all due to both disease and patient factors including co-morbidities. Stereotactic radiotherapy is less invasive than standard of care surgery, with the potential for faster recovery times and fewer side-effects, though there are no direct comparisons in a trial setting.

In a pooled analysis of 190 patients from 12 international centres, the cumulative 5-year incidence of local failure was 5.5%. Both single and multifraction regimes were used and 29% of patients had a single kidney.^{4,5}

In a meta-analysis of 372 patients, median follow-up was 28 months, median tumour size was 4.6 cm, local control 97.2% and glomerular filtration rate reduction 7.7 ml/min; Grade 3-4 toxicity was 1.5%.⁶

Stereotactic radiotherapy is now recommended in the NCCN 2022 guidelines for medically inoperable patients with stage I kidney cancer.⁷ Stereotactic radiotherapy can be used for tumours that are not suitable for thermal ablative techniques (cryoablation or radiofrequency ablation), such as larger tumours and those close to the collecting system or major vessels.



Palliative radiotherapy to symptomatic renal primary

For bleeding or pain from a renal primary, embolisation, palliative nephrectomy or systemic therapy are generally preferred to radiotherapy. However, palliative radiotherapy is occasionally used. Dose should be individualised to the patient's circumstances and potential toxicity (proximity of liver, stomach, small bowel etc).

Metastatic renal cancer

Palliative radiotherapy to metastatic disease

A dose response to palliative radiotherapy has been found in some retrospective series but not others.^{8,9,10} Radiotherapy is likely to have been underused in palliation of metastatic disease because of preconceptions of radioresistance.¹¹ Fractionated radiotherapy (30 Gy in 10 fractions/20 Gy in 5 fractions) is recommended particularly for large masses, and 8–10 Gy in a single fraction for those of poor performance status.

Oligometastatic renal cancer

Some favourable-prognosis patients have oligometastatic disease.¹² These patients can have prolonged drug-free survival with treatment of individual metastases, either with surgery or high-dose palliative radiotherapy or stereotactic radiotherapy. Common sites of oligometastases in renal cancer include lung, brain, bone, thyroid, pancreas, soft tissue and head and neck sites including sinuses.

Stereotactic radiotherapy can be used for sites of oligometastases and may be appropriate for oligo-progressive areas in patients responding to systemic therapy. Stereotactic radiotherapy has been shown to have excellent rates of local control in several series. The potential of stereotactic radiotherapy to treat oligometastatic RCC was established through multiple retrospective series and prospective trials, with local control rates >85% at 2 years for metastatic lesions for both clear cell and non-clear cell RCC and a meta-analysis showing 90% local control.^{13,14}

See the 'Oligometastases' chapter for treatment principles.

Head of pancreas/duodenum

Pancreatic metastases are common and associated with a favourable prognosis. They are frequently asymptomatic, but metastases at the head of the pancreas may invade the duodenum and cause major gastrointestinal bleeding. High-dose palliative radiotherapy with IMRT (50 Gy in 20–25 fractions), or stereotactic radiotherapy if there is not direct duodenal invasion, can lead to prolonged disease control.¹⁵

Combination of radiotherapy with systemic therapy

Anti-angiogenic tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs): Caution should be exercised when combining anti-angiogenic TKIs with palliative radiotherapy, particularly when the field encompasses a critical tissue such as brain, spinal cord, liver or small bowel. Although there are no formal guidelines, drug interruption would be advisable when using higher palliative doses over critical structures.¹⁶



Immunotherapy: Two phase II trials have used the combination of radiotherapy and immunotherapy in metastatic disease and this combination is associated with an acceptable safety profile.^{17,18} In the oligometastatic disease setting stereotactic radiotherapy and short-course pembrolizumab is well tolerated, with excellent local control.¹⁹

Recommendations

Primary renal cancer:

• Stereotactic radiotherapy is safe and effective for medically inoperable patients with primary renal cancer; either single-fraction (26 Gy in 1 fraction) or multifraction regimens (42 Gy in 3 fractions/40 Gy in 5 fractions) are recommended (Grade B, Level 2a)

Oligometastases:

• Stereotactic radiotherapy has a role in treating oligometastatic renal cancer (Grade B, Level 2a)

Palliative radiotherapy for symptom relief:

 Fractionated radiotherapy (30 Gy in 10 fractions/20 Gy in 5 fractions) is recommended particularly for large masses; consider 8–10 Gy in a single fraction for those of poor performance status (Grade C, Level 4)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.²⁰

References:

- 1. Cancer Research UK. www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-professional/cancer-statistics/statistics-by-cancertype/kidney-cancer (accessed Jul 2022).
- 2. Ning S, Trisler K, Wessels BW, Knox, SJ. Radiobiologic studies of radioimmunotherapy and external beam radiotherapy *in vitro* and *in vivo* in human renal cell carcinoma xenografts. *Cancer* 1997; **80**: 2519–2528.
- Siva S, Kothari G, Muacevic A et al. Radiotherapy for renal cell carcinoma: renaissance of an overlooked approach. Nat Rev Urol 2017 Sep; 14(9): 549–563.
- Siva S, Louie AV, Warner A et al. 5-year outcomes stereotactic ablative radiotherapy for primary renal cell carcinoma: an individual patient data meta-analysis from IROCK (International Radiosurgery Oncology Consortium for Kidney). Lancet Oncol 2022; 23: 1508–1516.
- Siva S, Ellis RJ, Ponsky L et al. Consensus statement from the International Radiosurgery Oncology Consortium for Kidney for primary renal cell carcinoma. *Future Oncol* 2016; 12: 637–645.
- 6. Correa RJM, Louie AV, Zaorsky NG *et al*. The emerging role of stereotactic ablative radiotherapy for primary renal cell carcinoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur Urol Focus* 2019; **5**(6): 958–69.
- National Comprehensive Cancer Network. Kidney Cancer (version 2.2023). www.nccn.org/professionals/physician_gls/pdf/kidney.pdf (accessed 10 June 2022).
- 8. DiBiase SJ, Valicenti RK, Schultz D *et al.* Palliative irradiation for focally symptomatic metastatic renal cell carcinoma: support for dose escalation based on a biological model. *J Urol* 1997; **158**(3): 746–749.

15

- 9. Onufrey V, Mohiuddin M. Radiation therapy in the treatment of metastatic renal cell carcinoma. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 1985 Nov; **11**(11): 2007–9.
- Wilson D, Hiller L, Gray L, Grainger M, Stirling A, James N. The effect of biological effective dose on time to symptom progression in metastatic renal cell carcinoma. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* 2003 Oct; 15(7): 400–7.
- 11. Delaney G, Jacob S, Featherstone C, Barton M. The role of radiotherapy in cancer treatment. *Cancer* 2005; **104**: 1129–1137.
- Heng DYC, Xie W, Regan MM et al. Prognostic factors for overall survival in patients with MccRCC treated with vascular endothelial growth factor-targeted agents: results from a large, multicenter study. J Clin Oncol 2009; 27(34): 5794–5799.
- Zaorsky NG, Lehrer EJ, Kothari G, Louie AV, Siva S. Stereotactic ablative radiation therapy for oligometastatic renal cell carcinoma (SABR ORCA): a meta-analysis of 28 studies. *Eur Urol Oncol* 2019 Sep; 2(5): 515–523. doi:10.1016/j.euo.2019.05.007. Epub 2019 Jul 11. PMID: 31302061.
- 14. Kothari G, Foroudi F, Gill S, Corcoran NM, Siva S. Outcomes of stereotactic radiotherapy for cranial and extracranial metastatic renal cell carcinoma: a systematic review. Acta Oncologica 2015; **54**(2): 148–157.
- Maund I, Bowzyk Al-Naeeb A, Welsh SJ, Eisen T, Fife K. Intensity modulated radiotherapy is a well-tolerated and effective treatment for the long-term control of intra-abdominal and retroperitoneal oligometastatic renal cell cancer. *Kidney Cancer* 2018; 103–113.
- Fife K, Bang A. Combined radiotherapy and new systemic therapies: have we moved beyond palliation? *Clin* Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 2020 Nov; **32**(11): 758–765. doi:10.1016/j.clon.2020.07.021. Epub 2020 Aug 27. PMID: 32863071.
- Hammers HJ, Vonmerveldt D, Ahn C *et al*. Combination of dual immune checkpoint inhibition (ICI) with stereotactic radiation (SBRT) in metastatic renal cell carcinoma (mRCC) (RADVAX RCC). *J Clin Oncol* 2020; 38: 614.
- Masini C, lotti C, De Giorgi U et al. Nivolumab (NIVO) in combination with stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) in pretreated patients (PTS) with metastatic renal cell carcinoma (mRCC): first results of phase II NIVES study. J Clin Oncol 2020; 38: 613.
- 19. Siva S, Bressel M, Wood ST *et al*. Stereotactic radiotherapy and short-course pembrolizumab for oligometastatic renal cell carcinoma: the RAPPORT trial. *Eur Urol* 2022 Apr; **81**(4): 364–372.
- 20. www.cebm.ox.ac.uk/resources/levels-of-evidence/oxford-centre-for-evidence-based-medicine-levels-of-evidence-march-2009 (last accessed 28/11/2023).

Acknowledgements

With thanks to lead authors Dr Kate Fife and Dr Will Ince (Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust) for reviewing and updating this chapter of the guidance.

Sarcoma

Background

Bone and soft-tissue sarcomas have more than 100 different histological subtypes and should be managed under the guidance of a bone and soft-tissue sarcoma centre. Radiotherapy is commonly used as an adjunct to surgery or used as a primary or palliative treatment.¹ Radiotherapy is an integral part of the multimodality treatment of Ewing sarcoma and rhabdomyosarcoma.^{2,3} Clinical experience reports sarcomas vary widely in radiosensitivity, and this can influence its application in the timing of radiotherapy. The standard of care is to deliver radiotherapy with conventional fractionation when treatment is with curative intent. However, hypofractionated schedules are considered in selected cases. Intensity-modulated radiotherapy (IMRT), volumetric-modulated arc therapy (VMAT) or proton therapy may be appropriate when optimal dose fractionation is not achievable with conventional techniques. The principles of stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) for oligometastatic disease follow the guidance in SBRT guidelines.^{4,5}

Extremity soft-tissue sarcomas

Surgery is the primary treatment modality in most soft-tissue sarcomas. Radiotherapy is recommended as an adjunct to limb-conservation surgical approaches. For large, deep-seated, high-grade tumours, radiotherapy is recommended as an adjunct in the preoperative or postoperative settings to improve local control rates to greater than 80%.⁶ The Canadian Sarcoma Group SR-2 trial randomised patients to preoperative radiotherapy with 50 Gray (Gy) in 25 daily fractions compared with postoperative radiotherapy with 66 Gy in 33 daily fractions.⁷ Preoperative radiotherapy and postoperative radiotherapy have comparable local control rates, but preoperative radiotherapy is associated with increased wound complications (predominantly in the distal lower limb) and postoperative radiotherapy leads to increased limb fibrosis, joint stiffness, lymphoedema and bone fractures.⁸ Tumour location, proximity to critical normal tissues and ability to resect widely impact on the decision regarding the use and timing of surgery and radiotherapy. International consensus is to recommend radiotherapy to be delivered in the preoperative setting. This allows smaller volumes to be treated to a lower total dose, which translates to a potential decreased functional morbidity.^{19,10}

Histopathological subtypes differ in their risk for local recurrence and responsiveness to radiotherapy. Myxoid liposarcomas are relatively sensitive to radiotherapy and may have a significant reduction in size with preoperative radiotherapy.¹¹ Myxofibrosarcomas have a high propensity for local recurrence as they are highly infiltrative and have higher rates of positive margins after surgery.¹² Given this increased risk of local recurrence associated with myxofibrosarcomas, radiotherapy is recommended to improve local control.

Patients with localised unresectable disease may be considered for radical radiotherapy with the aim of achieving local control. A total dose of 64 Gy at 2.0 Gy per fraction is recommended.^{13,14</}

16 Sarcoma

Technique

IMRT-based treatment is preferred over conventional techniques in the majority of cases, providing dose homogeneity and reduced incidence of high-grade toxicities, such as fibrosis.

Alternative preoperative radiotherapy schedules

Modern radiotherapy and surgical techniques have improved outcomes for extremity soft-tissue sarcomas applying conventional fractionation schedules. Preoperative hypofractionated schedules have been evaluated but are yet to report comparable local control rates and toxicity profile.¹⁵ The safety and efficacy of dose de-escalation for myxoid liposarcoma continues to be under investigation following an initial phase II study demonstrating comparable local control to historical controls.¹⁰ Further, a randomised study is evaluating a postoperative dose of 50 Gy in 25 daily fractions for patients with negative resection margins.

Recommendations

Preoperative radiotherapy:

• 50 Gy in 25 fractions over 5 weeks (Grade C)

Postoperative radiotherapy:

- 50 Gy in 25 fractions over 5 weeks plus 10 Gy in 5-fraction boost over 1 week for average risk (Grade C)
- For postoperative treatment, a boost of up to 16 Gy in 8 fractions over 1.5 weeks is recommended for disease considered at higher risk of local recurrence due to positive margins (Grade C)
- This boost may be limited to 10 Gy in 5 fractions at certain anatomical sites (for example, across joints, Achilles tendon, brachial plexus)

Unresectable: primary radiotherapy

66 Gy in 33 fractions over 6.5 weeks (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹⁶

Retroperitoneal soft-tissue sarcomas

Surgery is the mainstay of treatment for retroperitoneal sarcomas (RPS), but locoregional recurrence remains the predominant pattern of disease recurrence. An international expert consensus panel concluded that preoperative radiotherapy is preferable to postoperative radiotherapy when radiotherapy is recommended as an adjunct to surgery. The EORTC STRASS trial investigated the addition of radiotherapy to the surgical management of RPS. This trial randomised patients to preoperative radiotherapy (50.4 Gy in 28 daily fractions)



followed by surgery versus surgery alone. The primary outcome was abdominal recurrencefree survival. The trial did not show a statistically significant abdominal recurrence-free survival benefit for the addition of radiotherapy to surgical resection. Surgical morbidity was not statistically different between the two arms.¹⁷ Exploratory analyses suggested that preoperative radiotherapy might improve the local control in grades 1–2 liposarcoma, whereas there did not appear to be a radiotherapy benefit for leiomyosarcoma and high-grade de-differentiated liposarcoma. The STRASS trial investigators also collected data, known as STREXIT, on non-enrolment cases. The STREXIT study also demonstrated improved outcome in G1–2 liposarcoma.¹⁸ In conclusion, preoperative radiotherapy is recommended in selected cases in discussion with sarcoma surgical colleagues where concern is raised of a high risk of local recurrence following an anticipated close resection margin.

Recommendation

Preoperative radiotherapy:

• 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions over 5.5 weeks (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹⁶

Desmoid tumours

Fibromatosis or desmoid tumour is a proliferation of well-differentiated myofibroblasts and fibroblasts with low to moderate mitotic activity. The process is locally aggressive but does not metastasise. An international consensus recommends a multidisciplinary sarcoma specialist approach with, if clinically suitable, a period of surveillance recommended as initial management.¹⁹ Radiotherapy is considered in very selective cases: unresectable tumours growing rapidly in critical anatomical sites or as adjunct following surgery, especially if further surgery would result in significant morbidity or functional deficit, failed systemic therapy or symptom relief.²⁰

Recommendation

Definitive or postoperative radiotherapy:

• 56 Gy in 28 fractions over 5.5 weeks (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹⁶



Ewing-type tumours and primitive neuroectodermal tumour (PNET)

When surgical resection is feasible or appropriate, this is usually carried out after preliminary chemotherapeutic cytoreduction. Ewing sarcoma is a radiosensitive disease. If it is anticipated that surgery will result in a marginal resection, preoperative radiotherapy is considered at 45–50.4 Gy in 1.8 Gy per fraction. Where surgery has been considered as primary local treatment and a radical surgical clear resection margin is not achieved and/or there is >10% residual viable disease remaining then there is evidence to suggest that postoperative radiotherapy at a dose of 54–60 Gy in 28–30 fractions for gross disease, and at least 45 Gy in 25 fractions for microscopic disease, might be beneficial. Surgical resection may not be feasible or appropriate for certain anatomical sites (for example, head and neck, spine, pelvis), in which case radiotherapy can be used as a primary radical treatment, although evidence suggests that it is not quite as effective as surgery in achieving local tumour control; evidence indicates that doses of 55–56 Gy in 1.8 Gy fractions can be effective.²¹

Recommendations

Doses are based upon the current Euro Ewing 2012 radiotherapy protocol.²²

For preoperative treatment:

• 50.4 Gy in 28 fractions as a single phase; dose may be reduced to 45 Gy in 25 fractions if necessary due to proximity to organs at risk (Grade C)

Unresectable disease or incomplete macroscopic clearance:

• 54 Gy in 30 fractions; a phase 2 boost of 5.4 Gy in 3 fractions may be used respecting organ-at-risk constraints (Grade C)

For paraspinal tumours:

• 50.4 Gy in 30 fractions either as a single phase or an initial phase of 45 Gy in 25 fractions followed by a boost of 5.4 Gy in 3 fractions

For patients at risk of microscopic disease following surgery:

• 54 Gy in 30 fractions, delivered with an initial phase of 45 Gy in 25 fractions followed by a 9 Gy in 5 fractions boost (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹⁶

16 Sarcoma

Ewing-type tumours: Lung metastases

Curative intent multimodality treatment for patients with lung metastases includes wholelung radiotherapy (in patients who have not received busulphan).²³ Recommended doses for whole-lung radiotherapy in the Euro Ewing 99 study were 15 Gy (for patients <14 years of age) or 18 Gy (patients <14 years) delivered with 1.5 Gy daily fractions or alternatively using bi-daily fractionation with 1.25 Gy per fraction.^{24,25} An appropriate bi-daily fractionation schedule would be 17.5 Gy in 14 fractions of 1.25 Gy per fraction over 2 weeks with a minimum of a 6-hour interfraction interval. Other centres have reported that a dose of 15 Gy in 10 fractions over 3 weeks is well tolerated in an adult population.²³ Whole-lung radiotherapy should be computed tomography (CT) planned with an inhomogeneity correction.

Recommendations

Doses are based on the current Euro Ewing 2012 radiotherapy protocol.²¹

Whole-lung radiotherapy:

<14 years of age:

• 15 Gy in 10 fractions over 2 weeks (Grade C)

≥14 years of age:

• 18 Gy in 12 fractions over 2.5 weeks (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹⁶

Rhabdomyosarcoma

Paediatric-type rhabdomyosarcomas (alveolar and embryonal) are relatively radiosensitive disease. In the current FAR-RMS protocol, disease is classified according to PAX-FOXO1 status (PAX-FOXO1 positive is classified as unfavourable disease). When surgical resection is feasible or appropriate, this is usually carried out after preliminary chemotherapeutic cytoreduction. If it is anticipated surgery will result in a marginal resection, preoperative radiotherapy is considered. Where surgery has been considered as primary local treatment and a radical surgical clear resection margin is not achieved then postoperative radiotherapy is recommended. Surgical resection may not be feasible or appropriate for certain anatomical sites (for example, head and neck, spine, pelvis), in which case radiotherapy can be used as a primary radical treatment.³

16 Sarcoma

Recommendations

Primary disease and involved lymph nodes where applicable:

- Complete response after induction chemotherapy: 41.4 Gy in 23 daily fractions over 4.5 weeks for preoperative radiotherapy or postoperative radiotherapy
- Incomplete response after induction chemotherapy and inoperable disease: 50.4 Gy in 28 daily fractions over 5.5 weeks

Metastatic disease:

• Favourable disease (PAX-FOXO1 negative): all sites – 41.4 Gy in 23 daily fractions over 4.5 weeks

Additional considerations:

In cases of malignant ascites, or diffuse peritoneal involvement, whole-abdominal radiotherapy should be considered. The usual dose will be 24 Gy in 16 daily fractions (or equivalent), followed by a boost to the primary tumour site (where identifiable) up to a dose of 41.4 Gy (microscopic disease) or 50.4 Gy (macroscopic disease).

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹⁶

Bone sarcomas

Patients should be treated within a dedicated bone sarcoma centre to determine the suitability of radiotherapy.

Osteosarcoma

Radiotherapy is recommended in the management of osteosarcomas, for unresectable primary tumours where surgery would be unacceptably morbid or as adjuvant treatment of tumours at high risk of local recurrence and with limited options for further surgery.²⁵

Chondrosarcoma

Radiotherapy can be considered for unresectable disease (primary or recurrent), after incomplete surgery and for symptom palliation. Modern radiotherapy techniques with the ability to safely deliver high doses, including heavy particle therapy, should be considered whenever felt to be technically appropriate. High-dose radiotherapy is recommended for patients with skull base chondrosarcomas, based on the excellent outcome reported (80–90% local control rates).
16 Sarcoma

Chordoma

Chordomas arise from the persistent notochordal elements in the spine (sacrum 50%, mobile spine 20%) and in the skull base (30%). Extraskeletal cases are extremely rare. Patients with chordoma should be managed within a bone sarcoma multidisciplinary team (MDT). Local control will be with surgery or radiotherapy or both. Base of skull chordoma should be discussed at an appropriate MDT with the necessary expertise.^{26–28}

Recommendations

Chordoma:

- Adjuvant radiotherapy: 70.2–75.6 Gy in 39–42 fractions depending on resection margins
- Radiotherapy can also be given as a split preoperative and postoperative schedule
- Definitive radiotherapy: 75.6 Gy in 42 fractions

Chondrosarcoma and osteosarcoma:

- Adjuvant radiotherapy limb: 60–66 Gy in 30–33 fractions depending on margins
- Adjuvant radiotherapy for pelvis and spine: 68.4–75.6 Gy in 38–42 fractions depending on margins and site
- Definitive radiotherapy: 75.6 Gy in 42 fractions

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹⁶

Palliation

Radiotherapy is used to palliate locally uncontrolled and distant disease. With little evidence available, the selection of dose fractionation schedules is individualised. Higher total doses may be appropriate for selected patients with local disease to obtain more durable local control. In patients with metastatic soft-tissue sarcoma, a recent series reported a high rate of durable pain control with a dose of 39 Gy in 13 fractions (biologically effective dose [BED] 68 Gy with $\alpha\beta$ =4) (Level 4); this may be limited to 36 Gy in 12 fractions when in close proximity to critical structures.^{9,29}

Recommendations

Additional palliative radiotherapy schedules to consider in sarcoma include:

- 36 Gy in 6 fractions over 6 weeks (Grade D)
- 36 Gy in 12 fractions over 2.5 weeks (Grade D)
- 45 Gy in 15 fractions over 3 weeks (Grade D)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹⁶

16

- 1. Haas RLM, Delaney TF, O'Sullivan B *et al*. Radiotherapy for management of extremity soft tissue sarcomas: why, when, and where? *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2012; **84**(3): 572–80.
- 2. Bone sarcomas: ESMO-EURACAN-GENTURIS-ERN PaedCan clinical practice guideline for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. *Ann Oncol* 2021; **32**(12): 1520–1536.
- 3. FAR-RMS: An overarching study for children and adults with Frontline and Relapsed RhabdoMyoSarcoma.
- Grilley-Olson JE, Webber NP, Demos DS, Christensen JD, Kirsch, DG. Multidisciplinary management of oligometastatic soft tissue sarcoma. Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book 2018; 38: 939–948.
- 5. Lievens Y, Guckenberger M, Gomez D *et al*. Defining oligometastatic disease from a radiation oncology perspective: an ESTRO-ASTRO consensus document. *Radiother Oncol* 2020; **148**: 157–166.
- 6. Yang JC, Chang AE, Baker AR *et al*. Randomized prospective study of the benefit of adjuvant radiation therapy in the treatment of soft tissue sarcomas of the extremity. *J Clin Oncol* 1998; **16**(1): 197–203.
- 7. O'Sullivan B, Davis AM, Turcotte R *et al*. Preoperative versus postoperative radiotherapy in soft-tissue sarcoma of the limbs: a randomised trial. *Lancet* 2002; **359**(9325): 2235–2241.
- 8. Robinson MH, Gaunt P, Grimer R *et al.* Vortex trial: a randomized controlled multicenter phase 3 trial of volume of postoperative radiation therapy given to adult patients with extremity soft tissue sarcoma (STS). *Int J Radiat Oncol* 2016; **96**: S1.
- Davis AM O'Sullivan B, Bell RS *et al*. Function and health status outcomes in a randomized trial comparing preoperative and postoperative radiotherapy in extremity soft tissue sarcoma. *J Clin Oncol* 2002; 20(22): 4472–7.
- O'Sullivan B, Griffin AM, Dickie Cl et al. Phase 2 study of preoperative image-guided intensity-modulated radiation therapy to reduce wound and combined modality morbidities in lower extremity soft tissue sarcoma. Cancer 2013; 119(10): 1878–84.
- 11. Lansu J, Bovee JVMG, Braam P *et al*. Dose reduction of preoperative radiotherapy in myxoid liposarcoma: a nonrandomized controlled trial. *JAMA Oncol* 2021; **7**(1): e205865.
- 12. Boughzala-Bennadji R, Stoeckle E, Le Pechoux C *et al*. Localized myxofibrosarcomas: roles of surgical margins and adjuvant radiation therapy. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2018; **102**(2): 399–406.
- Zagars GK, Ballo MT. Significance of dose in postoperative radiotherapy for soft tissue sarcoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2003; 56(2): 473–481.
- 14. Delaney TF, Kepka L, Goldberg SI *et al*. Radiation therapy for control of soft-tissue sarcomas resected with positive margins. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2007; **67**(5): 1460–1469.
- 15. Kosela-Paterczyk H, Szacht M, Morysinski T *et al*. Preoperative hypofractionated radiotherapy in the treatment of localized soft tissue sarcomas. *Eur J Surg Oncol* 2014; **40**(12): 1641–1647.
- www.cebm.ox.ac.uk/resources/levels-of-evidence/oxford-centre-for-evidence-based-medicine-levels-ofevidence-march-2009 (last accessed 28/11/2023).
- Bonvalot S, Gronchi, Le Pechoux C. Preoperative radiotherapy plus surgery versus surgery alone for patients with primary retroperitoneal sarcoma (EORTC-62092: STRASS): a multicentre, open-label, randomised, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2020; **21**(10): 1366–1377.
- Callegaro S, Raut C, Ajayi T. Preoperative radiotherapy in patients with primary retroperitoneal sarcoma: EORTC-62092 trial (STRASS) versus off-trial (STREXIT) results. Ann Surg 2022; 278(1): 127–134.
- 19. Desmoid Tumour Working Group. The management of desmoid tumours: a joint global consensus-based guideline approach for adult and paediatric patients. *Eur J Cancer* 2020; **127**: 96–107.
- Keus RB, Nout RA, Blay JY et al. Results of a phase II pilot study of moderate dose radiotherapy for inoperable desmoid-type fibromatosis: an EORTC STBSG and ROG study (EORTC 62991–22998). Ann Oncol 2013; 24(10): 2672–2676.



- Indelicato DJ, Keole SR, Shahlaee AH *et al*. Definitive radiotherapy for ewing tumors of extremities and pelvis: long-term disease control, limb function, and treatment toxicity. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2008; 72(3): 871–877.
- 22. Casey DL, Meyers PA, Alektiar KM *et al*. Ewing sarcoma in adults treated with modern radiotherapy techniques. *Radiother Oncol* 2014; **113**(2): 248–253.
- 23. Casey DL, Alektiar KM, Gerber NK, Wolden SL. Whole lung irradiation for adults with pulmonary metastases from Ewing sarcoma. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2014; **89**(5): 1069–1075.
- 24. Ladenstein R, PoÃàtschger U, Le Deley MC *et al*. Primary disseminated multifocal Ewing sarcoma: results of the Euro-EWING 99 trial. *J Clin Oncol* 2010; **28**(20): 3284–3291.
- 25. DeLaney TF, Park L, Goldberg SI et al. Radiotherapy for local control of osteosarcoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2005; 61(2): 492–498.
- 26. Stacchiotti S, Sommer J, Group CGC. Building a global consensus approach to chordoma: a position paper from the medical and patient community. *Lancet Oncol* 2015; **16**(2): e71–e83.
- 27. Demizu Y, Imai R, Kiyohara H *et al*. Carbon ion radiotherapy for sacral chordoma: a retrospective nationwide multicentre study in Japan. *Radiother Oncol* 2020; **154**: 1–5.
- 28. DeLaney TF, Liebsch NJ, Pedlow FX *et al.* Long-term results of phase II study of high dose photon/proton radiotherapy in the management of spine chordomas, chondrosarcomas, and other sarcomas. *J Surg Oncol* 2014; **110**(2): 115–122.
- 29. Soyfer V, Corn BW, Kollender Y *et al.* Radiation therapy for palliation of sarcoma metastases: a unique and uniform hypofractionation experience. *Sarcoma* 2010; **2010**: 927–972.

Acknowledgements

With thanks to lead author Dr Aisha Miah (The Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust) for reviewing and updating this chapter of the guidance.

Dr Miah would also like to thank Dr Gareth Ayre (North Bristol NHS Trust) and Dr Mahbubl Ahmed (University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust) for their contributions.

Seminoma

Background

Stage I seminoma has a 15–20% risk of relapse; surveillance without treatment is one option. Relapses principally occur in the para-aortic nodes and the risk can be quantified using factors related to the primary tumour.¹ A tumour >4 cm in size is the most important of these; rete testis involvement may also be a predictor.² Adjuvant treatment rather than surveillance may be offered in such cases.

A single dose of carboplatin has been shown to achieve results equal to radiotherapy in terms of overall tumour control and early survival in the TE19 randomised trial.³ This approach has now become the standard of care (Level 1b).⁴

If radiotherapy is considered in this setting then a dose of 20 Gy in 10 daily fractions treating the para-aortic node chain only has been shown to be as effective as 30 Gy or larger fields (Level 1b).^{4,5}

Germ cell neoplasia *in situ* is a premalignant change of testicular tissue with a high rate of progression to invasive cancer. In patients with solitary testis, radiotherapy is recommended as an alternative to surgery where patients have adequate testosterone production to avoid replacement therapy (Level 2b).^{4,6,7} This approach may preserve testosterone production but would still cause infertility, though there is a risk of later Leydig cell insufficiency, with studies reporting a testosterone decline of 3.6% per year and a 30–50% risk of requiring testosterone replacement in their lifetime.⁸

Radiotherapy may also be considered for selected patients with stage IIA and IIB seminoma where there are metastatic para-aortic nodes up to 5 cm.⁹ A dose of 30 Gy in 15 daily fractions to the para-aortic nodal chain and ipsilateral iliac nodes is recommended. A boost of 5–6 Gy to enlarged lymph nodes may be considered (Level 2b).^{4,10,11}

Multimodal treatment strategy is an alternative approach in stages IIA and IIB seminoma, which combines a single dose of carboplatin followed by radiotherapy with a de-escalated field size. One technique is to treat the para-aortic node chain only to 30 Gy in 15 fractions (Level 1b).^{4,12} The other technique treats involved node only but stratifies stage IIA to receive 30 Gy in 15 fractions and stage IIB to receive 36 Gy in 18 fractions (Level 1b).^{4,13,14}

Radiotherapy carries an excess risk of death as a result of radiation-induced second cancer.⁵ Follow-up at 30 years shows that the relative risk of second malignancy is 1.4; this translates into an increase in the risk of cancer from 15% for the normal population to 25% for the seminoma cohort at 30 years (Level 2b).^{4,15} These data are mainly from patients receiving para-aortic and pelvic radiotherapy. The risk for patients receiving para-aortic radiotherapy only is predicted to be lower but long-term data are lacking.¹⁶



Recommendations

Single-agent carboplatin will be the usual adjuvant treatment for high-risk stage I disease seminoma (Grade B).

Stage I seminoma for which adjuvant para-aortic radiotherapy is indicated:

• 20 Gy in 10 fractions over 2 weeks (Grade A)

Germ cell neoplasia in situ in patients with solitary testis:

• 18–20 Gy in 9–10 fractions over 2 weeks (Grade B)

Stage IIA or IIB seminoma: para-aortic and ipsilateral iliac radiotherapy (dog leg) or para-aortic radiotherapy alone after carboplatin:

• 30 Gy in 15 fractions over 3 weeks (Grade B)

Involved-node only radiotherapy after carboplatin:

- Stage IIA seminoma 30 Gy in 15 fractions over 3 weeks (Grade B)
- Stage IIB seminoma 36 Gy in 18 fractions over 3.5 weeks (Grade B)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁴

- 1. Warde P, Specht L, Horwich A et al. Prognostic factors for relapse in stage I seminoma managed by surveillance: a pooled analysis. J Clin Oncol 2002; **20**(22): 448–452.
- 2. Chung P, Daugaard G, Tyldesley S *et al*. Evaluation of a prognostic model for risk of relapse in stage I seminoma surveillance. *Cancer Med* 2015; **4**(1): 155–160.
- Oliver RT, Mead GM, Rustin GJ et al. Randomized trial of carboplatin versus radiotherapy for stage I seminoma: mature results on relapse and contralateral testis cancer rates in MRC TE19/EORTC 30982 study (ISRCTN27163214). J Clin Oncol 2011; 29(8): 957–962.
- www.cebm.ox.ac.uk/resources/levels-of-evidence/oxford-centre-for-evidence-based-medicine-levels-ofevidence-march-2009 (last accessed 28/11/2023).
- Jones WG, Fossa SD, Mead GM *et al.* Randomised trial of 30 versus 20 Gy in the adjuvant treatment of stage I testicular seminoma: a report on Medical Research Council trial TE18, European Organisation for the Research and Treatment of Cancer trial 30942 (ISRCTN 18525328). *J Clin Oncol* 2005; 23(6): 1200–1208.
- Classen J, Dieckmann K, Bamberg M et al. Radiotherapy with 16 Gy may fail to eradicate testicular intraepithelial neoplasia: preliminary communication of a dose-reduction trial of the German Testicular Cancer Study Group. Br J Cancer 2003; 88(6): 828–831.
- 7. Hoei-Hansen C, Rajpert-De Meyts E, Daugaard G, Skakkebaek N. Carcinoma *in situ* testis, the progenitor of testicular germ cell tumours: a clinical review. *Ann Oncol* 2005; **16**(6): 863–868.

17 Seminoma

- 8. Petersen P, Giwercman A, Daugaard G et al. Effect of graded testicular doses of radiotherapy in patients treated for carcinoma-in-situ in the testis. J Clin Oncol 2002; **20**(6): 1537–1543.
- 9. Giannatempo P, Greco T, Mariani L *et al.* Radiotherapy or chemotherapy for clinical stage IIA and IIB seminoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis of patient outcomes. *Ann Oncol* 2015; **26**(4): 657–656.
- Oldenburg J, Berney D, Bokemeyer C et al. Testicular seminoma and non-seminoma: ESMO-EURACAN clinical practice guideline for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 2022; 33(4): 362–375.
- Tandstad T, Smaaland R, Solberg A et al. Management of seminomatous testicular cancer: a binational prospective population-based study from the Swedish Norwegian testicular cancer study group. J Clin Oncol 2011; 29(6): 719–725.
- 12. Horwich A, Dearnaley DP, Sohaib A, Pennert K, Huddart RA. Neoadjuvant carboplatin before radiotherapy in stage IIA and IIB seminoma. *Ann Oncol* 2013; **24**(8): 2104–2107.
- Heinzelbecker J, Schmidt S, Lackner J et al. Therapy of clinical stage IIA and IIB seminoma: a systematic review. World J Urol 2022 Dec; 40(12): 2829–2841.
- Papachristofilou A, Bedke J, Hayoz S et al. Single-dose carboplatin followed by involved-node radiotherapy for stage IIA and stage IIB seminoma (SAKK 01/10): a single-arm, multicentre, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol 2022; 23: 1441–50.
- Zagars GK, Ballo MT, Lee AK, Strom SS. Mortality after cure of testicular seminoma. J Clin Oncol 2004; 22(4): 640–647.
- 16. Zwahlen D, Martin J, Millar J, Schneider U. Effect of Radiotherapy Volume and Dose on Secondary Cancer Risk in Stage I Testicular Seminoma. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2008; **70**(3): 853–858.

Acknowledgements

With thanks to lead authors Prof Robert Huddart (The Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust) and Dr JunHao Lim (Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust) for reviewing and updating this chapter of the guidance.

Skin cancer

Squamous cell carcinoma and basal cell carcinoma

Background

Surgery and radiotherapy are both highly effective curative treatment modalities for cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) and basal cell carcinoma (BCC). The choice of treatment modality is determined by factors including tumour size, location, performance status (PS), age and functional/cosmetic outcomes.

Surgery is generally preferred for younger patients. Primary radiotherapy is often preferred for regions around the lower eyelids, nose and ear, where better function and cosmetic results can be achieved. Radiotherapy to the lower leg can lead to high risk of radionecrosis and ulceration due to poor vasculature, especially in older patients. Skin radiotherapy can be delivered as external beam or brachytherapy.¹ Brachytherapy is reported to offer favourable cosmesis over external beam in selected patients with SCC and BCC.^{2,3} There appears to be a slightly higher local recurrence rate following radiotherapy for SCC compared with BCC.⁴⁻⁶

Postoperative radiotherapy for SCC should be considered for high-risk features.^{7,8} Elective irradiation of first-echelon lymph nodes can be considered for higher-risk SCC.^{8,9}

There are no randomised studies examining dose fractionation; in addition, most historical series report use of multiple dose fractionation schedules.¹⁰ As a consequence, there is wide variation in both total dose and dose per fraction in commonly used schedules, with a variety of pragmatic hypofractionated schedules.^{10,11} Similar doses are used for BCC and SCC, although some suggest higher doses for SCC.¹²

Standard fractionation has long been considered a standard approach to reduce long-term toxicity.⁵ A meta-analysis of patients with SCC and BCC showed that hypofractionation has favourable cosmesis and recommended the use of regimens with BED3 of ~100 Gy, such as 50 Gy in 15 fractions, 36.75 Gy in 7 fractions or 35 Gy in 5 fractions, as they result in 'good' long-term cosmesis in 80% of patients.⁵

In a large retrospective series of 1,005 predominantly small BCCs and SCCs, single-fraction doses of 18, 20 and 22.5 Gy provided a 5-year local control rate of 90%; the skin necrosis-free rate at 5 years was 84% and skin necrosis occurred more frequently with the 22.5 Gy dose (Level 4).^{13,14}

The relative biological effectiveness of electrons and photons is around 10% less than that for superficial X-rays; treatment with electrons or photons therefore, theoretically, requires a corresponding increase in dose, although this is often not considered in practice.¹⁵

18

Recommendations

The following schedules are examples of those appropriate for the treatment of skin SCCs and BCCs either definitively or adjuvantly:

- Single fraction 18–20 Gy (field size <3 cm) (Grade C)
- 32.5–35 Gy in 4–5 fractions over 1 week (small lesions <4 cm) (Grade C)
- 45 Gy in 10 fractions over 2–3 weeks (Grade C)
- 50 Gy in 15–20 fractions over 3–4 weeks (Grade C)
- 55 Gy in 20 fractions over 4 weeks (Grade C)

If large area and/or in area of poor radiation tolerance:

• 60 Gy in 30 fractions over 6 weeks (Grade C)

The choice of dose fractionation considers patient factors, tumour and field size.

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹⁴

Squamous cell carcinoma and regional lymph node disease

Background

Surgical management of regional lymph node disease is regarded as the treatment of choice. Retrospective studies have demonstrated an association of higher regional disease control rates with surgery and adjuvant radiotherapy.^{7,8}

Several series report multiple factors predictive of regional relapse after surgery, including lymph node \geq 3 cm, multiple involved nodes and extracapsular spread.^{7,8,16,17}

In the head and neck region, the use of adjuvant radiotherapy has been shown to reduce regional recurrence rates and improve disease-free survival.¹⁸

In a large retrospective series the median dose employed was 60 Gy in 30 fractions with a dose of 50 Gy in 25 fractions to elective at-risk regions (Level 4).¹⁸ Optimal adjuvant dose fractionation will depend upon the anatomical site. In the head and neck region, doses of up to 66 Gy in 33 fractions can be considered in the presence of extracapsular spread.⁸

Radical radiotherapy can be considered if surgery is inappropriate or declined.

18 Skin cancer

Recommendations

For adjuvant radiotherapy to nodal regions considered at high risk of relapse after lymphadenectomy:

• 50–60 Gy in 25–30 fractions over 5–6 weeks (Grade C)

In high pathological risk features in the head and neck region:

• 66 Gy in 33 fractions over 6.5 weeks (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹⁴

- 1. Veness MJ, Delishaj D, Barnes EA, Bezugly A, Rembielak A. Current role of radiotherapy in non-melanoma skin cancer. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* 2019; **31**(11): 749–758. doi:10.1016/j.clon.2019.08.004.
- Zaorsky NG, Lee CT, Zhang E, Galloway TJ. Skin cancer brachytherapy vs external beam radiation therapy (SCRiBE) meta-analysis. *Radiother Oncol* 2018; **126**(3): 386–393. doi:10.1016/j.radonc.2017.12.029.
- 3. Guinot JL, Rembielak A, Perez-Calatayud J *et al*. GEC-ESTRO ACROP recommendations in skin brachytherapy. *Radiother Oncol* 2018; **126**(3): 377–385. doi:10.1016/j.radonc.2018.01.013.
- 4. Lovett RD, Perez CA, Shapiro SJ, Garcia DM. External irradiation of epithelial skin cancer. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 1990; **19**(2): 235–242.
- Zaorsky NG, Lee CT, Zhang E, Keith SW, Galloway TJ. Hypofractionated radiation therapy for basal and squamous cell skin cancer: a meta-analysis. *Radiother Oncol* 2017; **125**(1): 13–20. doi:10.1016/j. radonc.2017.08.011.
- Gunaratne DA, Veness MJ. Efficacy of hypofractionated radiotherapy in patients with non-melanoma skin cancer: results of a systematic review. J Med Imaging Radiat Oncol 2018; 62(3): 401–411. doi:10.1111/1754-9485.12718.
- Keohane SG, Botting J, Budny PG et al. British Association of Dermatologists guidelines for the management of people with cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma 2020 [published correction appears in *Br J Dermatol* 2021 Sep; 185(3): 686] [published correction appears in *Br J Dermatol* 2022 Mar; 186(3): 596–597]. *Br J Dermatol* 2021; 184(3): 401–414. doi:10.1111/bjd.19621.
- Likhacheva A, Awan M, Barker CA et al. Definitive and postoperative radiation therapy for basal and squamous cell cancers of the skin: executive summary of an American Society for Radiation Oncology clinical practice guideline. Pract Radiat Oncol 2020; 10(1): 8–20. doi:10.1016/j.prro.2019.10.014.
- 9. Wray J, Amdur RJ, Morris CG, Werning J, Mendenhall WM. Efficacy of elective nodal irradiation in skin squamous cell carcinoma of the face, ears, and scalp. *Radiat Oncol* 2015; **10**: 199. doi:10.1186/s13014-015-0509-2.

18 Skin cancer

- Cho M, Gordon L, Rembielak A, Woo TC. Utility of radiotherapy for treatment of basal cell carcinoma: a review. Br J Dermatol 2014; 171(5): 968–973.
- McPartlin AJ, Slevin NJ, Sykes AJ, Rembielak A. Radiotherapy treatment of non-melanoma skin cancer: a survey of current UK practice and commentary. Br J Radiol 2014; 87(1043): 20140501.
- 12. Locke J, Karimpour S, Young G, Lockett MA, Perez CA. Radiotherapy for epithelial skin cancer. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2001; **51**(3): 748–755.
- Chan S, Dhadda AS, Swindell R. Single fraction radiotherapy for small superficial carcinoma of the skin. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 2007; 19(4): 256–259.
- www.cebm.ox.ac.uk/resources/levels-of-evidence/oxford-centre-for-evidence-based-medicine-levels-ofevidence-march-2009 (last accessed 28/11/2023).
- 15. Herskind C, Ma L, Liu, Q et al. Biology of high single doses of IORT: RBE, 5 R's, and other biological aspects. *Radiat Oncol* 2017; **12**(24). doi:10.1186/s13014-016-0750-3.
- Veness MJ, Porceddu S, Palme CE, Morgan GJ. Cutaneous head and neck squamous cell carcinoma metastatic to parotid and cervical lymph nodes. *Head Neck* 2007; 29(7): 621–631.
- 17. Porceddu SV, Veness MJ, Guminski A. Nonmelanoma cutaneous head and neck cancer and merkel cell carcinoma: current concepts, advances, and controversies. *J Clin Oncol* 2015; **33**(29): 3338–3345.
- Veness MJ, Morgan GJ, Palme CE, Gebski V. Surgery and adjuvant radiotherapy in patients with cutaneous head and neck squamous cell carcinoma metastatic to lymph nodes: combined treatment should be considered best practice. *Laryngoscope* 2005; **115**(5): 870–875.

Melanoma

Background

Melanoma has high repair capacity; this is evidenced by per fraction cell kill seen in *in vitro* cell lines irradiated with 2 Gy fractions.^{1,2} Despite the high repair capacity, radiotherapy has an established role in certain circumstances and modest hypofractionation beyond 2.5 Gy per fraction may be advantageous, although randomised data defining the most effective dose fractionation schedule is lacking.

The primary treatment for cutaneous melanoma is complete local excision followed by adjuvant systemic therapy in those at high risk of cancer recurrence. Adjuvant radiotherapy 48 Gy in 20 daily fractions over 4 weeks delivered to the lymph node basin after lymphadenectomy reduces risk of relapse in the lymph node basin when compared with surveillance (21% versus 36%, p=0.023). Adjuvant radiotherapy delivered to the lymph node basin has no impact on relapse-free or overall survival.³ An alternative hypofractionated schedule of 30 Gy in 5 fractions over 2.5 weeks is reported retrospectively from a single centre with high rates of locoregional control (94%) and low rates of late Grade 2 toxicity (10%).⁴ The data for mucosal melanoma in the postoperative setting mirror the above, with adjuvant radiotherapy impacting upon local control (HR 0.51 [95% CI 0.35–0.76], p=0.155) but not impacting on risk of distant metastasis (HR 2.26 [95% CI 1.01–5.05], p=0.006).⁵

Adjuvant radiotherapy delivered to the lymph node basin in high-risk melanoma is associated with 20% risk of high-grade toxicity and is therefore not considered as the standard of care; this is because improvements in local control do not translate to improvements in the rate of distant metastatic spread or overall survival.³

Definitive radiotherapy for melanoma has a role where the primary disease is unresectable. Small case series in mucosal melanomas report 50% 3-year local control with hypofractionated regimens, an example being 50 Gy in 15 daily fractions over 3 weeks.^{6,7} The Royal College of Radiologists Clinical Oncology

18

Desmoplastic melanoma is a rare melanoma subtype predominantly developing in sunexposed sites and is associated with perineural spread with an increased risk of local recurrence.^{8,9} Adjuvant radiotherapy 48 Gy in 20 daily fractions over 4 weeks improves local control (HR 0.48 [95% CI 0.27–0.87], p=0.02) in instances where the pathological resection margins were less than 8 mm.^{8–10} There is no benefit from adjuvant radiotherapy where resection margins are 8 mm or greater.¹⁰

Lentigo maligna is an *in situ* melanoma developing in regions of sun-damaged skin characterised by atypical melanocytes involving the dermo-epidermal junction. Lentigo maligna can progress to lentigo maligna melanoma in up to 50% of cases. The gold standard approach is surgical resection with a 5 mm margin with Mohs' surgery considered for selected anatomical sites. Non-surgical approaches include topical therapies and radiotherapy; both non-surgical approaches have advantages in this often older patient population where the primary lesion can be ill defined and where extensive surgical resection and reconstruction has added morbidity. Systematic review reports 5% recurrence rate of lentigo maligna at 3 years following definitive radiotherapy.¹¹ Reported schedules extend from 35 Gy in 5 fractions over 5 weeks to 54 Gy in 27 fractions over 5.5 weeks. The RADICAL trial (NCT02394132) evaluating 2-year local recurrence in those treated with non-surgical therapies has completed recruitment and is in follow-up.¹²

20–30% of patients with advanced melanoma develop brain metastases within the first year of diagnosis.¹³ Historical data report that whole-brain radiotherapy (WBRT) improves neurological symptoms in 76%, with 31% reporting complete symptom response.¹⁴ Despite this, the median overall survival of the cohort was short at 10 and 14 weeks.¹⁴

Modern systemic therapies offer high overall response rate within the brain; most of the systemic therapies can be combined or sequenced alongside stereotactic radiosurgery or stereotactic radiotherapy (see chapter on 'Brain metastases'). WBRT should now not be routinely offered to patients with brain metastases. The sequencing of stereotactic radiosurgery and stereotactic radiotherapy alongside systemic therapy is being explored in clinical trials.

Radiotherapy for palliation of symptomatic melanoma metastases outside brain is effective, yielding complete and partial pain response in 9–25% and 35–75% of instances.^{15–17} Standard palliative schedules such as 20 Gy in 5 fractions over 7 days or 8 Gy in 1 fraction are feasible for those whose PS precludes longer fractionated schedules.

Large case series report total dose greater than 30 Gy to be associated with improved palliative outcomes.¹⁷ The choice of dose and fractionation in the palliative setting should be tailored to the needs of each patient.

18 Skin cancer

Recommendations

Adjuvant radiotherapy to the lymph node basin improves local control but is not considered as the standard of care for high-risk melanoma:

- 48 Gy in 20 fractions over 4 weeks (Grade A)
- 50-60 Gy in 25-30 fractions over 5-6 weeks (Grade C)

Definitive radiotherapy to primary unresectable disease:

50 Gy in 15 fractions over 3 weeks (Grade C)

Desmoplastic melanoma:

48 Gy in 20 fractions over 4 weeks (Grade C)

Palliative radiotherapy:

- 30 Gy in 10 fractions over 2 weeks (Grade C)
- 20 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week (Grade B)
- 8 Gy in 1 fraction over 1 day (Grade B)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹⁸

- 1. Dewey DL. The radiosensitivity of melanoma cells in culture. Br J Radiol 1971; 44(526): 816–17.
- Barranco SC, Romsdahl MM, Humphrey RM. The radiation response of human malignant melanoma cells grown in vitro. Cancer Res 1971; 31(6): 830–3.
- Burmeister BH, Henderson MA, Ainslie J et al. Adjuvant radiotherapy versus observation alone for patients at risk of lymph-node field relapse after therapeutic lymphadenectomy for melanoma: 6 year follow-up. Lancet Oncol 2015; 16(9): 1049–1060.
- 4. Ballo MT, Bonnen MD, Garden AS *et al*. Adjuvant irradiation for cervical lymph node metastases from melanoma. *Cancer* 2003; **97**(7): 1789–1796.
- 5. Li W, Yu Y, Wang H, Yan A, Jiang X. Evaluation of the prognostic impact of postoperative adjuvant radiotherapy on head and neck mucosal melanoma: a meta-analysis. *BMC Cancer* 2015; **15**: 758.
- Gilligan D, Slevin NJ. Radical radiotherapy for 28 cases of mucosal melanoma in the nasal cavity and sinuses. Br J Radiol 1991; 64(768): 1147–50.
- 7. Wada H, Nemoto K, Ogawa Y *et al.* A multi-institutional retrospective analysis of external radiotherapy for mucosal melanoma of the head and neck in Northern Japan. IJROBP 2004; **59**(2): 495–500.
- Strom T, Caudell JJ, Han D et al. Radiotherapy influences local control in patients with desmoplastic melanoma. Cancer 2014; 120(9): 1369–1378.
- 9. Guadagnolo BA, Prieto V, Weber R, Ross MI, Zagars GK. The role of adjuvant radiotherapy in the local management of desmoplastic melanoma. *Cancer* 2014; **120**(9): 1361–1368.
- Varey AHR, Goumas C, Hong AM et al. Neutrotropic melanoma: an analysis of the clinicopathological features, management strategies and survival outcomes for 671 patients treated at a tertiary referral centre. Mod Pathol 2017; 30: 1538–50.

- 11. Fogarty GB, Hong A, Scolyer RA *et al*. Radiotherapy for lentigo maligna: a literature review and recommendations for treatment. *Br J Dermatol* 2014; **170**(1): 52–8.
- 12. Kanitakis J. Treatment of lentigo maligna: review. World Acad Sci J 2021; 3(3): 22.
- 13. Zhang D, Wang Z, Shang D, Yu J, Yuan S. Incidence and prognosis of brain metastases in cutaneous melanoma patients: a population-based study. *Melanoma Res* 2019; **29**: 77–84.
- Carella RJ, Gelber R, Hendrickson F et al. Value of radiation therapy in the management of patients with cerebral metastases from malignant melanoma: Radiation Therapy Oncology Group brain metastases study I and II. Cancer 1980; 45(4): 679–683.
- Sause WT, Cooper JS, Rush S et al. Fraction size in external beam radiation therapy in the treatment of melanoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1991; 20(3): 429–32.
- Kirova YM, Chen J, Rabarijaona LI *et al*. Radiotherapy as palliative treatment for metastatic melanoma. *Melanoma Res* 1999; **9**(6): 611–3.
- 17. Olivier KR, Schild SE, Morris CG, Brown PD, Markovic SN. A higher radiotherapy dose is associated with more durable palliation and longer survival in patients with metastatic melanoma. *Cancer* 2007; **110**(8): 1791–5.
- www.cebm.ox.ac.uk/resources/levels-of-evidence/oxford-centre-for-evidence-based-medicine-levels-ofevidence-march-2009 (last accessed 28/11/2023).

Merkel cell carcinoma

Background

Merkel cell carcinoma (MCC) is an uncommon but highly aggressive cutaneous neuroendocrine tumour with the highest mortality rate compared with other skin cancers.¹ Advanced aged, immunosuppression, Merkel cell polyomavirus and ultraviolet light exposure are hypothesised to be risk factors.^{2–4}

International guidance for stages I–III MCC recommends surgery with a 1–2 cm margin as the primary treatment, with radiotherapy to the tumour bed and draining lymphatics reserved for postoperative high-risk cases, close margins or inoperable disease.^{5,6}

MCC is radiosensitive,⁷ and this has led to an established role for radiation therapy in primary management, particularly in Australia.^{8,9} Due to the rare nature of this tumour, previous studies have largely been limited to case series with relatively small heterogeneous samples, and thus optimal management and dose and fractionation for MCC remains a subject of some debate. There are no randomised controlled trials to assess optimal dose and fractionation.

A large retrospective analysis of 2,735 patients from the National Cancer Database for patients with stages I–III MCC found that adjuvant radiotherapy doses of less than 50 Gy were associated with an increased hazard of death in all stages and anatomical sites (Level 3a).¹⁰

Radiotherapy in the radical setting can provide clinically meaningful outcomes with locoregional control rates of 75–85% with radiotherapy doses of 60–66 Gy in conventional 2 Gy fractions (Level 3a).^{5,6,11} For T1 MCC, a dose of 57 Gy in 24 fractions is appropriate (Level 5).¹²

Hypofractionation can be considered; a retrospective study of 241 patients demonstrated that 45–50 Gy in 20 fractions and 30–35 Gy in 10 fractions produced no difference in infield or distant recurrence over 2 years compared with conventionally fractioned regimens (Level 3b).¹³



Recommendations

Primary MCC and/or draining lymph node regions:

Definitive treatment:

- 60–66 Gy in 30–33 fractions over 6–6.5 weeks (Grade C)
- 50–55 Gy in 20–25 fractions over 4–5 weeks (Grade C)
- 45–50 Gy in 20 fractions over 4 weeks (Grade D)
- 30–35 Gy in 10 fractions over 2 weeks (Grade D)

Adjuvant treatment:

• 50–60 Gy in 25–30 fractions over 5–6 weeks (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹⁴

- 1. Hodgson NC. Merkel cell carcinoma: changing incidence trends. J Surg Oncol 2005; 89(1): 1-4.
- Agelli M, Clegg LX, Becker JC, Rollison DE. The etiology and epidemiology of Merkel cell carcinoma. Curr Probl Cancer 2010; 34(1): 14–37.
- Rollison DE, Giuliano AR, Becker JC. New virus associated with Merkel cell carcinoma development. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2010; 8(8): 874–880.
- Akaike T, Nghiem P. Scientific and clinical developments in Merkel cell carcinoma: a polyomavirus-driven, often-lethal skin cancer. J Dermatol Sci 2022; 105(1): 2–10.
- Schmults CD. Merkel cell cancer. Version 1.2021 24 March 2022. NCCN guidelines. www.nccn.org/ professionals/physician_gls/pdf/mcc.pdf (accessed 09/06/2022).
- 6. Lebbe C, Becker JC, Grob JJ et al. Diagnosis and treatment of Merkel cell carcinoma. European consensusbased interdisciplinary guideline. Eur J Cancer 2015; **51**(16): 2396–2403.
- Leonard JH, Ramsay JR, Kearsley JH, Birrell GW. Radiation sensitivity of Merkel cell carcinoma cell lines. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1995; 32(5): 1401–1407.
- Kok DL, Wang A, Xu W et al. The changing paradigm of managing Merkel cell carcinoma in Australia: an expert commentary. Asia Pac J Clin Oncol 2020; 16(6): 312–319.
- Wang AJ, McCann B, Soon WCL et al. Merkel cell carcinoma: a forty-year experience at the Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre. BMC Cancer 2023; 23: 30.
- 10. Yusef M, Gaskins J, Weston Wall *et al.* Optimal adjuvant radiotherapy dose for stage I, II or III Merkel cell carcinoma: an analysis of the National Cancer Database. *Jpn J Clin Oncol* 2020; **50**(2): 175–184.
- Gunaratne D, Howle J, Veness M. Definitive radiotherapy for Merkel cell carcinoma confers clinically meaningful in-field locoregional control: a review and analysis of the literature. J Am Acad Dermatology 2017; 77(1).
- Poulsen M, Rischin D, Walpole E et al. High-risk Merkel cell carcinoma of the skin treated with synchronous carboplatin/etoposide and radiation: a Trans-Tasman Radiation Oncology Group study – TROG 96:07. J Clin Oncol 2003 1; 21(23): 4371–6.



- 13. Liu KX, Milligan MG, Schoenfeld JD *et al.* Characterization of clinical outcomes after shorter course hypofractionated and standard-course radiotherapy for stage I–III curatively-treated Merkel cell carcinoma. *Radiother Oncol* 2022; **173**: 32–40.
- 14. www.cebm.ox.ac.uk/resources/levels-of-evidence/oxford-centre-for-evidence-based-medicine-levels-of-evidence-march-2009 (last accessed 28/11/2023).

Reirradiation

Background

Reirradiation of the skin can be considered in the radical, adjuvant (following salvage surgery) or palliative settings in instances where the benefits of exposure to further radiotherapy have been discussed within the multidisciplinary team.

Beyond small case series, there are no data to define the approach to skin reirradiation; the risks and benefits of skin reirradiation should be discussed with the patient.

Palliative radiotherapy to the skin

Background

Palliative radiotherapy is an excellent option for patients where there are no viable curative options.

Radiotherapy in this setting aims to reduce local symptoms and prevent disease-related complications such as bleeding or ulceration but can also potentially achieve local control. Palliative treatment should be minimally invasive and of short duration, especially for patients with poor PS or short life expectancy and for those unable to travel for multiple hospital visits.

Several hypofractionated regimes are used in palliative radiotherapy for skin cancer but it is not possible to offer evidence-based guidelines. Commonly used schedules include single exposure of 12–20 Gy for field size <3 cm, 14.8 Gy in 4 fractions twice daily over 2 consecutive days and repeated at 4-weekly intervals for a further 2 courses (QUAD shot, also used in reirradiation), 20 Gy in 2 fractions 1 week apart, 30 Gy in 10 fractions over 14 days, 30.6 Gy in 3 fractions over 14 days, 40.2 Gy in 6 fractions over 35 days, 35 Gy in 5 fractions 3 times a week, and 8 Gy per fraction delivered on days 0, 7 and 21.^{1–5}

Longer treatment schedules should be considered in patients with favourable prognosis and expected longer-term disease control.²

Palliative radiotherapy schedules should be distinguished from radical treatment used in older or frail patients, such as adaptive split-course radiotherapy or mono- or biweekly hypofractionation.^{6,7}



Cutaneous and subcutaneous metastasis from nonskin primaries

Background

Local radiotherapy is an underused modality for the palliative treatment of symptomatic cutaneous and subcutaneous metastases from non-skin primary cancers.⁸ Radiotherapy schedules used in cutaneous and subcutaneous metastases are consistent with those used in palliative radiotherapy for a skin cancer primary. Field size and dose per fraction will need to be kept in consideration to avoid skin necrosis.

Recommendations

Palliative radiotherapy:

- Single exposure of 12–20 Gy field size <3 cm (Grade C)
- 14.8 Gy in 4 fractions twice daily over 2 consecutive days and repeated at 4-weekly intervals for a further 2 courses (QUAT shot, also used in reirradiation) (Grade C)
- 20 Gy in 2 fractions 1 week apart (Grade C)
- 20 Gy in 5 fractions over 5 days (Grade C)
- 30 Gy in 10 fractions over 14 days (Grade C)
- 30.6 Gy in 3 fractions over 14 days (Grade C)
- 40.2 Gy in 6 fractions over 35 days (Grade C)
- 35 Gy in 5 fractions 3 times a week (Grade C)
- 8 Gy per fraction delivered on days 0, 7 and 21 (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁹

- 1. Vuong W, Lin J, Wei RL. Palliative radiotherapy for skin malignancies. *Ann Palliat Med* 2017 Apr; **6**(2): 165–172. doi:10.21037/apm.2016.11.10.
- Staackmann C, Schild SE, Rades D. Palliative radiotherapy for cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma of the head-and-neck region. *In Vivo* 2021 Jul-Aug; 35(4): 2283–2288. doi:10.21873/invivo.12501.
- Veness M, Richards S. Role of modern radiotherapy in treating skin cancer. *Australas J Dermatol* 2003 Aug; 44(3): 159–66; quiz 167–8.
- 4. Barnes EA, Breen D, Culleton S *et al.* Palliative radiotherapy for non-melanoma skin cancer. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* 2010 Dec; **22**(10): 844-9. doi:10.1016/j.clon.2010.07.014.
- 5. Grewal AS, Jones J, Lin A. Palliative radiation therapy for head and neck cancers. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2019; **105**(2): 254–266. doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2019.05.024.
- 6. Fogarty GB, McLaren KR, Moutrie Z, Poon TSC, Izard MA. Locally advanced skin cancers of the frail and elderly: consider adaptive split-course radiotherapy. *Br J Dermatol* 2018 Dec; **179**(6): 1416–1417.
- 7. Valeriani M, Nicosia L, Agolli L *et al*. Mono- and bi-weekly hypofractionated radiation therapy for the treatment of epithelial skin cancer in very elderly patients. *Anticancer Res* 2017 Feb; **37**(2): 825–830.

18

- 8. Spratt DE, Gordon Spratt EA, Wu S *et al*. Efficacy of skin-directed therapy for cutaneous metastases from advanced cancer: a meta-analysis. *J Clin Oncol* 2014 Oct 1; **32**(28): 3144–55. doi:10.1200/JCO.2014.55.4634.
- 9. www.cebm.ox.ac.uk/resources/levels-of-evidence/oxford-centre-for-evidence-based-medicine-levels-of-evidence-march-2009 (last accessed 28/11/2023).

Acknowledgements

With thanks to lead authors Dr Agata Rembielak (The Christie NHS Foundation Trust), Dr Brendan McCann (Beatson West of Scotland Cancer Centre) and Dr Romaana Mir (Mount Vernon Cancer Centre) for reviewing and updating this chapter of the guidance.

Bone metastases

Localised bone pain in established metastatic disease

Background

Bone metastases may be classified as uncomplicated (accounting for around two-thirds of cases) or complicated, defined by features suggestive of impending or actual fracture, associated soft-tissue mass or neurological deficits.^{1,2}

Uncomplicated bone metastases

Local bone pain responds well with response rates of 70–80% after localised external beam treatment. Since response may take 4–6 weeks to achieve, it is recommended that consideration be given to the patient's prognosis before treatment. A number of large randomised controlled trials have been undertaken to explore the optimal dose, which have been subject to systematic review and meta-analyses. On the basis of this information, the recommended fractionation is a single dose of 8 Gray (Gy) (Level 1a).^{3–5}

Recommendation

For the initial treatment of pain from bone metastases:

• 8 Gy single dose (Grade A)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁶

Bone metastases in oligometastatic disease

In the context of oligometastatic disease, stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) can achieve local control rates of 80% and treatment has been shown to be well tolerated, with low rates of spinal myelopathy (see chapter on oligometastases).

Retreatment

Retreatment should be considered in patients still having clinically significant pain after 4–6 weeks despite optimal analgesic. After a single dose, around 25% of patients may need retreatment at some point.⁷ Limited evidence suggests that response rates are similar



to those after primary treatment.⁸ There are no data to guide optimal dose fractionation for retreatment; a randomised trial compared 8 Gy single dose with 20 Gy in 5 fractions (8 fractions over the spinal cord) and showed no significant difference (Level 1b).^{6,9} Both may be considered acceptable treatments for reirradiation.

Complicated bone metastases

Neuropathic pain

Bone metastases may give rise to pain with neuropathic features rather than simple bone pain. One randomised controlled trial specifically addressed this question, comparing single-dose 8 Gy with multifraction treatment, for most patients 20 Gy in 5 fractions.

No major advantage for the multifraction arm was identified, and the recommendation therefore is that these patients should also receive a single dose of 8 Gy.¹⁰

Recommendations

For the reirradiation of bone metastases:

- 8 Gy single dose (Grade B)
- 20 Gy in 5 daily fractions (or 8 fractions over the spinal cord) over 1 week (Grade B)

For the treatment of neuropathic pain from bone metastases:

• 8 Gy single dose (Grade A)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁶

Pathological fracture

Prophylaxis

Bone metastases with high risk of pathological fracture can be identified from their radiological appearances. Suggested parameters include those with >50% cortical destruction, >3 cm maximum diameter, axial cortical involvement >3 cm and multifocal lytic disease.¹¹ Surgical fixation should be considered.

If radiotherapy is to be used, there is no consensus on the best fractionation in this setting. Higher-risk lesions were in general excluded from fractionation trials. Common practice would be for these patients to receive a fractionated regimen such as 20 Gy in 5 fractions or 8 Gy single dose (Level 5). 19 Bone metastases

Recommendations

To prevent pathological fracture:

- 8 Gy single dose (Grade C) or
- 20 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁶

Established fracture

Bones such as ribs, vertebrae and pelvic and shoulder girdle bones are not amenable to surgical fixation and can be treated with local radiotherapy. There is no consensus on optimal fractionation.

Recommendations

For inoperable pathological fractures:

- 8 Gy single dose (Grade D) or
- 20 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week (Grade D)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁶

Postoperative radiotherapy

After internal fixation of a fracture or prophylactic pinning of a high-risk lesion, postoperative radiotherapy is often recommended. There is limited literature to support its efficacy and no consensus on dose. Treatment should be considered for all patients with persisting bone pain after surgery. In cases where treatment is given with the aim of enabling bone healing and long-term rehabilitation, consideration should be given to performance status and predicted survival.

Recommendations

Postoperative radiotherapy after fixation of bone metastases:

- 8 Gy single dose (Grade D) or
- 20 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week (Grade D)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.⁶

19 Bone metastases

References

- 1. van der Velden J, Willmann J, Spałek M *et al.* ESTRO ACROP guidelines for external beam radiotherapy of patients with uncomplicated bone metastases. *Radiother Oncol* 2022 Aug; **173**: 197–206.
- 2. Oldenburger E, Brown S, Willmann J *et al*. ESTRO ACROP guidelines for external beam radiotherapy of patients with complicated bone metastases. *Radiother Oncol* 2022 Aug; **173**: 240–253.
- 3. Gouveia AG, Chan DCW, Hoskin PJ *et al*. Advances in radiotherapy in bone metastases in the context of new target therapies and ablative alternatives: a critical review. *Radiother Oncol* 2021 Oct; **163**: 55–67.
- 4. Chow R, Hoskin P, Schild SE *et al.* Single vs multiple fraction palliative radiation therapy for bone metastases: cumulative meta-analysis. *Radiother Oncol* 2019 Dec; **141**: 56–61.
- 5. Behroozian T, Navarro I, Hoskin P *et al*. Update on the systematic review/meta-analysis of uncomplicated bone metastases treated with external beam radiation. *Radiother Oncol* 2022 Jul 16; **174**: 109–110.
- www.cebm.ox.ac.uk/resources/levels-of-evidence/oxford-centre-for-evidence-based-medicine-levels-ofevidence-march-2009 (last accessed 28/11/2023).
- van der Linden YM, Lok YJ, Steenland E *et al.* Single fraction radiotherapy is efficacious: a further analysis of the Dutch Study controlling for the influence of retreatment. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2004; **59**(2): 528–537.
- Mithal NP, Needham PR, Hoskin PJ. Retreatment with radiotherapy for painful bone metastases. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1994; 29(5): 1011–1014.
- 9. Chow E, van der Linden YM, Roos D *et al*. Single versus multiple fractions of repeat radiations for painful bone metastases: a randomised, controlled, non-inferiority trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2014; **15**(2): 164–171.
- 10. Roos DE, Turner SL, O'Brien PC *et al*. Randomized trial of 8 Gy in 1 versus 20 Gy in 5 fractions of radiotherapy for neuropathic pain due to bone metastases. *Radiother Oncol* 2005; **75**(1): 54–63.
- 11. van der Linden YM, Kroon HM, Dijkstra SP *et al.* Simple radiographic parameter predicts fracturing in metastatic femoral bone lesions: results from a randomised trial. *Radiother Oncol* 2003; **69**(1): 21–31.

Acknowledgements

With thanks to lead author Prof Peter Hoskin (Mount Vernon Cancer Centre) for reviewing and updating this chapter of the guidance.

Brain metastases

Background

This is a heterogeneous population of patients with diverse underlying histologies, differences in disease burden outside the central nervous system (CNS) and differing systemic therapy options. Prognostic scores including the disease-specific graded prognostic assessment (dsGPA) may assist in predicting prognosis but are often not in routine clinical use.¹ The management of these patients continues to be variable and individualised and should be coordinated within multidisciplinary teams.

Prognosis from brain metastases has improved in recent years, likely driven by advances in systemic therapy, but continues to be poor for a subgroup of patients.¹ Three important criteria when deciding on management of patients with brain metastases are:

- Prognosis of at least 6 months
- Controlled or treatable extracranial disease
- Karnofsky performance status of at least 70.

Patients who fail to meet these criteria have worse outcomes following irradiation of their intracranial metastatic disease and so may not benefit from treatment. Age may not be a significant prognostic indicator, and older patients may benefit from aggressive treatment of their brain metastases.²

For the purposes of this guidance, stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS) is considered equivalent across the commonly used stereotactic platforms of linear accelerators, Gamma Knife and CyberKnife. Though studies exist describing dosimetric differences between these platforms, there is no definitive evidence of a difference in clinical outcomes. The use of systemic therapies with intracranial penetrance is increasing, but their role in the place of, or in conjunction with, radiation therapy is yet to be fully established³ and is outside the scope of this document.

SRS for solitary metastases

Radiation therapy of brain metastases has evolved from whole-brain radiotherapy (WBRT), to SRS with adjuvant WBRT, to SRS alone. Studies have shown SRS alone results in similar overall survival rates and so adjuvant WBRT is typically omitted to avoid associated neurocognitive side-effects.⁴ Lesions larger than 4 cm in diameter are unlikely to be suitable for SRS due to an unacceptable dose of irradiated normal brain tissue and subsequent risk of radionecrosis, although the latest ASTRO guidelines recommend a maximum diameter of no more than 6 cm.⁵ The recently published HyTEC report found that metastases treated in a single fraction with a normal tissue volume (excluding gross tumour volume) receiving more than 12 Gy (V12 Gy) to 5 cm³, 10 cm³ or >15 cm³ resulted in radionecrosis rates of approximately 10%, 15% and 20% respectively.⁶ Therefore, lesions larger than 2–3 cm in diameter, lesions in close proximity to a critical organ at risk or lesions where the V12 Gy is greater than 10 cm³ should be considered for fractionated or staged radiosurgery. One study found improved local control and less radiation necrosis for metastases larger than 2 cm in diameter when treated with a fractionated regimen of 27 Gy in 3 daily fractions compared with a single fraction.⁷



30 Gy in 5 daily fractions is another commonly used hypofractionated regimen,^{8,9} while 35 Gy in 5 daily fractions has also been prospectively evaluated and is sometimes used.¹⁰ Staged radiosurgery is an adaptive approach where large lesions are reimaged, planned and treated at 2- or 3-weekly intervals and is used in place of fractionation at some centres.¹¹

SRS for multiple metastases

Early trials of SRS in brain metastases included patients with up to 3 lesions.¹² Prospective, randomised data now exist to support the use of SRS alone for up to 4 metastases¹³ and prospective, observational data support the use of SRS alone for up to 10 metastases.¹⁴ The use of SRS alone for more than 10 metastases is controversial and not supported by international guidelines due to a lack of evidence.⁵ Trials are currently recruiting to compare overall survival outcomes for patients including those with more than 10 metastases treated with SRS versus hippocampal-sparing WBRT, and results are awaited (trial identifiers NCT03550391, NCT01592968, NCT03075072 and NCT03775330). However NHS clinical commissioning criteria for the use of SRS in brain metastases do not specify a maximum number and instead specify a total intracranial disease volume limit of 20 cm³, ¹⁵ while the European Association of Neuro-Oncology (EANO) recommends a stricter limit of 15 cm³. ¹⁶

Recommendations

Single-fraction SRS:

Lesion diameter:

- <20 mm 21–24 Gy single dose (Grade B)
- 21–30 mm 18 Gy single dose (Grade B)
- 31-40 mm 15 Gy single dose (Grade B) (consider hypofractionated SRS)

Hypofractionated SRS:

- 24-27 Gy in 3 daily fractions (Grade B)
- 30 Gy in 5 daily fractions (Grade B)
- 35 Gy in 5 daily fractions (Grade B)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹⁷

WBRT for single or multiple metastases

Patients not suitable for SRS can be considered for WBRT, although certain patient subgroups may not benefit. The Medical Research Council (MRC) QUARTZ trial found those with nonsmall cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and a limited prognosis had no overall survival or quality-oflife benefit with WBRT over best supportive care.¹⁸ Several randomised trials have compared different radiotherapy regimens for patients with multiple cerebral metastases. Most have used 30 Gy in 10 fractions as the control arm and have compared this regimen with either higher or lower doses.^{19–22} Only one small study of 70 patients has compared the 6-month survival rate after 30 Gy in 10 fractions with that after 20 Gy in 5 fractions, and this found no significant difference.²³ A Radiation Therapy Oncology Group (RTOG) study reported in



1980 compared three regimens: 40 Gy in 15 fractions, 30 Gy in 10 fractions and 20 Gy in 5 fractions.²⁴ The median survival in all three groups was between 3.2 months and 3.5 months (p>0.05). There is, therefore, no clear evidence that 20 Gy in 5 fractions is inferior to, or better than, 30 Gy in 10 fractions (Level 1b). No improvement in survival has been shown when dose is increased beyond 30 Gy in 10 fractions (Level 1b).

Methods to reduce the risk of neurocognitive decline associated with WBRT include hippocampal sparing, provided no lesion is within close proximity of the hippocampus.²⁵ A randomised controlled study of the concurrent use of the glutamate receptor antagonist memantine did not reach the primary endpoint of reduced decline in cognitive function and so has not received approval from the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) in the United Kingdom.²⁶

Recommendations

Whole-brain radiotherapy ± hippocampal sparing:

- 30 Gy in 10 fractions over 2 weeks (Grade A)
- 20 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week (Grade A)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹⁷

Postoperative radiotherapy

Evidence from two randomised trials suggests an overall survival benefit from adding surgery to WBRT for patients of good performance status with a solitary metastasis (Level 1a).^{27,28} Though a third trial did not show an overall survival benefit, this may have been due to the high proportion of poor-performance status patients included.²⁹ Surgical resection without adjuvant WBRT carries twice the risk of cavity recurrence.³⁰ SRS to the surgical cavity has shown similar overall survival rates and less neurocognitive decline than adjuvant WBRT and so is generally preferred.³¹ Preoperative SRS looks to mitigate against the issues of difficulty contouring the surgical cavity and relatively high subsequent focal leptomeningeal rates, and trials have opened in some centres internationally to compare outcomes with adjuvant SRS. Results from these trials are awaited (trial identifiers NCT03741673, NCT04503772).

Currently, SRS to the surgical cavity following complete resection of cerebral metastases is not recommended by NHS England due to a lack of evidence of improvement in overall survival compared with observation alone. However, where there is evidence of residual or recurrent disease, SRS should be considered.

20 Brain metastases

Recommendations

Adjuvant SRS, adapted from various studies: 5,32,33

Cavity volume (cm3)	Equivalent sphere diameter (cm)	Single-fraction SRS dose (Gy)	Level of evidence
<4.2	<2.0	20 Gy	В
≥4.2 to <8.0	≥2.0 to <2.5	18 Gy	В
≥8.0 to <14.4	≥2.5 to <3	17 Gy	В
≥14.4 to <20	≥3 to <3.5	15 Gy (or fractionated SRS)	С
≥20 to <30	≥3.5 to <4	For fractionated SRS	С

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹⁷

- Sperduto PW, Mesko S, Li J et al. Survival in patients with brain metastases: summary report on the updated diagnosis-specific graded prognostic assessment and definition of the eligibility quotient. J Clin Oncol 2020 Nov 10; 38(32): 3773–84.
- 2. Higuchi Y, Yamamoto M, Serizawa T *et al.* Stereotactic radiosurgery in elderly patients with brain metastases: comparison with non-elderly patients using database of a multi-institutional prospective observational study (JLGK0901-Elderly). *J Neurooncol* 2019 Sep 23; **144**(2): 393–402.
- 3. Alvarez-Breckenridge C, Remon J, Piña Y *et al.* Emerging systemic treatment perspectives on brain metastases: moving toward a better outlook for patients. *Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ B* 2022 Apr; **42**: 1–19.
- 4. Brown PD, Jaeckle K, Ballman KV *et al.* Effect of radiosurgery alone vs radiosurgery with whole brain radiation therapy on cognitive function in patients with 1 to 3 brain metastases. *JAMA* 2016 Jul 26; **316**(4): 401.
- 5. Gondi V, Bauman G, Bradfield L *et al.* Radiation therapy for brain metastases: an ASTRO clinical practice guideline. *Pract Radiat Oncol* 2022 Jul; **12**(4): 265–82.
- 6. Milano MT, Grimm J, Niemierko A *et al*. Single- and multifraction stereotactic radiosurgery dose/volume tolerances of the brain. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2021 May; **110**(1): 68–86.
- 7. Minniti G, Scaringi C, Paolini S *et al.* Single-fraction versus multifraction (3 × 9 Gy) stereotactic radiosurgery for large (≥2 cm) brain metastases: a comparative analysis of local control and risk of radiation-induced brain necrosis. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2016 Jul 15; **95**(4): 1142–8.
- 8. Remick JS, Kowalski E, Khairnar R *et al*. A multi-center analysis of single-fraction versus hypofractionated stereotactic radiosurgery for the treatment of brain metastasis. *Radiat Oncol* 2020 Dec 28; **15**(1): 128.
- Myrehaug S, Hudson J, Soliman H *et al*. Hypofractionated stereotactic radiation therapy for intact brain metastases in 5 daily fractions: effect of dose on treatment response. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2022 Feb; 112(2): 342–50.
- Ernst-Stecken A, Ganslandt O, Lambrecht U, Sauer R, Grabenbauer G. Phase II trial of hypofractionated stereotactic radiotherapy for brain metastases: results and toxicity. *Radiother Oncol* 2006 Oct; 81(1): 18–24.
- Yamamoto M, Higuchi Y, Serizawa T *et al.* Three-stage Gamma Knife treatment for metastatic brain tumors larger than 10 cm³: a 2-institute study including re-analyses of earlier results using competing risk analysis. J Neurosurg 2018 Dec; **129**(Suppl1): 77–85.



- 12. Andrews DW, Scott CB, Sperduto PW *et al*. Whole brain radiation therapy with or without stereotactic radiosurgery boost for patients with one to three brain metastases: phase III results of the RTOG 9508 randomised trial. *Lancet* 2004 May 22; **363**(9422): 1665–72.
- Aoyama H, Shirato H, Tago M et al. Stereotactic radiosurgery plus whole-brain radiation therapy vs stereotactic radiosurgery alone for treatment of brain metastases: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2006 Jun 7; 295(21): 2483–91.
- Yamamoto M, Serizawa T, Higuchi Y et al. A multi-institutional prospective observational study of stereotactic radiosurgery for patients with multiple brain metastases (JLGK0901 study update): irradiation-related complications and long-term maintenance of mini-mental state examination scores. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2017 Sep; 99(1): 31–40.
- 15. NHS Commissioning Board Clinical Reference Group for Stereotactic Radiosurgery. Clinical commissioning policy: stereotactic radiosurgery / radiotherapy for cerebral metastases. NHS Commissioning Board, 2013.
- 16. Le Rhun E, Guckenberger M, Smits M *et al*. EANO–ESMO clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up of patients with brain metastasis from solid tumours. *Ann Oncol* 2021 Nov; **32**(11): 1332–47.
- www.cebm.ox.ac.uk/resources/levels-of-evidence/oxford-centre-for-evidence-based-medicine-levels-ofevidence-march-2009 (last accessed 28/11/2023).
- Mulvenna P, Nankivell M, Barton R et al. Dexamethasone and supportive care with or without whole brain radiotherapy in treating patients with non-small cell lung cancer with brain metastases unsuitable for resection or stereotactic radiotherapy (QUARTZ): results from a phase 3, non-inferiority, randomised trial. *Lancet* 2016 Oct 22; 388(10055): 2004–2014. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30825-X.
- Chatani M, Teshima T, Hata K, Inoue T, Suzuki T. Whole brain irradiation for metastases from lung carcinoma. Acta Radiol Oncol 1985 Jan 8; 24(4): 311–4.
- Harwood AR, Simpson WJ. Radiation therapy of cerebral metastases: a randomized prospective clinical trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1977 Nov; 2(11–12): 1091–4.
- Kurtz JM, Gelber R, Brady LW, Carella RJ, Cooper JS. The palliation of brain metastases in a favorable patient population: A randomized clinical trial by the radiation therapy oncology group. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 1981 Jul; 7(7): 891–5.
- 22. Murray KJ, Scott C, Greenberg HM et al. A randomized phase III study of accelerated hyperfractionation versus standard in patients with unresected brain metastases: a report of the radiation therapy oncology group (RTOG) 9104. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1997 Oct; **39**(3): 571–4.
- Tsao MN, Rades D, Wirth A et al. Radiotherapeutic and surgical management for newly diagnosed brain metastasis(es): an American Society for Radiation Oncology evidence-based guideline. Pract Radiat Oncol 2012 Jul; 2(3): 210–25.
- 24. Borgelt B, Gelber R, Kramer S et al. The palliation of brain metastases: final results of the first two studies by the radiation therapy oncology group. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1980 Jan; 6(1): 1–9.
- Brown PD, Gondi V, Pugh S et al. Hippocampal avoidance during whole-brain radiotherapy plus memantine for patients with brain metastases: phase III trial NRG Oncology CC001. J Clin Oncol 2020 Apr 1; 38(10): 1019–29.
- Brown PD, Pugh S, Laack NN et al. Memantine for the prevention of cognitive dysfunction in patients receiving whole-brain radiotherapy: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Neuro Oncol 2013 Oct 1; 15(10): 1429–37.
- 27. Patchell RA, Tibbs PA, Walsh JW *et al*. A randomized trial of surgery in the treatment of single metastases to the brain. *N Engl J Med* 1990 Feb 22; **322**(8): 494–500.
- Vecht CJ, Haaxma-Reiche H, Noordijk EM et al. Treatment of single brain metastasis: radiotherapy alone or combined with neurosurgery. Ann Neurol 1993 Jun; 33(6): 583–90.
- 29. Mintz AH, Kestle J, Rathbone MP *et al*. A randomized trial to assess the efficacy of surgery in addition to radiotherapy in patients with a single cerebral metastasis. *Cancer* 1996 Oct 1; **78**(7): 1470–6.
- 30. Patchell RA, Tibbs PA, Regine WF *et al*. Postoperative radiotherapy in the treatment of single metastases to the brain: a randomized trial. *JAMA* 1998 Nov 4; **280**(17): 1485–9.



- 31. Brown PD, Ballman KV, Cerhan JH *et al.* Postoperative stereotactic radiosurgery compared with whole brain radiotherapy for resected metastatic brain disease (NCCTG N107C/CEC·3): a multicentre, randomised, controlled, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2017 Aug; **18**(8): 1049–60.
- 32. Minniti G, Esposito V, Clarke E *et al.* Multidose stereotactic radiosurgery (9 Gy × 3) of the postoperative resection cavity for treatment of large brain metastases. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2013 Jul; **86**(4): 623–9.
- 33. Keller A, Doré M, Cebula H *et al*. Hypofractionated stereotactic radiation therapy to the resection bed for intracranial metastases. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2017 Dec; **99**(5): 1179–89.

Acknowledgements

With thanks to lead authors Dr Michael Kosmin (University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust) and Dr Hamoun Rozati (Barts Cancer Centre, Barts Health NHS Trust) for reviewing and updating this chapter of the guidance.

Extracranial oligometastases

Background

This document is intended to provide an outline of the evidence-based dose fractionation schedules published in the latest UK SABR Consortium guidelines¹ and should be read in conjunction with these guidelines.

The metachronous oligometastatic state can be defined as 1–5 metastatic sites, typically occurring more than 6 months after successful treatment of primary disease.^{2,3} At present NHS commissioning allows treatment of up to 3 metachronous oligometastases.

Oligometastases can occur at different sites including bone (including spine), lymph node, lung, liver and adrenal. In colorectal cancer (in addition to sarcoma and other sites), surgical treatment of oligometastatic disease (most frequently liver metastases) is associated with prolonged overall survival.⁴ The SABR-COMET phase II trial randomised 99 patients, across multiple locally controlled primary cancers, using stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy (SABR) to treat 1–5 oligometastases occurring more than 3 months after primary treatment.⁵ This trial showed improved 5-year overall survival with the addition of SABR (42% versus 18%).

Other randomised trials have supported the benefit of metastasis-directed therapy in metachronous oligometastatic prostate cancer^{6,7} and painful spinal metastases.^{8–11} The UK has completed a Commissioning through Evaluation programme review, finding very low rates of severe G3+ toxicity ($\leq 2\%$ for any toxicity) across 1,422 patients treated for 1–3 extracranial metachronous oligometastases.¹² Meta-analysis of 21 prospective SABR studies has suggested grade 3–5 toxicity rates of 1.7% for acute and 1.2% for late effects respectively.¹³ Thus, although phase III data are awaited, metastasis-directed therapy may be deployed for metachronous oligometastatic disease, as an alternative to surgery or where surgery is not possible or deemed too high risk.

Research is ongoing into the role of SABR for oligometastases in both the synchronous^{14,15} and oligoprogressive settings,¹⁶ but the NRG BR002 randomised data¹⁷ for synchronous oligometastatic breast cancer have failed to show a benefit, so SABR is not currently recommended in the oligoprogressive or synchronous settings outside a clinical trial.

There is no established consensus on dose fractionation for oligometastatic disease. Recommendations have been derived from systematic reviews of non-randomised studies (prospective and retrospective [Level 3a]), along with expert consensus from the Commissioning through Evaluation Service Specification (Level 5).¹ For all sites, it is recommended that the critical organ dose constraints agreed by the UK SABR Consortium should be considered.¹⁸

The dose fractionation recommendations here provide guidance only, and when delivering SABR clinicians must balance the priorities of delivering an ablative tumour dose while respecting dose constraints to the surrounding organs at risk. Therefore, the total dose may be lowered at the discretion of the treating clinician and radiotherapy team dependent on individual patient and dosimetric factors. Even at reduced SABR doses, the equivalent dose in 2 Gy per fraction will often exceed the common total doses used for palliative radiotherapy.



The dose fractionation regimes recommended are independent of the platform used to deliver SABR.

Oligometastases: bone (including spine) and lymph nodes

In this setting, treatment can expect to achieve local control in around 80% and progression-free survival (PFS) of approximately 20% at 2–3 years.² Treatment is, in general, well tolerated with myelopathy rates for spinal treatments being less than 1% in most series.^{19,20}

Contouring for spinal treatment should be based on the expert consensus guidelines by Cox *et al* (Level 5).²¹ Similarly, expert consensus contouring guidelines for non-spinal bone oligometastases and sacral oligometastases can be considered.^{22,23}

Recommendations

Initial treatment

Spine (excluding sacrum):

- 18–24 Gy single dose (Grade B)
- 24 Gy in 2 fractions (Grade B)
- 24–27 Gy in 3 alternate day or daily fractions (Grade C)

Sacrum:

• 27–30 Gy in 3 alternate day or daily fractions (Grade C)

Bone:

- 30 Gy in 3 fractions over 1 week (10 Gy per fraction given on alternate days or daily) (Grade C)
- 30 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week (Grade C)
- 20 Gy in 1 fraction (Grade C)

Nodes:

- 30–45 Gy in 3 fractions over 1 week (10–15 Gy per fraction given on alternate days or daily) (Grade C)
- 30 Gy in 5 fractions over 1 week (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.²⁴

21

Reirradiation

Often patients will have received prior radiotherapy and, in this setting, it is vital to consider the dose previously received by critical organs. As far as possible, cumulative doses to critical organs should be calculated and, allowing for recovery, tolerances described in the UK SABR consensus document should not be exceeded, if necessary modifying prescription doses to the planning target volume (PTV).¹⁸

In the specific case of remaining spinal cord tolerance, the method described by Sahgal is recommended.¹⁹ Following this, the maximum cumulative point dose to the thecal sac (similar to cord planning organ at risk volume [PRV]), at a minimum of 6 months after initial irradiation, should not exceed a biologically effective dose (BED) of 140 Gy (α/β =2 Gy). Similarly, Nieder *et al* recommend a cumulative cord BED of less than or equal to 135.5 Gy (α/β =2 Gy) when the interval between radiotherapy courses is not shorter than 6 months.²⁵ For other organs at risk, there is, to date, no robust evidence to guide safe constraints.²⁶

Recommendations

Reirradiation

Pelvis:

• 30 Gy in 5 fractions, given on alternate days or daily (Grade C)

Spine:

• 20–30 Gy in 2–5 fractions, given on alternate days (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.²⁴

Oligometastases: lung

Lung oligometastases present a similar clinical problem to early-stage primary lung cancer, for which stereotactic treatment is a standard of care.²⁷ Specifically for patients with oligometastases, a BED >100 Gy is associated with approximately 90% local control at 1–2 years.^{27,28} Although Timmerman *et al* found a significant increase in toxicity when treating central lung tumours, other series have found no increase in toxicity when treating with more than 3 fractions.^{29–32} The dose fractionation schedules are based on those used for primary lung cancer SABR schedules but lower doses may be acceptable at the discretion of the treating clinician.

21 Oligometastases

Recommendations

Peripheral lung oligometastases not abutting chest wall:

• 54 Gy in 3 fractions over 1 week given on alternate days (Grade C)

Peripheral lung oligometastases in contact with chest wall, or consider where 3-fraction constraints are challenging:

• 55–60 Gy in 5 fractions over 2 weeks given on alternate days (Grade C)

Lung oligometastases in the central lung/mediastinum:

• 60 Gy in 8 fractions over 3 weeks given on alternate days (Level 4)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.²⁴

Oligometastases: liver

The use of surgery and radiofrequency ablation to treat liver oligometastases is well established for colorectal tumours. A phase II randomised trial reported improved overall survival with radiofrequency ablation (RFA) of liver metastases (CLOCC trial EORTC-NCRI CCSG-ALM Intergroup 40004).³³ For colorectal liver tumours under 6 centimetres (cm) in diameter, local control above 90% at 1 year can be achieved with stereotactic doses of at least 48 Gy in 3 fractions.³⁴ This analysis included patients who were heavily pre-treated with systemic therapy. Consideration should be given to the functional liver remnant. Further reviews have indicated this dose is effective in other tumour types, with grades 3–4 toxicity, most commonly elevated liver enzymes or gastrointestinal toxicity, of 1–10% (Level 3a).^{35,36}

Recommendations

- 24–30 Gy in a single fraction (Grade C)
- 40–60 Gy in 3 fractions over 1 week, on alternate days (Grade C)
- 50-60 Gy in 5 fractions on alternate days or daily (Grade C)

For oligometastases 6 cm or more in size, or where constraints cannot be met:

40–60 Gy in 10 daily fractions

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.²⁴



Oligometastases: adrenal

Due to a rich sinusoidal blood supply, adrenal metastases are frequently observed in patients with melanoma, breast, lung, kidney and gastrointestinal tumours. Based on non-randomised observations of enhanced survival in patients undergoing adrenalectomy for oligometastatic disease, stereotactic radiotherapy has also been used. Meta-analysis of 39 studies (2009–2019) has shown pooled local control rates of 82% at 1 year and 63% at 2 years, across a wide range of dose fractionation schedules.³⁷

Recommendations

- 30–36 Gy in 3 fractions on alternate days (Grade C)
- 40–45 Gy in 5 fractions on alternate days or daily (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.²⁴

- 1. www.sabr.org.uk
- Tree AC, Khoo VS, Eeles RA *et al.* Stereotactic body radiotherapy for oligometastases. *Lancet Oncol* 2013; 14(1): e28–e37.
- Guckenberger M, Lievens Y, Bouma A et al. Characterisation and classification of oligometastatic disease: a European Society for Radiotherapy and Oncology and European Organisation of Research and Treatment of Cancer consensus recommendation. *Lancet Oncol* 2020; 21: e18–28.
- 4. Weichselbaum RR, Hellman S. Oligometastases revisited. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2011; 8(6): 378-382.
- Palma DA, Olson R, Harrow S et al. Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy for the comprehensive treatment of oligometastatic cancers: long-term results of the SABR-COMET phase II randomized trial. J Clin Oncol 2020; 38(25): 2830–2838.
- 6. Phillips R, Shi WY, Deek M *et al*. Outcomes of observation vs stereotactic ablative radiation for oligometastatic prostate cancer: the ORIOLE phase 2 randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Oncol* 2020; **6**(5): 650–659.
- Ost P, Reynders D, Decaestecker K et al. Surveillance or metastasis-directed therapy for oligometastatic prostate cancer recurrence (STOMP): five-year results of a randomized phase II trial. J Clin Oncol 2020; 38(6 suppl): 10–10.
- Sahgal A, Myrehaug S, Siva S et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy versus conventional external beam radiotherapy in patients with painful spinal metastases: an open-label, multicentre, randomised, controlled, phase 2/3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2021; 22(7): 1023–1033.
- Sahgal A, Myrehaug SD, Siva S *et al.* CCTG SC.24/TROG 17.06: a randomized phase II/III study comparing 24 Gy in 2 stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) fractions versus 20 Gy in 5 conventional palliative radiotherapy (CRT) fractions for patients with painful spinal metastases. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2020 Dec 1; **108**(5): 1397–1398.
- Ryu S, Deshmukh S, Timmerman RD *et al.* Stereotactic radiosurgery vs conventional radiotherapy for localized vertebral metastases of the spine: phase 3 results of NRG Oncology/RTOG 0631 randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Oncol* 2023 Jun 1; 9(6): 800–807.
- Sprave T, Verma V, Förster R et al. Randomized phase II trial evaluating pain response in patients with spinal metastases following stereotactic body radiotherapy versus three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy. Radiother Oncol 2018 Aug; 128(2): 274–282.



- Chalkidou A, Macmillan T, Grzeda M et al. Stereotactic ablative body radiotherapy in patients with oligometastatic cancers: a prospective, registry-based, single-arm, observational, evaluation study. Lancet Oncol 2021; 22: 98–106.
- Lehrer EJ, Singh R, Wang M *et al.* Safety and survival rates associated with ablative stereotactic radiotherapy for patients with oligometastatic cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Oncol* 2021; 7(1): 92–106.
- Olson R, Mathews L, Liu M *et al.* Stereotactic ablative radiotherapy for the comprehensive treatment of 1–3 oligometastatic tumors (SABR-COMET-3): study protocol for a randomized phase III trial. *BMC Cancer* 2020; 20(1): 380.
- 15. Conibear J, Chia B, Ngai Y et al. Study protocol for the SARON trial: a multicentre, randomised controlled phase III trial comparing the addition of stereotactic ablative radiotherapy and radical radiotherapy with standard chemotherapy alone for oligometastatic non-small cell lung cancer. BMJ Open 2018; 8(4): e020690.
- Alomran R, White M, Bruce M et al. Stereotactic radiotherapy for oligoprogressive ER-positive breast cancer (AVATAR). BMC Cancer 2021; 21(1): 303.
- Chmura S, Winter K, Woodward W et al. NRG-BR002: a phase IIR/III trial of standard of care therapy with or without stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) and/or surgical resection (SR) for newly oligometastatic breast cancer (NCT02364557). J Clin Oncol 2022; 40(16_suppl): 1007.
- Diez P, Hanna G, Aitken et al. UK 2022 consensus on normal tissue dose-volume constraints for oligometastatic, primary lung and hepatocellular carcinoma stereotactic ablative radiotherapy. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 2022; 34(5): 288–300.
- 19. Sahgal A, Chang JH, Ma L *et al.* Spinal cord dose tolerance to stereotactic body radiation therapy. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2021; **110**(1): 124–136.
- Bhattacharya IS, Hoskin PJ. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for spinal and bone metastases. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 2015; 27(5): 298–306.
- Cox BW, Spratt DE, Lovelock M et al. International Spine Radiosurgery Consortium consensus guidelines for target volume definition in spinal stereotactic radiosurgery. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2012; 83(5): e597– e605.
- Nguyen TK, Chin L, Sahgal A et al. International multi-institutional patterns of contouring practice and clinical target volume recommendations for stereotactic body radiation therapy for non-spine bone metastases. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2022; 112(2): 351–360.
- Dunne EM, Sahgal A, Lo SS *et al.* International consensus recommendations for target volume delineation specific to sacral metastases and spinal stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT). *Radiother Oncol* 2020; 145: 21–29.
- 24. www.cebm.ox.ac.uk/resources/levels-of-evidence/oxford-centre-for-evidence-based-medicine-levels-ofevidence-march-2009 (last accessed 28/11/2023).
- 25. Nieder C, Grosu AL, Andratschke NH, Molls M. Update of human spinal cord reirradiation tolerance based on additional data from 38 patients. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2006; **66**(5): 1446–9.
- 26. Mantel F, Flentje M, Guckenberger M. Stereotactic body radiation therapy in the re-irradiation situation: a review. *Radiat Oncol* 2013; **8**: 7.
- 27. Solda F, Lodge M, Ashley S, Whitington A, Goldstraw P, Brada M. Stereotactic radiotherapy (SABR) for the treatment of primary non-small cell lung cancer: systematic review and comparison with a surgical cohort. *Radiother Oncol* 2013; **109**(1): 1–7.
- Siva S, MacManus M, Ball D. Stereotactic radiotherapy for pulmonary oligometastases: a systematic review. J Thorac Oncol 2010; 5(7): 1091–1099.
- 29. Timmerman R, McGarry R, Yiannoutsos C *et al*. Excessive toxicity when treating central tumors in a phase II study of stereotactic body radiation therapy for medically inoperable early-stage lung cancer. *J Clin Oncol* 2006; **24**(30): 4833–4839.
- 30. Mangona VS, Aneese AM, Marina O *et al*. Toxicity after central versus peripheral lung stereotactic body radiation therapy: a propensity score matched-pair analysis. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2014; **91**(1): 124–132.



- 31. Nuyttens JJ, van der Voort van Zyp NC, Praag J *et al*. Outcome of four-dimensional stereotactic radiotherapy for centrally located lung tumors. *Radiother Oncol* 2012; **102**(3): 383–387.
- Chang JY, Balter PA, Dong L et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy in centrally and superiorly located stage I or isolated recurrent non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2008; 72(4): 967–971.
- 33. Ruers T, Punt C, Van Coevorden F et al. Radiofrequency ablation combined with systemic treatment versus systemic treatment alone in patients with non-resectable colorectal liver metastases: a randomized EORTC intergroup phase II study (EORTC 40004). Ann Oncol 2012 Oct; 23(10): 2619–2626.
- Chang DT, Swaminath A, Kozak M et al. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for colorectal liver metastases: a pooled analysis. Cancer 2011; 117(17): 4060–4069.
- Aitken KL, Hawkins MA. Stereotactic body radiotherapy for liver metastases. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 2015; 27(5): 307–315.
- Høyer M, Swaminath A, Bydder S et al. Radiotherapy for liver metastases: a review of evidence. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2012; 82(3): 1047–1057.
- Chen WC, Baal JD, Baal U et al. Stereotactic body radiation therapy of adrenal metastases: a pooled metaanalysis and systematic review of 39 studies with 1006 patients. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2020 May 1; 107(1): 48–61.

Acknowledgements

With thanks to lead authors Dr Jenny Sherriff (University Hospitals Birmingham NHS Foundation Trust) and Dr Douglas Brand (University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust) for reviewing and updating this chapter of the guidance.

))

Metastatic spinal cord compression (MSCC)

Background

Patients with symptoms suggestive of spinal cord compression, particularly severe back or root pain, should be investigated urgently with whole-spine magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) to define sites and levels of compression accurately.¹ Multiple levels of compression are seen in up to one-third of patients.²

On clinical suspicion of MSCC or once a diagnosis has been established, all patients should be started on steroids; give dexamethasone in 16 milligrams (mg) daily.²

Systemic anti-cancer treatment may be more appropriate than radiotherapy for some malignancies, such as lymphomas, plasma-cell tumours, germ cell tumours or untreated small cell cancers.

Long-term outcome from MSCC depends on the degree of paralysis and overall prognosis for the cancer; poorer outcomes are associated with non-ambulatory status, poor performance status, ≥ 3 involved vertebrae, presence of other bone metastases, presence of visceral metastases and shorter time to developing motor deficits. Breast, prostate and haematological primary origin confer the best prognosis; lung and bladder sites have a poor outcome (Level 2c).^{3,4}

Ideally, the prognosis of patients should be objectively assessed using validated scores such as the SCORAD index, which identifies primary breast or prostate cancer and good ambulatory status at presentation as favourable prognostic factors for both survival and ambulation after treatment (Level 2b).⁵

Patients with a good expected prognosis, especially those who are ambulatory, should be discussed with a spinal or neurosurgeon to consider spinal decompression and stabilisation surgery followed by radiotherapy. This intervention has been shown to improve neurological status and overall survival in selected patients with a single site of MSCC and prognosis >3 months (Level 1b) compared with radiotherapy alone.⁶

For good-prognosis or ambulatory patients who are not suitable for surgery, urgent radiotherapy should be given before further neurological deterioration.²

For poor-prognosis ambulatory patients, radiotherapy should be considered to preserve neurological function.

For non-ambulatory patients, if paraplegia has been established for >24 hours, radiotherapy has a role for pain relief but little improvement in function can be expected.²

A systematic review and meta-analysis of published studies comparing short course (8 Gy in 1 dose or 20 Gy in 5 fractions) with long course (all schedules >1 week) identified 14 studies with 2,239 patients. The analysis showed similar survival rates and functional outcome between the two groups although local control rates were higher in the group receiving longer-course schedules. Ambulant patients with an expected better prognosis may therefore benefit from longer courses of treatment to prevent recurrence and need for retreatment.⁷



The SCORAD trial randomised 686 patients with metastatic spinal cord or cauda equina compression, life expectancy greater than 8 weeks and no previous radiotherapy to the same area to receive either 20 Gy in 5 fractions or a single dose of 8 Gy.⁸ While the primary endpoint of non-inferiority (defined at –11%) difference was not met, there was no significant difference in all other endpoints including ambulatory status, pain and survival at 4, 8 and 12 weeks. SCORAD was included in a meta-analysis including three randomised trials comparing single doses of 8–10 Gy with fractionated radiotherapy.⁹ There was no observed difference with respect to motor response, bladder dysfunction and OS between the two groups. It should be noted that these studies included patients with a median survival of only 3 to 4 months.

The NICE guidelines have been updated and recommend a single dose of 8 Gy for all patients with consideration of SBRT if the patient has \leq 3 metastases.¹⁰

Recommendations

Metastatic spinal cord compression: non-ambulant patients or ambulant patients with a prognosis <6 months:

• 8 Gy single dose (Grade A)

Metastatic spinal cord compression: ambulant patients with a good prognosis or post-spinal surgery:

- 20 Gy in 5 daily fractions over 1 week (Grade B) or
- 30 Gy in 10 daily fractions over 2 weeks (Grade B)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹¹

There is response to retreatment after initial benefit from radiotherapy for recurrent MSCC.

Using conventional radiotherapy techniques a cumulative biologically equivalent dose (BED) of <135.5 Gy when the interval is >6 months and each course is <99 Gy BED using an α/β ratio of 2 is recommended (50 Gy in 25 fractions = BED 100 Gy2 and 20 Gy in 5 fractions = BED 60 Gy2).¹² Evidence indicates that the effect of previous radiation, time to develop motor deficit, presence of visceral metastases and performance status have an impact on effectiveness of repeat treatment but treatment schedule does not (Level 2c).¹³

Stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) may be considered for reirradiation but dose tolerances for the spinal cord are based on only a small number of cases. The spinal Dmax is quoted as the relevant cumulative dose constraint; a median Dmax of 25 Gy2 BED from SBRT and cumulative Dmax of 105 Gy2 BED with a minimum interval of 5 months is recommended.¹⁴
222 MSCC

Recommendations

Metastatic spinal cord compression: reirradiation after 8 Gy single dose or 20 Gy in 5 fractions:

Conventional radiotherapy prescribed at depth:

 8 Gy single dose or 20 Gy in 5 daily fractions; maximum cumulative BED ≤135.5 Gy 2 (Grade C)

or using SBRT, defined at Dmax:

• 9 Gy in 1 dose, 12.2 Gy in 2 fractions or 14.5 Gy in 3 fractions (Grade C)

The types of evidence and the grading of recommendations used within this review are based on those proposed by the Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine.¹¹

References

- 1. Levack P, Graham J, Collie D *et al*. Don't wait for a sensory level listen to the symptoms: a prospective audit of the delays in diagnosis of malignant cord compression. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* 2002; **14**(6): 472–480.
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Clinical Guideline 75. Metastatic spinal cord compression in adults: risk assessment, diagnosis and management. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2008.
- Rades D, Fehlauer F, Schulte R et al. Prognostic factors for local control and survival after radiotherapy of metastatic spinal cord compression. J Clin Oncol 2006; 24(21): 3388–3393.
- 4. Prewett S, Venkitaraman R. Metastatic spinal cord compression: review of the evidence for a radiotherapy dose fractionation schedule. *Clin Onc (R Coll Radiol)* 2010; **22**(3): 222–230.
- 5. Hoskin PJ, Hopkins K, Misra V *et al.* Prognostic factors for survival and ambulatory status at 8 weeks with metastatic spinal cord compression in the SCORAD randomised trial. *Radiother Oncol* 2022 Aug; **173**: 77–83.
- 6. Patchell RA, Tibbs PA, Regine WF *et al*. Direct decompressive surgical resection in the treatment of spinal cord compression caused by metastatic cancer: a randomised trial. *Lancet* 2005; **366**(9486): 643–648.
- Qu S, Meng HL, Liang ZG, Zhu XD, Li L, Chen LX, Zhou ZR. Comparison of short-course radiotherapy versus long-course radiotherapy for treatment of metastatic spinal cord compression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 2015 Oct; **94**(43): e1843.
- Hoskin PJ, Hopkins K, Misra V et al. Effect of single-fraction vs multifraction radiotherapy on ambulatory status among patients with spinal canal compression from metastatic cancer: the SCORAD randomized clinical trial. JAMA 2019 Dec 3; 322(21): 2084–2094.
- Donovan EK, Sienna J, Mitera G, Kumar-Tyagi N, Parpia S, Swaminath A. Single versus multifraction radiotherapy for spinal cord compression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Radiother Oncol* 2019 May; 134: 55–66.

22 MSCC

- 10. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Spinal metastases and metastatic spinal cord compression. NICE guideline NG234. www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng234 (accessed 01/10/23).
- 11. www.cebm.ox.ac.uk/resources/levels-of-evidence/oxford-centre-for-evidence-based-medicine-levels-ofevidence-march-2009 (last accessed 28/11/2023).
- 12. Nieder C, Grosu AL, Andratschke NH, Molls M. Proposal of human spinal cord reirradiation dose based on collection of data from 40 patients. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2005; **61**: 851–855.
- 13. Rades D, Stalpers L, Veninga T, Hoskin PJ. Spinal re-irradiation after short-course RT for metastatic spinal cord compression. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2005; **63**(3): 872–875.
- Ong WL, Wong S, Soliman H et al. Radiation myelopathy following stereotactic body radiation therapy for spine metastases. J Neurooncol 2022 Aug; 159(1): 23–31.

Acknowledgements

With thanks to lead author Prof Peter Hoskin (Mount Vernon Cancer Centre) for reviewing and updating this chapter of the guidance.

The Royal College of Radiologists 63 Lincoln's Inn Fields London, WC2A 3JW, UK

The Royal College of Radiologists is a Charity registered with the Charity Commission No 211540.

+44 020 7405 1282 enquiries@rcr.ac.uk rcr.ac.uk

 \odot X @RCRadiologists



The Royal College of Radiologists. *Radiotherapy dose fractionation. Fourth edition.* London: The Royal College of Radiologists, 2024.

The Royal College of Radiologists is a Charity registered with the Charity Commission No. 211540

© The Royal College of Radiologists, January 2024.

For permission to reproduce any of the content contained herein, please email permissions@rcr. ac.uk

This material has been produced by The Royal College of Radiologists (RCR) for use internally within the specialties of clinical oncology and clinical radiology in the United Kingdom. It is provided for use by appropriately qualified professionals, and the making of any decision regarding the applicability and suitability of the material in any particular circumstance is subject to the user's professional judgement.

While every reasonable care has been taken to ensure the accuracy of the material, RCR cannot accept any responsibility for any action taken, or not taken, on the basis of it. As publisher, RCR shall not be liable to any person for any loss or damage, which may arise from the use of any of the material. The RCR does not exclude or limit liability for death or personal injury to the extent only that the same arises as a result of the negligence of RCR, its employees, Officers, members and Fellows, or any other person contributing to the formulation of the material.